SHAPING THE FUTURE: How changing demographics Can power human development



ASIA-PACIFIC HUMAN DEVELOPMENT REPORT





Empowered lives. Resilient nations.



Asia-Pacific has been witnessing dramatic shifts in its population. Since 1950, the share of children has consistently contracted, while the shares of working-age and elderly people have steadily risen. On the cover of this report, patterns in the balloon depict shifting shares from 1950 until 2100. Population dynamics and a period of demographic transition will transform the future of the region, with profound implications for human development.

The picture of a girl and a boy, a working-age woman and man, and an older woman and man convey that all people—including those with other gender identities—are inherently valuable and ought to be equal members of families and societies. Together, they represent how collaboration and interdependence can lead to greater mutual well-being. Ensuring equal rights and opportunities for all population groups will determine collective strength and resilience. Leveraging the capacity and creativity of different people will enable countries to reach higher levels of human development.

The depiction of a hot air balloon carrying the people of the region upwards represents dynamic change and optimism. The balloon can take the region, with more than half the world's population, to new heights, in any direction. In a time of change, the ability to navigate in the right direction will depend on clear, well-informed policy choices and abilities to adjust to changing needs. Making the most of the dividend that can accrue from demographic transition will require countries to read the wind, and to remain alert and responsive to impending challenges as well as opportunities.

Copyright © 2016 by the United Nations Development Programme 1 UN Plaza, New York, NY 10017, USA

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system or transmitted, in any form or by means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, without prior permission.

ISBN:

Printed and bound in Bangladesh by Printcraft Company Limited, Dhaka Designed in New York by Cristina Ottolini Design

For a list of any error or omissions found subsequent to printing, please visit our website at: http://www.asia-pacific.undp.org/hdr

ASIA-PACIFIC HUMAN DEVELOPMENT REPORT

SHAPING THE FUTURE: HOW CHANGING DEMOGRAPHICS CAN POWER HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

Published for the United Nations Development Programme (UNDP)



Empowered lives. Resilient nations.

ASIA-PACIFIC HUMAN DEVELOPMENT REPORT TEAM

SHAPING THE FUTURE: HOW CHANGING DEMOGRAPHICS CAN POWER HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

Team Leader and Lead Author

Thangavel Palanivel

Core Team

Tasneem Mirza Bishwa Nath Tiwari Scott Standley Abha Nigam

Editor

Gretchen Luchsinger

FOREWORD

We live in times of great instability and change. That is apparent as in the Asia-Pacific region, home to half of humanity as it is anywhere else in the world. The sheer size of the region development choices will impact on the futures of people everywhere.

In 2015, Asia-Pacific countries joined the international consensus on an ambitious vision to frame and guide those choices. Agenda 2030 and its seventeen Sustainable Development Goals, along with the major international agreements in 2015 on disaster risk reduction, financing for development, and climate change, have profound implications for all societies. Taken together, these agendas embody a common commitment to development which is sustainable, inclusive, and resilient. Advancing this agenda is an opportunity to build people's capabilities, provide opportunities for communities to thrive, and promote stewardship of natural resources to benefit people now and for generations to come.

The Asia-Pacific with its economic dynamism and vast wealth in human resources is in a good position to realize the vision of the 2030 Agenda, and to be at the vanguard of the transformation which its implementation requires. Many countries in the countries have improved living standards to a point where their population profile offers a distinct advantage—namely, smaller shares of young and old dependents, and larger shares of people in their productive working years who can power development.

Making the most of this period—which will not last forever—requires smart policies and investments. The greatest advances will come from recognizing that human development, where all people have access to education, health care, and a decent income, produces the demographic transition which leads to a demographic dividend. That dividend, if used wisely, can accelerate human development and prepare for that time when inevitably societies will begin to age.

This Asia-Pacific Human Development Report breaks new ground in the way in which it links demography with human development. It explores how periods of demographic transition come with significant opportunities, but also risks. Countries which overlook both these do so at their peril, missing out on potentially large gains in human well-being and economic prosperity. The report emphasizes that policy makers need to understand the implications of a demographic transition, and be able to incorporate appropriate responses to it across all aspects of national development planning.

This report comes at an important juncture for UNDP. Our organisation recently celebrated its fiftieth birthday, and is looking to the future with confidence. The *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report*, with its wealth of insights and data, is one of our latest contributions to development thought leadership. I am confident that it will support policy and decision makers across the region in their work to advance human development progress.

Helen Clark Administrator

United Nations Development Programme

PREFACE

This Asia-Pacific Human Development Report comes at a time when the region and the world are at crossroads. Nowhere is this more evident than in the 2030 Agenda with its 17 Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), endorsed in late 2015 by the 193 members of the United Nations General Assembly. It offers a fundamental rethinking of development as a process that must be universal and transformative, and leave no one behind.

The Agenda blurs the traditional lines between developing and developed countries, in keeping with the profound changes taking place in every region. It recognizes that no country has yet fully achieved sustainable development. It aims at systemic barriers, such as inequality, unsustainable consumption and production patterns, inadequate infrastructure and the lack of decent work.

These are big issues, and our solutions must be equally bold. We have to think long term and across core economic, social and environmental dimensions. Business as usual will no longer be good enough.

All countries need economies that generate enough decent work. All societies and political systems should be inclusive and cohesive. We all need healthy environments that sustain life for ourselves and our children. We need peace. Pursuing sustainable development within and across borders, recognizing our growing interconnectedness, will take everyone towards these goals.

Asia-Pacific is a region with remarkable development achievements, but it would be easy to argue that this has been more of an 'economic' miracle than a 'human development' one. Too many people have been left behind or left on the margins. While only four out of 42 Asia-Pacific countries are still classified as low income, a disturbing 450 million extremely poor people live in what are technically middle-income countries.

So we have work to do. UNDP will be there, as it has been now for five decades, to make change happen. Everything we have accomplished and will accomplish unfolds through partnerships and close attention to the priorities of the countries where we work. We have a long legacy of helping develop institutional capacities, and we are already assisting the complex planning processes required to put the SDGs at the centre of national development.

This current *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report* offers the kind of thought leadership that will also be essential. It highlights how Asia-Pacific has favourable demographic patterns that provide a historic opportunity to accelerate human development and galvanize progress on the SDGs. Aimed at catalysing informed debate around solutions, it calls on leaders from across the region to be innovative in steering new directions that can put the region where it belongs: showing the ways to a better future.

1 gigh

Mr. Haoliang Xu UN Assistant Secretary-General and UNDP Regional Director Regional Bureau for Asia and the Pacific

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The Asia-Pacific Human Development Report is the flagship publication of UNDP's Regional Bureau for Asia and the Pacific. Its findings, analysis and policy recommendations are those of the Regional Bureau alone and cannot be attributed to UNDP or to its Executive Board. The UN General Assembly has officially recognized the Human Development Report as "an independent intellectual exercise" that has become "an important tool for raising awareness about human development around the world."

This edition of the report, *Shaping the Future: How Changing Demographics Can Power Human Development*, drew on contributions from many people. The report was researched and written by UNDP staff, led by Thangavel Palanivel. Tasneem Mirza, a key member of the core team, provided active and sustained support throughout the process. Team members at different points in the process included Bishwa Tiwari, who led the preparation of Chapter 4; Scott Standley, who led the preparation of Chapter 5; and Abha Nigam, who offered programme and research assistance support.

We are indebted to Gretchen Luchsinger for her high-quality professional editing and for making the report highly readable; to Ramesh Gampat, who shared expertise based on previous *Asia-Pacific Human Development Reports* and provided significant technical contributions and advice; and to Cristina Ottolini for her attractive graphic design. We also grateful to interns Gard Heggelund, Arianna Fishman and Coralie Martin for their assistance in checking and updating data, compiling references and proofreading.

The report benefited from technical background papers contributed by S. Mahendra Dev, Director of the Indira Gandhi Institute for Development Research in Mumbai; Cai Fang, Director of the Institute of Population Studies at the Chinese Academy of Social Sciences in Beijing; Andrew Mason, Professor of Economics at the University of Hawaii, and Senior Fellow at the East West Center; Wangdi Norbu, former Minister of Finance, Royal Government of Bhutan; Feng Wang, Director of Brookings-Tsinghua Center and Professor at the University of California and at Fudan University in Shanghai; and Belinda Yuen, Senior Research Fellow at the Lee Kuan Yew Center for Innovative Cities in Singapore.

Invaluable feedback and advice came from the report's technical advisory committee, comprising sister United Nations entities, namely, the Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), the International Labour Organization (ILO), the International Organization for Migration (IOM), the United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific (UNESCAP), the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), the United Nations Human Settlements Programme (UN-Habitat), the United Nations Population Fund (UNFPA) and UN Women.

Rich and fruitful interactions took place with people in government, academia, the media, the private sector, civil society, think tanks and United Nations entities at two initial subregional consultations in Bangkok and Delhi. We would like to thank all participants for sharpening the concept note and outlines of the report. Extra appreciation goes to the resource people in the consultations from UNPFA, UNESCAP and several non-governmental organizations: Moneer Alam, Peter de Souza, S. Mahendra Dev, Nagesh Kumar, Christophe Lefranc, Pitamber Sharma, Srinivas Tata and Anders Thomsen. Rohini Kohli and Elena Borsatti provided essential support in organizing the meetings.

For comprehensive comments on the final draft of the report, we are grateful to peer reviewers from UN regional offices in Bangkok, namely, ILO, IOM, UNESCAP, UNESCO, UNFPA and UN-HABITAT. Peer reviewer comments and suggestions were also welcomed at various

V

stages from the UNDP Human Development Report Office in general, and Selim Jahan, Jonathan Hall, Shantanu Mukherjee and Tanni Mukhopadhyay, in particular. We are thankful for feedback from other UNDP colleagues, who are too numerous mention here individually, from the Bureau of Programme and Policy Support in New York, the Regional Programme and Policy Support Team at the Bangkok Regional Hub, the Regional Bureau for Africa, the Regional Hub in Istanbul, the Regional Hub in Jordan, the International Center for Human Development in Delhi and UNDP Nepal. Special thanks go to UNDP Bangkok Regional Hub's Country Office Support and Quality Assurance Team for checking the report and coordinating inputs from country offices in Asia and the Pacific. Several country offices offered helpful comments, including in Bangladesh, Cambodia, China, Malaysia, Nepal, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Timor-Leste and Sri Lanka.

We would like to extend our appreciation to Ajay Chhibber, former Director of UNDP Regional Bureau for Asia and the Pacific, for providing initial inspiration and guidance. We are also grateful to former UNDP colleagues Anuradha Rajivan for sharing her insights and Rajeswary Iruthayanathan for providing proofreading support.

For actively disseminating the key messages of the report, we gratefully recognize UNDP communication and outreach advisers, namely, Stanislav Saling in New York and Cedric Monteiro in Bangkok, along with communication officers in UNDP country offices. We thank Vinita Aggarwal of UNDP India for preparing a web-friendly version.

UNDP Bangkok Regional Hub, the International Center for Human Development and UNDP country offices in Asia-Pacific offered many forms of logistical support in organizing the subregional stakeholders' consultations. UNDP Bangladesh aided in printing and launching the report in Dhaka. Members of the Regional Bureau for Asia and the Pacific Strategic Planning and Oversight Unit in New York, especially Silvia Morimoto, Samar Sinha, Irene Ilevbare and Sha Guo, provided critical administrative support and management services throughout report preparation.

Finally I want thank Haoliang Xu, Regional Director, and Nicholas Rosellini, Deputy Regional Director for UNDP Regional Bureau for Asia and the Pacific, for their leadership and support during the entire period of the report preparation.

malanicel

Thangavel Palanivel Lead Author, Senior Strategic Adviser and Chief Economist UNDP Regional Bureau for Asia and the Pacific

Table of Contents

Foreword	iii
Preface	iv
Acknowledgements	v
Acronyms	xi

1

45

79

OVERVIEW

CHAPTER 1	15
How Changing Demographics can Power Human Development	
Human Development Improves Rapidly, But Unevenly, Across Asia-Pacific	19
The World's Most Populous Region: A Major Transition Is Underway	22
Drivers of a Changing Population	28
How Demographic Transition Works	35
How Much Is the Demographic Dividend?	40
Historic Changes, Limited Time	43

CHAPTER 2

More People at Work: The Foundation for Improved Well-Being

Record Numbers of Working-age People	48
A Demographic Return for Human Development: Four Paths	53
What's Been Learned in China, Japan and Thailand?	59
Making the Most of Demographic Opportunities	63
The Coming Demographic Window	78

CHAPTER 3

Nurturing Children, Unlocking the Potential of Youth	
Home to More Than Half the World's Children and Youth	82
Education Is the Path to the Future	84
Healthy Early Years Last a Lifetime	95
Transitioning to Adulthood Depends on Decent Work	100
Youth Participation: A Right With Many Benefits	105
Unlocking the Potential of the Next Generation	106
The Right Start in Life	115

CHAPTER 4	117
Ageing Societies: New Opportunities to Thrive	
An Era of Rapid Ageing	120
Older Societies Face Challenges—and Can Build on Strengths	124
Sustaining Human Development Across Longer Lifespans	144
Ageing without Fear	149

CHAPTER 5151Tapping the Human Dynamism in CitiesAn Urbanizing Region154Keeping Up with an Urban Boom: Potentials and Pitfalls161Realizing the Full Promise of Urbanization171The Region's Future Depends on Cities179

CHAPTER 6

An Agenda for Action: Shaping the Future	
For All Countries, Some Common Principles	184
Making the Most of Demographic Opportunities	186
Unlocking the Potential of the Next Generation	188
Sustaining Human Development Across Longer Lifespans	191
Sustaining Momentum	196
End Notes	199
Bibliography	205

STATISTICAL ANNEX

Read	Reader's Guide		
Statistical Tables			
1.	Human Development Index and Inequality-adjusted Human Development Index	225	
2.	Trends in the Human Development Index, 1990-2014	226	
З.	Gender Development Index	227	
4.	Gender Inequality Index	228	
5.	Multidimensional Poverty Index	229	
6.	Trends in Income Poverty, 1987-2014	230	
7.	Total Population and Growth Change	231	
8.	Fertility Rate and Crude Death Rate	232	

181

9.	Median Age of the Population and the Dependency Rate	233
10.	Trends and Share of Child Population, 1950-2050	234
11.	Trends and Share of Youth Population, 1950-2050	235
12.	Trends and Share of Young Population, 1950-2050	236
13.	Trends and Share of Working Age Population, 1950-2050	237
14.	Trends and Share of Elderly Population, 1950-2050	238
15.	Trends and Share of Urban Population, 1950-2050	239
16.	Education Indicators and Enrolment Ratio	240
17.	Health Indicators	242
18.	Employment and Unemployment Indicators	244
19.	International Trade, Finance and Labour flows	246

BOXES

1.1	Major global agreements link population and development	19
1.2	A legacy of population policies	23
1.3	Promoting migration to welcome a younger labour force	35
1.4	A model for measuring the size of the demographic dividend	41
1.5	Japan's first and second demographic dividends	43
2.1	Women bear a larger burden of unpaid work	54
2.2	Bringing more women into the workforce in Malaysia	66
2.3	Strong financial support helps small and medium enterprises thrive in Hong Kong, China (SAR)	67
2.4	Legal aid delivers justice in Indonesia	70
2.5	Protecting the rights of migrant workers in the Philippines	71
2.6	Recent revisions to minimum wage packages	72
2.7	Some safer places to work	74
2.8	Malaysia transforms an industry and its economy	75
3.1	Who are the young?	82
3.2	A bulge in youth	82
3.3	A new kind of gender disparity	89
3.4	Ranking at the top of the world	90
3.5	Benchmarking universities globally	93
3.6	An activist calls for a complete ban on child labour	95
3.7	Malnutrition and disability: making connections	98
3.8	Reaching out to youth	107
3.9	Low-cost care and quality medical services improves health outcomes in some Pacific Island and other countries	109
3.10	Germany's vocational training system: a model for Asia-Pacific?	112
3.11	Bringing youth into business in the Republic of Korea	113
3.12	Partnering with youth in public service delivery in the Philippines	114
4.1	Who is old?	120
4.2	Responses to poverty among the elderly are growing but require more attention	125
4.3	A plan of action for older people	127
4.4	Attaining universal health coverage for older people in the Philippines	130

4.5	China moves towards universal social security	
	for older people	131
4.6	Japan sustains a system by containing costs	136
4.7	Increasing links between public and private pension schemes	137
4.8	The WHO Global Network of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities	138
4.9	Ageing countries begin encouraging larger families	143
5.1	Age distribution in urban and rural areas tracks development and demographics	159
5.2	Pioneering urban poverty reduction initiatives in Bangladesh	164
5.3	Effective planning can reduce urban vulnerabilities	167
5.4	The Metro-Manila Development Authority: Mandated responsibilities come with limits	169
5.5	An urban infrastructure deficit in Karachi	169
5.6	Better financial management boosted income in Ahmedabad, India	173
5.7	How Competitive are Asia-Pacific's cities?	175
5.8	A programme in Thailand empowers slum dwellers to solve housing issues	177
5.9	The Republic of Korea embarks on low carbon, green growth	178
6.1	Crowdfunding-a new tool to stimulate jobs and innovation among youth	189
6.2	European countries prohibit age-related discrimination and support active ageing	191
6.3	Developing Delhi's metro rail system	195
•••••		

FIGURES

1.1	The Human Development Index marks improvement in all regions	20
1.2	Inequality deducts from human development achievements in all regions	20
1.3	Gender-based discrimination is particularly acute in South Asia	21
1.4	Population pyramids in 1950, 2015 and 2050 by major regions	25
1.5	Population pyramids in 1950, 2015 and 2050 by subregion in Asia-Pacific	26
1.6	Dependency rates rise as population age	27
1.7	All world regions have increasing median ages	27
1.8	The largest increases in median age are expected in East Asia and South Asia	28
1.9	Fertility has fallen around the world	29
1.10	Disparities in fertility rates between countries in Asia-Pacific	30
1.11	Globally, life expectancy is climbing	32
1.12	Crude death rates have declined in Asia Pacific since 1950	33
1.13	The broad stages of demographic transition	36
1.14	With appropriate policies and a conducive environment, demographic changes can improve human development by six channels	37

1.15	Population age-composition is intrinsically linked with human development	39
1.16	Japan's negative first dividend is balanced by a positive second dividend	43
2.1	Almost 60 percent of working-age people live in Asia-Pacific	48
2.2	Within Asia-Pacific, the size and share of the workforce varies over time and by subregion	49
2.3	Peaks within sub-regions show some convergence, but with marked exceptions	51
2.4	GDP growth moves with changes in working-age populations	53
2.5	China is ahead of India in generating employment for a growing workforce	54
2.6	Women in some parts of Asia-Pacific are far less likely than men to be in the workforce	54
2.7	There is significant potential to increase women's labour force in South Asia and the Pacific island countries	55
2.8	Growth in labour productivity has been rapid	57
2.9	Many jobs remain in agriculture, while the share in manufacturing lags	57
2.10	Low-skilled jobs lead to low wages and poverty traps	57
2.11	More workers mean more savings	58
2.12	China's economy, savings and productivity grew in tandem with its workforce	59
2.13	Japan is past its working-age peak, but has successfully utilized its demographic dividend	61
2.14	Thailand's population shift was rapid from 1970-2010	62
2.15	Thailand still has time to capitalize on its demographic dividend	63
2.16	A policy framework to guide the demographic dividend	64
2.17	Higher growth alone has not produced more jobs	64
3.1	The world has a record number of young people, but the rate of growth has slowed	83
3.2	The share of young people in total population is on the decline	83
3.3	Access to tertiary education is expanding faster in wealthier countries	92
3.4	Women still tend to study in traditional fields	92
3.5	Stunting and wasting rates are generally higher in South Asia countries than East-Asia ones	97
3.6	The share of overweight children is higher in East Asia and the Pacific compared to South Asia	99
3.7	Youth unemployment rates in South and East Asia are lower than that of other regions	101
3.8	The share of youth who are not in employment or education is high in many countries	102
3.9	Youth are consistently less likely than adults to vote in elections	105
3.10	Youth in the region are concerned about many issues, but most do not think participation in politics has an impact	106
4.1	Asia-Pacific is one of the fastest ageing regions	121
4.2	A number of Asia-Pacific countries will age in a few quick decades—or less	121
4.3	Ageing will eventually accelerate in all subregions of Asia-Pacific	122

 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 4.10 	Women outlive men, especially at older ages Some countries still have a high number of working-age people to support elderly dependents Older countries have fewer working-age people per elderly dependent Shifting practices mean many older people live independently Per capita health expenditure has risen rapidly in the region	123 124 124 126 129		
4.7 4.8 4.9	Some countries still have a high number of working-age people to support elderly dependents Older countries have fewer working-age people per elderly dependent Shifting practices mean many older people live independently Per capita health expenditure has risen rapidly in the region	124 126		
4.8 4.9	elderly dependent Shifting practices mean many older people live independently Per capita health expenditure has risen rapidly in the region	126		
4.9	live independently Per capita health expenditure has risen rapidly in the region			
		129		
4.10		-		
	Globally, pension coverage varies widely			
4.11	In Asia-Pacific, pension coverage tends to be higher in wealthier countries, but many developing states have made impressive progress	134		
4.12	Pension replacement rates provide a measure of adequacy	135		
4.13	Non-health public expenditure on pension is very low in Asia-Pacific compared to other regions	135		
4.14	Social protection spending on pension lags behind in many countries	136		
4.15	Labour force participation rates are low among older people in Asia-Pacific countries	139		
5.1	The pace of urbanization in Asia-Pacific has accelerated rapidly	154		
5.2	Urbanization rates vary considerably within Asia-Pacific			
5.3	Even countries with fewer people in cities are now urbanizing rapidly	156		
5.4	A majority of the world's megacities are in Asia-Pacific	157		
5.5	The numbers of small and medium cities are on the rise	157		
5.6	Most people will live in cities with less than 5 million residents	158		
5.7	More developed countries have higher shares of older rural residents	158		
5B.1	Population distribution in urban areas	159		
5B.2	Population distribution in rural areas	159		
5.8	The urban-rural gap in services, such as electricity, particularly in less developed countries, can be wide	160		
5.9	Wealth tends to rise with urbanization	162		
5.10	Urbanized countries rank higher on the Human Development Index	162		
5.11	Poverty rates are lower in cities	163		
5.12	Inequalities in urban areas are often worse than national averages	164		
5.13	High shares of urban residents still live in slums	165		
5.14	The number of people living in slums is increasing	165		
5.15	As people move to cities, greenhouse gas emissions rise	166		
5.16	Per capita emissions in Asia-Pacific developing country cities are higher than national average	166		
5.17	Cities tend to generate more solid waste, an acute problem as they grow national averages	167		

TABLES

Х

1.1	Asia-Pacific still has large proportions of its population living in multidimensional poverty	22
1.2	Top 15 countries with the highest and lowest fertility rates, 2010-2015	30
1.3	Fertility rates are generally lower in urban areas, with variations	30
1.4	For most countries, fertility rates will continue on a downward path	30
1.5	Countries in Asia-Pacific tend to lose people through migration	34
1.6	Demographic dividends fluctuate over time, but add up to a powerful impact on growth (%)	42
1.7	Demographic dividends will continue to pay off in the coming decades (%)	42
2.1	Some countries have passed their peak in working-age people, while others have decades to go	50
2.2	Changes in the sizes of working-age populations between 2015-2030 and 2030-2050	52
2.3	Falling fertility has led to more spending on education and health	56
2.4	Shares of workers in the informal economy are still large in some countries	69
2.5	Vulnerable employment is most pervasive in South Asia	69
3.1	Progress on pre-primary education has been mixed	85
3.2	All regions have reached or are close to achieving universal primary education	86
3.3	Despite progress, millions of children still do not complete primary school	87
3.4	Enrolment in secondary education has seen a rapid raise	88
3.5	Asia-Pacific accounts for much of the increased number of students in secondary school	88
3.6	The number of adolescents not in secondary school has fallen, but South Asia still has a large share	89
•••••		••••••

3.8 Less than a third of potential students have access to tertiary education 91 3.9 Youth illiteracy has fallen but affects a quarter of young people 94 3.10 All world regions have made significant progress on literacy rates 94 3.11 Child mortality rates by socio-economic and geographic factors, selected countries and years 96 3.12 Regionally and globally, fewer youth are in the workforce 101 3.13 Regions have wide gaps in vocational enrolment 103 3.14 International migrants tend to be young 104 3.15 Some young countries still invest relatively little in education (%) 108 4.1 East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest 123 4.2 Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes 132 4.3 Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support 133 4.4 A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices 141 4.5 Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries 142 5.1 Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend 158 5.81 Development and demog	3.7	Enrolment in tertiary education in Asia-Pacific has grown faster than in any other region	91
of young people943.10All world regions have made significant progress on literacy rates943.11Child mortality rates by socio-economic and geographic factors, selected countries and years963.12Regionally and globally, fewer youth are in the workforce1013.13Regions have wide gaps in vocational enrolment1033.14International migrants tend to be young1043.15Some young countries still invest relatively little in education (%)1084.1East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest1234.2Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	3.8		91
on literacy rates943.11Child mortality rates by socio-economic and geographic factors, selected countries and years963.12Regionally and globally, fewer youth are in the workforce1013.13Regions have wide gaps in vocational enrolment1033.14International migrants tend to be young1043.15Some young countries still invest relatively little in education (%)1084.1East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest1234.2Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.81Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	3.9		94
factors, selected countries and years963.12Regionally and globally, fewer youth are in the workforce1013.13Regions have wide gaps in vocational enrolment1033.14International migrants tend to be young1043.15Some young countries still invest relatively little in education (%)1084.1East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest1234.2Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.81Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	3.10		94
3.13Regions have wide gaps in vocational enrolment1033.14International migrants tend to be young1043.15Some young countries still invest relatively little in education (%)1084.1East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest1234.2Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.81Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	3.11		96
3.14International migrants tend to be young1043.15Some young countries still invest relatively little in education (%)1084.1East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest1234.2Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	3.12	Regionally and globally, fewer youth are in the workforce	101
3.15Some young countries still invest relatively little in education (%)1084.1East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest1234.2Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	3.13	Regions have wide gaps in vocational enrolment	103
in education (%)1084.1East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest1234.2Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.81Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	3.14	International migrants tend to be young	104
4.2Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	3.15	Some young countries still invest relatively little in education (%)	108
pension schemes1324.3Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	4.1	East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest	123
but most are still limited in their support1334.4A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	4.2		132
to guide policy choices1414.5Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries1425.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	4.3		133
5.1Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	4.4		141
key to the demographic dividend1585.B1Development and demographic trends in Korea, Indonesia, and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	4.5	Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries	142
and Nepal1595.2In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	5.1		158
their numbers have risen1635.3Most countries have multiple tiers of government1685.4Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities170	5.B1		159
5.4 Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities 170	5.2		163
the region's major cities 170	5.3	Most countries have multiple tiers of government	168
6.1 National laws, policies and actions on ageing in Asia-Pacific 190	5.4		170
	6.1	National laws, policies and actions on ageing in Asia-Pacific	190

Acronyms

ADB Asian Development Bank AIDS Acquired immune deficiency syndrome ASEAN+3 Association of Southeast Asian Nations plus China, Japan and Republic of Korea **BFC Better Factories Cambodia** DMRC Delhi Metro Rail Corporation EIU The Economist Intelligence Unit FAO Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations GDI Gender-related Development Index GDP Gross domestic product GII Gender Inequality Index HDI Human Development Index HIV Human immunodeficiency virus IDS Institute of Development Studies IHDI Inequality adjusted Human Development Index ILO International Labour Organization IMF International Money Fund IOM International Organization for Migration MDG Millennium Development Goal MPI Multidimensional Poverty Index NGO Non-Governmental Organization OECD Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development **PISA** Programme for International Student Assessment PPP Purchasing power parity SAR Special Administrative Region SDG Sustainable Development Goal UN DESA United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs **UN United Nations UNDP United Nations Development Programme** UNESCAP United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific UNESCO United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization UNESCO-UNEVOC International Centre for Technical Vocational Education and Training UNFPA United Nations Fund for Population Activities UN-HABITAT United Nations Human Settlements Programme UNICEF United Nations Children's Fund WHO World Health Organization WIEGO Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing

Overview

SHAPING THE FUTURE: HOW CHANGING DEMOGRAPHICS CAN POWER HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

People are the real wealth of nations. The opportunities they have and the choices they make determine the course of human development—nowhere more so than in Asia-Pacific, home to half the world's population. Asia-Pacific's future, to a large extent, shapes the world's future.

This 'demographic destiny' is not one with fixed outcomes, however. Beyond the sheer size of its population, Asia-Pacific is in the midst of a historic demographic transition. All countries are at some stage along a continuum where the shares of younger, older and working-age people have begun to shift. The process builds on human development gains, but also stands to advance them. Making the most of it requires people to be healthy, educated and productive, enjoying well-being at any stage of life.

This Asia-Pacific Human Development Report considers the challenges and opportunities of demographic changes from a human development perspective. It explores how 'demographic opportunity' invariably occurs when there is a greater share of people who can work, save and pay taxes compared to lower shares of dependent young and older people. In economic terms alone, the region's so-called 'demographic dividend' is already significant, varying among subregions, but accounting for about 42 percent and 39 percent of economic growth in developed and developing Asia-Pacific countries, respectively, between 1970 and 2010. These gains have been accompanied in many cases by significant leaps forward in human development.

Fully capitalizing on demographic changes depends greatly on how proactive countries are in steering the process across many arenas—among them, labour markets, economic growth, savings and investment, education, health and nutrition, social protection, migration, the provision of public services and the pace of urbanization. Countries that fail to plan ahead may fall short, as when inadequate investments in education shackle a growing economy since people are poorly equipped for the labour market. Squandering the demographic opportunity can result as well in losses to human development, as in the failure to invest new resources in pensions so older people can live in dignity.

Today, Asia-Pacific has countries with some of the youngest and oldest populations in the world. But the majority of nations have entered or are on the cusp of a period where working-age people comprise a significant population share. This puts the region as a whole at a favourable juncture to reap the demographic dividend and advance human development—although not for long. Demographic transition in Asia-Pacific not only involves large numbers of people, but also a pace of change more rapid than seen anywhere before, with particular consequences for societies that will be old long before they will be rich.

The implications are increasingly urgent in light of the recently agreed Agenda 2030, which maps an ambitious global vision for sustainable development that must be translated into action within each country. Countries will have to marshal all available resources, consider the most strategic mix of public investments, and explore all possible avenues—including those opened by demographic transition—to achieve the Agenda's 17 Sustainable Development Goals. These largely reflect the culmination of thinking that emerged in 1994 at the International Conference on Population and Development. It explicitly drew attention to the interplay between population and human development, and the potential for unleashing progress by upholding human rights, developing people's capabilities and protecting dignity throughout the human lifetime.

This report is roughly organized around different stages of demographic transition: at the middle, with a large share of working-age people; at the onset, where societies are very young; and at the end, with an ageing population. Some countries in Asia-Pacific will need to consider all of these stages at the same time, because they bridge different periods of transition within their own populations. National paths forward will vary widely, but based on the findings of the report, some common priorities apply:

All countries need to factor demographic changes into diverse public policy areas. To leverage opportunities from demographic dynamics and accelerate human development, demographic considerations need to be integrated across core national development plans and strategies. They also should be factored into policies related to economic management, education, health, gender equality, youth, ageing and urbanization, among other issues. This would be consistent with Agenda 2030, where countries commit to take population dynamics into account in national development strategies and policies.

Increased investments in human capabilities are essential. These should be planned carefully against the stage of demographic transition—to help initiate it, to make the most of the dividend and to sustain human development momentum as societies age. Different priorities may be informed by principles of generational balance and fairness, and there should be a focus on enhancing education, health and other capabilities among those who are most vulnerable or marginalized, in line with Agenda 2030. The overarching aim should be to work, over time, towards the universality of services essential to human well-being.

Decent and productive work is fundamental for greater well-being. As the 2015 global Human Development Report argues, decent and productive work is a fundamental driver to enhance human development, and should be readily available to all. Despite 20 million new jobs every year in the last decade in Asia-Pacific, employment still falls short of the needs of burgeoning working-age populations, both in numbers of jobs and their quality. Creating more work opportunities requires strategies such as setting employment targets, formulating an employment-led development plan, building a supportive macroeconomic framework, advancing regulations to protect workers' rights and safety, and fostering employment-intensive sectors. Targeted actions should reach out to excluded groups, towards realizing the promise of Agenda 2030 to leave no one behind.

Without fully unleashing the power and potential of women, the demographic dividend will remain marginal at best. The region's generally poor record on gender equality is a loss in terms of meeting internationally agreed human rights standards, and a serious impediment to making the most of the demographic transition and advancing human development. Gender equality should be understood as an immediate policy priority of central importance for women, and for societies and economies as a whole. Achieving the 4th Sustainable Development Goal on gender equality is a top priority-whether that involves political leadership, economic participation, education, public resource allocations, prevention of gender-based violence or any other area of life.

Cooperating more as a region on demographic changes would recognize that many relevant issues transcend borders. One priority might be easing imbalances in migration, since ageing societies may struggle to find workers, while those in the earliest stages of transition face a surplus. Another could be financial integration. Older populations have savings to invest, while younger ones need to attract capital given large labour pools and the need to boost productivity.

More and better data is needed to gauge and manage demographic changes. High-quality data needs to be geared towards monitoring the demographic profile overall, as well as the impacts of public policy measures aimed at youth, workers, older people and migrants, and related issues such as urbanization. More data and research are necessary on upcoming challenges due to changing epidemiological profiles and technology. This would be consistent with—and might build on—the data revolution called for as part of the Sustainable Development Goals.

HUMAN DEVELOPMENT IN ASIA-PACIFIC: RAPID BUT UNEVEN GAINS

Human development—as reflected by achievements in income, education and health—is the source and the accelerant of demographic opportunity. In all world regions, human development has steadily improved. Globally, between 1990 and 2014, more than 2 billion people moved beyond low levels of human development, and more than a billion people escaped extreme poverty. Most live in Asia-Pacific.

Among developing regions in the last quarter century, South Asia has made the fastest human development progress, followed by East Asia and the Pacific. These subregions recorded an average annual growth rate in Human Development Index (HDI) scores of 1.4 percent and 1.3 percent, respectively, compared to 0.7 percent for the world as a whole. Despite such impressive progress, however, both subregions lag behind Latin America and the Caribbean, and Europe and Central Asia in terms of human development. South Asia is also behind the Arab States.

Among 36 Asia-Pacific countries and territories with available data, 18 rank high or very high on the HDI, 12 have medium scores and 6 countries have low ones. In recent decades, many of the least developed countries in Asia-Pacific—Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Cambodia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Myanmar and Nepal—have made the most rapid progress, albeit from a lower base.

Between 2009 and 2014, 20 Asia-Pacific countries witnessed an improvement in human development relative to other countries, while 9 saw a decline and 6 others witnessed no change. Despite significant progress, 19 Asia-Pacific countries are still below the global HDI average, underscoring that while the region may have achieved an 'economic miracle', it has not yet attained a 'human development miracle', which undercuts the full potential of its demographic transition.

THE WORLD'S MOST POPULOUS REGION: A BIG TRANSITION IS UNDERWAY

Asia-Pacific's population size has tripled in the last 65 years, and is expected to reach 4.84 billion in 2050. Six of the world's 10 most populous countries are located in the region: China, India, Indonesia, Pakistan, Bangladesh and Japan—the first three alone account for 40 percent of all people alive today. The region also has some of the least populous countries in the world, such as Tokelau with 1,250 people and Niue with 1,610 people.

Asia-Pacific has been described as a 'demographic explosion region', although a once high population growth rate has significantly slowed. In the future, over three-fourths of the increase in regional population will likely occur in South Asia, while in East Asia, the population will probably remain largely unchanged or decline.

Accompanying falling population growth rates is an unprecedented demographic transition (Figure 1). Currently, 13 countries and territories, out of 38 with data on different age groups, are experiencing a 'youth bulge', where 20 percent or more of the population is between 15 and 24 years old. Another 11 countries and territories are ageing rapidly, where at least 14 percent of the population is 60 years and above. Others are witnessing an expanding share of working-age people.

The largest shifts are likely still ahead, between 2015 and 2050. By 2050, for the region as a whole, the proportion of children under age 15 will be less than half of what it was in 1950, while the share of people aged 60 and over will be more than three times what it was then. The largest proportion of the population will be concentrated in the working-age years, although over time, this share will contract.

The speed and scale of these demographic changes have some unique features. For example, the pace of ageing in Asia-Pacific is much faster than in all other regions except Latin America and the Caribbean. In the West, the process spanned about a century; it is occurring in Asia-Pacific over a compressed three to four decades, and in some countries in less than 20 While human development gains have been noteworthy, many countries still lag behind

FIGURE 1: Across the region, shares of younger people are declining, as populations age



Source: UN DESA 2015a.

years. The region now has the world's largest number of people over age 60, at around 489 million. By 2050, population ageing will be well underway in many countries that currently have young populations.

Another marked demographic shift involves urbanization. In the last 30 years, Asia-Pacific added more than a billion people to its cities more than all other regions combined—and another billion will be added in the next 30 years. While the move to an urban majority took 210 years in Latin America and the Caribbean, and 150 years in Europe, countries such as China, Bhutan, Indonesia and Lao People's Democratic Republic will make the same transition in about 60 years, and Asia-Pacific as a whole in about 95 years.

Among Asia-Pacific countries, there is considerable variation in progress in the demographic transition. Countries are advanced in it if they have already reached their peak share of working-age people, and in the middle if the share is still rising but had surpassed at least half of its expected increase by 2015. Countries are on the cusp of transition if the share is not expected to peak until after 2060. Almost all of Asia-Pacific's high-income countries and some of its upper-middle-income countries have reached advanced stages, while some of its lower-middle-income and low-income countries are in the initial stages (Figure 2).

Advanced demographic transition countries are mostly located in East Asia and South-east Asia. Many have witnessed, or will do so soon, a notable decline in both the working-age and total population, and will experience rapid ageing in coming decades. In South Asia, where transition is well underway, the proportions of young and working-age populations are growing rapidly, and almost all countries will have low or declining shares of young and old dependents over the next few decades. Most countries at the start of transition are small island developing states in the Pacific, where rapid population growth will, at least for some time ahead, stall the advent of transition.

HOW DO DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGES ADVANCE HUMAN DEVELOPMENT?

Demographic changes and human development are interrelated and influence each other, but this report mainly analyses how demographic changes impact human development (Figure 3). This occurs through a number of channels, starting with an increased number of people

Demographic changes in Asia-Pacific are taking place much faster than they did elsewhere

4



The period in which the share of the working-age population is rising

Source: UN DESA 2015a.

in the workforce. The second channel involves rising income and savings, and the third greater productivity. A fourth channel entails improved human capabilities, built through investing in education and health. A fifth is increasing domestic demand, as people earn and spend more, which can feed further economic growth. Urbanization comprises a sixth channel. As more and more people flock to urban areas, they can find better health and educational services, and diverse opportunities for decent work.

Demographic transition offers two potential dividends, which are roughly sequential. The first occurs when the labour force grows more rapidly than the dependent population. The equation is simple: more labour equals more economic output, assuming no significant drag from unemployment or underemployment. A second dividend unfolds when a larger number of workers is also more productive. This comes about in part through investments in human capabilities that, for instance, allow people to do more skilled jobs. Over time, they can then earn more, save more and acquire more assets such as homes, land and businesses. Some overlap may occur between the two dividends, and neither is automatic, with demographic transition merely opening a window of opportunity.

While demographic transition is likely to occur in every country, accelerating its arrival and realizing the full scope of any potential dividend depend largely on policy choices to steer the process. If these choices are not made, or are made poorly, a historic opportunity for human development gains will be lost. In this regard, converting a demographic opportunity into a demographic dividend requires strategic policies and good governance. Patterns of public investment need to respond to demographic changes. Countries with a very youthful population need to invest more in schools, for example. Those with a large working-age population need Converting demographic opportunity into a demographic dividend requires strategic policies, long-term vision and good governance

FIGURE 3:

With appropriate policies and a conducive environment, demographic changes can improve human development by several channels



to create large numbers of decent jobs. And those with an older population need to establish adequate pension systems.

IN THE MIDDLE OF TRANSITION: MAKING THE MOST OF DEMOGRAPHIC OPPORTUNITIES

Countries with a growing workforce can accelerate human development by creating more and better jobs

A number of Asia-Pacific countries are now at a point where the share of their working-age populations has grown dramatically, meaning just a few decades remain to reap a demographic dividend. This time frame largely coincides with the Sustainable Development Goals, suggesting that countries at this stage could be well-placed to achieve the goals, and that efforts to attain them could amplify the demographic dividend.

Acting soon to seize the demographic opportunity is an imperative, however. Both South Asia and South-east Asia will see a continued large jump in working-age populations from 2015 to 2030, after which the rise will begin to taper off. The increase will continue only in Oceania, at a marginally higher rate. In the region as a whole, the working-age population is expected to increase by 10 percent between 2015 and 2030, but by only 0.4 percent between 2030 and 2050.

As workforces expand, countries will need to provide enough decent work, stimulate and manage their economies so that growth is inclusive and aligned with human development, expand the scope for savings, and in general ensure people have capabilities, opportunities and freedoms to progress in their lives.

Core actions to make the most of the demographic opportunity may include:

CREATE MORE AND BETTER JOBS AND LIVELIHOODS

The share of people working but earning below the international poverty line is still large in Asia-Pacific, and their numbers are likely to escalate with more entrants into the labour force if current employment shortfalls continue. By 2050, more than 280 million more people will enter the job market in India alone, for instance, a one-third increase above current levels, yet between 1991 and 2013, the economy absorbed less than half of new entrants to the labour market.

Although unemployment rates across the region are fairly low, averaging 4 percent, underemployment is pervasive in many places. Large numbers of people still scrape by in marginal agriculture or informal and poorly paid work, even though the quality of employment is an essential element of the demographic dividend. While labour productivity has risen consistently, along with improved education and investments in technology, labour markets are still not robust enough, leaving many workers to migrate and seek jobs elsewhere, a drain on demographic returns.

The time has come to make job creation central to national development strategies, with

a strong emphasis on protecting workers' rights. One starting point could be new policy measures to encourage small and medium enterprises, which face many constraints despite providing two-thirds of current jobs. Structural transformation of the economy, from less to more productive activities, opens new opportunities for people to find better work, and prepares for the time when a fewer number of workers will need to produce more to sustain development gains for an ageing population.

ACHIEVE WOMEN'S EQUAL PARTICIPATION

A factor limiting Asia-Pacific's ability to fully realize the demographic dividend as well as promote human development is low female labour force participation. The rate is below 60 percent for more than two-thirds of the 30 Asia-Pacific countries that track it. Many women are spending disproportionate time on domestic caregiving, undercutting opportunities to generate an income. East Asian countries that have already benefitted from demographic changes in the last three to four decades have done so in part due to high female labour force participation rates.

Policies designed to bring more women into the workforce will be critical for fully realizing demographic dividends. These need to ensure equal pay and rights for women, safety and security at work and in public spaces, reasonable parental leave, and reliable, cost-effective provision for child care, among others. Malaysia, for instance, is proactively engaging the private sector to bring more educated women back to the workforce by providing grants and incentives that can facilitate child care.

Women's entrepreneurship, an untapped area for many countries, has tremendous potential. Regulations regarding establishing businesses, obtaining credit, and participating in trade need to be oriented towards diminishing gender-related barriers and improving women's access. Women also need to be full participants in political and economic decision-making, as is their right, and because there is otherwise a lower likelihood that policies and plans will fully support their capabilities and contributions to development. Countries need to reform discriminatory laws, such as those that require women to retire at earlier ages than men, and uproot social norms that tolerate gender-based violence, even if it is against the law.

CHANNEL MORE SAVINGS INTO PRODUCTIVE INVESTMENTS

About half of the demographic dividend already achieved in East Asia has come from savings and capital accumulation closely aligned with increases in the share of the working-age population. As more people work and have smaller families, and know that they may live longer in retirement, they tend to save more. Demographic transition can allow governments to save too, including through reduced spending on social services that are more important when populations are very young or very old. Accumulated savings can be applied in several ways that contribute to human development and the demographic dividend, such as infrastructure to improve productivity.

The region as a whole needs to widen the availability of financial instruments for investing in savings—the large portion currently ending up abroad underscores gaps in domestic options. One important avenue could be developing bond markets, which can have particular value for businesses as well as municipalities aiming to keep up with rapid urbanization and expansion of infrastructure and services. Banking and other basic financial services need to reach the large shares of people and smaller businesses who currently go without them, a process that could be backed by financial literacy and education efforts.

Bringing more women into paid employment and entrepreneurship will increase the demographic dividend

EARLY IN TRANSITION: UNLOCKING THE POTENTIAL OF THE NEXT GENERATION

One of the greatest challenges facing Asia-Pacific today is how to scale up and improve the quality of education, health and employment opportunities for its 1.7 billion people under age 25, as well as to empower them in decision-making. Children and young people in some sense are the starting point for demographic transition, since higher child survival rates lead to declines in fertility that lead, in turn, to a larger share of working-age people.

While policy makers sometimes see young people as a 'problem' group, they are the next generation of workers, scientists, innovators, entrepreneurs, visionaries and political leaders. In Agenda 2030, the international community committed to providing children and youth with a nurturing environment for the full realization of their rights and capabilities. With the right chances to make their way in life, they can catalyse enormous human development gains and propel the demographic dividend.

Core actions to unlock the potential of the next generation may include:

INVEST IN BASIC CAPABILITIES: UNIVERSAL, HIGH-QUALITY EDUCATION AND HEALTH CARE

Health and education are human rights and pillars of human development, and countries in the region have made progress in both areas. Significant gaps remain in the coverage, scope and quality of services, however. Towards closing these, public investment in education should reach international standards; health care systems need to aim for universal coverage, as called for in Agenda 2030.

Areas that need more attention include closing disparities along the lines of gender, disability and location. Strong progress in primary education should be matched at the secondary and tertiary levels. Early childhood development programmes need to expand, since these dramatically improve children's chances for success later in life. Countries need to further emphasize quality, perhaps looking to successes in Hong Kong, China (Special Administrative Region); Japan; the Republic of Korea; Singapore and Taiwan Province of China, which top world rankings by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).

In health care, priorities include further reducing child and maternal mortality, cutting rates of malnutrition that are still high in some areas, and ensuring that adolescents and young adults can access the full range of sexual and reproductive health services. Countries such as Japan, Republic of Korea, Singapore and Thailand have achieved universal health coverage and admirable health-care outcomes, in some instances with limited financial resources. Several Pacific Island countries have also set excellent examples in providing state-sponsored systems. Out-of-pocket health-care costs in Kiribati, Samoa, Solomon Islands, and Tuvalu account for less than 10 percent of total health expenditures, allowing all citizens to access services.

SMOOTH THE TRANSITION FROM SCHOOL TO WORK

Many young people in Asia-Pacific face a rocky transition to adulthood, marred by a frustrating search for employment that does not exist, or for which they have been poorly prepared. An astonishing one-third of youth—around 220 million people—are neither in school nor the labour market. Directionless, unable to start adult lives, they end up frustrated, their enormous energy and enthusiasm thwarted. Unmet youth expectations can weaken social cohesion and stability.

A smoother transition from school to employment depends on easing multiple barriers to starting work. Countries need to ensure that their educational systems prepare youth with skills demanded by the labour market. In many cases, technical education and vocational training need to be expanded and the quality improved, drawing on proven models, such as the one in Germany.

Opportunities for internships or apprenticeships for young people could be created, and employers incentivized to hire more youths. Career counselling centres designed for youth

Investing in education and skills for youth is key to human development and the preparation of a productive future workforce could provide job matching assistance, and training and mentoring, among other services. Improved access to finance, technical support related to business management, and legal advice could encourage young entrepreneurs to pursue innovations and start new ventures. The Republic of Korea offers an example of reducing barriers to market entry; its 'Youth Initiatives' scheme provides start-up funds and entrepreneurship training.

ENCOURAGE YOUTH PARTICIPATION

Youth involvement in democratic processes upholds their rights, and opens opportunities to more effectively steer development. Since many Asia-Pacific economies are growing fast, they need innovative and dynamic leaders, including youth. Young people can offer new insights and pioneering solutions in policy dialogues, or as representatives in national or local decision-making bodies. Many today are more informed than ever before, and keen to tap into new technologies to devise innovative solutions, such as through social media and crowdsourcing platforms. They participated pro-actively in deliberations around Agenda 2030, and are now poised to support its implementation.

Volunteerism and civic participation of youth can bring tremendous value to local communities. Civic education is another priority, as it instils common values, and a sense of social and civic rights and obligations. The Philippines' wellknown 'Check My School' programme mobilizes youth volunteers to monitor educational resources in local schools to ensure accountability and responsiveness to community needs. The programme has become so successful partly because of a trusted partnership between youth and local governments, and a strong emphasis on transparency and publicly available information.

IN ADVANCED TRANSITION: SUSTAINING HUMAN DEVELOPMENT ACROSS LONGER LIFESPANS

In 2005, for the first time in its history, Asia-Pacific had more people over age 60 than children under age five. By 2050, 1.2 billion older people will call the region home, and half the population will be over age 50. The onset of rapid ageing is an early warning signal, an urgent call for action.

Managing ageing is a complex and dynamic process, with challenges and opportunities. Until now, Asia-Pacific governments have mainly focused on interventions for younger and working-age groups. Given the direction of demographics, however, continued progress on human development and sustaining the gains of demographic transition will largely depend on integrating ageing issues across national development planning, recognizing that ageing touches every area of life.

While ageing is often feared, with the right planning and preparation, it can be a source of enrichment for individuals and societies. In some countries, including Japan, New Zealand and Thailand, high-level political commitment, such as through dedicated ministerial posts and interministerial bodies on ageing, has ushered in positive ways to move forward.

Core actions to manage ageing to drive human development may include:

ADJUST NATIONAL PENSION SYSTEMS FOR EQUITY, ADEQUACY AND SUSTAINABILITY

Poverty rates are higher in many countries among older persons, a strong justification for pension schemes. With traditional family structures beginning to shift, a growing share of the elderly live alone and must rely on their own means. Pension coverage is rising, yet less than half of people in Asia-Pacific have access to pensions, and even those who do may find payments do not meet basic living expenses. In public pension expenditure, the region is below the global average, and given its large older With the right preparation, ageing can be a source of enrichment for individuals and societies population, worse off than Africa.

Pension systems will need to grow—rapidly in many cases. This will not be easy or cheap. Choices may be needed to balance priorities across generations and develop social consensus around what constitutes fair shares of limited resources. There is a need to pay attention to proper design and appropriate institutional mechanisms to help contain expenditures, and supportive measures such as a higher retirement age can be considered.

In general, pension systems should aim to be progressive, where pension benefits are equitably shared, and those with the capacity to contribute more do so. A fair floor of essential benefits could be established for all pensioners, while avoiding the trap of setting overly generous benefit levels that are a disincentive to work. The region will need to focus on coverage, adequacy of benefits and sustainability. Increasing links between public and private pensions to ensure basic social security coverage, and facilitating long-term investment options for varying levels of income are emerging as models to consider in Australia, Chile and Denmark.

Early planning for old-age health care and pensions will smooth the transition to ageing

IMPROVE HEALTH-CARE SYSTEMS FOR OLDER PERSONS

Rapid ageing is changing the profile of healthcare needs, requiring corresponding shifts in health-care systems. The current rise in non-communicable diseases underscores the importance of preventive health care, including healthy eating and exercise habits that can minimize common old-age illnesses such as diabetes and heart disease. Stronger commitments are needed to support prevention, diagnosis, management and proper care of non-communicable diseases over the course of life.

Older people typically need more health care, but not all can afford it, particularly those from lower income households or who live independently. Health-care spending for older adults is about three to four times higher than that of the working-age population in many countries. Universal health care, which can make some of the most significant contributions to human development, should address these issues and be an aim in all countries. There should be an explicit focus on removing barriers to access that may be specific to older persons.

Also needed is an expansion in long-term care facilities. As the proportion of older people living alone rises, they will require more of these, including in homes and communities. There is a growing demand for home-based nurses and care providers, but these are still largely missing for most countries in the region. Investments are needed in integrated, person-centred care tailored to individuals. Other priorities are to increase rehabilitative care, care for disabilities and mental health services geared to older persons. Health facilities, especially in rural areas, need to be more accessible to them.

SUPPORT ACTIVE AGEING

Older people require interaction with friends, families and the wider community to remain healthy. As the region's population ages, and more seniors begin to live alone, elderly communities will increase, making accessibility even more important. A living and working environment friendly to older people facilitates their movement, reduces their risk of injury, enhances their ability to care for themselves and access services, and increases their participation in economic and social activities. Countries such as China, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam have introduced new programmes and policies to promote employment opportunities for older people.

Priority measures include, among others, dwellings that can accommodate those with limited mobility and strength; a wider range of home care services for the elderly; transportation that is elderly-friendly, affordable and accessible; walkways that are in good repair and free of obstacles; traffic signals that allow sufficient time for older persons to cross streets safely; places to rest outdoors; and public buildings accessible to those with limited mobility. Other avenues for active ageing come from opportunities to participate in voluntary activities and community service, and to engage in making public policy choices. Some countries, such as China and Malaysia, have reserved seats in consultative bodies to provide important roles to older adults in decision-making.

Every older adult should enjoy the right to choose to remain employed, yet older people in

Asia-Pacific leave the workforce at rates that are higher than ideal, including in comparison to other developing regions. Institutional, legal, social and technical barriers need to be tackled—such as to make work environments more inclusive by accommodating the physical and health conditions of older people. Businesses might be encouraged to retain older workers through flexible employment conditions. Occupational retraining programmes and general educational upgrading can allow older men and women to take up new occupations and cope with technological change.

CHANGE NEGATIVE PERCEPTIONS AROUND AGEING

Older men and women have the same rights as everyone else. Yet negative attitudes towards old age and older people are deeply ingrained in many societies. Unlike other forms of prejudice and discriminatory behaviour, these are rarely acknowledged or challenged. They reduce many significant contributions older people make to society by working, voting, paying taxes, volunteering and playing vital roles in families, such as through caring for children.

Public awareness campaigns can be invaluable in countering discriminatory notions about older people. Anti-discrimination legislation should explicitly protect them from abuse and deprivation, and recognize potential intersections with other forms of discrimination related to gender, ethnic origin, disability, income, sexuality, HIV status or literacy levels. Asia-Pacific countries could look to European Union programmes and policies aimed at safeguarding the interests and rights of ageing populations, including the EU Framework Directive, which legally prohibits age-based discrimination in employment.

REALIZING THE FULL PROMISE OF URBANIZATION

Rapid urbanization is transforming Asia-Pacific. Lured by the promise of better jobs and higher incomes, as well as quality education and health care, people across the region are on the move from the countryside to new lives in cities. In Asia-Pacific, 47 percent of people live in urban areas; their share will swell to an estimated 62 percent by 2050.¹

Throughout history, as centres of learning, culture, art, innovation and productivity, cities have accelerated human development. Urbanization also helps trigger demographic transition. In the midst of explosive growth, however, the pressure is on to provide enough decent jobs, affordable housing and quality services.

The international community has consistently recognized the centrality of cities in development. For example, the 2012 Rio+20 Summit outcome states that "...if they are well planned and developed, including through integrated planning and management approaches, cities can promote economically, socially and environmentally sustainable societies."² Agenda 2030 also emphasizes building sustainable cities and communities through its 11th Sustainable Development Goal.

Core actions to realize the full promise of urbanization may include:

MANAGE CITIES MORE EFFECTIVELY

Many Asia-Pacific cities lack the necessary institutions, policies and resources to keep up with growing populations. In governance, they are among the weakest in the world. If urbanization is not well managed and soon, the region will likely not sustain the momentum of economic growth or human development, and will lose some of its demographic dividend.

One urgent priority is to review intergovernmental relationships between local and central authorities, and move towards a proactive, bottom-up approach that goes beyond just designing a new territorial administrative structure. Success will depend strongly on a national legal foundation, capable institutions, and adequate financial instruments to manage Well-developed cities can be the backbone of sustainable societies decentralization and coordinate among different levels of government. Local institutions will need requisite technical and managerial skills, the ability to engage with the public, and strong capacities to design, implement, monitor and evaluate local public policies.

Each city, regardless of size, needs a well-defined administrative area over which it has full autonomy, and a clear formula for intergovernmental transfers. As capacity for local administration improves, cities can often boost local resource mobilization, including through taxation, and plan more systematically for infrastructure investment, operations and maintenance. Cities at a more advanced stage of development can explore alternative instruments of finance, such as user fees, municipal bonds and public-private partnerships. The city of Ahmedabad in India pursued reforms related to local resource mobilization that enabled it to raise significant funds and transform its credit rating to AA.

MAKE CITIES MORE COMPETITIVE AND INCLUSIVE

Strategies to make cities more inclusive and competitive can multiply the demographic dividend

Competitive cities attract new industries, investments and skilled workers to spur dynamic economic growth. Competitiveness is determined by factors such as infrastructure, educational and research institutions, and the quality of public administration. Much depends on the ability to nurture a capable workforce, and absorb its talents through the generation of decent work.

A few Asia-Pacific cities such as Hong Kong, China (SAR) and Singapore have been hugely successful in attracting talent and investment, and ensuring prosperity and good public services for their citizens. Many more are struggling to cope with challenges such as the large-scale influx of migrants. Much needs to be done to tackle crippling infrastructure gaps, such as unreliable power systems, poor quality roads, inefficient ports and inadequate schools. Local economic development and job creation efforts should be at the heart of dialogue with the local business community, and local finance and educational institutions.

Strong and vibrant cities are broadly inclusive, since exclusion, social or otherwise, is a critical impediment to human development. Infrastructure, services and decent employment opportunities need to reach all city residents; special measures may be needed for migrants, youth, older people, women and girls, and people with disabilities. Singapore offers an example of how this can happen. Ranked today as Asia's greenest city, and as having the best business environment and being the best place to live, Singapore was once a city with polluted rivers and massive infrastructure and housing shortages.

Bridging the still often wide gap in many Asia-Pacific cities between citizens and governments requires strengthening accountability, and increasing government transparency and openness. Citizen participation is important in building consensus and making local services most relevant to local needs.

PURSUE MORE CONCENTRATED PATTERNS OF URBAN GROWTH, SUCH AS COMPACT CITIES

In driving economic activity and human development gains, cities consume vast quantities of energy, water and other resources, and generate more waste than rural areas. More than half of the world's most polluted cities are in Asia-Pacific. Increasingly, the costs of environmental degradation will be excessive and difficult to reverse, ever more so given the pace of urbanization. It will be far more cost-effective, and in line with commitments under Agenda 2030, to begin working now towards more sustainable cities.

One essential measure is to foster urban agglomeration, and promote green and compact cities. These avoid the urban sprawl that can make public services more expensive and difficult to provide. They can dramatically decrease traffic congestion and greenhouse gas emissions. Restrictions on the expansion of urban boundaries are one way to encourage denser urban development. Countries such as China, India, Japan and the Republic of Korea have begun pursuing compact and smart cities, including to reduce per capita carbon emissions. In Seoul, for example, the metropolitan government plans to expand the renewable energy share from 1.5 percent in 2007 to 20 percent by 2030, with nearly half to come from hydro energy.

WHAT'S AHEAD IN THIS REPORT

This Asia-Pacific Human Development Report considers demographic changes in the region today and in the near future, and assesses different approaches to managing transition in order to accelerate human development. The report also probes the issues of rapid urbanization and migration, both of which result from and influence demographic transition.

Chapter 1 introduces key concepts of the demographic transition and dividend, and provides an overview of major human development and demographic changes in Asia-Pacific. Chapter 2 considers ways to maximize the dividend in countries with a large share of working-age people, with an emphasis on decent and productive employment and the effective investment of savings. Chapter 3 assesses investments that need to be made in the early stage of transition, particularly in children and youth so they are healthy, well-educated and can move readily into adult life. Chapter 4 takes up the issue of ageing, examining its challenges, but also exploring the many contributions of older people to societies and economies. In Chapter 5, urbanization is analysed as a phenomenon that can trigger and accelerate demographic transition and an associated dividend that can improve human development, if it is managed well. Chapter 6 highlights core policy options presented in the previous chapters.

People are the real wealth of nations—and their well-being is the core purpose of this report. Much of Asia-Pacific has reached a point in history where a few short decades remain to reap a demographic dividend. It is unlikely that such an opportunity will come again. A demographic transition rooted in making advances in human capabilities, opportunities and freedoms that are inclusive and open to all will result in a tremendous leap forward. It will pay a high dividend in human development, now and for many generations to come.

Chapter 1

HOW CHANGING DEMOGRAPHICS CAN POWER HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

HOW CHANGING DEMOGRAPHICSCAN POWER HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

Across Asia-Pacific, people's choices and opportunities define the region's population dynamics and prospects for human development. Understanding of how this process unfolds, however, has shifted dramatically since the early pronouncements of 18th century British economist Thomas Malthus, who warned that population increases would outstrip food production, leading to mass hunger, poverty and the spread of disease. This dire perspective informed attempts to control population growth for a number of decades, globally and within individual Asia-Pacific countries as the number of people spiraled upward at rates never known before.

By the time of the landmark 1994 International Conference on Population and Development, new perspectives and possibilities had emerged. Turning from the notion that too many people simply posed a threat, the conference considered "population, poverty, patterns of production and consumption and the environment [as] so closely interconnected that none of them can be considered in isolation."¹ In other words, population size matters, but so does human behaviour, which inherently links to the capabilities people have and their level of well-being. The conference ushered in agreement on upholding reproductive health and rights so that people can make empowered choices about their families.

In recent years, there has been growing emphasis on the age composition of populations, and the relative shares of those who are young, old and in their most productive middle years. It has become increasingly clear that every country in the world, regardless of its population size, has experienced or will experience a 'demographic transition'. This begins with a fall in child mortality rates and ends with an ageing population. In between, countries go through a period of demographic opportunity, where they have a greater share of working-age people and relatively lower shares of dependent young and older people.

Demographic transition has profound implications for human development, where all people are able to acquire the capabilities and opportunities they need to achieve a decent life. Human development, in turn, determines the course of the transition. Each age group acts differently, with varying levels of dependency and productivity, and requirements for diverse goods and services. Young populations must have good schools, for example, while older ones need pensions. Middle-aged populations send a high percentage of people into the workforce, potentially powering up economic growth.

Challenges and opportunities arise during the course of transition. Some 'demographic dividend'² invariably occurs when there are fewer young and old dependents, and more people in the workforce. But fully capitalizing on this depends largely on how proactive countries are in steering the process. Those that fail to plan ahead may realize only some potential benefits. If human development does not substantially move forward, for instance, some part of the dividend may be lost, as when people are inadequately educated for the labour market. Squandering the dividend can result as well in losses to human development, as in the failure to provide enough opportunities for decent work.

From the perspective of human development, the quality and inclusivity of the economic growth generated by demographics shifts is critical. Demographic transition, to truly bear a dividend, must build on and contribute to greater human capabilities and opportunities for well-being, and uphold human rights and dignity. Further, development must be sustainable, reaching everyone while ensuring that natural resources are not exhausted and planetary boundaries surpassed.

The implications are increasingly urgent in light of the recently agreed Agenda 2030, which maps an ambitious global vision for sustainable development that must be translated into action in each country (Box 1.1). Countries will need to marshal all available resources, consider the most strategic mix of public investments, and explore all possible avenues—including those opened by demographic changes—to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs).

Most past work on demographic changes has addressed specific issues such as youth or ageing, working populations or urbanization. Less attention has been paid to taking an integrated approach and capturing the interplay between demography and human development. Even the United Nations, which for decades has led the world in chronicling demographic changes and championing accelerated human development, has not sufficiently advocated the importance of making connections between the two. But today, Asia-Pacific countries cannot afford to overlook the links. The age structures of their populations are rapidly shifting, and they are on the cusp of a transition with potentially profound impacts on labour markets, economic growth, savings and investment, education, health, social protection and the provision of public services—all with implications for human development.

This Asia-Pacific Human Development Report takes up these issues. It considers the major demographic changes in the region today and in the near future, and major channels that link these to human development. It assesses whether or not countries have adequate and appropriate mechanisms to manage different elements of demographic changes, such as to absorb potentially huge gains from a large working-age population, or to strengthen old-age support systems for growing numbers of elderly people. It probes the issues of historically rapid urbanization and migration, both of which result from and also influence demographic changes.

HUMAN DEVELOPMENT IMPROVES RAPIDLY, BUT UNEVENLY, ACROSS ASIA-PACIFIC

Human Development Index (HDI) values which reflect achievements in income, education and health—have steadily risen in all regions in the world. Globally, between 1990 and 2014, more than 2 billion people rose above low levels of human development; more than a billion escaped extreme poverty.³ Most live in Asia-Pacific, although the current state of human development in the region as a whole presents a mixed picture.

Among developing regions worldwide, South Asia has made the fastest human development

progress with an average annual growth rate in HDI values of 1.4 percent compared to the world average of 0.7 percent in the last 25 years. It is followed by East Asia and the Pacific with a rate of 1.3 percent.⁴ Despite such impressive progress, however, both subregions still lag behind Latin America and the Caribbean, and Europe and Central Asia. South Asia is also behind the Arab States (Figure 1.1).

Among 36 Asia-Pacific countries and territories with available data,⁵ 18 have high or very high HDI values, 12 countries have medium values, and 6 countries have low values.⁶ In recent decades, many least developed countries in Asia-Pacific—Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Cambodia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Myanmar and Nepal—have made the most rapid progress on human development, albeit from a lower base. Between 2009 and 2014, 20 Asia-Pacific countries witnessed an improvement

BOX 1.1: Major global agreements link population and development

In 1994, the International Conference on Population and Development, held in Cairo, explicitly drew attention—for the first time—to the dynamic relationship between population and development. Its Programme of Action advocated "appropriate policies to meet the needs of current generations without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (UNFPA 2014b, paragraph 3.1). It called for investing in individual human rights, capabilities and dignity throughout the human lifetime.

More recently, at the 2012 United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development, governments globally committed to "seize the opportunities and address the challenges associated with demographic change" (United Nations 2012c, paragraph 144). In 2014, at the 20-year review of the Cairo conference, they overwhelmingly supported an action plan "safeguarding the rights of young people and investing in their quality education, decent employment opportunities, effective livelihood skills and access to sexual and reproductive health" (UNFPA 2014c, executive summary). The international community in 2015 affirmed, in Agenda 2030, a set of Sustainable Development Goals and targets that incorporate population elements. The SDGs come at a time when Asia-Pacific countries are experiencing powerful population shifts, including continued population growth, youth bulges, ageing and significant changes associated with migration, urbanization and family dynamics. These issues have many implications for the achievement of the SDGs by their agreed 2030 endpoint. Demographic patterns affect almost all of the priorities in the goals, including economic growth, labour markets, income distribution, poverty, social protection, pensions, health, education, gender equality, food security, energy, environmental protection, and climate change mitigation and adaptation.

Demographic changes played an important role in the success of East Asia's 'tiger' economies. Other Asia-Pacific countries now have a similar historic opportunity to leverage demographics for human development, and to guide development to exert positive impacts on demographics. By anticipating and planning for the changes ahead, all countries can address challenges and harness opportunities to realize greater human well-being and contribute to a more sustainable world. South Asia has made the fastest recent human development progress, but lags behind many regions of the world

FIGURE 1.1: The Human Development Index marks improvement in all regions



Source: Based on UNDP 2015a.



Inequality deducts from human development

Source: Based on UNDP 2015a.

FIGURE 1.2:

achievements in all regions

Losses from inequality are greatest for income in East Asia and the Pacific, and highest for education and longevity in South Asia in their human development ranking relative to other countries, while 9 saw a decline and 6 witnessed no change.⁷ Despite significant progress in recent decades, 19 Asia-Pacific countries are still below the global average on the HDI,⁸ underscoring that while the region may have achieved an 'economic miracle', it has not yet attained a 'human development miracle'.

INEQUALITY RESULTS IN HUMAN DEVELOPMENT LOSSES

Inequality in the distribution of the three dimensions of the HDI is striking in Asia-Pacific, as captured in the Inequality-adjusted Human Development Index (IHDI). The average human development loss due to inequality for the world is 22.8 percent, but it is 28.7 percent for South Asia. Though human development loss due to inequality is somewhat low at 19.4 percent for East Asia and the Pacific, it is still high compared to 13 percent in Europe and central Asia (Figure 1.2).

While losses due to inequality are greatest in terms of income in East Asia and the Pacific, they are highest for education and longevity in South Asia. Among 24 Asia-Pacific countries where the IHDI was calculated in 2014,⁹ the Islamic Republic of Iran had the most severe shortfalls—33.6 percent of its HDI value was lost due to inequality, followed by Kiribati at 31.5 percent, Afghanistan at 31.4 percent, Timor-Leste at 30.7 percent, Pakistan at 29.9 percent, Bhutan at 29.8 percent, Bangladesh at 29.4 percent and India at 28.6 percent.¹⁰ Inequality in access to health, education and basic services affirms that inclusiveness remains a challenge in the region despite noteworthy progress in poverty reduction.

GENDER GAPS ARE WIDE IN SOME COUNTRIES

In parts of Asia-Pacific, gender gaps remain wide—imposing large limitations on prospects for demographic dividends, since women's participation in the labour force and ability to make choices related to education and fertility can make a substantial contribution. The Gender Development Index (GDI), which captures gender inequalities in human development, reveals a gap in South Asia that is larger than that of any other region.

Among 29 Asia-Pacific countries and areas,¹¹ the gender gap is highest in Afghanistan and lowest in Thailand. Globally, of the 148 countries with data to calculate the 2014 GDI, a reverse gender gap favouring women occurred in 14 countries, including Mongolia. Female life expectancy is greater than that of males in all Asia-Pacific counties, but women seem to have a large advantage mainly in countries with the lowest overall gender gap. For example, women are expected to live 6.8 years and 6.9 years more than men in Thailand and the Philippines, respectively, the two countries with the lowest levels of gender inequality. In Mongolia, the only country with a reverse gender gap, the 'female advantage' is the largest at 8.6 years. Women in Afghanistan, where gender inequality is highest, live only 2.4 years longer than men.¹²

The Gender Inequality Index (GII) reveals the extent to which national achievements in reproductive health, empowerment and labour market participation are eroded by gender inequalities, and is more suggestive of cultural values that may underlie gender discrimination than the GDI. In 2014, South Asia scored 19.3 percent higher than the global average, indicating widespread discrimination, while East Asia and the Pacific were 26.9 percent lower.¹³ The GII was lowest in Singapore and highest in Afghanistan (Figure 1.3), and in general was higher in poorer than richer countries. Asia-Pacific countries with pronounced gender inequality also have high maternal mortality ratios, a lower proportion of women with secondary school education and fewer women in parliament.

PEOPLE FACE MULTIFACETED DEPRIVATIONS

Globally, some 1.5 billion people live in what is considered multidimensional poverty,¹⁴ where they struggle with overlapping deprivations, such as in health, education, living standards and so on. Based on the Multidimensional Poverty Index (MPI), the largest shares live in South Asia, sub-Saharan Africa, and East Asia and the Pacific (Table 1.1). Deprivations in living standards generally contribute more to multidimensional poverty than those in education and health. The contribution of the former is much higher in East Asia and the Pacific than in South Asia, perhaps due to economies where people are more heavily dependent on earning incomes



Gender inequalities limit the demographic dividend

FIGURE 1.3:

TABLE 1.1: Asia-Pacific still has large portions of people living in multidimensional poverty

Region	Income poverty headcounts (%)	Near income poverty (%)	Poverty headcount (%)	Intensity of deprivation (%)	Near multidimensional poverty (%)
Arab States	6.5	36.4	15.5	48.4	8.7
East Asia and the Pacific	12.7	25.1	6.4	44.7	16.2
Europe and Central Asia	1.4	6	1.8	37.3	4.5
Latin America and the Caribbean	5.7	7	6.7	42.8	9.5
South Asia	30.6	44.4	53.4	50.8	17.9
Sub-Saharan Africa	50.9	27.8	59.6	55	16.2

Note: the population near multidimensional poverty corresponds to the percentage of the population at risk of suffering multiple deprivations-that is, those with a deprivation score of 20 percent to 33 percent.

Source: UNDP 2014.

to provide for their needs. In South Asia, over half of people in Afghanistan, Bangladesh and India lived in multidimensional poverty in 2010, compared to only 2 percent in the Maldives.¹⁵ In East Asia and the Pacific, multidimensional poverty is most severe in Timor-Leste, affecting over 64 percent of the population, and lowest in Thailand, at only 1 percent.

THE WORLD'S MOST POPULOUS REGION: A MAJOR TRANSITION IS UNDERWAY

Home to 4.1 billion people in 2015, living at widely diverse stages of human development, Asia-Pacific is the most populous region in the world.¹⁶ Around 56 percent of the world's people live there, although the region occupies only about 23 percent of the earth's land.¹⁷ Population size has tripled in the last 65 years, and is expected to reach 4.84 billion in 2050.¹⁸ Six of the world's 10 most populous countries are located in the region—China, India, Indonesia, Pakistan, Bangladesh and Japan—the first three alone account for 40 percent of all people alive today.¹⁹ The region also has some of the least populous countries, such as Tokelau with 1,250

people, Niue with 1,610 people and Tuvalu with 9,916 people.

Asia-Pacific has been described as a 'demographic explosion region', although a high population growth rate of about 3.2 percent in the second half of the 20th century has significantly slowed since 2000 (Box 1.2). Today, the rate hovers at about 1 percent, lower than the global average of 1.2 percent, and is expected to fall to 0.46 percent in the next four decades.

Already, the slowdown is evident in almost all subregions, with variations. Annual population growth in East Asia is expected to shrink to -0.4 percent from 2015 to 2050, while rates in South-east and South Asia will likely descend to around 0.3 percent. Growth is currently highest in the Pacific subregion, but is also slowing, probably reaching 0.9 percent during the same period.

In the future, over three-fourths of the increase in Asia-Pacific's population will likely occur in South Asia, where total population will rise by 600 million by 2050. In East Asia, meanwhile, the population will probably remain largely unchanged or decline, shifting its regional share from 48 percent in 1970 to only 34 percent by 2050. By then, almost half of the region's people will reside in South Asia.

To a large extent, China and India, now home to 2.6 billion people, will drive demographic changes in the region and influence their consequences. India's population will likely
Countries in Asia-Pacific have taken different approaches to population policy, with results, perspectives and choices evolving over time.

CHINA: RETHINKING THE ONE-CHILD POLICY

In 1978, viewing population control as a means to economic development, China initiated a voluntary programme to encourage families to have no more than two children. In 1979, a more stringent onechild policy began. Incentives to adhere included better job opportunities, and improved access to health care and education, while those who did not comply were penalized financially, socially, and in some extreme cases illegally through forced abortions and sterilizations. The policy led to a tremendous slowing of population growth.

Along with other socioeconomic reforms, this has contributed to economic growth and poverty reduction in the last three decades. Some undesirable consequences, however, include a skewed sex ratio as families chose to have male children. China is now facing a rapidly ageing population and a shrinking labour force. In 2013, it began amending the policy to promote long-term, balanced development of its population as well as to deal with ageing. In 2015, China decided that families throughout the country could have up to two children. Despite the relaxation of the rules, however, many may still opt to only have one child, for reasons including the greater number of women working outside the home and the expense of raising children.

INDIA: A SHIFT TOWARDS PROMOTING REPRODUCTIVE HEALTH

In 1952, India became the first country in the developing world to initiate a state-sponsored family planning programme. It began establishing clinics to offer contraceptives that by 1961 numbered 4,000 across the country. By 1963, this programme was replaced with an 'extended' family planning campaign with time-bound targets. When this did not significantly slow population growth, India attempted a coercive approach with incentives to undergo sterilization during the 1975-1977 emergency regime. Public outcry led to the abandonment of this effort.

Since 1977, expanded public health facilities have supported low-income households with contraception and family planning. Despite criticism about mass sterilizations in unhygienic, makeshift hospitals, voluntary sterilization has become prevalent among low-income groups. Contraceptive usage has more than quadrupled, from 13 percent of married women in 1970 to 55 percent in 2008. The fertility rate has declined from 5.7 children per woman in 1966 to 2.5 in 2013. Currently, the family planning programme is being repositioned to not only stabilize the population, but also to promote reproductive health, and reduce maternal, infant and child mortality and morbidity.

INDONESIA: SUCCESSFUL COLLABORATION MAKES CONTRACEPTIVES EASILY ACCESSIBLE

Indonesia doubled its contraceptive prevalence rate from 26 percent in 1976 to 62 percent in 2012, and halved its fertility rate from 5.6 to 2.5 children per woman. With the backing of religious groups and manufacturing establishments, among other actors, the Indonesian family planning programme has been one of the most effective collaborations between government and civil society in Asia.

The Government has emphasized making contraception easily accessible to people across the country, initially through expanded health-care services. Community outreach has engaged local workers and village institutions to bring information and contraception to the doorsteps of rural residents, helping them learn about and make choices for family planning. Regular village meetings have also raised understanding and acceptance, and made contraceptives freely available. Changes in attitudes have meant that changes in practices took root. While Indonesia privatized hospitals in 1987, the withdrawal of public resources did not have a major impact on steadily declining fertility.

THAILAND: THE FASTEST FALL IN FERTILITY

Through Thailand's National Family Planning Programme, the contraceptive prevalence rate increased by more than five times, from 14.4 percent in 1970 to 79.2 percent in 2012. The total fertility rate fell from 6.3 children per woman in 1967 to 1.5 in 2013. Concerted family planning advocacy began in 1971, including to increase awareness of the link between small families and economic well-being. Slogans stressed "the more children, the poorer." The Government worked with the Population and Community Development Association, Thailand's largest non-governmental organization, on creative and engaging ways to encourage families to have fewer children, as well as to make contraception widely available.

Thailand's fertility rate today has dipped to 0.8, falling faster than anywhere else in Asia-Pacific. Government policy has now shifted to preventing a further drop. The 11th national development plan aims to keep rates above 1.6 by encouraging Population policies and perspectives in Asia-Pacific are evolving over time married couples to have children, and providing tax and other incentives for child development and well-being.

BANGLADESH AND PAKISTAN: CONTRASTING EXPERIENCES

Although Bangladesh and Pakistan had a common population policy and family planning programme until 1971, they began to follow different paths after splitting into two nations. Since then, in Bangladesh, contraceptive prevalence has risen dramatically and fertility fallen steadily. In Pakistan, contraceptive availability has increased, but remains at low levels; fertility has declined somewhat, but is still high.

One crucial difference between the two countries is the level of political commitment and involvement of civil society. Both have been greater in Bangladesh. Hundreds of non-governmental organizations, for example, have participated in family planning activities in conjunction with programmes aimed at empowering women through education, employment and income generation.

Source: The Economist 2015, BBC 2014, World Bank 2007, Sen 1994, Bose 1995, Santhya 2003, Rao 2004, World Bank 2015a, and Prusty 2014. Schoemaker 2005. World Bank 2007. Barnwal 2004. World Bank 2015c. WHO 2003. World Bank 2007.

surpass China's by 2022, possibly earlier.

Accompanying declining population growth rates is Asia-Pacific's unprecedented demographic change. Age structures have changed significantly, but in different ways. Out of 38 countries and territories with age composition data, 13 are currently experiencing a 'youth bulge', or a rise in the proportion of people aged 15 to 24. Others are witnessing a burgeoning portion of the working-age population, when the 'window of demographic opportunity' opens wide.²⁰ Another 11 countries and territories are ageing, where at least 14 percent of the population is 60 years and above.

A tool to track what is happening in terms of age composition is the 'population pyramid' (Figure 1.4). It shows that despite significant changes in Asia-Pacific's population since 1950, the largest shifts are likely still ahead, between 2015 and 2050. In 1950, a very wide base narrowing to a pointed tip indicated a youthful population. By 2015, the percentages of working-age and elderly people had risen-the largest group regionally was aged 25 to 29. By 2050, the proportion of children under age 15 will be less than half of what it was in 1950, while the share of people aged 60 and over will be more than three times what it was then.²¹ The largest proportion of the population will be concentrated in the working-age middle of the pyramid, especially in two age groups: 30 to 44 and 55 to 64. Over time, this share will contract, even as the number of working-age people will increase slightly.

Age structure varies considerably for other regions. Sub-Saharan Africa still has a very young population, and while it will shift towards transition, it will overall remain youthful by 2050. Most of Europe's population is concentrated in the 30 to 60 age group; by 2050, it will have a large old-age bulge. North America retains a relatively young population, with ageing moving at a much slower pace than in Europe, explained by factors such as high rates of immigration and high population growth among immigrants. Latin America and the Caribbean is still youthful, but can expect the number of elderly people to triple by 2050. The working-age population is projected to start declining after 2015 in Europe, 2045 in Asia-Pacific, and 2050 in Latin America and the Caribbean. By contrast, it is expected to increase in sub-Saharan Africa until the end of the century.

Within Asia-Pacific, all subregions had young populations in 1950, and all have seen shares of children below age 15 fall by 2015 (Figure 1.5). By 2050, shares will likely further decline, alongside an upward swing in the shares of elderly people. But the region's vast diversity is reflected in the different rates at which this is happening. The most dramatic declines will be seen in East Asia, where older people will likely move from being 17 percent of the population in 2015 to 37 percent in 2050. East Asia's age distribution is exceptional, since it is at a more advanced stage of the demographic change. Its working-age population is expected to decline from 2020, a phenomenon not expected in South

Age structures in countries have changed significantly, but in different ways: one-third of countries are young and onefourth are ageing

FIGURE 1.4: Population pyramids in 1950, 2015 and 2050 by major regions



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

Male

Male

14

Male

Male

Male

Female

Female

Female

Female

Female

FIGURE 1.5: Population pyramids in 1950, 2015 and 2050 by subregion in Asia-Pacific



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.





FIGURE 1.6: The current low share of young and old dependents is destined to rise; more will be elderly



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

Asia and South-east Asia until 2055. For the region as a whole, however, population ageing is happening at a much faster pace than it did, historically, in Europe.

Oceania has a unique set of demographic characteristics, since a baby boom, inward international migration and an increasingly ageing population are occurring all at the same time. Consequently, the age structure of its population is more evenly distributed. Today people aged 60 and above make up 16 percent of Oceania's population, with the share edging up to 23 percent by 2050.

In its share of young and old dependents, Asia-Pacific was at its minimum in 2010 (Figure 1.6). As populations age, the share will rise again. Many countries, including China, are already moving in this direction.²² Before ageing accelerates, however, from 2010 to 2035, the share of children aged 0 to 14 will remain below 35 percent, and the share of the elderly below 15 percent.

Currently, there are more boys than girls in younger age groups. In older age groups, females tend to outnumber males. By 2050, there may be 52 million more women than men over age 60, a gap that widens after age 80. Ageing, as in other regions, clearly has a marked gender dimension.

MEDIAN AGE IS RISING

The world as a whole is growing older, with the median age of people globally increasing by seven years in the last four decades—from 22 in 1970 to 29 in 2015 (Figure 1.7). In 1970, all regions had a median age below 35. Today, three are at or above that level: Europe at 42, North America at 38 and East Asia at 38. The regions with the largest increase in median age

FIGURE 1.7: All world regions have increasing median ages



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.





Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

over the past 40 years include East Asia, which is up 17 years, and South-east Asia, up 10 years. Median age rose in all Asia-Pacific countries, except Afghanistan and Timor-Leste,²³ but populations in South Asia and South-east Asia are still among the youngest in the world.

By 2050, the median age globally is expected to touch 36 years, and to rise to as high as 50 years in East Asia. Over the next 40 years, some of the largest increases are expected in East Asia and South Asia at 12 years, and South-east Asia at 10. North America, Europe and Oceania will have the lowest increases.²⁴

Within Asia-Pacific, in 2015, Japan had the highest median age at 46.5 years, while Afghanistan had the lowest at 17.5 years (Figure 1.8). By 2050, the Republic of Korea will edge out Japan to have the highest at 53.9 years; Timor-Leste will have the lowest at 24.3 years. The largest increases in median age, of 16 to 18 years, are expected in Bangladesh, Bhutan, Maldives, Nepal and Viet Nam.²⁵ Population ageing will be well underway by 2050 in many countries that currently have young populations.

DRIVERS OF A CHANGING POPULATION

Many factors drive changes in the shares of different ages in a population, but the three most prominent ones occur as people start having fewer children, live longer and migrate. Increased socioeconomic development; improved infrastructure, transport and communication; better health care; and higher levels of sanitation, hygiene and nutrition have all contributed to declining child mortality, falling fertility rates and increasing migration in the last century.

FERTILITY SETS THE TIMING AND PACE

Fertility may have the biggest impact on when demographic change happens and how fast it progresses.²⁶ All regions of the world have witnessed remarkable declines in fertility rates, and Asia-Pacific is no exception (Figure 1.9). The regional rate is now just above the replacement level of 2.1 children per woman—meaning that enough babies are born to replace the existing population. The average for the region, however, masks a considerable amount of variation.

Countries and areas can be grouped into three categories based on their fertility rates (Figure 1.10).²⁷ They are considered advanced in the process of fertility declines if levels have already fallen below the population replacement rate of 2.1 children per women. They are still in the middle of the shift if levels are in the modest range of 2 to 3.5. High fertility levels—above 3.5—indicate that change has just begun.

Advanced countries are mostly located in East Asia with a few in South-east Asia. Having more or less completed their fertility reduction, many have witnessed, or will do so soon, a notable decline in the working-age share of the population, and are moving towards ageing. Those in the middle of the shift include many countries in South Asia. For example, in Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Nepal and Sri Lanka, the proportion of youth and young workers is on the rise, and more women are choosing to work. Small island developing states in the Pacific are generally at the start of fertility changes, with children comprising 40 percent of their populations, a share twice that of East Asia.

Of the 15 countries with the world's highest fertility rates, only one is in Asia-Pacific— Timor-Leste, where the average woman has more than five children during her lifetime. On the other hand, of the 15 countries/territories/areas with the lowest rates, well below replacement level, 6 are in Asia-Pacific (Table 1.2).

Declines in fertility have generally been high in East Asia, where rates fell from about 5.5 in the early 1960s to 2 by the early 1990s. Oceania is expected to stay above the replacement level for the next four decades before dipping below it in 2050. The situation there is somewhat unique, since both Australia and New Zealand began their demographic change early and are now below replacement level. The Pacific subregion, however, is still relatively high above it, at 2.4 to 2.7 in 2015.

Across the region as a whole, fertility has fallen below the replacement level in 14 countries and areas, mostly in East Asia and South-east Asia. In 11 countries, mainly in South Asia, fertility is just above replacement level. For another 8 countries, typically small island de-

Declining fertility is a key step towards demographic transformation

FIGURE 1.9: Fertility has fallen around the world



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

FIGURE 1.10: Disparities in fertility rates between countries in Asia-Pacific are wide



Fertility has dropped below replacement level in 14 countries and areas, but remains high in 8 countries

Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

veloping states in the Pacific, fertility levels are high, putting them still in the earliest stages of demographic change.²⁸

Substantial fertility differences are evident within countries, For example, the rate for India in 2012 was 2.4 children per woman,²⁹ but in individual states, it ranged from 1.6 to 3.1. Twelve Indian states accounting for 50.4 percent of the country's population in 2011 already have a fertility rate below replacement level,³⁰ meaning half the country has a fertility level similar to developed countries.

Significant fertility differences exist between urban and rural areas. Recent national Demographic and Health Surveys show that urban fertility is lower than rural fertility in almost all Asia-Pacific countries, though differences vary across countries (Table 1.3).

Fertility decline, while coming later to most

Asia-Pacific countries than in highly advanced regions such as Western Europe, has proceeded at a fast pace. Over the last five decades, rates have fallen by at least half in the majority of countries.

In coming decades, the fertility rate will drop in almost all regions of the world except Europe, North America and East Asia (Table 1.4). By 2050, as many as 27 Asia-Pacific countries/territories/areas will fall below replacement level. Only a few, such as Kiribati, will remain above it. Rapid urbanization will accelerate the decline, with rates expected to fall from 2.3 to 1.9 in South-east Asia, from 2.5 to 1.9 in South Asia, and from 2.4 to 2.1 in Oceania.³¹

While Western Europe took more than 75 years for rates to fall to the replacement level, East Asia's decline occurred over only about 20 years. South-east Asia has moved more slowly,

TABLE 1.2:Top 15 countries with the highest and lowestfertility rates, 2010-2015

Lowest fertility	/ rates	Highest fertili	ty rates
Taiwan Province of China	1.075	Niger	7.634
Macao, China (SAR)	1.192	Somalia	6.610
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	1.205	Mali	6.350
Singapore	1.233	Chad	6.313
Republic of Korea	1.256	Angola	6.200
Republic of Moldova	1.269	Democratic Republic of the Congo	6.150
Bosnia and Herzegovina	1.277	Burundi	6.076
Portugal	1.283	Uganda	5.913
Spain	1.321	Timor-Leste	5.912
Hungary	1.337	Gambia	5.776
Greece	1.343	Nigeria	5.740
Slovakia	1.368	Burkina Faso	5.646
Poland	1.370	Mozambique	5.450
Germany	1.391	Zambia	5.450
Japan	1.396	Malawi	5.250

TABLE 1.3:Fertility rates are generally lower in urbanareas, with variations

Country	Year of survey	Rural	Urban
Afghanistan	2010	5.2	4.7
Bangladesh	2011	2.5	2
Cambodia	2010	3.3	2.2
India	2005-2006	3	2.1
Indonesia	2012	2.8	2.4
Lao People's Democratic Republic	2009-2011	3.6	2.2
Nepal	2011	2.8	1.6
Philippines	2013	3.5	2.6
Pakistan	2012-2013	4.2	3.2
Sri Lanka	2006-2007	2.3	2.2
Timor-Leste	2010	6	4.9
Viet Nam	2002	2	1.4

Source: USAID 2015.

Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

TABLE 1.4: For most countries, fertility rates will continue on a downward path

Projected changes in fertility rates in Asia-Pacific, 2045-2050 compared to 2010-2015

Countries with low fertility rates (below 2)		Countries with me fertility rates (between 2 and 3.		Countries with higl fertility rates (above 3.5)	1	Change by region	
Macao, China (SAR)	0.55	Sri Lanka	-0.31	Kiribati	-1.05	Europe	0.19
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	0.42	Myanmar	-0.46	Tonga	-1.07	East Asia	0.17
Taiwan Province of China	0.37	Bhutan	-0.51	Papua New Guinea	-1.21	North America	0.03
Korea (Republic of)	0.35	Maldives	-0.52	Samoa	-1.30	World	-0.26
Japan	0.30	Bangladesh	-0.56	Solomon Islands	-1.38	Oceania	-0.36
China	0.19	Mongolia	-0.58	Pakistan	-1.41	Latin America and the Caribbean	-0.37
Singapore	0.15	Indonesia	-0.59	Timor-Leste	-2.92	South-east Asia	-0.42
Thailand	0.05	India	-0.59	Afghanistan	-3.05	South Asia	-0.64
Viet Nam	-0.05	Fiji	-0.63			West Asia	-0.67
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	-0.14	Nepal	-0.63			Sub-Saharan Africa	-1.87
Australia	-0.14	Cambodia	-0.73				
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	-0.18	Philippines	-0.84				
Brunei Darussalam	-0.21	Lao People's Democratic Republic	-1.21				
Malaysia	-0.25	Micronesia (Federated States of)	-1.09				
		Vanuatu	-0.96				
		New Zealand	-0.23				

Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

requiring about 40 years. South Asia has not yet quite reached replacement level; it might arrive there over about 50 years.

Eight East and South-east Asian countries/ territories/areas where rates are already below replacement level could see a marginal rise. Japan's fertility rate plateaued at 1.26 children per woman in 2005, but has bounced back since then, reaching 1.44 in 2015 and projected to be around 1.70 by 2050. This is consistent with slowly rising fertility in many European countries, such as France, Italy, Norway, Sweden and the United Kingdom. Overall, a rise in Europe and North America is meeting a decline in many developing regions, suggesting emerging convergence between the developed and developing worlds.

MORTALITY DECLINES MARK THE START OF CHANGE

Living a long and healthy life is a basic premise of human development. Lifespan is also an important determinant of population age structure. At early stages of demographic change, death rates fall, particularly among children, a process that began to accelerate in Asia-Pacific in the 1950s and 1960s.³² Between 1950 and 2010, a majority of the increase in survival was brought about by declines in child mortality.³³

Because death rates are highest among infants, young children and the elderly, countries with a large proportion of these groups will have higher mortality rates than those where most people are of working age. At present, death rates in Asia-Pacific are driven by the growing number of elderly people. In 2010, 14 percent of deaths were among children and 57 percent were among older adults.³⁴

Sixty years ago, global life expectancy was 46 years for men and 48 for women, but has now reached 68 for men and 72 for women, and is trending upward. People in developed countries can now expect to live to 78, a full decade more than 68 for people in developing countries. Within Asia-Pacific, only South Asia is behind the average life expectancy of developing countries, while both Oceania and East Asia have reached the high life expectancy level of Western countries. Since the early 1950s, life expectancy in East Asia and South Asia has increased by a stunning 30 years, faster than in all regions of the world except the Middle East. As in the rest of the world, women live longer than men.

There are marked variations across countries and territories. Life expectancy exceeds 80 years in Australia; Hong Kong, China (SAR); Japan; Macao, China (SAR); New Zealand, Republic of Korea and Singapore. But in 17 Asia-Pacific countries, it is below the global average of 70 years.³⁵ By 2030, the region as a whole will likely reach levels similar to those in advanced Western countries today. Globally, life expectancy is expected to climb to 77 years by 2050, with significant increases in less developed regions, such as sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia (Figure 1.11). By 2050, people in South Asia can expect to live to the ripe old age of 76. Slower increases in East Asia and Oceania-to 83 and 82 years, respectively-indicate their higher starting points and the difficulty of achieving further rises beyond a certain level.

Changes in the crude death rate—which indicates how many people die, at any age, in a given year—also influence a population's shares of different age groups. Crude death rates below 10 per 1,000 people are generally considered low, while those above 20 are high. Since the

FIGURE 1.11: Globally, life expectancy is climbing



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

Improved overall human development leads to longer, healthier lives

FIGURE 1.12: Crude death rates have declined in Asia Pacific since 1950



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

1950s, rates have declined quite rapidly in all regions to the current global average of 8. The drop-off has been steepest in South Asia and the Middle East (Figure 1.12).

In Asia-Pacific, as elsewhere in the world, higher standards of living and better health services pushed down death rates well before they affected fertility rates. Rates fell especially rapidly in the 1950s and 1960s, amid an explosion of new medical and public health technology, such as antibiotics and vaccinations against major infectious diseases. All Asia-Pacific countries have seen declines since then, most rapidly in East Asia. Today, crude death rates are less than five in Brunei Darussalam; Islamic Republic of Iran; Macao, China (SAR); Malaysia; Maldives; Singapore and Vanuatu. For divergent reasons, they linger above 8 in Afghanistan, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Japan and Myanmar.³⁶

Conditions affecting mortality differ between urban and rural areas. Medical facilities are more readily accessible in cities, while the risk of contagion or motor vehicle accidents is probably less in rural locales. In many Asia-Pacific countries, infants and young children are two to three times more likely to perish in rural than in urban areas.

While the timing of mortality declines has been remarkably similar across the region, lags

between the drops in mortality and fertility, and sizes of the ensuing fall in fertility, have varied, reflecting diverse socioeconomic contexts.³⁷ In most countries, fertility began to decline about 15 years after a drop in child mortality. Thailand saw a longer delay, closer to 25 years. Given low fertility in East Asia, deaths are expected to exceed births in the foreseeable future.

Japan is an example of how the crude death rate, after a decline, can begin to edge upward with a large and growing share of elderly people. By 2050, 35 out of 38 Asia-Pacific countries will likely follow a similar pattern and have high rates. China, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Republic of Korea and Thailand are expected to surpass 12 deaths per 1,000 people.

PEOPLE ON THE MOVE: LINKS TO INCOME AND AGE

The movement of people across borders can affect population size, age structure and distribution, but migration is a complex process. Factors influencing it include employment opportunities, globalization, regional economic growth, ageing economies and social changes. It can happen in sudden waves—for example, when refugees flee a war—or slowly over many years.

Links between migration and demographic change can be harder to trace than those of declining fertility and mortality, but there is increasing evidence of how differing age shares can drive population movements. Peoples' choices to move can also influence fertility rates and shares of dependents.

Among world regions, between 1950 and 2015, Europe, North America and Oceania were net receivers of international migrants; Africa, Asia, and Latin America and the Caribbean have been net senders.³⁸ Regions and countries that were once sources of migrants can become destinations, as is the case for Europe, Japan and the Republic of Korea.

Asian migration grew rapidly through the 1970s-1980s, mainly to Australia, the United States and the Gulf countries. Since the 1990s, migration to the region has grown, increasing by 42 percent to Asia and 71 percent to Oceania from 1990 to 2013.³⁹ For the region as a whole, however, out-migration is still the dominant trend. From 2005 to 2010, most countries lost

Time lags between drops in mortality and fertility have varied

TABLE 1.5: Countries in Asia-Pacific tend to lose people through migration

Migration flow (in '000) during 2005-2010

Country	In	Out	Net	Country	In	Out	Net
Afghanistan	13	392	-379	Mongolia	0	15	-15
Australia	1164	39	1125	Micronesia (Federated States of)	0	8	-9
Bangladesh	18	2918	-2900	Myanmar	0	498	-499
Bhutan	19	2	16	Nepal	81	179	-99
Brunei	49	46	3	New Zealand	247	182	65
Cambodia	0	254	-255	Papua New Guinea	6	5	0
China	127	2021	-1894	Pakistan	33	2022	-1990
Fiji	2	31	-29	Philippines	30	1260	-1230
Hong Kong (China SAR)	332	156	176	Samoa	1	16	-16
India	709	3632	-2924	Singapore	721	0	721
Indonesia	0	1276	-1277	Solomon Islands	0	0	0
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	291	474	-184	Sri Lanka	1	250	-250
Japan	440	170	269	Thailand	508	15	493
Republic of Korea	80	110	-30	Tonga	0	8	-9
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	19	22	-3	Timor-Leste	0	49	-50
Lao People's Democratic Republic	0	75	-75	Vanuatu	0	0	0
Macao, China (SAR)	55	4	50	Viet Nam	19	448	-429
Maldives	0	0	-1				

Diversity in stages of demographic transition can help drive migration

Source: Wittgenstein Centre for Demography and Global Human Capital 2014.

more people through international emigration than they gained from immigration (Table 1.5).

Migrants tend to be younger and in their working years. Many leave families at home while pursuing work abroad, potentially contributing to a higher share of children and older dependents in source countries, as has been the case in Nepal and the Philippines. Nearly half the migrants from the region are women involved in domestic and care work in Persian Gulf and Western countries, and other high-income countries of East Asia and South-east Asia.⁴⁰

Around 43 percent of total migration in Asia-Pacific takes places within the region,⁴¹ with the high-income economies of East Asia and South-east Asia drawing people from South Asia and poorer countries in South-east Asia. South-east Asia is a net migrant exporter largely from Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Myanmar, Philippines and Viet Nam, while countries such as Brunei Darussalam, Malaysia and Singapore are migrant recipients.⁴² Despite popular belief, migration in the region is not only from low-income to high-income countries. A significant degree takes place between countries at similar income levels, such as between Indonesia and Malaysia.⁴³

Temporary migration for employment constitutes the major form in the region. Women comprise 48 percent of migrants overall, but ranging from more than half in high-income countries and areas such as Australia; Hong Kong, China (SAR); Japan; New Zealand and Singapore, to less than 20 percent in least developed countries such as Bangladesh and Bhutan. With domestic work typically perceived as women's work, women make up most of the migrants in these jobs in high-income countries.

Besides disparities in income, a key driver of movement within the region is ageing in some recipient countries, a trend that may grow in the future, including through demand for workers to care for elderly dependents. Ageing countries are opening doors with work visas to encourage young workers from neighbouring countries to join their domestic labour force. Among East Asian countries and territories, Hong Kong, China (SAR); Japan; Macau, China (SAR) and Republic of Korea host large numbers of migrants from countries in the region with younger populations.⁴⁴ The same scenario applies to Australia and New Zealand, which absorb many migrants from the Pacific small island developing states.

The Republic of Korea provides a classic example of encouraging migration to mitigate the negative impacts of ageing (Box 1.3). As a result, the migrant population edged up from 0.5 million in 1990 to 1.2 million in 2013, about 2.5 percent of the total population. International migration is unlikely to reverse long-term demographic trends such as ageing, however. To keep its working population constant at the 36.6 million people projected for 2020, the Republic of Korea will need some 6.4 million immigrants between 2020 and 2050, or 213,000 per year, an implausible scenario for reasons including uncertainty about the source of so many migrants.⁴⁵ Rising rates of migration within countries in large part stem from historically rapid urbanization, and can also shift the distribution of age groups. Youth and younger working adults tend to migrate to cities for higher education or employment, whereas older people stay behind in rural areas. This pattern is likely to remain a key driver of demographic changes in the coming decades, particularly in Asia-Pacific developing countries. The socioeconomic implications are many and diverse, such as growing demand for jobs in cities, and greater need for improved health care in rural areas.

HOW DEMOGRAPHIC TRANSITION WORKS

Demographic transition stems from changes in human behaviour, socioeconomic and cultural factors, levels of human capabilities and opportunities, and the overall state of human development. These dimensions, widely variable across different countries, determine the pace

BOX 1.3: Promoting migration to welcome a younger labour force

In 2003, the Republic of Korea introduced the Employment Permit System for hiring low-skilled workers aged 18 to 38 in manufacturing, construction, agriculture, services and fishery. The system operates through bilateral government-to-government agreements with, so far, 15 sending countries. This approach is an attempt to ensure that labour laws apply to migrant workers, reduce corruption, curtail human rights abuses, and promote transparency in recruitment and employment. The Republic of Korea, for example, requires that recruitment, selection and placement of workers be managed by the sending country's government or government-affiliated organizations. Fees are fixed and openly advertised in the country of origin.

Viet Nam and Indonesia have sent the largest numbers of migrant workers under the scheme. Viet Nam has a relatively large and young population, and it has introduced a labour exporting policy to reduce pressure on its domestic labour force and enhance poverty reduction. In 2013, nearly 55,000 migrants from Viet Nam went to the Republic of Korea through the Employment Permit System, 23 percent of the total. Remittances in 2014 totalled \$525 million, comprising 4 percent of the total received in Viet Nam. About 6 percent of Vietnamese households receive remittances, although lower-income households only capture 3 percent of the total.

Indonesia has a relatively young population and a high youth unemployment rate of around 21.8 percent. It sent just over 26,000 migrant workers through the Employment Permit System in 2013, 11.1 percent of the total. In 2014, remittances from the Republic of Korea reached \$68 million. As the majority of Indonesian migrant workers come from low-income groups, remittances are often the main income for their households, contributing approximately 31.2 percent of total income. Demographic transformations pose significant opportunities and risks and scope of demographic shifts, but in all cases, the three drivers of a changing population play determining roles.

Transition begins with a fall in mortality, especially among children, as health care, including sanitization and hygiene, and nutrition improve. Initially, this means people have more children, but eventually, as the prospects of survival increase, families are motivated to have fewer children. They are able to devote more resources to the health, education and overall well-being of each child, building capabilities that will equip them to be more productive as adults (Figure 1.13).

In the middle stage of transition, the share of the working-age population increases on the back of past high fertility rates and declining infant mortality rates. It is high compared to the shares of the older and younger people who depend on them. With families becoming smaller, more women seek paid employment outside the home. Many young workers move to urban areas where salaries and living standards are higher, jobs are more productive, and they can begin to accumulate savings and other assets. This process as a whole can accelerate economic growth and begin to yield a demographic dividend.⁴⁶ If it provides decent work and other opportunities accessible to all, growth will be inclusive and high in quality, and contribute to human development.

A large share of people in the workforce can spur tax collection, even as a lower share of dependents implies fewer social security expenditures, such as for education and health. Governments may have the resources and flexibility to invest in economic sectors linked to inclusive growth, and to continue investing in human capabilities, such as through quality education and improved health care, that advance and sustain human development, and ensure its benefits are broadly shared.

Gradually, the median age of the working population increases. At the middle or close to the end of their working life, people are likely to earn and save more, particularly with fewer children and more women working. The propensity to save also rises as people plan for their retirement, which can lead to increased investment, a positive for economic growth and the demographic dividend.

The final stage of transition, typically occurring after many decades, is when ageing sets in, bringing challenges and opportunities for individuals, governments and economies. More people enter retirement. As people tend to live

"When relatively large generations reach the prime ages for working and saving, a country will experience a demographically induced economic boost, provided this demographic cohort is productively employed." - Bloom et. al. 2010

FIGURE 1.13: The broad stages of demographic transition

EARLY STAGE

Fall in Infant mortality, driven by:

- improved maternal nutrition and health
- access to immunization and lowcost health care
- improved mother's knowledge on primary care of children

Fall in fertility, driven by:

- low infant mortality facilitates improved planning of family size women's education and
- empowerment access to low-cost birth contro and family planning

MID STAGE

Period of demographic opportunity

Increase in support ratio from combined effect of low fertility and high working-age population. Implications for:

- labour supply and demand for jobs
- more youth and women worker available
- health and education of fewer children
- smaller families, higher incom
- · greater exibility for social
- security expenditures
- nigher nousenoid savings
 notential for higher invest
- greater potential to accelerate
- human development

LATE STAGE

Rise in the share of older people. Implications for:

- increased cost of health care
 more retirees require more pension
- · growing social sec
- expenditure
- fall in labour sup
- increased potential for elderly poverty
- ageing in lower income can become a barrier for development

longer with improved availability of medicine and technology, the demand for pensions and health care increases. Countries that used their period of demographic dividend well will be in a better position to support a larger share of older people. Investments made at an earlier stage are critical to sustaining human development gains during rapid ageing.

Some countries today, including in Asia-Pacific, are looking at a future of ageing before reaching a higher level of human development. For others, human development needs to accelerate for demographic change to begin. The extent to which countries in different stages can leverage demographic change to attain higher human development depends very much on policies, choices, institutions and long-term investments.

DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGE AND HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

Demographic changes influence economic growth and human development through several channels (Figure 1.14). The first is an increased number of people in the workforce. A second channel entails improved human capabilities, built through investing more resources in education and health as well as the effective use of the knowledge and expertise of a more experienced population. When fertility falls and the number of children in a family declines, there is greater potential to invest in the health and education of children, leading to improved human development.

The third and fourth channels are improved productivity and enhanced savings, when the workforce is better educated, and people earn higher wages and make greater profits. A fifth channel is through increasing domestic demand, as greater earning and spending feeds economic growth. Urbanization is the last channel. As more and more people flock to urban areas, they can find better health care and education, and diverse opportunities for decent work, all factors of central importance to human development.

While increases in the labour supply, savings and human capital can all by default speed up economic growth and contribute to human development, strategic polices, responsible institutions, targeted investment and good governance need to be in place to make the most of potential gains. A number of challenges can arise, foremost among which is creating a sufficient amount of decent work for growing numbers of young people joining the labour force. Another factor involves strengthening the financial sector so that people find adequate, safe instruments for savings and investments.

A dimension that is often less discussed is how the bulge in the working-age population can undermine socioeconomic stability if people are not provided with decent jobs. Worrying trends also include the shift of the dependency burden from supporting the young to caring for the elderly. And accelerated urbanization can A large working-age population may undermine socioeconomic stability if people lack decent jobs

FIGURE 1.14: With appropriate policies and a conducive environment, demographic changes can improve human development by several channels



come at a hefty price, such as through health-endangering air pollution and the generation of greater amounts of waste.

The Republic of Korea provides an example of managing demographic transition to advance human development. As the country's birth rate declined in the mid-1960s, elementary school enrolment fell, which released funds. The Government invested these in improving the quality of education at higher levels to equip the growing working-age population with marketable skills, and fostered economic growth to create more jobs through strategic investments. Essentially, the Republic of Korea used its demographic window to educate its population, including women, and to integrate them successfully into the labour market, leading to rapid economic growth and higher standards of living across its population.

Broadly speaking, to reap demographic dividends and transform these into greater human development, patterns of public investment need to respond to demographic changes. Countries with a very youthful population need to invest more in schools; those with a large working-age population need to create large numbers of decent jobs; and those with an extensive elderly population need to invest more in health, transportation and other public facilities, as well as old-age pension systems.

TWO TYPES OF DIVIDENDS

Demographic change offers two potential dividends, which can be significant.⁴⁷ The first demographic dividend occurs when fertility rates fall and the labour force grows more rapidly than the dependent population. This builds on a simple equation: more labour equals more economic output, assuming no major drag from unemployment or underemployment.

A second demographic dividend unfolds as transition proceeds if the larger number of workers is also more productive. This comes about in part through investments in human capabilities, such as through health and education, that, for instance, allow people to do more skilled jobs. Over time, they can then earn more, save more and acquire more assets such as homes, land and businesses.

Both demographic dividends can translate

into economic and human development gains. They are roughly sequential, with the first lasting for three to five decades depending on the speed at which fertility declines. The second begins later, can be sustained for a longer period and may be larger. Some overlap may occur, and neither dividend is automatic, with demographic transition merely opening a window of opportunity.

The first dividend declines as population ageing sets in, and links to economic growth then tend to diverge for the second dividend. High-income countries have experienced this, and soon many middle-income countries will do so as well. Expenditure on health care rises as infectious diseases retreat and chronic, degenerative non-communicable diseases dominate, for instance. The ability to manage changes like these rests largely on the shoulders of the workforce, and its capacity for productive work, backed by a sufficient supply of decent employment options. Even if the number of workers falls relative to the number of dependents, they may be much more productive than a larger, less educated workforce.48

MEASURING IMPACTS OF DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGE

Early thinking around the impacts of demographic transition focused heavily on the contributions of the demographic dividend to economic growth. As far back as 1958, a study of India and Mexico found high costs from large shares of young and old dependents in a given population. Savings rates for families with a large number of children were lower, and requirements for social spending on health, education and so on were great. Productive capital per person was more limited. The study suggested that declines in fertility, by lessening dependency burdens on working-age people, could free them for activities that promote economic growth.⁴⁹

In the last two decades, a number of studies have estimated demographic dividends. One covering the years from 1965 to 1990 suggested that 25 percent to 40 percent of East Asia's economic miracle, defined as an increase in per capita income, could be attributed to demographic transition.⁵⁰ Another on China calculated that, from 1980 to 2000, changes in age structure

Having fewer dependents on working-age people encourages accelerated economic growth favouring a higher share of economically active adults accounted for 15 percent to 25 percent of growth in per capita output.⁵¹ An analysis of India's rapid growth since the 1980s attributed a substantial share to changes in the country's age structure, and predicted this could continue adding about 2 percentage points per year to per capita GDP growth over the next two decades.⁵² Globally, current estimates project that for every 1 percentage point increase in the working-age population, real per capita GDP growth rises between 0 and 1.1 percentage points, depending on the region.⁵³

The demographic dividend, like many economic variables, is measured through an accounting framework linked to gross domestic product (GDP). This includes much of paid employment and its contributions to the demographic dividend, but does not factor in the significant share of other kinds of work performed by people—namely, unpaid care work that typically takes place in homes as well as through volunteering.

Despite the lack of measurement, unpaid work makes significant contributions to economic prospects and human well-being, as highlighted in the 2015 global Human Development *Report.*⁵⁴ It likely intersects with the potential size of the demographic dividend, underscoring the need for better measurement and more systematic analysis. In Agenda 2030, governments agreed to recognize and value unpaid care and domestic work, including through the provision of appropriate public services, infrastructure and social protection policies, and by promoting shared responsibility for it, since women and girls still perform a disproportionate amount. Progress will be measured through collecting stronger data on the proportion of time spent on unpaid domestic and care work by sex, age and location.

STATISTICAL LINKS TO HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

Income and economic growth comprise one aspect of human development, but similar relationships are apparent when tracking demographic shifts against the HDI. Countries with high fertility rates and high population growth tend to have low HDI rankings relative to those with

FIGURE 1.15: Population age-composition is intrinsically linked with human development





Share of children and gross national income per capita 100 per capita (thousand) 80 60 Gross national income 40 20 0 C 0 20 30 40 60 00 Share of people aged 0-15

Share of older people and Human Development Index values 1.0 Development Index values 0.9 0.8 0.7 0.6 0.5 0.4 0.3 10 5 20 25 30 35 Human Share of people aged 60+

Sources: Based on UNDP 2015a, UN DESA 2015a.

Countries with high fertility tend to have low Human Development Index scores low fertility and older populations. As China, Japan and Thailand passed through demographic transition, their human development indicators improved significantly.

Looking at some of the other components of human development, such as life expectancy, globally, countries with more than 30 percent of their population in the 0 to 15 age group have a life expectancy below 70 years on average. As countries move away from a predominantly young population, life expectancy improves (Figure 1.15).

Among countries in the early stage of demographic transition, some have lowered fertility rates but still have large numbers of youth. At this stage, the average number of years spent in school tends to be low, with limited public resources for education spread over larger numbers of students. As the share of youth falls, people tend to attain higher levels of education.

Countries in the early stages of demographic change with a large share of children also tend to be in lower income groups. Countries with 30 percent to 50 percent of the population aged 0 to 15 are generally in the low- or middle-income categories, while countries with less than 30 percent in this age group and at a more advanced stage of transition are in the higher income category.

Countries in the most advanced stage of demographic transition are those experiencing ageing. Those with a greater proportion of people over age 60 tend to have higher HDI ranks, such as the European countries. Nations with high HDI values that are not yet ageing include some from the Middle East, such as Kuwait, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates. Many have large shares of younger migrants.

HOW MUCH IS THE DEMOGRAPHIC DIVIDEND?

To measure the impacts of changes in population age composition on economic growth, a simple growth model is used, as discussed in Box 1.4.55 Estimating demographic dividends using this model confirms that economic growth has been supported by favourable demographic tailwinds over the last four decades (see Table 1.6 and 1.7). For the world as a whole, the first and second demographic dividends combined added six-tenths of a percentage point to economic growth, compared with actual GDP growth of 1.4 percent per year—in other words, equal to about 40 percent of overall per capita economic growth.56 The dividend contributed one-half percentage point to world economic growth in 1970 to 1990, when it was in general higher among developed countries, and a full percentage point in 1990 to 2010, as transition began in earnest in many developing countries.

Developed Asia-Pacific countries experienced their largest first dividends (0.64 percentage points) from 1970 to 1990, led by Australia, Brunei Darussalam, Japan, New Zealand, Republic of Korea and Singapore—countries further advanced in demographic transition (Table 1.6). Their first dividends, however, began to fall from 1990 to 2010, as working-age populations began to shrink. The combined effect of the first and second dividends from 1970 to 2010 contributed to 42 percent of economic growth.

Developing Asia-Pacific experienced a smaller first dividend in the earlier period, but a larger first dividend from 1990 to 2010, given that it is further behind in its demographic transition than developed Asia-Pacific. Within developing Asia, East and South-east Asia enjoyed modest first dividends from 1970 to 1990, of 0.38 percent and 0.31 percent, respectively. In South Asia, in contrast, the first dividend was still negative at the time, indicating that the working-age population was still small.

From 1990 to 2010, the first dividends picked up in all of Asia-Pacific's developing regions, particularly in East Asia, led by China. It acquired almost 0.78 percentage points of additional growth. In South-east Asia and South Asia as well the first dividend began to

In developed Asia-Pacific, the dividend has contributed to 42 percent of economic growth rise. As fertility rates fell substantially, developing countries began to invest more resources in the education and health of children, boosting increases in the second dividend as well. Overall, the demographic dividend contributed to 39 percent of economic growth in developing Asia-Pacific.

Elsewhere in the world, developed regions, including Europe and North America, experienced larger first dividends from 1970 to 1990, mostly as a consequence of baby boomers entering the workforce. Their dividend then became smaller from 1990 to 2010. In the latter period, however, the first dividend picked up in developing parts of the world, including in Latin America and the Caribbean, and modestly in Africa, where fertility rates are still high and the population is very young. The second dividend was substantial particularly in more developed regions such as North America, Latin America and the Caribbean from 1990 to 2010, where the favourable effects of wealth and human capital accumulation began to show.

Projections for 2010 to 2020 illustrate that demographics will continue to strongly favour

economic growth in Asia-Pacific countries and elsewhere (Table 1.7). In developed Asia-Pacific, however, the first dividend has now begun to turn negative (Box 1.5). With population ageing, the number of consumers exceeds that of producers, slowing economic growth, although this is more than offset by the second dividend from increasing productivity and savings.

For developing Asia-Pacific, both demographic dividends will continue to be positive in the coming decades, and could add about 0.73 percentage points per year to economic growth between 2020 and 2050. Favourable effects will begin to shift during that period, however, as the share of working-age people begins to retreat, moderately for the world as a whole and rapidly for the developed countries. The largest decreases are projected for Europe and developed Asia-Pacific, followed by developing East Asia, given very low fertility and rapid population ageing. Second dividends, however, may continue to offset declining first dividends, if conditions for growth and human development exist.

BOX 1.4: A model for measuring the size of the demographic dividend

The model is based on the following accounting identity:

Y/N=Y/L L/N

Where, Y=GDP; N= Population; L= labour force; Y/N is income per capita effective consumer; Y/L is income or output per effective worker; and L/N is the ratio of effective workers to the effective population, also known as the support ratio.⁵⁷

Taking growth rates on either side leads to:

gr(Y/N)=gr(Y/L)+gr(L/N)

Which states that the growth rate of income per capita equals the growth of labour productivity plus the growth rate of labour supply relative to the population. The second term on the right-hand side of the equation measures the first demographic dividend, which is the relative size of the labour supply, while the first term measures the second demographic dividend, which is the productivity level of the workforce.

For the purposes of estimation, the first demographic dividend or the relative size of the labour supply across countries has been measured using data on the number of workers between the ages of 30 and 49, average wages that denote output per labour and the total population in the country.

The second demographic dividend across countries has been measured using data on human capital, including years of education and health data to denote labour productivity, as well as physical capital, using data on savings and pensions. In developing Asia-Pacific, the demographic dividend has contributed to 39 percent of economic growth

TABLE 1.6: Demographic dividends fluctuate over time, but add up to a powerful impact on growth (%)

		1970-1990			1990-2010	
	First dividend	Second dividend	Combined	First dividend	Second dividend	Combined
Developed Asia-Pacific	0.64	0.87	1.51	0.2	1.09	1.29
Developing Asia-Pacific	0.11	0.39	0.5	0.59	0.69	1.29
East Asia, developing	0.38	0.18	0.56	0.78	0.76	1.53
South-east Asia, developing	0.31	0.12	0.43	0.57	0.82	1.39
South Asia, developing	-0.17	0.36	0.18	0.71	0.46	1.17
Rest of the world						
Developed countries	0.46	0.33	0.79	0.26	0.72	0.99
Developing countries	0.11	0.3	0.42	0.47	0.52	0.99
North America	0.61	0.17	0.78	0.04	0.8	0.85
Europe	0.28	0.31	0.58	0.16	0.6	0.76
Latin America and the Caribbean	0.47	0.43	0.91	0.54	0.83	1.36
Africa	-0.13	0.21	0.09	0.33	0.18	0.51
World	0.23	0.32	0.54	0.4	0.61	1.01

Source: Based on Mason 2015.

TABLE 1.7:Demographic dividends will continue to pay off in the coming decades (%)

		2010-2020			2020-2050	
	First dividend	Second dividend	Combined	First dividend	Second dividend	Combined
Developed Asia-Pacific	-0.35	1.12	0.77	-0.5	0.7	0.2
Developing Asia-Pacific	0.48	0.91	1.39	0.05	0.67	0.73
East Asia, developing	0.28	1.42	1.7	-0.37	0.99	0.62
South-east Asia, developing	0.42	1.04	1.46	-0.03	1.02	0.99
South Asia, developing	0.68	0.93	1.61	0.1	0.43	0.53
Rest of the world						
Developed countries	-0.16	1.1	0.94	-0.45	0.69	0.24
Developing countries	0.37	0.85	1.22	0.09	0.89	0.97
North America	-0.45	0.87	0.42	-0.29	0.34	0.05
Europe	-0.21	0.9	0.69	-0.42	0.57	0.15
Latin America and the Caribbean	0.16	1.12	1.28	-0.09	0.8	0.7
Africa	0.41	0.49	0.91	0.32	0.81	1.14

Source: Based on Mason 2015.

BOX 1.5: Japan's first and second demographic dividends

Japan was the first Asian country to experience fertility decline and dramatic increases in life expectancy (Figure 1.16). In the 1950s, 1960s and to a lesser extent the 1970s, Japan enjoyed a first demographic dividend equal to about half a percentage point of economic growth, while the second dividend added about 1 percentage point. By the 1980s, the first dividend phase was over, but the second dividend continued to favour economic growth, adding between 1 and 1.5 percentage points. By 2000, the first dividend had turned negative but was still balanced by the second dividend, indicating a modest net contribution to economic growth.

FIGURE 1.16: Japan's negative first dividend is balanced by a positive second dividend



Source: Based on Mason 2015.

HISTORIC CHANGES, LIMITED TIME

Asia-Pacific is a vast region, diverse in its human development and demographic profile. But three broad, common patterns are evident. First, the region is experiencing sweeping demographic changes. Second, this is happening at a historically rapid pace—and it will not last forever. Finally, while East Asia has already reached a relatively advanced stage in its demographic transition, and thus needs to prepare for an ageing population, other subregions have a few decades to leverage potential dividends. Many Asia-Pacific countries are currently in the middle stages of change.

Demographic shifts have far-reaching implications across all elements of human development. At the same time, appropriate policy choices and consistent investments in human development are critical to make the most of the demographic window of opportunity. If countries plan for the transition, build human capabilities, encourage creativity and innovation to flourish, and ensure the process is guided by mechanisms for participation and accountability, individuals and societies as a whole can end up better educated, healthier and wealthier.

Lessons from one setting are hardly likely to be fully effective in others. There is little scope for a uniform set of recommendations to move forward. Each country needs to study its demographic trends, and their causes and consequences, with reference to their development goals. They must identify problems and take corrective actions accordingly. Political will to do this is crucial, particularly to steer the demographic dividend in inclusive ways that benefit all people, now and for generations to come. There is no one-sizefits-all strategy; each country needs to study its demographic trends and take actions accordingly

Chapter 2

MORE PEOPLE AT WORK: THE FOUNDATION FOR IMPROVED WELL-BEING

2. MORE PEOPLE AT WORK: THE FOUNDATION FOR IMPROVED WELL-BEING

Asia-Pacific today has a unique opportunity to accelerate human development, with more working-age people, and fewer older and younger dependents than at any point in its history. Its workforce is growing at an unprecedented rate, with 2.8 billion people aged 15-64 in 2015. The share of the working-age population increased from 58 percent in 1980 to its current peak of 68 percent. Correspondingly, the share of dependents, young and old, has declined from 42 percent to its present minimum of 32 percent.¹

These shifts offer many potential benefits. East Asian economies, further along in the demographic transition, have had tremendous success during periods with large working-age populations. In the last three decades, the share of China's working-age population grew from 56 percent to a peak of 74 percent in 2010. During the same time, the country enjoyed stellar economic growth rates-double-digit figures in most years. As millions of Chinese workers flooded labour markets, China's manufacturing and trade with the rest of the world took off. Japan enjoyed its own 'miracle' of growth during 1950-1970, when its economically active population was large. Having reached higher levels of income during its most productive years, Japan is now better positioned to manage an ageing population.

Not all countries have been successful, however, in tapping the full human development benefits of demographic transition. Transition presents opportunities, but countries must then take actions to seize these. For those embarking on transition in the coming decades, the aim should be to make policy choices and investments that steer the process towards maximizing human development benefits. These need to reach all people while avoiding irreversible environmental harm. It is possible for countries to use the demographic dividend to become healthier, wealthier and better educated. This depends largely on inclusive, high-quality economic growth and investments in human capabilities. By contrast, if, for instance, the growth of decent jobs is not at par with an expanding labour force, unemployment and underemployment may rise, and wages will fall. The share of people who are working but still earning below the international poverty line is already large in Asia-Pacific, and their numbers are likely to escalate with more entrants into the labour force. Eventually, the failure to deliver on growing expectations could put social stability at risk.

This chapter provides an overview of the working-age population in Asia-Pacific today. It explores the potential for capturing a demographic dividend, and analyses opportunities and challenges. Historical analysis sheds light with experiences from three countries—China, Japan and Thailand—that are further along in their demographic transitions. A final section looks at policy frameworks to channel demographic opportunities into expanded human development.

RECORD NUMBERS OF WORKING-AGE PEOPLE

Asia-Pacific's working-age population, comprising 58 percent of the global total, continues to grow (Figure 2.1). China and India comprised 62 percent of the region's share in 2015, with 1 billion and 0.86 billion workers, respectively. But China's share of working-age people is now falling, while India's continues to rise, expected to touch a maximum of about 1.1 billion in 2050. The region as a whole will reach its maximum number of working-age people, at 3.1 billion, in 2045.

Variations within the region mean that East Asia reached its maximum share of working-age people at a remarkable 73 percent in 2010, while South-east Asia is peaking shortly at 69 percent (Figure 2.2). South Asia's share will continue to rise until 2040. At present, the median ages in East Asia, South-east Asia and South Asia are 38, 29 and 26, respectively, a disparity prompting growing migration within the region. It has also



FIGURE 2.1: Almost 60 percent of working-age people live in Asia-Pacific



(%) 70 65 60 55 50 45 1950 1975 2000 2025 2050 2075 2100 Asia-Pacic Africa Europe Latin America & the Caribbean — North America

A growing working-age population opens a window of demographic opportunity encouraged labour-intensive industries from East Asian countries, including Japan and the Republic of Korea, to relocate to South-east Asian countries, where the labour pool is still young and costs remain low.

Peaks in the number of potential workers diverge widely. East Asia reached its peak at 1.2 billion in 2015, while South-east Asia will not do so until 2055, with half a billion people in the working-age group. South Asia will have more working-age people than any other subregion, with the largest surge by 2055 to a projected 1.6 billion, dominated by India. More than 280 million more people will be eligible to enter the job market in India by 2050, a third more than the current number.

REACHING THE PEAK IN THE WORKING-AGE POPULATION

The peak in the working-age population may be gauged as either the absolute number of working-age people or as their share in the population. For Asia-Pacific, the peak comes









later when numbers are used (Table 2.1). For example, East Asia reached its maximum number of working-age people in 2015, but the share started declining in 2010. The share matters because it defines the working population in relation to younger and older dependents.

In East Asia, Japan is most advanced in its transition to an ageing population, having passed its maximum number of working-age people in 1995 (Table 2.1 and Figure 2.3). Its share was above 60 percent in 1960 but declined to 56 percent in 2010. China and the Republic of Korea have just passed their peaks, and working-age populations are declining in numbers and shares. The Democratic Republic of Korea and Mongolia have the youngest populations in this subregion; the share of their working-age people will crest soon, but their numbers will continue to grow until 2030 and 2050.

Although South-east Asia will reach a peak share in 2020, it will then plateau, implying a demographic transition that will stretch over a longer period. Many countries will reach a maximum number of working-age people between 2045 and 2050, except for a few such as Indonesia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, the Philippines and Timor-Leste.

Most countries in South Asia will have their largest number of working-age people between 2045 and 2050. India, for example, will see the maximum number in 2050, when the population aged 15-64 is expected to be larger than 1 billion. Afghanistan and Pakistan are relatively young, while Iran and Sri Lanka are ahead in the transition and have growing elderly populations. In the Oceania, the share of working-age people will continue to grow until 2010, and the number beyond 2100, making it the youngest subregion in Asia-Pacific.

COUNTRIES ARE IN THREE STAGES OF DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGE

The patterns described here define the Asia-Pacific region in three groups: countries in advanced stages of demographic transition, those nearing a peak in the working-age population with the potential to reap a demographic dividend, and those with still very young populations. The last are in the earliest phases of transition.

TABLE 2.1:

Some countries have passed their peak in working-age people, while others have decades to go

Projected year of peak working-age population, 2010 to 2100

Year of	maximum	Year of maximum
	share of	number of
W	orking-age	working-age
	population	people
East Asia	2010	2015
China	2010	2015
Japan	1990	1995
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	2020	2030
Republic of Korea	2010	2015
Mongolia	2010	2050
South-east Asia	2020	2055
Brunei Darussalam	2015	2035
Cambodia	2045	2070
Indonesia	2030	2060
Lao People's Democratic Republic	2045	2055
Malaysia	2020	2045
Myanmar	2025	2050
Philippines	2055	2080
Thailand	2010	2015
Timor-Leste	2075	2100+
Viet Nam	2015	2040
South Asia	2040	2055
Afghanistan	2060	2065
Bangladesh	2035	2045
Bhutan	2035	2040
India	2040	2050
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	2035	2035
Maldives	2035	2045
Nepal	2045	2050
Pakistan	2070	2080
Sri Lanka	2005	2025
Oceania	2010	2100+
Australia	2010	2100+
Fiji	2010	2035
Kiribati	2070	2100+
Micronesia (Federated States of)	2050	2050
New Zealand	2010	2070
Papua New Guinea	2060	2100+
Samoa	2060	2070
Solomon Islands	2060	2100+
Tonga	2060	2090
Vanuatu	2045	2100+

Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

The demographic opportunity will be open for South Asia and Southeast Asia until 2050

FIGURE 2.3: Peaks within subregions show some convergence, but with marked exceptions

Working-age population (15-64) for selected countries in Asia-Pacific, in thousands



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

Countries most advanced in the transition include those that have reached their peak shares of the working-age population by 2015, although some of them are still to reach their peak numbers. China, Japan, the Republic of Korea and Thailand have passed both their peak shares and numbers, and are going to experience shrinking workforces in the coming decades. Several other countries will reach their maximum numbers of working-age people soon after 2030, including Brunei Darussalam, Fiji, Sri Lanka and Viet Nam. For the remaining countries, the working-age population will still grow but modestly (Table 2.2).

Countries nearing their peaks between 2015 and 2055 are mostly from South-east Asia and South Asia. They will see considerable growth in the size of the working-age population until 2030. For example, in Lao People's Democratic Republic, Nepal and Cambodia, the working-age populations will increase by 33 percent, 28 percent and 25 percent, respectively. These countries will need to prepare for employment growth for large numbers of job market entrants.

Countries with the youngest populations, in the third category, are further behind in their demographic transitions and will continue to experience substantial growth in working-age populations beyond 2050. Relatively young countries include Afghanistan, Pakistan, the Philippines and many of the Pacific island countries where fertility rates are still high.

Different population patterns have implications for migration within the region, which is already considerable. Countries such as Brunei Darussalam, Japan, Malaysia and Singapore are now pulling in large numbers of young people from South-east and South Asian countries to provide low and semi-skilled labour. Given that the region as a whole is ageing rapidly, there may eventually be potential for migration from younger countries outside the region, such as those in Africa.

TABLE 2.2:

Changes in the sizes of working-age populations between 2015-2030 and 2030-2050

> 2015-2030 2030-2050 % change % change

Countries in advanced stages of demographic transition

Australia	11	14
Brunei Darussalam	13	-4
China	-4	-17
Fiji	5	-3
Japan	-10	-20
Republic of Korea	-10	-18
Mongolia	17	9
New Zealand	5	7
Singapore	1	-10
Sri Lanka	2	-11
Thailand	-7	-21
Viet Nam	8	-2

Countries with a short window until reaching peak working-age populations

Bhutan	20	0
Bangladesh	23	5
Cambodia	25	18
India	20	11
Indonesia	16	6
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	14	-9
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	5	-4
Lao People's Democratic Republic	33	26
Malaysia	17	9
Maldives	25	6
Micronesia (Federated States of)	14	22
Myanmar	15	3
Nepal	28	12
Vanuatu	40	38

Countries with still young populations

Afghanistan	58	41
Kiribati	27	30
Pakistan	37	32
Papua New Guinea	40	36
Philippines	26	23
Samoa	14	15
Solomon Islands	42	35
Timor-Leste	43	52
Tonga	23	17

Different population patterns have implications for the labour supply and migration within the region

A DEMOGRAPHIC RETURN FOR HUMAN DEVELOPMENT: FOUR PATHS

With an historic number of people entering the labour force in Asia-Pacific, opportunities to reap a demographic dividend and advance human development will emerge, but vary by country. Common elements facilitating a dividend, however, comprise creating enough decent jobs for an expanded workforce; unleashing the productivity of workers, including through investing in the right education and skills training; and channelling higher rates of savings into productive investments. All of these both contribute to and depend on progress in human development.

GROWTH ON THE BACK OF JOB CREATION

Some countries in the region have already seen a growing labour force translate into economic growth that can be translated into human development gains. This has been the case in Japan and the Republic of Korea (Figure 2.4). In Japan, the growth of the working-age population was highest during the 1960s. GDP growth rates were also high, averaging 9 percent in the 1960s and 4.5 percent in the 1970s. As the expansion of the working-age population slowed, so did GDP increases. A similar relationship has occurred in the Republic of Korea.

But this connection does not hold for all countries, because many factors besides demographic change influence economic growth. If economies are unable to create enough jobs, for example, there are high risks of unemployment. In China, the number of jobs grew from 628 million to 772 million between 1991 and 2013, an increase of 144 million, but the working-age population increased by 241 million. In India, the size of the working-age population increased by 300 million during the same time, while the number of employed people increased by only 140 million-the economy absorbed less than half the new entrants into the labour market. A wider gap in India than China suggests a more limited capacity to generate employment-a serious challenge given the continued expansion

FIGURE 2.4: GDP growth moves with changes in working-age populations



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a and World Bank 2015a.

of the workforce in India over the next 35 years (Figure 2.5).

Many countries in Asia-Pacific with large populations of youth and working-age people are already facing a struggle to provide more jobs. Although unemployment rates are fairly low, at a regional average of 4 percent compared to a global average of 6 percent, underemployment is pervasive. Underemployment occurs when people are involuntarily working less than full time and/ or have higher skills than required for a job. It can arise from the underutilization of labour due to overstaffing or when the ratio of capital to labour is low, resulting in low productivity.²

In Asia-Pacific countries, some degree of underemployment is due to having too many workers for available jobs, which pushes wages down, and leads to overstaffing as well as low levels of efficiency and productivity. In other cases, people cannot find full-time employment. In the Philippines, for example, where the national unemployment rate stands at 6.4 percent, the underemployment rate is 17.8 percent³ and has Widespread underemployment limits Asia-Pacific's ability to fully realize the benefits of demographic transition

FIGURE 2.5: China is ahead of India in generating employment for a growing workforce



Low female labour force participation rates in South Asia will undermine potential dividends

Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a and ILO 2015a.

worsened in recent years. In Samoa, an estimated 60 percent of people cannot find employment that matches their level of education. Many take up low-skilled, low-paid jobs, especially those who are poor and lower-middle class, as they cannot afford to be unemployed. This is a loss for individual workers, the economy at large and prospects for a demographic dividend.

COUNTRIES CAN REAP A LARGER DIVIDEND WHEN MORE WOMEN PARTICIPATE IN THE LABOUR MARKET

Another factor limiting Asia-Pacific's ability to fully realize the demographic dividend is low female labour force participation. While East Asia and the Pacific has one of the highest rates of women in the workforce in the world, the gender gap is particularly wide for South Asia, comparable to that of the Middle East and North Africa (Figure 2.6). The rate declined between 1990 and 2013 in Asia-Pacific, whereas it improved elsewhere in the world. Part of the reason for the decline could be that women's labour force participation tends to fall during intensifying urbanization and shifts away from agricultural employment, where women's work is often concentrated, particularly at low income levels. At higher income levels, women's labour force participation rate tends to pick up again.

Particularly high gender gaps occur in Afghanistan, where the female labour force participation rate is only 16 percent, compared to 79 percent for men (Figure 2.7). In India, the rate for women is only 27 percent, but 80 percent for men. Samoa and Timor-Leste also rank amongst the lowest in women's workforce participation. Social and religious factors still shut large portions of women out of the labour market, confining them to work at home or in informal occupations (Box 2.1).

The economic cost of women's low labour force participation is high. For Asia-Pacific as a region, it drains somewhere between \$42 and \$46 billion from GDP annually.⁴ By contrast, countries that have increased women's labour force participation have benefitted tremendously. For example, in the United States, the share of women in total employment rose from 37 percent

FIGURE 2.6:

Women in some parts of Asia-Pacific are far less likely than men to be in the workforce



Source: Based on World Bank 2015a.

Even beyond the labour market, women's unpaid domestic care work has major implications for human development, as noted in the 2015 global Human Development Report. Women are typically the major providers of family and household work, with significant implications for the well-being of children and older people. While the monetary contribution of this is not calculated in national accounts, research and national surveys indicate that the value comprises 20 percent to 60 percent of GDP across countries.

The burden of household work is not equally shared between men and women. National surveys indicate that women spend 2 to 10 times more time in unpaid work compared to men; in Cambodia and Pakistan, for example, they spend 9 times more time. Even where women complete similar levels of education as men, they may be deprived of opportunities to work outside the home because of family responsibilities. The result is a loss for women as individuals, since they end up with more limited chances to exercise their rights and independence, including through earning their own income. By reducing the workforce, it also detracts from the significant investments that many countries have now made in girls' education.

One key barrier to the greater participation of women in the workforce is the unavailability of reliable and affordable childcare services. These have yet to be developed in most countries, so families depend on mothers or grandparents for nurturing infants and children. Some private companies have started to provide day-care facilities for their female employees, but these are very few. Increased support from governments is needed to develop services, including through policies that can incentivize private provision. Maternal and paternal leave policies can also do much to allow mothers and fathers to better manage family and work responsibilities.

Sources: UNDP 2015a, Charmes 2015.



FIGURE 2.7: There is significant potential to increase women's labour force participation in South Asia and the Pacific island countries

in 1970 to nearly 48 percent in 2009, adding 38 million workers, without whom the US economy would be 25 percent smaller today.⁵ East Asian countries that benefitted from demographic changes in the last three to four decades have similarly done so with high female labour force participation rates. If other Asia-Pacific countries desire to convert demographic transition into dividends, they will need to encourage more women to work.

MORE PRODUCTIVE WORKERS CAN MULTIPLY OUTPUT

Throughout Asia-Pacific, a fall in fertility during 1970 to 2010 was accompanied by a rise in spending on health, education and other human capital investments essential to a productive workforce (Table 2.3). In East Asia, the fertility rate dropped by almost two-thirds, while human capital spending per child rose by 1.28 percent per year. In South-east and South Asia, fertility declined by more than half, while investment per child rose by 1.31 to 1.44 percent per year. Improved education outcomes, including reduced gender disparities, have been one result. These have been among the main drivers of more productive workforces.

Labour productivity rose rapidly and consistently across Asia-Pacific from 1990 to 2013 (Figure 2.8), with the fastest rates in East Asia, led by China. China's investments in technology were instrumental, combined with investments in education and skills training that enabled workers to perform more sophisticated jobs. South Asia, South-east Asia and the Pacific also experienced consistent rises in labour productivity.

Increases in education and labour quality, however, have not been consistently met by growth in higher skilled jobs. The lack of these is a pressing issue, since it means the skills of many workers are wasted. Others migrate and seek jobs elsewhere, a brain drain that undercuts any potential demographic dividend. A critical element of maximizing labour productivity is investing in education, but equally ensuring that the growing number of working-age people find employment they are qualified to do.

Many jobs in Asia-Pacific remain concentrated in agriculture or entail unskilled labour. In global terms, agriculture in the region is second in size only to that of sub-Saharan Africa. It absorbs nearly half the labour force in South Asia (Figure 2.9). In South-east Asia, agricultural employment is largest in Lao People's Democratic Republic, at 85 percent of total employment.

Manufacturing could provide more skilled and higher paying jobs, but its share of the economy in most countries is small, except for China, Indonesia, Malaysia and Thailand. High-skilled manufacturing jobs, such as in the assembly of computers, electronics and cars, are growing in a few countries. In many others, rising labour costs have begun to depress the supply of basic assembly line jobs.

While service sector employment is substantial, jobs are mainly in traditional areas such as restaurants, personal services, public adminis-

TABLE 2.3: Falling fertility has led to more spending on education and health

	Total fertility rate		Growth in health, education, and other human capital spending due to total fertility rate (%)
	1970	2010	1970-2010
Developing Asia-Pacific	6.3	3.1	1.28
East Asia	5.9	2.0	1.96
South-east Asia	6.1	2.9	1.31
Pacific	6.5	3.8	0.98
South Asia	6.5	3.0	1.37
Developed Asia-Pacific	3.7	1.7	1.44

Source: Mason 2015.

FIGURE 2.8: Growth in labour productivity has been rapid



Source: Based on ILO 2015a.

FIGURE 2.9: Many jobs remain in agriculture, while the share in manufacturing lags



Source: Based on ILO 2015a.

tration, real estate, transport, and wholesale and retail trade. Modern service sectors, including finance, business consulting, IT and research, have yet to take off, although the IT sector in India has expanded rapidly, while the Philippines attracts a huge number of outsourced telecommunication services. Except for in China; Hong Kong, China (SAR); the Republic of Korea and Singapore, the productivity of the service sector is around 30 percent, lower than that of OECD countries.⁶

The prevalence of low-skilled jobs explains

low wages in the region (Figure 2.10). Twenty-four percent of working people in South Asia earn less than \$1.25 a day, while 61 percent earn less than \$2 a day—meaning they are trapped in dire poverty even as they are working. In Afghanistan, Bangladesh, India, Nepal and Pakistan, more than 80 percent of working people earn less than \$4 daily. The size of the middle class, or workers earning from \$4 to \$13 a day, is growing in Bhutan, Maldives and Sri Lanka, but is still small in other parts of South Asia. A growing middle class adds an extra boost to growth and human development.

In South-east Asia and the Pacific, 11 percent of working people take home less than \$1.25 a day, while another 32 percent earn less than \$2 a day. Even where most people live above the poverty line, many workers hover near it, earning between \$2 and \$4 a day. Fifty percent of workers fall into this category in Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Marshall Islands, Myanmar, Papua New Guinea, Timor-Leste and Viet Nam. They are highly vulnerable to shocks and could easily fall back into poverty.

East Asia is better off, mainly due to progress in China in creating better-paid jobs. The middle class there has grown rapidly; more than 40 percent of working people now earn between

FIGURE 2.10: Low-skilled jobs lead to low wages and poverty traps



Source: Based on ILO 2015a.

\$4 and \$13 a day. Poverty fell from 80 percent in 1993 to 28 percent in 2008.

HIGHER SAVINGS CAN BE AN IMPORTANT MEANS FOR DEVELOPMENT

About half of the demographic dividend in East Asia comes from savings and capital accumulation.⁷ Growth in the savings rate is closely aligned with growth in the share of the working-age population (Figure 2.11). In East Asia during 1982 to 2012, the proportion of the working-age population increased from 62 percent to 72 percent, while the savings rate rose from 32 percent to 42 percent. Most of this growth was driven by China, which in 2010 had one of the highest savings rates in the world, at 52 percent.

When more people work and have fewer dependents, and know that they may live longer in retirement, they tend to save more. One additional driver of high savings in Asia is the lack of sufficient pension systems. Today, the region has savings rates higher than all other regions of the world. Savings rates in Singapore at 52 percent and in the Islamic Republic of Iran at 41 percent, for instance, are far above the global average of 22 percent.

Currently, a large share of savings ends up in non-monetary assets such as gold, silver or cash, however, since a significant number of people in the region still do not have bank accounts. Other constraints include the lack of diverse financial instruments and effective financial systems to attract domestic investors.

Beyond individual savings, demographic transition can allow governments to save too, including through reduced spending on social services related to children and older people, and the potential for greater taxation through a larger workforce. Accumulated savings can be channelled in a number of ways that can contribute to human development, such as business growth that creates decent work. They could help close massive infrastructure gaps-needs in East Asia in transportation, telecommunications, energy and water are estimated to be the largest in the world at \$300 billion per year for the next 20 years.⁸ In some cases, expanded infrastructure can achieve multiple goods, such as higher quality of life through cleaner energy that reduces air pollution.

Achieving greater public savings may call for increasing tax revenues where collection is still limited. This depends on efficient collection systems as well as achieving a reasonable taxto-GDP ratio. Currently, the ratio is low for a number of countries in South Asia, compared to those in East Asia. It is 9 percent in Bangladesh, lagging China at 19 percent and the Republic of Korea at 15 percent, for example.⁹ Tax collection will rise in part if more work is created in the formal economy, rather than the hard-to-tax informal one.

Lack of financial inclusion limits savings and investment potentials







Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a and World Bank 2015a.
WHAT'S BEEN LEARNED IN CHINA, JAPAN AND THAILAND?

Three countries in Asia-Pacific have already passed their labour force peak: China, Japan and Thailand. Looking at their experiences can help in understanding how having a larger working-age population can accelerate economic growth and human development. Did they make the most of their demographic dividends?

CHINA: JOB CREATION KEY TO MAXIMIZING THE DEMOGRAPHIC DIVIDEND

China's working-age population rose from 56 percent of the total population in 1960 to 74 percent in 2010, and increased in number from 363 million to 996 million people. During the same period, China experienced stellar economic growth rates of 6.3 percent in the 1970s, 9.4 percent in the 1980s, and 10.5 percent during the 1990s and first decade of the millennium. Many factors influenced these high rates, including the influx of people into the workforce (Figure 2.12).

FIGURE 2.12: China's economy grew through the highly productive use of its workforce

	Five-year average GDP growth rate	Change in numbers of working-age population (in '000)
1956-60	2.5	17942
1961-60	7.4	24871
1966-70	5.9	58888
1971-75	6.6	53804
1976-80	10.8	70944
1981-85	8.8	86900
1986-90	12.3	77885
1991-95	8.6	46455
1996-00	9.8	54813
2001-05	11.2	79429
2006-10	8.2	40275

While the working-age population peaked in 2010, China has skilfully used its era of a strong labour supply by creating large numbers of jobs and boosting economic output, realizing a large demographic dividend in the process.

Economic, trade and financial policies were instrumental in creating more jobs. Since 1978, China has implemented reforms that were pro-market and pro-employment. Liberalization of trade policies opened up the economy, and trade grew much faster than any country has ever





62 Share of working-age population (%)

64

66

89 20

8 80

Gross : 25 56



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a, World Bank 2015a and ILO 2015a.

seen before. A manufacturing boom sent Chinese products to global markets, while creating a large number of jobs at home. At present, nearly 30 percent of the labour force, or about 225 million people, work in the manufacturing sector. Open market policies, including privatization and growth in labour-intensive sectors, fuelled investment and industrial expansion. Modernization of the financial sector also facilitated the growth of firms and creation of more jobs.

As the share of younger and older dependents shrunk relative to working-age people, China's savings rate rose from 36 percent of GDP in the 1980s to 47 percent in the first decade of the 21st century. This allowed increased domestic investments, including in infrastructure. Heavy spending has improved education, and gross enrolment¹⁰ has risen at all levels. The greatest increase was in colleges and universities, with a tripling in enrolment between 1980 and 1997, and again from 1997 to 2006. Both political and business leaders supported this push, recognizing the need for both highly trained technicians and well-educated consumers.¹¹ In tandem, a surge in productivity occurred, rising from \$1,772 per worker in 1982 to \$13,000 in 2010, an astonishing seven-fold increase in less than 30 years. Besides the expansion of formal education, productivity grew on the back of increased use of advanced technology, on-thejob-training, growing experience, better health and rising longevity.

The Chinese boom enabled a rapid transformation in the structure of the economy, from heavy dependence on agriculture to a concentration on manufacturing and services. While economists debate the exact contribution of the increased workforce, up to one-third of China's 'economic miracle' has been attributed to the demographic dividend. Better health and labour productivity have been critical factors, along with the expanded number of people working.¹² Results from the Mason model described in Chapter 1, however, indicate that in China, the contribution of the demographic dividend to GDP was about 15 percent.

The Chinese experience suggests that having a large share of people working is not by itself sufficient to unleash economic growth. It must be accompanied by appropriate socioeconomic policies. Multiple factors drove China's 'growth miracle',¹³ but effective employment of a growing labour force in particular propelled poverty reduction and improved human development.

JAPAN: HIGHER INVESTMENTS IN EDUCATION AND PRODUCTIVITY

Japan endured significant human and economic losses during World War II, but then transformed itself from a war-torn nation to a resilient, high-income economy in a few decades. GDP growth began to accelerate from the 1960s and continued until the 1980s as Japan's economic miracle unfolded. Rapid progress came from an expanded labour supply as well as the reform of the education system, sound fiscal and monetary policies, high savings and investment rates, and increased labour productivity.

The share of working-age people hovered between 60 percent and 65 percent from the late 1960s to the mid-1990s (Figure 2.13). During the 1960s, the country's 10-year average growth rate was 9.3 percent, tapering off to below 5 percent after the 1990s, around the time the labour supply began to decline. To sustain high levels of production, younger rural workers were given incentives to move to cities—Tokyo's working population increased by 1 million during 1955-1965. This growing urban population enabled Japan to sustain high economic growth rates.¹⁴

Gains in efficiency and productivity were critical drivers of growth, and accompanied the spike in the workforce. This advantage stemmed in large part from a heavy investment in education after the Second World War. During the 1950s and 1960s, major reforms increased the number of years the average worker spent in school,¹⁵ particularly those working outside agriculture. As income rose, investment in nutrition, vaccination and other health-related issues soared. The average life span grew substantially, from 60 years for males and 63 years for females in 1950 to over 80 for males and 87 for females in 2013.¹⁶

A high investment ratio, the introduction of foreign technology and "improved and clever engineering" further boosted the surge in productivity. From around 1945 to the end of the 1960s, investment ranged from 35 percent to 40 percent of GDP, ensuring the rehabilitation of severely damaged infrastructure and enhanc-

Strategic macroeconomic, trade and financial reforms also propelled China's transformation

FIGURE 2.13: Japan is past its working-age peak, but has successfully utilized its demographic dividend

	Five-year average GDP growth rate	Change in the size of the working-age population (in '000)
1956-1960	9.38	4769
1961-1965	9.21	6442
1966-1970	4.6	4850
1971-1975	4.39	3180
1976-1980	4.28	2863
1981-1985	5.23	2746
1986-1990	1.42	2104
1991-1995	0.85	612
1996-2000	1.2	-1145
2001-2005	0.39	-2261
2006-2010	0.97	-4449

Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a, World Bank 2015a and ILO 2015a.

ing competitiveness.¹⁷ Foreign technology was actively absorbed in key industries, including strip mills in steelmaking, electric welding in shipbuilding, and technologies for chemical fertilizers and heavy electric machinery. New industries to manufacture automobiles, synthetic fibres and consumer electronics also brought in new technology that promoted growth.

Government policies actively backed business development. The Business Rationalization Promotion Act of 1952, for instance, provided a special depreciation scheme for modernizing equipment in key industries. Government financial institutions, such as the Japan Development Bank, the ExIm Bank, and the Medium and Small Business Credit Corporation introduced long-term credit to support businesses.¹⁸ A healthy savings rate of 30 percent of GDP, the highest among OECD countries in the 1960s, spurred the growth of the economy.

Since the 1990s, Japan's labour supply and productivity have fallen. The 1990s became known as the 'lost decade', a period of low growth rates, high unemployment, bad debt and falling investments. The savings rate dropped drastically as the country began to age, declining from around 32 percent of GDP during 1977 to 25 percent from 2000 to 2012, and contracting even as Japan's growth rates picked up again in the early years of the 21st century, and labour





participation rates increased. The latter were boosted by more women working and more people staying in the workforce beyond retirement age—over half the population aged 65-70 is still working.

Japan's transition to an ageing society raises issues relating to strains on public budgets, labour shortages, and the funding of social security and health care. Nevertheless, the fact that the economy is highly advanced has enabled the Investments in skills, industrialization and technology catalysed Japan's growth miracle country to better prepare for an era of ageing. The economy continues to grow on the basis of technology improvements, productivity growth, trade and foreign direct investment, and by continuing to bring healthy adult workers and more women to the workforce.¹⁹

THAILAND: PROACTIVE FAMILY PLANNING TRIGGERED DEMOGRAPHIC CHANGE

Among South-east Asian countries, Thailand has reached the most advanced stage of the demographic transition. Its share of working-age people peaked in 2010 at 68 percent, and the number is expected to crest in 2015. By 2050, the share is predicted to fall to 50 percent.

Thailand proactively planned its demographic transition, launching large-scale advocacy for voluntary family planning that stressed faster economic growth and a better quality of life. From 1970 to 1990, Thailand's total fertility rate fell from 5.5 to 2.2, the fastest decline in South-east Asia, and particularly remarkable since about half of Thai people still live in rural areas where rates tend to be higher. A rapid expansion in the share of people aged 20-60 took place during 1970 to 2010 (Figure 2.14).

Between 1970 and 2010, as Thailand's working-age population increased from 53 percent of the total population to 68 percent, GDP growth rates were consistently high-just above 7 percent during the 1970s through the 1990s, and around 5 percent during 2000-2010 (excluding the crisis years of 1997-1998 and 2008).²⁰ During this time, Thailand transformed its economy from a low-income to an upper-middle-income one, and significantly reduced poverty. From 1960 to 2000, poverty rates fell from 60 percent to 10 percent. Per capita income increased from \$100 in 1960 to about \$5,800 in 2014, making Thailand the fourth richest country in Southeast Asia, after Singapore, Brunei Darussalam and Malaysia.

In transitioning from a primarily agrarian to a service-based economy, improvements in transportation and telecommunication proved critical, enabling rural farmers to better connect to markets. Many agricultural workers moved to urban areas and shifted to high-paying jobs in industry. Fewer children per family coupled

FIGURE 2.14: Thailand's population shift was rapid from 1970-2010







Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

with improvements in education supported the transition from agriculture to industry and services. At the same time productivity of Thai workers increased significantly (Figure 2.15).

An import substitution policy in the 1960s and 1970s accelerated industrialization, which

Large-scale government advocacy campaigns on family planning stressed prospects for faster economic growth and a better quality of life

FIGURE 2.15: Thailand still has time to further capitalize on its demographic dividend





Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a, World Bank 2015a and ILO 2015a.

led to an industrial processing zone in the eastern region encouraging industries to use domestic raw materials. Since the 1980s, trade policy has shifted to export promotion, including through export-processing zones and an export/ import bank to finance entrepreneurs. From the late 1980s to the 2000s, the processing of high-quality agricultural and manufactured goods was fostered, along with the development of skills demanded by the labour market. Amid intensifying global competition, Thailand was drawn into regional and bilateral free-trade agreements to expand markets and increase trading partners.

Thailand's annual economic growth rate has fluctuated considerably in recent times as the economy has recovered from the global recession. The rate of savings, at 31 percent of GDP, has been relatively stable, however. Given that the share of the working-age population will remain over 60 percent until 2030, and that the savings rate is expected to remain high, Thailand still has considerable time left to capitalize on its demographic dividend. Sustaining momentum will largely depend on a continued supply of productive jobs, investment options making the most of savings, well-managed macroeconomic policy and political stability.

MAKING THE MOST OF DEMOGRAPHIC OPPORTUNITIES

As the experiences from China, Japan and Thailand demonstrate, a larger, more productive working-age population can yield a demographic dividend, but not by default. An effective policy framework needs to be in place, backed by an appropriate vision, commitment, strategies and incentives. A few common lessons stand out:

• A larger working-age population can be a great asset—with strategic labour market policies. These should aim at creating decent work, promoting businesses and trade, increasing diversity in employment, and ensuring a stable macroeconomic environment so that businesses can thrive.

• Equally important is paying attention to protecting worker's rights, including by improving working conditions and the overall health and safety of workers, reaching out to informal sector workers, instituting minimum wage levels to combat working poverty, and so on.

• Countries will also need to leverage sectors and industries that can provide higher quality jobs. Many countries need to go through structural transformation, transitioning from low-productive sectors such as agriculture to those that demand higher skilled labour and provide better wages. Investments in education and skills development will be important to ensure working people are prepared for such a transition.

• A large working-age population can

An effective policy framework is critical to transform demographic opportunity into a demographic dividend

FIGURE 2.16: A policy framework to guide the demographic dividend



Creating more and better jobs, combined with good governance and macroeconomic stability, is the first step boost savings, among individuals and in terms of public revenues. These can be channelled into business growth, expanded infrastructure and social expenditures, and more robust pension schemes. Savings need to be effectively injected into markets, however. Public budget surpluses need to be wisely invested.

Figure 2.16 charts a general three-step path for the demographic dividend to accelerate human development. The following pages consider supportive policies in four broad areas: creating more jobs, improving their quality, emphasizing workers' rights and putting savings to work. There are challenges and barriers to overcome, and new opportunities to explore.

PURSUE PRO-EMPLOYMENT GROWTH

A first step towards capturing the demographic dividend will be for the region to ensure economic growth is creating more jobs. In 2015 and 2016 developing Asia-Pacific is projected to grow at 6.2 percent,²¹ far above the global average. During 2000-2013, however, employment growth languished between 1 percent to 3 percent (Figure 2.17). As millions of new entrants flood the labour market in the coming

decades, many Asia-Pacific countries will face even greater challenges than they do now in terms of creating sufficient employment. More focus needs to be on specific policies that will create decent jobs and ensure the benefits of growth reach everyone.

Job growth is given impetus when countries

FIGURE 2.17: Higher growth alone has not produced more jobs



Source: Based on ILO 2015a.

make this a key aim of national development strategies. Job creation efforts should be backed by adequate resources, reinforced with timelines and targets, and the mandate should lie not only with the Ministry of Labour. Strategies need to be implemented jointly with multiple ministries and departments, including finance, labour, commerce, industrial development, manufacturing, agriculture, trade, youth and women, as well as in close coordination with the private sector. Without a well-developed action plan and clearly defined employment targets, it will be difficult for countries to make progress. Some ways to stimulate pro-employment growth are briefly described below.

Foster growth of labour-intensive sectors. Countries in the region need to promote sectors that create jobs. Nations with large low-income populations, big agriculture sectors and high rural-urban migration could focus on specific industries, particularly in manufacturing, that yield large numbers of low to semi-skilled jobs.²² This switch has been key to high job growth in China, leading to a significant decline in poverty. In India, in contrast, the manufacturing base is still small, contributing to only 15 percent of GDP and 11 percent of employment.²³ Manufacturing in general drives innovation, increases productivity and helps economies transition out of a heavy dependence on agriculture. Since manufactured goods are tradable, they can also reach large markets abroad.

Service sectors such as tourism, retail trade, shipping, IT, banking and finance, and other specialized industries have historically generated more employment in the region. The growth of IT in India and telecommunications in the Philippines are excellent examples, having provided employment to large numbers of youth. Governments need to open doors for new industries that will create new opportunities for the growing population of workers, as well as build long-term development plans for specific economic sectors based on changing skill sets.

Diversify the economy: Concentrating economic activities in a few areas, as several countries in Asia-Pacific have done, has major implications for job creation and resilience to shocks. It means that the market demands only a few

types of skills. In Bhutan, for example, the hydropower industry accounts for more than half of GDP and three-quarters of total exports. While this creates some jobs in construction and engineering, it undercuts diversification in the job market, which is not well positioned to absorb growing numbers of Bhutanese youth. Countries reliant on extractive sectors such as oil, gas and mining similarly fall short on job creation. While Mongolia enjoyed double-digit growth during 2011-2013, spurred by extractive businesses, very few jobs were created, and youth unemployment, in particular, remains worryingly high. In Papua New Guinea, the main sources of national and export earnings are minerals and energy extraction, which yield few jobs; most labour earnings come from agriculture, forestry and fishery.

Other issues relate to vulnerability to shocks, such as a slowdown in external demand. These can be devastating to countries with only a few types of businesses, such as textiles and readymade garment manufacturing in Bangladesh, or fisheries and tourism in Maldives. One consequence is a sudden steep rise in unemployment as workers who have lost jobs are unable to find new ones.

Unless Asia-Pacific countries diversify, through cultivating new domestic businesses and new links with external businesses, for example, they may be unable to generate enough decent employment to meet demands, over time and in the face of inevitable shocks. Several countries have done well in managing extractive sectors as well as diversifying their economies to increase jobs in alternative sectors. Experiences from Botswana, Chile, Indonesia and Malaysia demonstrate how proper management of extractive industries and a strategy to diversify can help economies transform.

Strengthen the macroeconomic environment: A thriving business environment depends very much on the macroeconomic environment. Businesses will start, create jobs and thrive in well-managed, stable economies, knowing property and investments are secure. This requires improved political stability, stable exchange rate regimes, controlled inflation, well-managed fiscal and monetary policies, and strong financial infrastructure, among other priorities. Tourism, retail trade, shipping, IT, telecommunications, banking and finance, have generated more decent employment Governments need to focus on strategies that will strengthen business confidence and support private sector growth that will in turn advance job growth.

Without a stable macroeconomic environment and good governance, corruption knocks a significant percentage off growth, while weak rule of law opens the door to instability, insecurity and uncertainty. Political turmoil and road closures (hartals) as in Bangladesh, or street demonstrations, as recently seen in Thailand, pose significant challenges to business operations. When production is halted due to a lack of stability, countries lose their competitive edge, and domestic and foreign direct investment is diverted to other markets, with jobs vanishing in the process.

Increase labour force participation of women: Labour force participation of women remains a

major challenge in the region. A large number of female workers remain outside paid employment due to family responsibilities. While the contribution of unpaid work at home is significant, it should be more equally shared, and women should also have equal opportunities to pursue paid employment. Bringing more educated women to the workforce could deliver a boost to productivity. In 2012, 47 percent of students enrolled in tertiary education were women. Yet many female college graduates never join the workforce, a tendency that will prevent the region from reaping a full demographic dividend.

Countries in East Asia that achieved a higher dividend had a higher proportion of women in the labour market. For example, China's female labour force participation rate at 64 percent is far above the world average of 51 percent. Some countries have taken proactive steps to boost women's employment, such as Japan, which by 2020 aims to have women in 30 percent of leadership positions in the government. The Malaysian Government has announced new policies aimed at bringing more educated women to the workforce (Box 2.2). Critical policies to encourage women's employment include ensuring equal pay and rights, safety and security, reasonable parental leave, and reliable, cost-effective provision of childcare, among others.

SUPPORT GROWTH OF BUSINESSES, ENTREPRENEURS AND MARKETS

The private sector is vital for job creation. Supporting businesses and entrepreneurs to provide new opportunities entails promoting a healthy

Equal pay and reliable, affordable childcare will open opportunities for more women in paid employment

BOX 2.2: Bringing more women into the workforce in Malaysia

Malaysia has attained gender parity in education up to the tertiary level, but there is still a significant gender gap in the workforce, where less than half of women participate. At 47 percent in 2014, the labour force participation rate is among the lowest in South-east Asia. Nearly two-thirds of mothers who choose to stay at home cite family care as the primary reason.

Non-participation poses a big loss to the economy, given that the country has invested heavily in women's education. A World Bank study in 2012 estimated that women's greater participation could provide a growth dividend of up to 0.4 percent a year. Malaysia aims to achieve high-income status by 2020, but cannot do so without bringing more women into the workforce.

'Upholding the role of women' is one of seven key

strategic areas in Malaysia's 2015 budget. The Government is partnering with private firms to ease women's participation, including by offering tax incentives and grants to companies for providing quality day-care facilities and hiring mothers. The Government recently launched Career Comeback Grants for companies who bring back women who have taken career breaks.

Initiatives to strengthen women entrepreneurs comprise the Micro Credit and Small Business Loan Scheme, Get Malaysia Business Online and the Women Exporters Development Programme. By 2016, all Malaysian companies will be required to disclose their degree of gender diversity in their annual reports. Female labour force participation is key to the 11th Malaysia Plan for 2016-2020, "Enhancing labour market operations to maximize efficiency and effectiveness."

Sources: Bloomberg 2014, World Bank 2012b, Economic Planning Unit, Prime Minister's Department, Malaysia, 2015.

investment climate, as well as encouraging the growth of new industries and markets. Increasing market access and widening trade networks can help expand production and stimulate greater employment.

Nurture small and medium enterprises: These businesses are responsible for two-thirds of total employment in Asia-Pacific.²⁴ Helping them expand in size and number will be essential to accommodating a expanding workforce and ensuring that the benefits of economic growth reach the poor. Currently, they have relatively small shares in trade, receive only limited finance and face serious obstacles to growth, however. In 2012, loans to these businesses averaged only 25 percent of bank lending in the region, with significant variation across countries.

Some countries have taken steps to facilitate lending-the central banks of Bangladesh, India, the Philippines and Sri Lanka, for example, have set mandatory lending targets. There are credit guarantee schemes in place in Kazakhstan, Thailand, Viet Nam and several Pacific island countries. In some cases, national credit bureaus provide information on finance and credit ratings, and non-bank financial services are active in offering leasing, equity investment and insurance. Experience in Hong Kong, China (SAR) shows how financial support can have transformational impacts (Box 2.3). Beyond financing, some countries help small and medium enterprises get off the ground through assistance in gaining market access, increasing productivity, using IT and formalizing their

operations, as well as by enacting concessional business regulations.²⁵

Empower women entrepreneurs: While women are key decision-makers in families, their roles in businesses are often very limited. The number of female-owned and run businesses is less than half that of men's. Women tend to have greater barriers than men in starting businesses, accessing finance and owning assets. As a result, they typically own smaller businesses and operate with lower levels of capital.²⁶

Microfinance institutions providing low-income women with small, collateral-free loans have generated a surge of entrepreneurial energy among women in many Asia-Pacific countries. The Grameen Bank in Bangladesh and the Self-Employed Women's Association of India have demonstrated that poor women are creditworthy. In China, the Tianjin Women's Business Incubator has helped more than 10,000 women entrepreneurs to start small businesses after losing their jobs in the 2009 global financial crisis.²⁷ Together, these experiences testify to the potential of women in businesses, and how extending financial support can be leveraged into a brighter future for women, their families and their communities. Loans targeted to women not only contribute to gender empowerment, but can also translate into higher investments in health and education of children.²⁸

At the same time, female entrepreneurship needs to move beyond microfinance. A World Bank report²⁹ shows that more women are in businesses in countries where it is easier to start a Helping small and medium enterprises to expand will be essential for creating more jobs

BOX 2.3: Strong financial support helps small and medium enterprises thrive in Hong Kong, China (SAR)

In Hong Kong, China (SAR), business-friendly policies have attracted investors at home and from abroad. Small and medium enterprises are an integral part of the economy, comprising 98 percent of all businesses, and providing employment to 47 percent of the labour force.

The Government supports small and medium enterprises with a wide variety of funding mechanisms, including the SME Loan Guarantee Scheme and the SME Export Marketing Fund. The SME Development Fund provides start-up capital and helps enterprises expand in external markets. A resource centre, Support and Consultation for SMEs (SUC-CESS), offers legal and business-related advice. Other encouraging factors include preferential market access to mainland China and elsewhere, excellent financial market infrastructure, and a transparent and well-regulated economy. business. Women's participation can be increased by removing red tape, enhancing gender-equitable property rights, facilitating broader access to credit for women and providing business management training. Laws need to be free of gender discrimination, and, as important, be implemented, including in the face of remaining discriminatory stereotypes and norms.

Promote a business-friendly environment: Governments can help businesses flourish by enacting and implementing policies that lower costs, incentivize new ventures, remove regulatory barriers and enhance the efficiency of legal processes. The cost of starting and maintaining a business in Asia-Pacific is still very high. Options to reduce it include eliminating minimum capital requirements, creating one-stop shops for paperwork, and increasing use of centralized databases and technology to manage transactions with a greater degree of transparency and accountability, among others.³⁰ This process also needs to maintain standards consistent with internationally agreed norms, such as those to protect workers and uphold environmental sustainability.

Essential strategies to boost businesses should incentivize new ventures, remove regulatory barriers and streamline legal processes

Expand trade networks: Asia-Pacific countries lag behind in reducing non-tariff trade barriers, which reduces competitiveness. It takes 33 days to complete an export transaction in South Asia, compared to 21 days in East Asia and 11 days in OECD high-income countries.³¹ Goods often spend more time at borders than in transport from the source to the destination, suggesting that paperwork and customs regulations are still complex. In a world where speed, certainty and efficiency in delivery are highly valued, countries are losing opportunities to enter export markets. Many need to invest in soft infrastructure, such as customs automation and one-stop windows at border checkpoints, in addition to building better roads, railways and ports to facilitate seamless trade. Cultivating stronger trade links could be a strategic step towards increasing access to markets and growing businesses that can boost job growth. If all countries in South Asia were to improve customs efficiency to the level in East Asia and the Pacific, exports could increase by 11 percent on average for the region.³²

Given Asia-Pacific's huge population, there

is large potential for regional trade expansion. Several regional connectivity initiatives are underway, such as the South Asian Subregional Economic Cooperation programme to facilitate trade and transit among Bangladesh, Bhutan, India and Nepal. Successful implementation of a motor vehicle movement agreement currently being negotiated among these countries could spur trade in local agricultural products, processed food and manufactured goods, and expand the shipping and services industries. Increased overland trade and the development of economic corridors could stimulate new enterprises, local markets, livelihoods and job growth in less-connected regions and rural areas, as well as ports and border towns, reducing economic disparities linked to geographical location.

PROTECT WORKERS' RIGHTS

Some of the key priorities of the Sustainable Development Goals are to create decent jobs, eliminate poverty and minimize inequality. Since labour is the principal asset of the poor, jobs are the primary avenue for them to attain higher standards of living. A number of challenges currently stand in the way. Informal sector employment and working poverty remain prevalent in Asia-Pacific, and more people are looking outside of their home countries to find opportunities to thrive. Countries need to reach out to workers in vulnerable employment, protect them from exploitation, and uphold their rights and privileges.

Protect workers in informal and vulnerable employment: While a vibrant informal economy keeps a large number of low-wage workers employed, such employment leads to many problems, such as the inability to protect workers' rights. Workers in the informal sector are employed without appropriate paperwork and social security, and are highly susceptible to exploitation. They typically earn very low wages; work in poor, unsafe conditions; receive limited or no benefits; and have no job security. Labour laws are framed with only the formal sector in mind, which can lead to informal sector workers having no protections against non-payment of wages, forced overtime work, and abuse or health risks at work.

TABLE 2.4:Shares of workers in the informal economy arestill large in some countries

Country	Year	Persor	is in informal employment
		Number ('000)	Share (%)
China*	2010	36,030	33
India	2009/2010	185,876	84
Indonesia	2009	3,157	73
Pakistan	2009/2010	21,913	78
Philippines	2008	15,150	70
Sri Lanka	2009	3,184	62
Thailand	2010	9642	42
Viet Nam	2009	17.172	68

Source: ILO 2014b.

Note: The agricultural sector is not included in this data. China is represented with only a few cities, namely, Fuzhou, Guangzhou, Shanghai, Shenyang, Wuhan and Xian.

The proportion of people working in informal employment varies considerably across countries, reaching 42 percent of workers in Thailand, but 84 percent in India (Table 2.4).³³ One important incentive for firms to operate in the informal economy is financial—costs are lower without paying taxes and complying with formal registration and regulatory requirements. For firms to choose to operate within the formal sector, governments need to create financial incentives, such as by extending the outreach of capital and loans, particularly to micro- and small enterprises, or by providing tax breaks.

For the first time in 2015, the International Labour Organization (ILO) adopted labour standards that can protect workers in the informal economy. Countries have collectively recognized that people work in the informal sector not merely by choice, but due to a lack of opportunities in the formal sector. In the developing world, approximately 90 percent of small and medium enterprises operate informally. At the heart of the ILO standards is the idea that full, decent, productive employment needs to be created in the formal sector. While countries are working towards this goal, however, measures should be taken to uphold the rights of those still in informal employment. These include the rights to freedom of association and collective

bargaining, elimination of compulsory labour, abolition of child labour, and adherence to regulations that protect workers' health and safety.

Health-care and pension benefits in Asia-Pacific currently cover only a small portion of formal sector workers. If governments were to design social security programmes for the informal sector, there would be an enormous challenge to identify and reach people. Despite the complexities and potential costs, however, the large number of informal sector workers cannot be ignored, given the implications for economic productivity, as well as human development and human rights. Besides bringing more informal sector workers to the formal sector, it is imperative for governments to extend social protection outreach to informal sector workers. Managing outreach might build on national ID card systems, as for example, is currently underway in India.

A range of workers in Asia-Pacific struggle with extreme deprivation. These include some internally displaced people, migrants, child workers, and people in risky or menial jobs such as construction and domestic service. Many are deeply mired in poverty with very limited social protection and access to legal protection, although some countries have begun taking steps to close these gaps (Box 2.4). Nearly three in five workers, around 1.1 billion, in Asia-Pacific developing economies were in vulnerable employment in 2012, with the highest proportion in South Asia at 76 percent (Table 2.5). A major challenge remains to target and reach out to those who are most deprived.

The rights to freedom of association and collective bargaining should be upheld, along with safety regulations

TABLE 2.5: Vulnerable employment is most pervasive in South Asia

Both sexes	Both	Male	Female
World	48	47	49
Developed economies and European Union	10	11	9
East Asia	47	43	51
South-east Asia and the Pacific	60	57	64
South Asia	76	75	81
Middle East	25	24	33

Source: ILO 2014b.

In Indonesia, about 42 percent of the population earns below \$2 per day, making access to lowcost legal services essential for protecting their rights and privileges. In 2011, Indonesia passed a new law on legal aid with the provision that any defendant will receive legal counsel at every stage of the legal process. The objective of this law is to provide equal access to justice for all citizens. To further implement the law, in 2013 the Government launched a nationally funded legal aid system with 310 organizations accredited to deliver services.

Poor and marginalized people need legal support to obtain access to legal identification and social security programmes, secure land and property rights, stop gender-based violence, seek protection from ethnic and other forms of discrimination, and protect their labour rights. Legal aid services provide assistance on these and many other issues. For example, a civil society organization, Women's Association for Justice and Legal Aid, reaches out to underprivileged women to raise awareness on how to deal with cases of violence, discrimination and rights relating to employment, property and marriage.

With limited access to legal services, local disputes may otherwise be resolved by village-level and religious traditional leaders, a process that can reinforce inequity or bias. Many legal aid institutions are now working to train village paralegals to provide basic legal information and referrals to legal professionals.

Source: The Asia Foundation 2014.

Women are more often in vulnerable employment than men, with one of the most risk-prone professions being domestic work. Currently, Asia provides 40 percent of domestic workers globally, comprising 21.5 million women and girls.³⁴ This is an important source of income as well as remittances, constituting 7.5 percent of female wage employment around the world. Yet workers are frequently prone to domestic abuse, violence, confinement, denial of wages and other forms of human rights violations, and lack access to legal support and state protection.

In 2011, the Domestic Workers Convention enacted by the ILO became the first treaty to protect the rights and privileges of domestic workers, ensuring they have the same basic rights as those available to other workers in their country, including weekly days off, limits to hours of work, minimum wage coverage, over-time compensation, social security, and clear information on the terms and conditions of employment.³⁵ The Philippines is among the countries that have ratified this convention. With over 2 million domestic workers at home, and millions more abroad who are sending remittances home, implementation could provide a huge boost in quality of life and human development prospects for workers and their families.³⁶

Some of the poorest and most vulnerable

people find jobs in the construction industry. In India, for example, 1 in every 10 workers is employed there, totalling 50 million people in 2012. A study in Delhi³⁷ revealed that a majority were inter-state migrants, including large numbers from socially deprived castes and tribes who were in bonded labour. Low wages, irregular payments, a risk of accidents and long working hours were reported by workers as the most critical problems. Measures to begin correcting some of these concerns include universal registration of workers; effective implementation of existing labour laws; formal binding guidelines for contracts between employers, recruiters and workers; reform and harmonization of major labour laws applicable to the industry; and reform of social security laws to allow more effective implementation.

Reduce exploitation of migrant workers: Migrant workers face a host of challenges related to human rights. Those who are undocumented are most vulnerable. A large number of migrants from and within Asia-Pacific likely fall in this category. Because of their insecure legal status, they are prone to low pay, often below legal minimum wages, as well as denial of other rights, hazardous work conditions, limited job mobility and inadequate legal support.

The essential rights of domestic workers should be fully protected Even before leaving home, migrant workers face risks and costs, such as from recruitment agencies charging very high fees to connect them to potential employees overseas. A Bangladeshi migrant worker, for example, may pay nearly \$4,000 for a low-skilled job in the Middle East with wages of \$200 a month, meaning the first 20 months of work go only towards the initial fee. Fraudulent recruitment practices are abundant, with consequences that include workers being stuck, without legal paperwork, in a transit country, or not being paid promised wages.³⁸

Lack of institutional support from both sending and receiving countries results in the neglect of migrant workers. Much needs to be done to better protect them before, during and after migration. Priority measures include ensuring proper implementation of labour laws, setting and upholding minimum wages and benefits, guaranteeing access to medical care, protecting undocumented workers, enhancing transparency in migration procedures and collecting data on the status of migrants, to list a few. Countries across the region are at different stages in the formulation of policies and implementation of practices to protect migrant rights. Box 2.5 highlights progress in the Philippines.

Counter pervasive low wages and income inequality: Wage growth has been slow in most of Asia-Pacific, except for China, and has recently stagnated compared to the level before the 2008 financial crisis. This is on top of the region's already significant degree of working poverty. Average manufacturing wages in China, India and the Philippines are well under \$2 per hour, compared to nearly \$13 in Singapore and just over \$18 in Japan. Wage workers earned only \$73 per month in Nepal in 2008, \$119 per month in Pakistan in 2013 and \$121 per month in Cambodia in 2012,³⁹ with the last two countries having the highest incidences of working poverty in the world.⁴⁰ At the same time, the share of labour income relative to capital earnings has declined, falling sharply in China, for example, where labour earnings were 42.4 percent of the total in 2007, down from 51.4 percent in 1995.⁴¹ This trend in part explains widening inequality in many countries.

With growing awareness of pitfalls related to income disparity and non-inclusive growth, a number of countries have prioritized combating inequality in their national development agendas. As a response to the growing discontent of low-income people, China instituted

Transparent migration procedures, minimum wages and access to medical care are critical for migrant workers

BOX 2.5: Protecting the rights of migrant workers in the Philippines

Migration policy in the Philippines is relatively advanced compared to other countries in Asia-Pacific, having been oriented around protecting those who choose to migrate rather than encouraging migration as a means of economic growth. Through bilateral agreements and national legislation, migration is managed from the stage of recruitment, throughout the migrants' stay and safe return home.

Remittances comprise about 10 percent of the Philippines' GDP. Overseas Filipino workers mostly go to the Gulf States (about 67 percent), but a small portion also migrate to countries within the region, including China; Hong Kong, China (SAR); and Singapore. About 80 percent are employed as service or production workers, with large numbers serving as domestic workers. introduced in 2006 for domestic workers abroad raised the minimum age to 23, requires workers to obtain pre-departure training on the language and culture of the destination country, sets a minimum monthly salary of \$400, and facilitates training and skills development under the Technical Education and Skills Development Authority.

In 2012, the Philippines became the second country to ratify ILO Convention 189 on domestic workers, a milestone for 2.5 million Filipino overseas workers whose rights will be protected and who will be sheltered from abuse. Through the convention, working terms and conditions between employers and employees will be formalized. Workers are also being provided with information booklets to learn about their rights and how to access help when facing difficult situations.

The Household Service Workers reform package

a new income distribution plan in 2013, and emphasized the importance of job creation and income distribution in its 12th five-year plan (2011-2015). The Philippines Development Plan 2011-2016 similarly stresses the need for inclusive growth, productive job creation and multidimensional poverty reduction. Papua New Guinea's Development Strategic Plan 2010-2030 charts the vision of a fair and equitable society where benefits reach all segments of the population.⁴²

One of the key national policy instruments to tackle pervasive low wages is wage-setting, which protects the basic needs of workers and their families. It curbs poverty, and ensures a basic quality of life by eradicating hunger, providing minimum health benefits, and easing access to education and childcare, all of which positively contribute to human well-being and workers' productivity. The entire package of a minimum wage policy needs to be carefully crafted to mitigate impacts on employment, international competitiveness and inflation.

Since 2012, more than 20 Asia-Pacific countries have revised their minimum wage policies, including China, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam (Box 2.6). In 2013, Malaysia's new minimum wage increased the basic salary to RM 900 per month in the Malaysian Peninsula and to RM 800 per month in Sabah and Sarawak, with the aim of supporting inclusive growth as the country plans to transition from middle-income to higher-income status. In Viet Nam, soaring inflation of 23 percent in 2008 triggered a rise in minimum wages. Since then, several increases have helped workers keep up with high prices for food, education and health care, and served as a response to strikes by factory workers in Hanoi and elsewhere.43

BOX 2.6: Recent revisions to minimum wage packages

Minimum wage policies need to be crafted without adverse impacts on employment, competitiveness or inflation CHINA USES THE MINIMUM WAGE TO REDUCE GAPS AND ENCOURAGE MOVEMENT TO CITIES

As part of its efforts to reduce wage gaps between the rich and poor, China has been paying close attention to minimum wages since 2008. City and provincial governments set the minimum wage every two years, ensuring a cost-of-living adjustment and adhering to a nationwide increase. This also supports the national plan for moving more rural workers to cities, where labour productivity and contribution to GDP is much higher. In the first guarter of 2014, minimum wages rose in the cities of Shanghai, Shenzhen, Tianjin and Beijing, with Shanghai minimum-wage earners bringing home the highest pay at \$293 per month. Shandong, Shaanxi and Chongqing provinces have also increased minimum wages recently. Local governments in places that face labour shortages will likely follow the same course.44

THAILAND AIMS FOR INCLUSION WHILE EASING IMPACTS ON BUSINESS

In 2013, Thailand implemented a new minimum wage policy of 300 baht a day (\$10). In a time of high growth and low unemployment, the revised

policy is intended to boost worker productivity, increase consumption and drive innovation without severely aggravating unemployment. It is also part of Thailand's efforts to ensure greater equality, enhance inclusiveness and enable the country to avoid the much dreaded middle-income trap.

The policy will equate wages across all provinces, and therefore some provinces will see a significant hike. While it will protect marginalized, low-income people, costs will inevitably rise for businesses, particularly small and medium enterprises in provincial areas, and will increase the prices of Thai products in global markets. The Government is taking proactive measures to counter these impacts by curbing the corporate tax from 30 percent to 20 percent, increasing provisions for lower interest government loans and reducing rents for stateowned land used by businesses. It also anticipates that competition will increase, and in turn bolster efficiency in production, incentivize skill-building especially for low-skill workers, and support the economy in moving towards products requiring higher-skills.45

Sources: Center for Migrant Advocacy 2011, The Philippine Migrants Watch, ILO 2014b, China Briefing 2014, The Asia Foundation 2013.

Promote health and safety at work: Asia-Pacific has a history of fatal injuries caused by fire, chemical exposure, building collapse and other disasters at factories leading to death in large numbers. Thirty years ago, the Bhopal gas leak took about 15,000 lives in India. More recently, in 2013, Bangladesh experienced its largest factory disaster after the collapse of a garment factory. Over 1,129 garment workers were killed, and 2,500 or more were permanently injured. In 2014, an explosion at a metal factory in eastern China killed 68 people and injured more than 150. Negligent management is a leading cause for accidents such as these, but little has been done to severely penalize, warn or otherwise instil upon firms the importance of avoiding future accidents.

Because of the abundance of low-skilled labourers, many Asia-Pacific countries are attractive locations for low-cost production. To reap excess profits, producers compromise on safety standards and labour laws, particularly where these are not well enforced, in a 'race to the bottom'. Working can be riskiest in the least developed countries, which frequently attract the most dangerous and polluting work, and where standards and regulations have been compromised to be able to produce more cheaply.

Governments need to work closely with the international community, businesses, non-governmental organizations and employees on coordinated efforts to move towards safe, reliable and accident-free workplaces. National legislation on occupational safety and health is the first institutional step forward. Laws should cover risk assessment, hazard identification and bodies responsible for taking action. Several countries have begun to strengthen laws and compliance (Box 2.7).

INCREASE LABOUR PRODUCTIVITY AND ENHANCE THE QUALITY OF JOBS

While many countries in Asia-Pacific have been sources for low-cost labour, this tendency has to change for them to attain higher human development and avoid a middle-income trap. They will have to compete on the basis of higher productivity and efficiency, in part by shifting from low-wage, labour-intensive sectors to those requiring higher skills and advancing technological penetration. Higher productivity growth will also provide quality jobs for better educated workforces, and, in ageing countries, help maintain growth rates despite shrinking labour forces.

Stimulate structural transformation: Productivity growth has been faster in some countries than others, tracking structural shifts from lower to higher productivity industries, and the movement of labour accordingly. China's labour productivity has trebled since 2000, and Viet Nam's has doubled. Substantial growth has occurred in Indonesia, Malaysia, Mongolia and Thailand. By contrast, in South Asia, structural change has lagged behind, as has growth in labour productivity.⁴⁶

National circumstances are the starting point for the shift to higher productivity industries. Countries that still have a large agriculture sector must foster basic manufacturing, while introducing modern farming practices. Those producing light manufactured goods such as textiles and footwear may consider moving towards heavy manufactured goods such as electronics and machinery. There is significant potential for promoting higher skilled services sectors, such as IT and telecommunications, banking and finance, tourism and hotel management, media and advertising, and other new areas of high-end advisory and consulting services that can absorb more skilled labour. Governments will need to support entrepreneurs keen to launch innovative businesses, as well as develop strategic trade links to market products and services. Malaysia's experience with the palm oil industry demonstrates the potential of structural transformation (Box 2.8).

Promote skills and training: Employability and productivity improve through skills development and vocational training relevant to labour market requirements. Some important lessons come from advanced countries such as Germany, where education and training simultaneously have improved the quality of youth employment in particular. Germany's ratio of youth to adult unemployment rates is about one to one, which is a remarkable achievement. One important ingredient is the strong involvement of employers in education, which brings in training on skills Skills development and vocational training increase productivity

BOX 2.7: Some safer places to work

Some countries have taken steps to better protect their workers. This is consistent with their rights. It also contributes to more efficient and productive workplaces.

SINGAPORE:

STATE-OF-THE-ART PROTECTIONS

Singapore is renowned for state-of-the-art practices to protect workers' health and safety. Three key principles define its Work and Safety Framework. The first is to mitigate and eliminate risks before they are created, minimizing accidents. The second principle is based on the idea of creating industrial ownership by engaging people from top management to factory-level workers, and generating awareness and a sense of precaution. The third principle is to strictly penalize workplaces that are unsafe, not only those that have had accidents, but also those that have unsafe practices and are prone to accidents. Penalties and fees incentivize firms to take more proactive steps, and make a business case for investing in health and safety issues.

The Workers' Safety and Health Act came into effect in 2006 and is managed under the Ministry of Manpower. To operationalize the act, the Works and Safety Framework 2018 Strategy was developed. One of its key targets is to reduce the workplace fatality rate to less than 1.8 per 100,000 workers. Considerable progress has already been made, as the fatality rate dropped from 4.9 in 2004 to 2.2 in 2012.

Some key initiatives of the strategy are to build capabilities to better manage workplaces. The BizSAFE programme, for instance, works with small and medium enterprises. It trains top managers on risk management strategies and the management of workers' health and safety, while workers are educated on how to avoid hazards.

The Ministry of Manpower ensures compliance with health and safety standards by undertaking inspections and managing legal enforcements. Approximately 6,500 inspections are carried out yearly. Violations are taken seriously; employers are warned, fined, prosecuted or their operations stopped where there are signs of imminent danger. When accidents do take place, work injury compensation is paid. In 2010, \$76.5 million was awarded in compensation for permanent disability or death.

Complementing all these efforts is an awareness campaign promoting a safe and health work culture. Award ceremonies recognize successful enterprises, and share good practices and innovative solutions. The Workers' Safety and Health Council collects, produces and shares a repository of information and guidelines to support enterprises.

CAMBODIA: LINKING TRADE AND LABOUR STANDARDS

The US-Cambodia Bilateral Textile Agreement includes a labour provision that explicitly refers to internationally recognized core labour standards. To ensure compliance, the agreement states: "The Government of the United States will make a Determination [every year] whether working conditions in the Cambodia textile and apparel sector substantially comply with such labour law and [international] standards." Until 2006, the United States granted export quota increases based on compliance.

To be able to export to the United States, a garment factory had to agree to ILO inspections under its Better Factories Cambodia (BFC) programme. Those complying with national and international standards gained export increases of up to 14 percent, a strong incentive to participate. After 2006, the Royal Government of Cambodia, the country's garment industry and trade unions requested that BFC continue to operate and safeguard worker's interests. BFC covers areas including child labour, discrimination, forced labour, freedom of association, collective bargaining, and national labour laws and regulations on compensation, contract and workplace relations, occupational safety and health, working hours and more.

Extensive factory-level data collected by the BFC has yielded several interesting findings. The programme led to higher compliance with standards, both in factories with reputation-sensitive buyers and in those without, although the former achieved higher compliance rates. Cambodian garment factories with higher levels of compliance had higher business survival rates.

While concerns over wage levels and working conditions are still prevalent in Cambodia, the garment sector has the lowest rate of workplace accidents. Improved industrial relations have stemmed from better occupational health and safety, and overtime policies. A boost in wages for women in the garment industry led to a jump in women's wages throughout Cambodia, both in absolute terms and relative to men's wages.

Based on the experience of the BFC programme, the ILO has launched the Better Work programme in a half dozen other countries, in each case on the invitation of the government, employers and workers' organizations.

Sources: Finnish Institute of Occupational Health 2011, Better Factories Cambodia n.d., Robertson, Brown, and Ang 2011, Brown, Dehejia, and Robertson 2013, Neak and Robertson 2009.

When Malaysia gained independence in 1957, rubber and tin comprised over half its economic base. Since the 1980s, however, it has engaged in a process of diversification, and, by the end of the 1990s, the share of manufacturing exceeded 30 percent.

Over the past two decades, average per capita income has grown at around 3.4 percent per year. The incidence of working poverty fell from 11.9 percent in 1987 to 1.3 percent in 2012,⁴⁷ and considerable progress has also been made in reducing vulnerable employment. Many factors account for this transformation, including the contribution of the palm oil industry.

Malaysia selected palm oil as an engine of greater agricultural productivity. Palm oil was introduced in 1875, but production did not expand until many decades later. From the early 1960s, replanting grants were offered to encourage owners of rubber plantations to switch to palm oil production. The state also acquired and developed foreign-owned oil palm estates. By 2012, Malaysia was the world's second largest producer.

While boosting production, Malaysia developed links with industries that use palm oil, such as palm oil processing, oleo-chemicals, biotechnology, biodiesel and biomass industries. Fiscal incentives attracted investments in strategic areas related to palm oil. Higher duties were imposed on crude palm oil exports, while tax exemptions were granted to processed palm oil exports—with a view to encouraging higher value added production and export diversification. By 2012, processed palm oil exports were 2.8 times the volume of crude palm oil exports.

Starting in the 1980s, the Government decided to use some revenues from the production and export of palm oil products to support expansion in new industries, such as electronics. Through strategic interventions, Malaysia upgraded its production and export structure over time to include high technology, skill-intensive products.

The country still faces the challenge of creating sufficient decent jobs. The Government has adopted measures to broaden access to quality technical education and vocational training, and to expand the coverage of its Skills Development Fund. More fundamentally, strengthening labour market institutions and tackling barriers to formal employment could enhance links among the most dynamic sectors and the rest of the economy, helping to make growth broader and more inclusive.

Sources: Lall 1995, Pletcher 1991, Simeh and Ahmad 2001, Malaysia Palm Oil Board 2013, ILO 2015a.

highly attuned to labour markets.

A mismatch between labour skills and market needs often results from limited information and coordination. To remedy this, several countries in Asia-Pacific have launched active labour market programmes that reduce labour market failures, and promote efficiency, equity, growth and social justice.⁴⁸ They train young people in ways that go beyond traditional education, help young entrepreneurs launch their businesses, and guide low-skilled workers in the informal sector to find better jobs in the formal sector.

Several countries are strengthening institutional capacities to build skills that match industry and market needs. For example, the National Technical Education and Skills Development Plan 2011-2016 in the Philippines works with secondary and tertiary schooling systems, as well as specific training and apprentice programmes in enterprises, communities

and provincial training centres. It oversees the operations of 4,540 public and private technical and vocational schools and training centres.⁴⁹

The National Skills Development Corporation, a public-private partnership in India, works to create better training capacities in a wide variety of professions. In consultation with the Ministry of Skills Development and Entrepreneurship, it provides funds, trains trainers and assists in building information systems so that private firms can strengthen staff training. It aims to train as many as 150 million people by 2022.⁵⁰

Leverage local skills through deepening global value chains:⁵¹ With the rapid growth of global value chains, more than half of East and Southeast Asia's trade now involves intermediate goods, or parts manufactured in some countries for assembly into complete products in others. Malaysia upgraded its production and export structure to include high technology, skill-intensive products Countries no longer need to produce finished goods to participate in global markets, if they can make components competitively.

While global value chains unleash new opportunities in niche markets, not all countries are taking full advantage of them. Countries in Central Asia, South Asia and the Pacific need to further deepen production networks, including by building trade links based on local labour market skills and available technology. Leveraging local expertise could spur industrialization and job creation in new areas, and enhance labour competitiveness.

MOBILIZE AND UTILIZE SAVINGS

Savings are a powerful instrument to magnify the demographic dividend, with the right policy instruments in place. Maximizing the contribution of savings requires effective collection and mobilization, as well as a stronger environment for investment.

Mobilize savings from all households: The national savings rate, while high in some Asia-Pacific countries, varies considerably across the region, in part due to the fact that many people do not have access to financial institutions. In East Asia and the Pacific, 55 percent of people hold an account at a financial institution, while in South Asia, the share is only 35 percent.⁵² This often means that the poor in particular have less cash in times of distress, making them more vulnerable to shocks, whether from economic crisis, a job loss or a health emergency. Other losses come when the financial sector is unable to use these savings for productive investments.

The most common reasons for not having a bank account include lack of money, and the expense of opening and maintaining an account.⁵³ Other barriers comprise lack of trust and regulatory obstacles, knowledge gaps, social constraints and behavioural biases.⁵⁴ The distance to financial institutions, especially for people in rural areas, is an important factor too.

Bank expansion in rural India from 1977 to 1990 led to an increase in poorer people saving and contributed to a 2.2 percent reduction of rural poverty.⁵⁵ While opening new branches in remote locations can be a costly disincentive for banks, technology can now play a big role in boosting access. Mobile banking is picking up in South Asia, where more people are using telebanking services to deposit and transfer money, make payments, receive remittances and collect social security benefits. Kiosks in some cases allow people to convert their cash to electronic money.⁵⁶

Financial literacy and education could support the extension and use of financial services. Hardly any country, except Japan, has financial education in its school curriculum. National surveys of target groups—such as youth and women—will help understand their specific needs and challenges. A national strategy for financial literacy could guide this process, but only a few Asia-Pacific countries have these, such as India, Indonesia and Japan.⁵⁷

Effectively collect and use tax revenues: Tax revenues are expected to increase during demographic transition, given a larger working-age population, but poor tax administration remains a challenge. A majority of countries in South Asia and East Asia are unable to effectively collect taxes due to corruption, tax evasion, lack of transparent collection systems and inadequate technology, among other factors. Personal income taxes remain a small portion of total tax revenues, although there is significant potential for this to increase while the demographic window is still open. With the exception of a few countries, including Mongolia, Viet Nam and some Pacific island states, a majority of countries need to undertake major reforms to boost their capacities to generate tax revenues.

Having a wider tax base may be opportune for governments to build long-term capital, such as by investing in pension schemes and public infrastructure. Early investment in national pension systems will give the current working-age population enough time to save and support themselves when they retire, and will limit future fiscal burdens. Building infrastructure within and across national boundaries can forge economic links and foster industrial growth while achieving goals such as inclusive access and environmental sustainability. Many cities still require efficient systems for transport and energy, which contribute to economic and environmental aims as well as higher quality of life. Industrialization, innovation and development

Financial literacy and education support savings and investment in productive sectors of resilient infrastructure are joint targets in the Sustainable Development Goals.

With the demographic window open for most Asia-Pacific countries from 2015 to 2030, governments will have greater room to implement all aspects of the goals, which span that period. Addressing challenges related to poverty, inequality, human development, and environmental sustainability now will better prepare countries for the time when the demographic window closes, populations age, tax revenues shrink, and there is greater pressure on public budgets due to expenditures on health care, social security, pensions and old-age support.

Strengthen financial services and markets: The propensity to save in Asia-Pacific does not translate into commensurately high investments—at least at home. Asian countries are net lenders to global financial markets, in part because of their own weak financial infrastructure.

Financial markets are not diversified, and banks continue to be leading lenders to the private sector. Many countries have large numbers of state-owned banks—their share of banking assets is 75 percent in India, 50 percent in Indonesia and 35 percent in Bangladesh. These banks tend to operate with very low levels of efficiency, and corrupt lending practices can be widespread. China's experience, however, shows that state-owned banks can be reformed into highly profitable enterprises, including through injections of government capital, the off-loading of bad loans to asset management companies and the revamping of staffing to increase operational efficiency.⁵⁸

The region in general needs to widen the availability of financial instruments for channelling savings into investment. An important avenue could be bond markets, which can have particular value for businesses as well as municipalities aiming to keep up with rapid urbanization and expansion of infrastructure and services. These markets are still mostly underdeveloped, aside from a few countries/ territories, such as Hong Kong, China (SAR); the Republic of Korea and Singapore. Removing impediments to bond markets and institutional investors will be critical next steps. Ongoing initiatives to strengthen regional bond markets include the Asian Bond Funds Project of the Executives' Meeting of East Asia and Pacific Central Banks and the Asian Bond Market Initiative of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations Plus Three (ASEAN+3).

When there are limited options for debt finance, an alternative is to raise funds through equity finance provided by investors. This option is still at a nascent stage in most Asia-Pacific countries, although with signs of growth as more firms and investors see the possibility of higher returns. Foreign and domestic investors in China and India are now more aware of market conditions and more disciplined, both of which influence their investment choices. Growing political stability in the region positively sways foreign investors.⁵⁹

While stronger financial markets could help firms expand by providing better access to financing, and offer savers new ways to earn higher returns on their investments, effective and prudent legal and regulatory mechanisms need to be in place. These should take account of risks and benefits for businesses and economies, as well as for human well-being and environmental sustainability. The regulatory framework should be geared towards monitoring innovations in financial markets in real time, given experiences in the recent financial crisis.

Part of this process could involve engaging with banking and financial services actors to agree on minimum standards for investments and financial services that are consistent with human development. Particular instruments could be designed for economically and ecologically sound infrastructure that also delivers a plethora of decent jobs, for instance. In developing the market for public bonds, the financial services industry could work with municipalities to help them prepare for the process and establish needed capabilities, such as in risk management and project preparation.⁶⁰ Asia-Pacific needs effective bond markets to channel savings into investment

THE COMING DEMOGRAPHIC WINDOW

Most Asia-Pacific countries today have entered or are on the verge of demographic transition. The next few decades will bring a unique opportunity to foster human development, including through the demographic dividend. But a rise in the working-age population does not guarantee this. Countries need to provide enough decent work, stimulate their economies so that growth is inclusive, and ensure people have capabilities, opportunities and freedom to progress in their lives, including through protection of their rights as workers.

Although much of the responsibility for reaping the demographic dividend lies with governments, as they can steer the process, many more actors need to be involved. Governments will need to work with private actors to support the creation of businesses and employment, with financial institutions on productive uses of savings that contribute to human development and the Sustainable Development Goals, and with individuals and firms to build skills and productivity.

The next chapter looks at countries in Asia-Pacific that are still relatively young and at an early stage of demographic transition. If countries adequately prepare their children and youth, especially in terms of health care and education, they will effectively enlarge opportunities to capture the demographic divided. More than ever before, youth deserve the highest priority, since the opportunities of demographic transition are historic—and may never come again.

Chapter 3

NURTURING CHILDREN, UNLOCKING THE POTENTIAL OF YOUTH

3. NURTURING CHILDREN, UNLOCKING THE POTENTIAL OF YOUTH

One of the greatest challenges facing Asia-Pacific today is how to improve the lives and well-being of its large number of children and youth. The region has 1.7 billion young people under age 25, over half the global total, and their role in the region and the world beyond cannot be overemphasized. They are the next generation of workers, scientists, innovators, entrepreneurs and political leaders. Fully developing their potential and ensuring they have opportunities to thrive will be critical to accelerating human development and realizing the demographic dividend.

Much will depend on the expansion of capabilities and choices for children and youth at all stages along the path to adulthood (Box 3.1). From the start of life, children need care and protection to survive and establish a foundation for well-being. As they grow, they should enjoy equitable access to quality education and health care that equips them to eventually transition into a successful adulthood, including through decent employment and meaningful participation in the decisions that shape their societies. East Asia achieved an economic growth miracle and higher levels of human development in part due to strong early investments in education and health.¹ South and South-east Asia and the Pacific could now position themselves to follow this path.²

Not doing so poses certain risks. These arise in terms of lost potential, with impacts that could ripple through decades to come. Commitments to young people would be undercut, including those made in Agenda 2030 and the Sustainable Development Goals as well as the Convention on the Rights of the Child. The possibility of weaker social cohesion and stability is another concern, particularly for countries with a youth 'bulge' (Box 3.2). Right now, youth unemployment is high and rising—in many Asia-Pacific countries, it is two to three times higher than the adult rate. Young people who feel directionless, with few options to change their situation, can end up venting their frustration through violent means.³

Priority investments in children and youth depend to some extent on the stage of demographic transition. For countries that have not yet embarked on transition, a concerted emphasis on early childhood survival can start the process of falling mortality and fertility rates. Countries already in or on the cusp of transition-as is the case for most in the Asia-Pacific region-need an additional strong focus on high-quality education and health care for young people. They need to plan now to ensure that enough jobs will be available as today's students become tomorrow's much larger number of workers. More openness to youth participation in civic and political affairs recognizes that youth have a right to participate, and can offer unique and valuable insights.

Right now, with the largest number of young population in its history, Asia-Pacific has a choice. It can provide more and better quality education, health, employment and participation to its young people. Or it can fail a generation—and miss a tremendous demographic opportunity.

HOME TO MORE THAN HALF THE WORLD'S CHILDREN AND YOUTH

Globally, the number of people below the age of 25 increased from 1.33 billion in 1950 to 3.11 billion in 2015 (Figure 3.1), but the rate of expansion has declined since 1990. By 2050, the number will increase to only about 3.4 billion. Young people's share of total population rose from 53 percent in 1950 to 56 percent in 1975, slipping since to 42 percent in 2015. It is projected to decline further to 35 percent by 2050 (Figure 3.2).

Asia-Pacific today has 1.7 billion young people under age 25, with 990 million children under age 15, and 670 million youth aged 15-24. More than half the young people alive in the world can be found in the region. Its share of young people within its own population, however, is lower than all other developing regions, at 40 percent, and will likely drop to 30 percent by 2050. By 2065, since Africa's fertility rates will likely remain high, the number of young people there will exceed that of Asia-Pacific for the first time in recent history.

The number of young people has declined in Asia-Pacific since 2005. In East Asia, it has fallen since 1990, starting as early as 1955 in Japan and 1985 in the Republic of Korea. Decreases have been well underway in the Islamic Republic of Iran, Myanmar and Viet Nam since 2000, and Bangladesh and Malaysia since 2010. South Asia will reach its peak of young people around 2025, so prioritizing the needs of children and youth are of foremost importance. Oceania is still relatively young, with positive growth of the young population projected to about 2050.

The share of young people in Asia-Pacific reached a peak of 59 percent in the early 1970s, before beginning a descent to 40 percent in 2015. Shares vary by subregion, from 48 percent in South Asia to 30 percent in East Asia, with the latter expected to fall to 23 percent by 2050.⁴ It will then rank lowest among the world's regions, including Europe and North America. All Asia-Pacific subregions will be below the world average of 35 percent by 2050, a major policy concern, indicating a shrinking pool of workers and an ageing population (Figure 3.2).

In nine countries or territories, young people are currently less than a third of the total population—Australia; China; Hong Kong, China (SAR); Japan; Macau, China (SAR); Republic of Korea; Singapore; Taiwan Province of China and Thailand. For 14 other countries, the share tops 50 percent—Afghanistan, Cambodia, Federated States of Micronesia, Kiribati, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Nepal, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Timor-Leste, Tonga and Vanuatu. The second group are on the cusp of the demographic

Asia-Pacific is home to 1.7 billion young people under the age of 25

BOX 3.1: Who are the young?

There is no universal definition of the 'young' or 'youth', as these terms usually refer to a more fluid category than a fixed age group. A young population is commonly defined as one with a relatively high proportion of children, adolescents and young adults. Youth is usually understood as the period between the age of leaving compulsory education and finding first employment. Different countries and organizations, however, assign diverse meanings to these concepts.

The United Nations defines 'youth' as persons be-

tween 15 and 24 years of age. Several Asia-Pacific countries have alternative definitions—India, for example, in its 2014 National Youth Policy, defines youth as those between 15 and 29 years of age.

Since varying terms make it difficult to effectively discuss challenges and opportunities related to youth across countries, this report generally adopts the United Nations definition of young people as those comprising ages 0 to 24. They fall in two sub-groups: namely, children aged 0 to 14 and youth aged 15 to 24. transition. Only Timor-Leste's share will remain relatively high, at more than 50 percent, in 2050.

impetus for human development, but depends largely on expanding constrained capacities to provide basic health and education services, and decent jobs and livelihoods.

Many countries with the largest portions of youth today are among the poorest nations. Demographic transition could provide critical

FIGURE 3.1: The world has a record number of young people, but the rate of growth has slowed



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

FIGURE 3.2: The share of young people in total population is on the decline





Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

The term 'youth bulge' was coined by a German social scientist, Gunnar Heinsohn, in the mid-1990s, but has gained greater currency in recent years. It refers to a significant increase in the number of adolescents and young adults as well as a rise in their share of the total population. Some scholars have described a youth bulge as occurring when 20 percent or more of a population is aged 15 to 24. It is also measured as the ratio of the population aged 15 to 24 to the population aged 15 to 64.

The youth bulge usually occurs about 20 years after the onset of fertility decline. In Asia-Pacific as a region, it took place about 30 years ago, when the share of youth in the total population reached a peak of 21 percent in 1985. It had declined to 16 percent in 2015, and is projected to fall further to 12 percent by 2050.

The timing of the peak in the share of youth in a population differs widely among Asia-Pacific countries. In Japan and the Democratic People's Republic of Korea, the youth bulge occurred in the 1960s, and in Singapore; Hong Kong, China (SAR) and the Republic of Korea in the 1970s. By contrast, in Afghanistan and Timor-Leste,³³ the shares have not yet reached their highest levels. Further, even though the largest share of youth occurred a few decades back in most Asia-Pacific countries, 21 out 37 countries have yet to achieve the peak in terms of their numbers of youth.

Source: Omoju and Abraham 2014, Huntington 1996, UN DESA 2015a.

EDUCATION IS THE PATH TO THE FUTURE

Education embodies human capabilities and skills. It is a human right as well as an essential component of human development and a thriving economy. Investing in education helps countries build labour skills, and move towards producing more sophisticated and economically rewarding products and services. In the 2015 World We Want survey conducted by the United Nations for the formulation of the Sustainable Development Goals, education was ranked as the number one area for development investment, not only in Asia-Pacific, but in the world as whole.⁵ More than 8 million people voted for education as key to a future that is equitable, sustainable and prosperous.⁶

Encouraged by the Millennium Development Goals, Asia-Pacific countries made significant progress in strengthening education systems and getting more children, particularly girls, to school. In enrolment and gender parity in primary education, a majority of countries in the region were early achievers. Progress has been mixed when it comes to higher levels of education as well as retention of students, however.

Disparities persist across subregions, and along the lines of gender, disability and location. Many children still do not make the transition from primary to secondary, or from secondary to tertiary education, leaving them poorly equipped to negotiate labour markets and lead successful, productive adult lives. Current education and training systems have been slow to adapt to changing demands of increasingly dynamic economies, complicating the transition of young people from school to work. Children and youth need to not only go to school and remain there, but also to emerge with both the knowledge and the skills to thrive in today's world.

This is not an easy process in a region with 1.7 billion people under age 25. Education systems are under tremendous pressure to expand. But they need to rise to this challenge in order to maximize the demographic dividend.

Commendable progress in education made Asia-Pacific an early achiever of the MDGs

LAYING A FOUNDATION FOR LIFE: PRE-PRIMARY SCHOOL

Pre-primary education for children from age three to the official primary school entry age plays a critical role at a time when children's brains are rapidly developing. Children become more independent and confident, and are likely to perform better throughout the course of their education and in employment.⁷ A recent study by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) found that in 58 out of 65 countries, 15-year-old students who attended at least a year of pre-primary school outperformed students who did not, even after allowing for differences in socioeconomic background.⁸

Globally, pre-primary education has expanded from 112 million children in 1999 to 184 million in 2013, equivalent to an increase in the gross enrolment ratio from 33 percent to 54 percent (Table 3.1). Across Asia-Pacific, the rate of progress has been uneven, with relatively faster progress in East Asia and Oceania. While the enrolment rate has more than doubled or almost doubled in many countries, over half of

young children in about a third of the region's countries still do not receive pre-primary education (Annex Table 16).

Bhutan, Cambodia, Fiji and Timor-Leste had pre-primary enrolment rates below 20 percent in 2013. At the opposite end of the spectrum, Viet Nam achieved an 81 percent share, while Australia; Hong Kong, China (SAR); Papua New Guinea and Thailand had attained 100 percent (Annex Table 16).

Rural-urban and other geographical disparities are noticeable in many countries, since governments generally have yet to assume sufficient responsibility for pre-primary education. The cost of private provision contributes in large part to major disparities between the richest and poorest children. In Indonesia, 99 percent of kindergartens are privately run, likely accounting for huge variations in enrolment rates across provinces.9 Some middle-income countries have lower participation than poor countries-in 2013, the Islamic Republic of Iran sent 42 percent of children to pre-primary education, compared with 85 percent in Nepal,¹⁰ suggesting a strong policy commitment and state support in the latter.

Enrolment in pre-primary school varies regionally, due to cost and policy preferences

TABLE 3.1:Progress on pre-primary education has been mixed

	Gross enro	olment ratio	Enrolment nur	nber (millions)	Gender parity index	
	1999	2013	2013	% change since 1999	1999	2013
East Asia	37	74	39	54	0.98	1.01
South-east Asia	35	60	14	68	0.99	1.02
South Asia	22	55	54*	150*	0.94	1.02
Oceania/Pacific small island developing states	37	72*	0.2*	120*	0.98	0.99*
Arab States	15	27	4	95	0.79	0.97
Central Asia	22	35	2	44	0.95	1.00
Central and Eastern Europe	52	74	12	31	0.96	0.98
Latin America and the Caribbean	54*	76*	19	21	1.01	1.00
Sub-Saharan Africa	11	19	13	136	0.96	1.03
North America and Western Europe	75	84	22	15	0.98	0.99
World	33	54	184	64	0.97	1.00

Note: * Data ranging from 2012 or older.

CLOSING IN ON UNIVERSAL PRIMARY EDUCATION

Asia-Pacific has made significant progress towards universal primary education—enrolling approximately 91 percent of children aged 5 to 12 in 2013, comparable to levels in North America, but beneath those in Europe. Net enrolment rates ranged from close to 88 percent in the Pacific to 97 percent in East Asia. South Asia, which had enrolment rates of 78 percent in 1999, had almost achieved universality by 2013 (Table 3.2). Though both East Asia and South-east Asia have seen little progress since 2000, they were already close to universality. Only a few countries remain below 90 percent: Federated States of Micronesia, Nauru, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands.¹¹

Globally, improvements in gender parity have been substantial (Table 3.2).¹² Among all regions, only the Pacific small island developing states, the Arab States and sub-Saharan Africa have yet to achieve parity, but they too have registered significant progress since 1999. More than 20 Asia-Pacific countries in the region had reached gender parity by 2013.¹³ Only Afghanistan, with a net enrolment rate for girls of 64 percent,¹⁴ and Pakistan of 66 percent¹⁵ still have large gender gaps.

Once children are enrolled in primary school, an additional challenge is to keep them there. Globally, the number of children without primary education fell by almost half in the last decade. In 1999, South Asia and sub-Saharan Africa accounted for three-quarters of the world's out-of-school population of 106 million. Since then, South Asia has achieved the fastest decline of all regions, cutting by more than half the number out of school.¹⁶ Nonetheless, more than 10 million children in South Asia and 17 million children across Asia-Pacific are still not in primary school. While 98 percent of children in East Asia complete primary school, only 64 percent do in South Asia, and 51 percent in Pacific small island developing countries (Table 3.3). Reasons for leaving school can include pressure to work in impoverished families or a perception that schools are poor in quality and limited in relevance. A high risk of illiteracy is one of many damaging consequences.

Apart from education being accessible, the quality at all levels is also crucial, as some pol-

Quality primary education mitigates the risk of illiteracy

TABLE 3.2:	
All regions have reached or are close to achieving universal prim	ary education

	Adjusted Enrolme	E	nrolment num	ber (millions)	Gender parity index		
	1999	2013	1999	2013	Change (%)	1999	2013
East Asia	95	97	146	104	-29	1.00	1.00
South-east Asia	93	94	69	69	0	0.98	1.00
South Asia	78	94	155	196	26	0.82	1.00
Oceania/Pacific small island developing states	72	88	1	2	100	0.87	0.94
Arab States	80	88	35	43	23	0.9	0.97
Central Asia	94	94	7	5	-28	0.99	0.99
Latin America and the Caribbean	94	93	70	65	-7	0.97	1.00
Sub-Saharan Africa	59	80	83	148	78	0.88	0.94
Europe	96	98	43	38	-12	1.00	1.00
North America	95	93	53	52	-2	0.99	1.0
World	84	91	653	713	9	0.93	0.9

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

Note: The adjusted enrolment rate includes primary school age students who have reached secondary education earlier due to promotion or other reasons.

icy makers have now recognized. For example, India's 12th Five Year Plan report notes, "Poor quality of education resulting in weak learning outcomes at each stage of education is the central challenge facing the Indian education sector today."17 Around half of children in India reach the end of primary school without being able to read at an appropriate level or solve simple math problems.¹⁸ These deficits have occurred despite improvements in the reach of educational systems. In rural areas, poor quality has promoted an increase in the enrolment of children aged 6-14 in private schools, from 18.7 percent in 2006 to 29 percent in 2013.¹⁹ Parents who can afford it typically move their children to private schools.²⁰

SECONDARY SCHOOL OPENS OPTIONS, BUT IS NOT ALWAYS AVAILABLE

Primary school is only a first step towards an education that equips young people to successfully live and work, and break the cycle of poverty otherwise transmitted across generations. Secondary education offers a bridge to further learning and more options for employment. It increases skills and capacities to compete in a globalized world. With nearly universal primary education in Asia-Pacific, the number of children seeking secondary education has increased in recent years. Many countries now face a twin challenge of both achieving and sustaining universal primary education, and scaling up enrolment in secondary school.

Secondary education has expanded rapidly in recent years in Asia-Pacific, as in other world regions. Globally, the gross enrolment ratio had reached 75 percent by 2013, up from 59 percent in 1999. Progress was somewhat faster in East Asia and South Asia, albeit with the rate of expansion greater for lower secondary education, for students aged 12 to 14, than for overall secondary education. At 100 percent and

TABLE 3.3: Despite progress, millions of children still do not complete primary school

		Survival rate to the last grade of primary education (%)		Out-of-school children in primary education (in millions)			Share of out-of-school girls in total (%)	
	1999	2012	1999	2012	Percentage change	1999	2012	
East Asia	89	98	7	3	-60	47	45	
South-east Asia	78	85	5	4	-17	54	49	
South Asia	64	64	37	10	-73	66	48	
Pacific small island developing states	55	51	0.4	0.2	-42	54	55	
Arab States	82	83	8	4	-43	59	58	
Central Asia	97	98	0	0	-22	52	52	
Latin America and the Caribbean	77	77	4	4	-6	58	47	
Sub-Saharan Africa	58	58	42	30	-30	54	56	
Europe	95	95	2	1	-54	50	42	
North America	82	87	3	3	20	54	46	
World	75	75	106	58	-45	58	53	

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

Many countries now face a twin challenge of sustaining universal primary education and scaling up secondary schooling

TABLE 3.4: Enrolment in secondary education has seen a rapid rise

	Sec	Lower ondary (%)	Sec	Upper ondary (%)	Sec	All ondary (%)	
	1999	2013	1999	2013	1999	2013	
East Asia	77	101	40	84	60	92	
South-east Asia	68	86	38	59	55	74	
South Asia	60	81	32	54	44	66	
Pacific small island developing states	42	78	20	30	34	49	
Arab States	75	87	45	59	61	73	
Central Asia	86	96	82	104	85	98	
Latin America and the Caribbean	95	104	66	80	81	93	
Sub-Saharan Africa	30	50	21	35	26	43	
Europe	98	104	96	112	97	107	
North America	91	100	68	77	80	89	
World	71	85	46	66	59	75	

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

Note: The enrolment rate exceeds 100% when children above or below the age of secondary schooling are enrolled in secondary schooling. over, East Asia has achieved universal coverage in lower secondary education. Rates are also relatively high at about 80 percent in South-east Asia and South Asia. (Table 3.4).

Secondary education enrolments in Asia-Pacific increased from 217 million to 305 million in the last decade, with the region accounting for almost 72 percent of a global increase of over 550 million students. South Asia alone accounted for almost half of the global surge, with particularly strong progress for girls. The number of students has declined in East Asia, from 58 million to 52 million, as it is further along in the process of demographic transition and has a shrinking share of young people (Table 3.5).

Increases in upper secondary education for students aged 15-18 have occurred at faster rates than for primary or lower secondary education in Asia-Pacific, but upper secondary enrolment still lags behind, at less than 60 percent in South-east Asia and the Pacific. In most Asia-Pacific countries, rates were below the world average of 66 percent in 2013. Differences between upper and lower levels can be wide, reaching 32 percentage points in South Asia, for example. The largest increase in the upper secondary enrolment rate was in East Asia, from 40 percent in 1999 to 84

In most Asia-Pacific countries, secondary school enrolment lags behind the world average

TABLE 3.5: Asia-Pacific accounts for much of the increased number of students in secondary school

	Lower secondary (in millions)			Upper secondary (in millions)			All secondary (in millions)		
	1999	2013	Percentage change since 1999	1999	2013	Percentage change since 1999	1999	2013	Percentage change since 1999
Asia-Pacific	143	165	15	76	138	81	217	306	41
East Asia	58	52	-10	26	49	88	84	101	20
South-east Asia	25	30	20	11	16	45	36	47	30
South Asia	58	83	43	38	73	92	97	157	61
Oceania	2	2	0	2	2	0	3	4	33
Arab States	14	19	35	8	12	50	22	31	40
Central Asia	7	7	0	2	3	50	9	10	11
Latin America and the Caribbean	34	39	14	19	25	31	54	64	18
Sub-Saharan Africa	14	33	135	8	19	137	22	52	136
Europe	41	31	-24	29	28	-3	70	58	-17
North America	22	26	18	16	20	25	38	46	21
World	274	318	16	163	250	53	437	568	30

percent in 2013, while the Pacific has attained only 30 percent. Only a handful of Asia-Pacific countries, such as Australia, Japan, Marshall Islands, New Zealand, Republic of Korea, Sri Lanka and Tokelau, have achieved universal secondary education.

Globally, the number of adolescents who are not in secondary school has fallen significantly from 98.8 million in 1999 to 65 million in 2013, largely due to progress in East Asia, where the number dropped from 15 million to 3 million, and South Asia, from 38 million to 26 million. Overall, Asia-Pacific accounts for 82 percent of the global reduction. Even so, about 26 percent of all out-of-school adolescents live in South Asia (Table 3.6).

An intensive focus on universal primary education in some countries has limited attention to issues of access, equity and quality of secondary education, which varies across income groups, gender, social groups and geography. Wealthier children are more than twice as likely to be enrolled as poorer children. Gender inequities generally operate to the disadvantage of girls, although a few countries in East Asia and the Pacific now have more girls enrolled than boys in secondary education—a reverse gender gap (Box 3.3). In Bangladesh, Cook Islands, Nauru and Samoa, fewer than 90 boys are enrolled for every 100 girls; in Bhutan, China, Fiji, Kiribati, Malaysia, Mongolia, Myanmar, Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam, the figure is about

BOX 3.3: A new kind of gender disparity

Debates on gender issues in education have generally focussed on girls' disadvantages. The emergence of boys' disadvantages in terms of enrolment and learning achievement in secondary education adds a new dimension. The reverse gender gap has been evident in developed countries since the 1990s, and is becoming increasingly common in some middle-income and low-income countries.

Over the years, the number of countries experiencing this trend has grown, and the gaps have widened. There are 54 countries where the gross

TABLE 3.6: The number of adolescents not in secondary school has fallen, but South Asia still has a large share

		lumber illions)		Rate, le and emale (%)	ł	Rate, female (%)
	1999	2013	1999	2013	1999	2013
East Asia	15.6	3.5	21	7	20	6
South-east Asia	9.5	4	26	12	25	11
South Asia	38	26	39	26	46	27
Oceania	0.24	0.05	13	3	11	3
Arab States	5	3.7	27	17	32	21
Central Asia	1	0.5	11	7	6.5	7
Latin America and the Caribbean	3.8	2.5	11	7	11	6
Sub-Saharan Africa	21	22.7	46	34	52	36
Europe	3.5	1	8	4	8	4
North America	2.7	2.1	11	8	11	8
World	99	65	26	17	28	18

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

90 to 96 boys for every 100 girls.²¹ More boys than girls are enrolled in secondary education in Afghanistan, India, Lao People's Democratic Republic and Pakistan.

Parallel secondary school systems have sprung up in a number of countries. One type, mostly private, offers challenging and dynamic In 17 Asia-Pacific countries, boys are disadvantaged in secondary enrolment and learning achievement

enrolment ratio in secondary education favours girls, and 17 where there are fewer than 90 boys for every 100 girls. While Bangladesh is the sole low-income country experiencing this phenomenon, there are 17 lower-middle-income countries on the list. Among all such countries, 21 are in Latin America and the Caribbean, and 17 in Asia-Pacific.

Male disadvantage in education is complex and not well documented. Strategies that work at primary level are not necessarily effective at secondary level, as expectations vary among age groups. courses, advanced labs and facilities, well-qualified teachers, strong student engagement and active parental involvement with an eye towards preparing students for college and successful careers. The other system, mostly public, suffers from low student academic achievement, a seeming inability to instil in students a belief in the possibility of their societal success, and few expectations that students will even complete high school, much less enrol in college. The growth in the number of secondary schools over the last decade has occurred primarily among private schools, which now represent about a third of the region's secondary schools.²²

While the quality of secondary education remains a serious issue, secondary school students in East Asia continue to outperform their peers in other regions of the world on international standardized tests, capturing top scores and exceeding Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD) averages. For example, in the 2012 Programme for International Student Achievement test, the top five scores globally belonged to countries in East Asia (Box 3.4).

TERTIARY EDUCATION REMAINS LIMITED IN SCOPE AND QUALITY

A strong tertiary education is essential to build a modern, technologically advanced economy.²³ Having more people with advanced training and degrees improves competitiveness, providing professional, technical and managerial skills, many of which are increasingly critical in the shift to knowledge economies.²⁴

Globally, tertiary education has experienced explosive growth, with the number of students enrolled increasing from 95 million in 1999 to around 199 million in 2013, a 109 percent increase. Asia-Pacific's enrolment grew faster than in any other region, from about 30 million tertiary students in 1999 to over 96 million in 2013, a more than three-fold increase. This was driven by a 290 percent jump in East Asia and a 245 percent rise in South Asia. Asia-Pacific now accounts for nearly half of the world's students in higher education. While women globally account for 51 percent of students enrolled in tertiary education, however, Asia-Pacific has one of the lowest shares of any region at 49 percent, falling to 46 percent in South Asia (Table 3.7).

Despite rapid growth in tertiary education in absolute numbers across regions since 1999, less than a third of potential students have access to it. In Asia-Pacific, the rate is less than 30 percent, compared to around two-thirds in

Strong tertiary education is a building block for a modern, technologically advanced economy

BOX 3.4: Ranking at the top of the world

Educational achievement globally can be compared using data from the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA), an international assessment conducted by the OECD to measure 15-year-old students' reading, mathematics and science ability. It does not test the curriculum of a particular country, but the ability of students to apply skills to situations outside of school, placing "an emphasis on functional knowledge and skills."

The test assesses more than half a million students across 65 countries/territories. In 2015, the OECD published the biggest ever global school ranking, bringing together a number of international assessments. Singapore took the lead, followed by Hong Kong, China (SAR); the Republic of Korea; Japan and Taiwan Province of China. Finland ranked sixth, while the United States came in 28th. African countries dominated the bottom rankings.

Possible reasons for the outstanding performance of several Asia-Pacific countries could be the way teachers are trained, the amount of homework, out-of-school tuition, competitive testing and parental encouragement. Cultural values may play a role, since, in Western countries, grandchildren of immigrants from high-performing Asia-Pacific countries do equally well on the PISA even with a Western education.

TABLE 3.7:Enrolment in tertiary education in Asia-Pacifichas grown faster than in any other region

	All (n	nillions)		hare of les (%)	Percentage change 1999-2013
	1999	2013	1999	2013	
Asia-Pacific	31	96	42	49	209
East Asia	10	39	39	50	290
South-east Asia	9	17	49	52	89
South Asia	11	38	38	46	245
Oceania	1	2	55	57	100
Arab States	5	9	44	50	80
Central Asia	1	2	50	52	100
Latin America and the Caribbean	11	24	54	56	118
Sub-Saharan Africa	2	7	40	41	250
Europe	25	31	54	54	24
North America	18	27	55	56	50
World	95	199	49	51	109

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

Europe, North America and Oceania (Table 3.8). Among countries in Asia-Pacific, the range is very wide, from 98 percent in the Republic of Korea to 4 percent in Afghanistan; generally, access is expanding more rapidly in high- and middle-income countries (Figure 3.3).

The profile of tertiary students is undergoing considerable change, as traditionally excluded groups now participate, and older individuals seek to upgrade their qualifications. At the same time, access is undercut by disparities, often accumulating at lower levels of education. By and large, an advanced degree remains a privilege of the rich and middle class, and serves to maintain gaps in income. In Viet Nam, for example, 52 percent of young adults from the top quintile have attended higher education, compared to only 4 percent of those from the lowest quintile. In Bangladesh and Cambodia, less than one percent of young adults from households in the poorest quintile have ever attended higher education.²⁵ In India, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam, rising wage inequalities are closely linked to widening wage gaps between people with tertiary education and those at lower levels of schooling.²⁶ Without intervention, today's inequalities in education will become tomorrow's

> interventions, today's educational inequalities will become tomorrow's inequalities in wealth and human development

Without appropriate

TABLE 3.8: Less than a third of potential students have access to tertiary education

		All (%)	Female (%) Ma		Male (%)	%) Gender parity		
	1999	2012	1999	2012	1999	2012	1999	2012
East Asia	10	29	8	30	11	28	0.7	1.1
South-east Asia	18	30	18	31	18	28	1	1.1
South Asia	8	23	6	20	10	25	0.6	0.8
Oceania	46	61	51	71	41	51	1.3	1.4
Arab States	19	26	17	27	20	25	0.8	1.1
Central Asia	20	25	20	26	20	23	1	1.1
Latin America and the Caribbean	21	43	23	48	20	38	1.2	1.3
Sub-Saharan Africa	4	8	3	6	5	10	0.7	0.6
Europe	48	69	53	77	44	61	1.2	1.3
North America	48	64	53	73	42	55	1.3	1.3
World	18	32	18	33	18	31	1	1.1

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

FIGURE 3.3: Access to tertiary education is expanding faster in wealthier countries



Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

Despite gender parity in tertiary education in many Asia-Pacific countries, women are underrepresented in science and engineering

FIGURE 3.4: Women still tend to study in traditional fields



Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

inequalities in the distribution of wealth and wider opportunities for human development.

Globally, gender parity has been achieved in tertiary education, and remarkably, female enrolment is higher than male enrolment in some regions, including East Asia and South-east Asia. In South Asia, male enrolment is much higher, but with a trend towards parity. Women still tend to be underrepresented in science and engineering, however, and 'overrepresented' in more 'traditionally feminine' areas such as education and health (Figure 3.4).²⁷ Since scientists and engineers are likely to be paid more than teachers and nurses, this will continue to aggravate wage disparities. Factors behind women's underrepresentation in scientific fields including poor career counselling, lack of role models, negative attitudes from families and cultural norms.28

Despite rapid expansion, tertiary education systems in Asia-Pacific are not equipped to meet demand, as reflected in an enrolment rate for upper secondary education that is twice that of tertiary institutions. Without significant, Higher education increasingly became a global market in the 1990s, and universities are now subject to global rankings. The best known are the Shanghai Jiaotong University and the Times Higher Education rankings, which apply criteria involving teaching, research, knowledge transfer and international outlook. While there are many critiques of these rankings, they appear set to stay, underlining that universities in Asia-Pacific will have to compete to attract the best students and best-qualified faculty from across the world.

The 2014-2015 Times Higher Education rankings showed that the United States dominates in the best higher education institutions, with 74 institutions in the top 200. The United Kingdom ranks second with 29, Germany third with 12 and the Netherlands fourth with 11. North America and Europe together account for 167 universities in the top 200. Though almost half of the world's higher education students are located in Asia-Pacific, the region is struggling to gain high rankings. Only a few countries in the region have universities in the top 200 category: Australia with 8; Japan with 5; the Republic of Korea with 4; Hong Kong, China (SAR) with 4; China with 3; Singapore with 2 and New Zealand with 1. The poor performance of universities in South and South-east Asia is not surprising. Higher education institutions in Asia-Pacific as a whole, including the famed Indian Institutes of Technology, have primarily been teaching centres. Only recently have some begun to focus more on research. Most universities in the region do not have separate categories of teaching and research staff. Attempts to improve higher education have been characterized by overregulation, which has proved counterproductive, particularly in terms of innovation.

Poor quality in higher education propels many young people to study elsewhere. Students from Asia comprise a significant proportion of the total international student body in North America, Europe and Oceania. Some universities from developed countries, including Australia, Canada, the United Kingdom and the United States, are increasingly establishing foreign branch campuses in Asian developing countries. The aim is to provide access to Asian students who otherwise may not be able to afford an overseas study experience.

Sources: Welch 2011.

urgent investment, this situation may worsen, as the middle class expands from 525 million in 2009 to 3.2 billion in 2030.²⁹ With many able to pay for education, they may increasingly look to private institutions, as is already happening. Another driver of demand will be the need to boost productivity, given ageing populations. These issues will require transformational change in tertiary education at a pace and scale never seen before (Box 3.5).

Beyond access, there are issues of affordability, quality and accountability in higher education. Expansion has been uneven and inconsistently regulated, boosting accessibility, but not necessarily excellence or equity. The quality of learning, teaching, research and innovation have not kept pace in general, even as some Asia-Pacific countries top global higher education rankings. In many Asia-Pacific countries, rapid expansion of enrolment in combination with budget constraints has resulted in an increase in student-faculty ratios and erosion of the quality of library and laboratory facilities. Consequently, the quality of higher education has declined.³⁰

YOUTH ILLITERACY REMAINS AN OBSTACLE

The global number of illiterate young people declined from 139 million in 1999 to 126 million in 2012, but youth illiteracy is quite widespread in the region (Table 3.9). Around 175 million young people in low- and lower-middle-income countries—around a quarter of the youth population—cannot read all or part of a sentence, implying they are functionally illiterate.³¹ Among illiterate youth, young women comprise 61 percent (Table 3.15).

Literacy rates for youth aged 15 to 24 have improved everywhere; globally, the rate increased from 87 percent to 90 percent in the last decade. The future of the region depends on eliminating youth illiteracy and associated gender disparities

TABLE 3.9:

Youth illiteracy has fallen but affects a quarter of young people globally

	Millions		Female (%)	
	1999	2012	1999	2012
East Asia	2.3	0.9	64	54
South-east Asia	3.9	2.9	53	51
South Asia	76.1	62.1	63	64
Pacific small island developing states	0.4	0.4	53	42
Arab States	9.6	6.9	65	64
Central Asia	0	0	39	34
Latin America and the Caribbean	3.8	2.4	45	45
Sub-Saharan Africa	43.1	50.6	61	59
Europe	0.4	0.3	46	46
North America	1.6	1.6	50	50
World	138.9	125.6	62	61

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

TABLE 3.10: All world regions have made significant progress on literacy rates

	Youth literacy		Adult	literacy
%	1999	2013	1999	2013
East Asia	99	100	91	95
South-east Asia	96	97	90	93
South Asia	74	84	59	67
Pacific small island developing states	75	77	67	71
Arab States	83	90	67	78
Central Asia	100	100	99	100
Latin America and the Caribbean	96	97	90	92
Sub-Saharan Africa	69	71	57	60
Europe	100	100	99	99
North America	98	98	96	96
World	87	90	82	85

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

Large disparities persist in Asia-Pacific as a whole, but there has been significant improvement in South Asia, with the rate rising from 74 percent to 84 percent over the last decade. Even so, the subregion is still home to more than half of illiterate people globally and confronts some of the worst gender disparities. More modest progress has unfolded in the Pacific, while the literacy rate is already very high at 97 percent or more in East Asia and South-east Asia (Table 3.10).

In Afghanistan, Pakistan and Papua New Guinea, more than a fourth of youth are not literate; in 16 other countries, all youth were literate in 2015.³² Literacy rates in the region are generally higher among youth than adults, and gender disparities are less for young women, indicating progress over time. Except for Afghanistan, almost all Asia-Pacific countries have achieved or are close to gender parity in youth literacy.

CHILD LABOUR STILL DEPRIVES MILLIONS OF EDUCATION

According to the United Nations Children's Fund (UNICEF), 11 percent of children around the world, some 168 million, are trapped in child labour.³³ This violates their rights and embodies a tragic loss of human potential. The phenomenon signifies "a denial of their freedom in childhood, denial of their dignity, and their development for the future—including education and health," as noted by 2014 Nobel Peace Prize Laureate Kailash Satyarthi.³⁴

Although child labour has been on the decline in Asia-Pacific, the region still has the largest numbers of child labourers, at almost 78 million, or 9.3 percent of the child population. Sub-Saharan Africa has the highest proportion of child labourers, at over 21 percent, or 59 million in total numbers.³⁵ Within Asia-Pacific, around 69 percent of child labourers are found in agriculture, while 22 percent work in services, including as domestic helpers, and 7 percent in industry.³⁶ A large number are also in bonded employment or other forms of modern-day slavery.

The prevalence of child labour is a paradox, given that Asia-Pacific has a surge of youth who are available and looking for employment.
Unfortunately, informal businesses and small shops often employ children because they are cheaper and less likely to raise questions around benefits or the nature of the work, among other reasons. Poverty forces many children to work for their families. Whatever the cause, early involvement in child labour results in lower educational attainment, and later a struggle to find decent employment,³⁷ with a strong risk of being trapped in a cycle of poverty and deprivation. It also negatively impacts children's health in ways that can extend into adulthood, particularly among those working in hazardous conditions.

Since child labour is a complex phenomenon, reducing it requires actions on multiple fronts, including education, health, labour markets, social security and economic policy. Income support to vulnerable families, more accessible and higher quality secondary education, advocacy and awareness building to educate parents, and legislation to prevent child labour (Box 3.6) are all critical.³⁸ Without implementing laws on compulsory education, the minimum wage and protection of children's rights, countries will have a more difficult task in tackling the phenomenon.

BOX 3.6: An activist calls for a complete ban on child labour

Indian child rights activist Kailash Satyarthi, the 2014 Nobel Peace Prize laureate, has demanded a complete ban on every kind of child labour. Through his Bachpan Bachao Andolon (Save the Children Movement) and the Global March against Child Labour, he has freed tens of thousands of children from forced labour and what he calls modern day slavery. His work reaches out to children forced into cheap labour in factories and menial jobs, children pledged by their parents to work off a debt, girls sold in abusive marriages and children who are trafficked.

Source: UNDP 2015a.

HEALTHY EARLY YEARS LAST A LIFETIME

The rapid biological and psychosocial changes that take place in childhood and adolescence affect every aspect of adult life, making this early period unique and important in laying the foundations for good health, both for the current generation and those to come. Health is an end in itself and a critical factor for human development as well as demographic transition, particularly as more children survive and fertility rates fall. A 1,000-day period beginning at conception and continuing into infancy is known as the age of opportunity, when sound health has a direct effect on cognitive development.³⁹

Throughout childhood, sound health supports the ability to learn and flourish. Healthy behaviours can be established, such as those around eating the right amounts of nutritious food. As children move into adolescence, they should have opportunities to develop strategies to deal with risks and conflicts, and to make healthy choices related to sexual activity, and the use of tobacco and alcohol. Countries working towards universal health coverage, in the context of Agenda 2030 and the Sustainable Development Goals, need to pay adequate attention to adolescents, since their specific needs tend to otherwise be overlooked.

As a region, Asia-Pacific has made progress on many health issues. But overall, it still struggles with stark inequalities in health outcomes, which are not only high between countries, but also within them (Table 3.11). Child mortality rates soar in poor households, in many rural areas and where mothers have more limited education. In Cambodia, Lao People's Democratic Republic and Myanmar, for example, infants in the poorest quintile of the population are three times more likely to die than those in the richest. In the Philippines, the mortality difference is six-fold between mothers with no education and those with secondary and higher education.⁴⁰

DECLINES IN INFANT MORTALITY

Improving child survival and child health is a trigger for demographic transition, underlining how countries still trailing behind need

TABLE 3.11: Child mortality rates by socioeconomic and geographic factors, selected countries and years

		I	nfant mo	ortality				U	nder-five	mortal	ity	
	Wealt	h quintile	Place of r	esidence	educa	Mother's ation level	Wealt	h quintile	Place of re	esidence	educa	Mother's ation level
	Poorest	Richest	Urban	Rural	Lowest	Highest	Poorest	Richest	Urban	Rural	Lowest	Highest
Bangladesh (2011)	50	29	42	43	55	33	64	37	50	55	71	39
Cambodia (2010)	77	23	22	64	73	31	90	30	29	75	87	35
India (2005-2006)	70	29	42	62	70	26	101	34	52	82	95	30
Indonesia (2012)	52	17	26	40	66	15	70	23	34	52	96	18
Lao People's Democratic Republic (2011-2012)	95	27	39	85	96	32	120	33	45	100	116	40
Mongolia (2010)	51	21	24	48	69	22	67	25	29	62	95	26
Myanmar (2009-2010)	49	13	25	43	43	27	62	17	29	53	51	33
Nepal (2011)	61	32	38	55	62	31	75	36	45	64	73	32
Pakistan (2012-2013)	90	44	63	88	92	30	119	48	74	106	112	36
Philippines (2008)	40	15	20	35	87	15	59	17	28	46	136	18
Solomon Islands (2006-2007)	16	23	23	27	32	28	42	33	31	38	26	33
Sri Lanka (2006-2007)	25	13	10	19	33	17	33	15	19	23	44	19
Viet Nam (2011)	23	11	13	14	23	12	28	12	15	17	29	14

Source: OECD 2014, Demographic and Health Survey (DHS) and Multiple Indicator Cluster Survey (MICS) 2005-2013.

Reductions in infant mortality helped lower fertility rates

to invest more in maternal and child health. One of the most profound indicators of child well-being is infant mortality, which captures the prevalence of premature death before age one and provides an insight into the health and nutritional condition of the next generation of primary school-age children. While infant mortality declined globally by 46 percent from 1990 to 2013, the pace of change in Asia-Pacific was more rapid, at 64 percent in East Asia and the Pacific, including South-east Asia, and 51 percent in South Asia. The number of infant deaths in the region as a whole dropped from about 5.3 million to 2.1 million.⁴¹

Countries with the greatest declines in infant mortality also saw the largest reductions in under-five mortality—including Bangladesh, China, the Maldives, Mongolia and Nepal.⁴² Despite this progress, infant mortality in the region is still six times higher than that of OECD countries, attributable to several factors, including maternal health, care at birth, and, for newborns, inadequate breastfeeding as well as susceptibility to diarrhoea, pneumonia, undernutrition and low birth weight. These are all treatable or preventable causes, suggesting that targeted health and nutritional interventions could reduce rates even further in coming years. Infant mortality numbers ranged from less than 9 per 1,000 live births in Australia, Cook Islands, Japan, Malaysia, New Zealand, Republic of Korea and Singapore, to 97 in Afghanistan and Pakistan in 2013.⁴³

The number of under-five deaths fell from 7.6 million in 1990 to 2.6 million in 2013,⁴⁴ although Asia-Pacific countries did not reach the Millennium Development Goal target of cutting the 1990 rate by two-thirds. The regional average was 41 deaths per 1,000 live births in 2012, better than the global average of 48. Progress in East Asia and the Pacific has been rapid, and considerable in South Asia, although nearly one in three under-five deaths in the world still take place there.⁴⁵ Between 1990 and 2013, nine countries that invested in early childhood interventions-Bangladesh, Bhutan, Cambodia, China, Iran, Maldives, Mongolia, Nepal and Timor-Leste—reduced child mortality by at least two-thirds.

Countries that continue to have high infant

and under-five mortality rates also have high fertility rates. When expected child survival is low, families continue to have more children, and face a lower probability of reaching their ideal family size. Afghanistan, Kiribati, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea and Vanuatu are countries facing this issue. Others have achieved low child mortality while reducing fertility rates.

HOME TO HALF THE WORLD'S STUNTED CHILDREN

Nearly half of all deaths in children under five are attributable to malnutrition—the situation is even worse for children with disabilities (Box 3.7). Poor nutrition in the first 1,000 days of a child's life can lead to stunted growth that impairs cognitive ability, and later school and work performance.⁴⁶ A child stunted by malnutrition also faces a higher risk of non-communicable illnesses such as diabetes, obesity and cardiovascular diseases.⁴⁷ If caught early enough, the impacts of stunting can be reversed, but over time, the consequences can be lifelong.

Between 1990 and 2013, stunting declined globally, from 40 percent to 25 percent of children under five. In Asia-Pacific, more than 100 million children under five are free from stunting as a result—numbers have fallen from 183 million in 1990 to 82 million in 2013. The region still accounts for half of the world's stunted children, however.48 In Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Cambodia, India, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Nepal, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea and Timor-Leste, more than 40 percent of children under five are stunted (Figure 3.5). Nepal reduced stunting by more than one-third over a little more than 15 years, albeit from excessively high levels. Stunting levels are on average twice as high in the poorest 20 percent of households compared to the richest 20 percent in Bangladesh, India, Indonesia and Nepal. Both stunting and wasting rates are higher for boys than girls.⁴⁹

Between 1990 and 2013, Asia-Pacific made significant progress in lowering the share of underweight children under five, which fell from 20 percent to just 5 percent in East Asia and the Pacific, and from 52 percent to 32 percent in South Asia. The region still accounts for

FIGURE 3.5: Malnutrition rates are generally higher in South Asian countries than East Asian ones



Note: data ranging from 2000 to 2013. Source: WHO 2016b, OECD-WHO 2014.

two-thirds of the world's underweight children, however, and leads other world regions in the share and number of low birth weight children.⁵⁰ Infants born at a low birth weight are at greater risk of death during the neonatal period. Globally, South Asia and East Asia and the Pacific in 2013 had the highest percentages of child mortality attributable to neonatal deaths.⁵¹

For the region as a whole, further progress on child nutrition depends largely on South Asia, which has the highest prevalence and greatest numbers of children under five affected by malnutrition. Reducing poverty, achieving nutrition and food security, and improving feeding practices are among the most critical issues to accelerate progress.

A stunted child faces a higher risk of non-communicable illnesses as an adult

Both malnutrition and disability are major global public health problems and key human rights concerns. Children with disabilities are among the most marginalized and excluded groups in society. Facing daily discrimination, and lack of adequate policies and legislation, they are effectively barred from realizing their rights to health care, education and even survival.

An estimated 93 million to 150 million children worldwide live with disabilities. They are often among the poorest members of the population. They are less likely to access medical services or have their voices heard. They are more likely to drop out of school than any other vulnerable group, even in countries with high primary school enrolment rates. Their disabilities place them at a higher risk of physical abuse, and often exclude them from receiving proper nutrition or humanitarian assistance in emergencies. Too few data are collected about children with disabilities, hindering appropriate interventions. Many countries have begun including children with disabilities in mainstream education, although some still favour segregation. In practice, most countries have hybrid policies and are incrementally improving inclusive practices.

Strengthening links between nutrition and disability could lead to important benefits. At numerous points throughout the life cycle, malnutrition can cause or contribute to an individual's physical, sensory, intellectual or mental health disability. By bringing work on these two issues together, some problems can be transformed into opportunities. Nutrition programmes for children can act as entry points to address and, in some cases, avoid or mitigate disability, for instance. This requires political commitment and resources, and improved collection and use of better data on disability.

Source: UNESCO 2015b, UNICEF 2015a.

Obesity is a concern especially among city-dwellers in East Asia

A GROWING ISSUE OF OBESITY

At the opposite end of the spectrum, rates of obesity have grown among children and adolescents. Obesity is a significant risk factor for many non-communicable diseases, which now account for a growing share, and in some countries, the largest share of overall mortality. The World Health Organization has declared childhood obesity as one of the most serious public health challenges of the 21st century, given links in later life to diabetes, hypertension, heart disease and other illnesses.

Globally the number of overweight infants and young children under age five increased from 32 million in 1990 to 42 million in 2013,⁵² with much of the rise occurring in low- and middle-income countries. The numbers of children in Asia-Pacific edged up from 13.4 million in 1990 to 14.7 million in 2013.⁵³ Although childhood obesity has been common in some Pacific countries, it is now increasingly being reported from countries that have recently become affluent, such as China, Indonesia, Malaysia and Thailand. The rate is alarmingly high, more than 10 percent, in Indonesia, Mongolia and Thailand. In 2013, the proportion of obese girls, aged 2 to 19, reached 30 percent or more in Kiribati, Micronesia and Samoa—the highest levels in the world. Similar trends were found in boys. At the same time, the rate is less than 2 percent in Bangladesh, Cambodia, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Lao People's Democratic Republic and Nepal. South Asian countries with low rates still have to contend with significant numbers of children who are overweight, given their large populations. (Figure 3.6)

Rapid urbanization, modernization and life styles with reduced physical activity and increasing intake of high calorie food foster the rise of obesity—levels are significantly higher in richer, more educated urban households. China, which once had the leanest of populations, is now rapidly catching up with the West in prevalence. Diabetes cases have almost quadrupled in the last 15 years.⁵⁴

Both obesity and undernutrition coexist in a number of countries. In Indonesia, 36 percent of preschool and school children were stunted in 2013, while 12 percent were overweight. Some

FIGURE 3.6:

The share of overweight children is higher in East Asia and the Pacific compared to South Asia



Note: Data range from 2000 to 2013. Source: OECD and WHO 2014.

young people suffer from malnutrition, fatal diarrhoea and tuberculosis; others can look to a future with a high risk of heart disease. This double burden imposes enormous stresses on national health systems.

ADOLESCENT HEALTH ISSUES NEED GREATER ATTENTION

Adolescent mortality rates in Asia-Pacific are relatively low. They are higher among boys than girls, and among older adolescents (15 to 19 years) than younger ones (10 to 14 years). Leading causes of death include unintentional injury, especially road injury; early pregnancy; HIV and AIDS; suicide; lower respiratory infections and interpersonal violence. Lower respiratory infections rank among the top five causes, and in South-east Asia, along with diarrhoeal diseases and meningitis, account for 18 percent of all deaths among 10 to 14 year olds. Violence is a particular problem in the region for boys; maternal mortality for girls.

A number of behavioural factors influence health in adolescence and later years. Some

are major causes of mortality and morbidity, such as suicide attempts. Health-compromising behaviour at this stage of life can have lasting consequences, underscoring the importance of prevention.⁵⁵

Suicide is the leading cause of death for 15 to 19 year-old males and females in Southeast Asia, and among the top five causes of mortality for both sexes in all regions.⁵⁶ Asian countries account for approximately 60 percent of the world's suicides, with some of the highest rates afflicting India, Japan, Nepal, Republic of Korea and Sri Lanka.⁵⁷ Suicide risks have complex origins in a variety of factors that can influence mental health, including genetics, socioeconomic standing, cultural norms and even practices within health systems such as the low availability of mental health-care professionals.

Depression is a major cause of illness, and is interlinked with tobacco and alcohol use, a sedentary lifestyle and obesity. Though alcohol consumption in Asia-Pacific is, on average, lower than that in Europe, Latin America and North America, harmful drinking among adolescents occurs in many countries. Between a quarter and a fifth of high school students in some Pacific island states had five or more alcoholic drinks in a row in a month.⁵⁸ Alcohol use contributes to risks of injury, violence, unprotected sex and suicide attempts. In Asia-Pacific in 2012, across all age groups, 5 percent to 6 percent of all deaths were attributed to alcohol consumption.

Drug and substance abuse and tobacco use are other major concerns,⁵⁹ since consumption often begins in adolescence. Boys aged 13 to 15 in South Asia and South-east Asia partake of tobacco at higher rates than in other regions, at over 22 percent compared to 10 percent in OECD countries. In a handful of countries, 30 to 60 percent of adolescent boys smoke, a significant public health hazard. Prohibiting the sale of tobacco products to minors, increasing the price, banning tobacco advertising and ensuring smoke-free environments are crucial measures to curb consumption.

Early sexual activity, within or outside of marriage, increases the vulnerability of adolescents to sexually transmitted infections, including HIV, unwanted pregnancies and coerced sex by older partners. Often it takes place in a context of highly unequal gender relations, and Adolescents are vulnerable to physical and mental health issues, requiring holistic counselling and care limited information on sexual and reproductive health and/or access to appropriate health care services. With increasing age of marriage, premarital sexual activity among adolescents is on the rise.⁶⁰

HIV prevalence is relatively low in the region, for example, compared to sub-Saharan Africa, but globally, one in seven of all new HIV infections occur during adolescence. Young people have a right to know how to protect themselves and must have the means to do so. This includes being able to obtain condoms to prevent sexual transmission, and clean needles and syringes for those who inject drugs. Better access to HIV testing and counselling is also needed. To reduce the vulnerability of young people to HIV, Bangladesh, India, Indonesia, Maldives, Myanmar, Sri Lanka and Thailand have initiated life skills-based HIV/AIDS education in schools and community institutions. Such initiatives are taking place at a slow pace, however, given cultural and traditional sensitivities.

Adolescents in Asia-Pacific are in some cases victims of sexual abuse and exploitation. The largest number of children and women trafficked worldwide are in or from Asia, with estimates ranging from 250,000 to 400,000, around 30 percent of the global total. Sexual abuse and exploitation have long-term implications for both physical and mental health, with consequences including depression, suicide, unintended pregnancies and HIV transmission.

CHILD MARRIAGE DENIES RIGHTS AND COSTS LIVES

When a young girl marries, the consequences reverberate throughout her life. Child marriage, defined by the United Nations as occurring before the age of 18, violates human rights and compromises efforts to reduce gender-based violence, advance education, overcome poverty and improve health.⁶¹ A landmark resolution calling for a ban on child marriage was agreed on 21 November 2014 during the 69th session of the United Nations General Assembly.⁶²

Since child brides are under intense social pressure to prove their fertility, many experience early and frequent pregnancies before their bodies can safely carry or deliver children, resulting in high rates of maternal death or permanent disability. Prenatal deaths are 50 percent higher among babies born to mothers under 20 years of age than among those born to mothers aged 20 to 29.⁶³

Although child marriage continues to be a global problem, it is most entrenched in South Asia, where nearly half of all girls marry or enter an informal union before turning 18. Almost one in five girls is married before age 15. Ban-gladesh has the highest national prevalence, a staggering 66 percent.⁶⁴ More than 11 percent of girls there begin bearing children by age 15, and almost 59 percent are mothers by 19. In sub-Saharan Africa, 40 percent of girls under 18 years of age are married; in Latin America, the figure is 29 percent. It is 16 percent in East Asia and the Pacific.⁶⁵

The age of marriage is rising in most South Asian and South-east Asian countries, however. From 1985 to 2010 in South Asia, early marriage declined from 63 percent to 45 percent, with much of the progress occurring among girls under 15. Since marriages of girls aged 15 to 18 are still common, however, more efforts are needed to protect them. Factors that cause child marriage can include poverty, concerns about security and protection of girls, lack of education or distance to schooling facilities, gender discrimination, and cultural and religious traditions.⁶⁶

TRANSITIONING TO ADULTHOOD DEPENDS ON DECENT WORK

Education and health care propel the start of demographic transition and smooth its course, equipping people with capabilities that eventually prompt declines in fertility and mortality. They also are critical in making the most of any potential demographic dividend, ensuring that a large young workforce can be most productive. Equally important is the ability of economies to quickly absorb young new labour force entrants in decent work. In much of Asia-Pacific, young working-age population are reaching its peak, joining the labour force in unprecedented numbers.

Despite social and economic progress, child marriage persists Some barriers stand in their way, however. Not enough decent jobs, poorly matched skills and labour market rigidities all spur climbing rates of youth unemployment and idleness. These are serious concerns, as they can permanently impair future productivity and employment.⁶⁷ Rising but unmet youth expectations can also have long-term consequences in terms of social cohesion and stability.

In many cases, young people do not acquire the right skills. While highly-educated youth fare relatively well, those with less or poorer quality education are more likely to end up in low-productivity, rural or informal sector work. Overall, youth employment rates have declined in the past two decades and are expected to continue to fall. In 1991, about 350 million youth across the region worked. Now only about 290 million do, out of a total of 665 million young people (Table 3.12). In the early 1990s, one in every four Asia-Pacific workers was a young person—today, only one in six is.

In East Asia, the youth labour force participation rate fell from 66 percent in 2000 to 55 percent in 2012. The drop has been slower in South-east Asia and the Pacific, from 56 percent to 52 percent. In South Asia, it decreased from 48 percent to 40 percent. Gender gaps have been closing, with the biggest remaining in South Asia. In East Asia, women work at higher rates than men, and their work participation rate is

TABLE 3.12: Regionally and globally, fewer youth are in the workforce

Youth employment (millions)

	1991	2000	2012	2018
East Asia	181	132	119	87
South Asia	106	116	112	115
South-east Asia and the Pacific	49	52	50	49
Asia-Pacific*	349	312	292	261
Sub-Saharan Africa	45	59	82	96
Latin America and the Caribbean	42	47	49	51
Middle East	7	9	10	9
World	524	503	499	481

Source: Based on ILO 2016.

FIGURE 3.7: Youth unemployment rates in South and East Asia are lower than in other regions



Source: ILO 2015f.

more than two and a half times that of women in South Asia.⁶⁸

Lower employment and labour force participation rates among youth may in part reflect improved enrolment in school, but also the stark reality that it remains difficult for young people to find jobs. Although the youth unemployment rate in Asia-Pacific is still somewhat low compared to other regions (Figure 3.7), it is typically two to three times the general unemployment rate—and growing.⁶⁹ In East Asia, the rate increased from 8.7 percent in 2005 to 10.5 percent in 2014, while that of adults remained below 4 percent. Youth unemployment in South-east Asia rose from 9.6 percent in 1996 to 13.6 percent in 2014, even though the creation of jobs appropriate for youth has been fairly robust. In South Asia, youth unemployment was lower at 10 percent in 2014, but this fails to reflect the quality of jobs. The vast majority of employment growth there has been in vulnerable and informal employment, such as in subsistence agriculture.⁷⁰

Youth unemployment challenges confront countries across the region regardless of their stage of socioeconomic development. In nearly half of 13 economies with recent official estimates, youth unemployment exceeded 10 percent. In Sri Lanka, 20 percent of young people in the labour force were unemployed in 2013;

Youth employment rates are expected to continue falling

FIGURE 3.8: The share of youth who are not in employment or education is high in many countries

Global youth unemployment rates



Note: Data range from 2008-2014. Source: ILO 2016.

the situation for young women was even more alarming at 28 percent. In Samoa, the rate for all young people was 19 percent, but 25 percent for young women, compared with 16 percent for young men.⁷¹

Competing against older, more experienced candidates makes it difficult for youth to transition from school to jobs. A significant portion of young people-not reflected in unemployment rates-have given up looking for work because prospects are limited; they are not otherwise in school or training.⁷² Among the 358 million youth globally who are not in school, training or employment, 220 million are in Asia-Pacific, of whom 101 million live in South Asia.⁷³ More than one in four young people in Bangladesh, India, Indonesia and Samoa fall in this category. The rate in Cambodia and Nepal, by contrast, is less than 1 in 10 (Figure 3.8).⁷⁴ Rates are much higher for young women than young men, and in rural areas compared to urban ones, with the exception of Mongolia. About 300 million youth in the region are considered underemployed.

For young people who do have jobs, a common issue is quality. Many simply cannot afford to be unemployed and are obliged to take any job they can find, even if pay is poor and the job does not correspond to their skills. Trapped in low-paid, low-productivity jobs, they become vulnerable to poverty, at rates that often exceed those of adult workers—median wages for young workers are generally below their adult counterparts for the same level of education.⁷⁵ In Bhutan, the youth working poverty rate surpasses the adult rate by 10 percentage points, while in Viet Nam it is higher by 5 percentage points.⁷⁶

A PROBLEM OF LIMITED AND MISMATCHED SKILLS

Despite large numbers of unemployed young people and a constantly growing labour supply, many enterprises struggle to fill technical and management positions because they cannot find workers with the right skills, either among university graduates or young people with secondary education. This reflects poor quality education and weak links between education systems and employers—traditional education systems, in particular, have not been able to provide the technical skills demanded by growing economies. Expanding education and improving literacy rates is not enough; only high-quality, relevant education will reduce skills mismatches and youth unemployment rates.

Most secondary education in Asia-Pacific is

Among 358 million youth globally who are not in school, training or employment, 220 million are in Asia-Pacific still oriented around preparing for an academic education or a white-collar office job. Yet only a small minority of young people can hope to pursue these. Tertiary education systems typically remain focused on public sector employment, even as many private sector employers, the source of much of the growth in jobs, are looking for different sets of practical and applied skills.

For young people who do not continue into tertiary education, vocational education offers better prospects for employability, as it equips students with practical skills and is associated with business needs. But such programmes in some Asia-Pacific countries, particularly in South Asia, are generally inadequate and poor in quality, requiring fundamental rethinking and sweeping reform.

Effective vocational training can help reduce skills shortages on the one hand and unemployment on the other. Skills can be obtained through structured and specialized institutions, on-thejob practical experience or both. Programmes that combine on-the-job and in-class training provide a combination of soft skills (behavioural skills) and hard skills (technical or administrative skills) that can have a significant positive impact

TABLE 3.13: Regions have wide gaps in vocational enrolment

	All pe	ersons	F	emale		Male	
%	1999	2013	1999	2013	1999	2013	
East Asia	16	22	17	21	16	22	
South-east Asia	9	12	8	9	9	14	
South Asia	1	2	1	1	2	2	
Oceania	36	27	35	24	37	29	
Pacific small island developing states	6	6	4	3	8	7	
Arab States	14	10	14	8	15	11	
Central Asia	7	14	5	13	8	14	
Latin America and the Caribbean	10	10	10	10	9	10	
Sub-Saharan Africa	7	6	5	5	8	7	
Europe	21	24	19	22	23	27	
North America	5	7	6	7	5	6	
World	11	11	10	10	11	12	

Source: UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.

on employment and earnings.⁷⁷ Dual training, such as through internships or apprenticeships, allows young people to apply theories learned in class in real environments, to develop professional skills, such as time management and to gain practical experiences.⁷⁸

In Oceania, Europe and East Asia, more than 20 percent of secondary students enrol in vocational programmes, compared to about 2 percent in South Asia (Table 3.13). Shares are also relatively low in the Pacific island states. Almost all low and lower-middle-income Asian countries have 5 percent or fewer secondary students enrolled in vocational programmes. But 10 percent or more are enrolled in high and upper middle-income countries.⁷⁹

Enrolment rates in vocational programmes have increased in the region since 2000, except for in a few already developed countries, such as Australia, Japan and the Republic of Korea, however, most countries do not have effective and well-distributed vocational systems. More relevant education for youth could be offered through stronger links among governments, educational institutes and the marketplace, helping to limit skills mismatches and facilitate schoolto-work transitions.

YOUTH MIGRATION: HARNESSING OPPORTUNITIES, HIGHLIGHTING RISK

Youth comprise a large share of global migrants today, with many motivated by economic and social factors, such as employment or education. Others are forced to migrate due to persecution, conflict or natural disaster. According to United Nations estimates, there were 243.7 million international migrants in 2015,⁸⁰ among whom 27.9 million were aged 15-24, and 25.3 million were aged 0-14. Combined, these two groups accounted for 21 percent of total international migrants (Table 3.14).

International students seeking education and career opportunities are important contributors to international youth migration. Within Asia, the movement of students has also been a driver of skilled migration,⁸¹ although a few countries have started to become hosts for foreign students, including China, Malaysia, New Zealand, Republic of Korea and Singapore. In 2013, these countries hosted 7 percent of all Vocational training reduces skills mismatches and youth unemployment rates

TABLE 3.14: International migrants tend to be young

International migrants by age group, 2015 (millions)

	0-14	15-24	25-34	35-44	
	years	years	years	years	
East Asia	0.4	0.9	1.5	1.3	
South-east Asia	0.8	1.4	3	2.1	
South Asia	1.6	1.8	2.6	2.5	
Oceania	0.5	0.8	1.4	1.3	
Asia-Pacific	3.5	5.1	8.6	7.3	
Sub-Saharan Africa	4.8	3.3	3.7	2.9	
Latin America and the Caribbean	1.6	1.1	1.5	1.4	
Europe	4.3	7.4	14.3	15	
North America	3.3	5.8	10	10.6	
Central Asia	0.3	0.4	0.6	0.8	
Western Asia	6.7	4.3	10.1	8.6	
World	25.3	27.9	49.4	47.2	

Note: Asia-Pacific includes East Asia, South-east Asia, South Asia and Oceania. Source: UN DESA 2015a.

Young migrants are highly vulnerable to physical and social insecurities international students.⁸² In an effort to attract more, some countries are introducing policies such as work rights for students, simplified visa procedures and permission for graduates to seek employment.⁸³

Youth are more likely to migrate in search of jobs particularly when there are challenges finding opportunities at home. Many become providers of remittances for their families that can significantly reduce poverty and in the longterm be a driver for economic development. For some developing countries, remittances make a major economic contribution. For instance, in 2014, the share in Nepal was equal to 29.9 percent of GDP.⁸⁴ In countries receiving migrants, young immigrants may ease pressures from ageing populations, and help respond to labour shortages and sustain economic growth.

The rural-urban labour migration of young people in Asia-Pacific has increasingly driven the region's rapid urbanization. Many young migrants, however, are vulnerable to exclusion, discrimination and insecurity—as are the typically very young and older people they may leave behind in rural areas. The consequences are complex, context-specific and subject to change over time.

The absence of legal migration channels or lack of documents forces some young migrants to choose irregular migration, with heightened risk of abuse, health hazards, poor living and working conditions or low wages. So far, the effort to penalize employers or brokers who recruit irregular migrants has been to a large extent insufficient, resulting mainly in penalties imposed on workers themselves. A more effective approach, consistent with human development and rights, is for countries of origin and destination to cooperate on encouraging regular, safe channels for those who wish to migrate.⁸⁵

Trafficking is another major concern. In East Asia, South Asia and the Pacific, 64 percent of trafficking victims end up in forced labour with another 26 percent trafficked for sexual exploitation in 2010-12.86 Although trafficking in persons usually occurs to internal migrants, 29 percent of persons in forced labour were international migrants.⁸⁷ Across the entire migration process, migrant women of all ages face particular risks of abuse, exploitation and violence, including disproportionately low wages, sexual exploitation, and restrictions on leave and movement.88 Many countries in South and South-west Asia have restrictions on women's migration, which may increase the chances of irregular migration.89

With millions of unskilled, young, undocumented and female migrants on the move, protecting their rights and well-being has become a challenge that must be met. Also at stake are potentially large untapped opportunities for channelling remittances towards greater human development returns in labour-sending countries.⁹⁰ This will require better migration policies and closer collaboration among all actors, as well as a clearer understanding of specific concerns for youth migrants.

YOUTH PARTICIPATION: A RIGHT WITH MANY BENEFITS

Youth involvement in democratic processes upholds their rights, and can contribute economic and human development benefits. When more youth voice their perspectives and needs, there is a greater chance that their issues will feature in development planning, budgets and programmes. This can open opportunities to more effectively steer development, given how large a population share youth are in some countries, and, in time, and with appropriate policies and institutions, to increase the demographic dividend.

Since many Asia-Pacific economies are growing fast, they need innovative and dynamic leaders, including youth, who can offer new insights and pioneering solutions to current challenges. Today's youth are more informed than ever before. Many are progressive and forward-looking, and keen to tap into new technologies, products and markets. Their skills and capacities are vital to the kind of transformational change that the region is pursuing.

Further, their unprecedented access to information has raised their ambitions, and facilitated the articulation of demands. The pressure associated with rising aspirations is already driving higher rates of rural-urban migration, a trend only expected to increase as educational, health and economic opportunities become more and more concentrated in large urban centres. Young people today also increasingly see themselves not as passive recipients of favours and privileges, but as carving out a role for themselves in the development process.

Their expectations of governance are high, particularly in terms of increased transparency, greater social accountability, improved economic performance and greater equality. Pragmatic and concerned with finding better jobs and attaining higher standards of living for themselves and their families, they see democratic governance as a means to that end. For governments to gain youth support and trust, they will need to do more to demonstrate results.⁹¹

Despite greater recognition of the importance of youth participation, practice lags behind in Asia-Pacific on many fronts. Youth in East and South-east Asia are less likely to vote than adults, for instance (Figure 3.9), and are less active in public affairs.⁹² At the same time, they are interested in and knowledgeable about national political and economic issues. They tend to engage through activism and social networks, rather than participating in formal political parties or civic organizations. This may in part be explained by the lack of opportunities to play roles in politics that make a meaningful difference.

Non-participation in elections, however, does not mean that youth are not interested and lack opinions. The 2013 Telefonica Global Millennial Survey showed that youth in Asia-Pacific tend to be more optimistic than those in the rest of the world. Around two-thirds of respondents thought that the economy in the region was headed in the right direction, compared to 50 percent worldwide. Forty-four percent believed that technology is the most important field of study for ensuing personal future success, compared to 36 percent worldwide.⁹³ Youth were concerned with the environment and upward mobility; they also viewed social inequality

FIGURE 3.9: Youth are consistently less likely than adults to vote in elections



Today's forwardlooking youth are keen to tap into new technologies, products and markets

Source: UNDP 2014.

as an important challenge. But they were less likely than youth in other regions to believe in their ability to have an impact locally, globally or politically. Only 37 percent thought that their participation in political processes would be worthwhile, compared to 55 percent to 60 percent in Latin America, the Middle East and North America (Figure 3.10).

To turn around low faith in formal platforms for participation, countries may need to consider new modes for engagement that actively seek to bolster confidence and respond to youth interests. Successful youth engagement strategies rest on genuine opportunities for youth to work with each other and with policy makers in bringing about positive change.

FIGURE 3.10:

Youth in the region are concerned about many issues, but most do not think participation in politics has an impact



Currently, in many instances, youth feel that they are consulted at an initial stage of development decisions, but are not part of key decisions and programmes later on. Giving them key roles from beginning to end, including in consultations, budgeting, programme implementation, and evaluation and feedback, will require a much stronger degree of commitment from governments, backed by formal mechanisms for continuous involvement.

The notion that youth do not effectively engage, currently widespread among policy makers in Asia-Pacific, underlines the importance of civic education on how political systems work, as has been done in Cambodia and Mongolia (Box 3.8). For the most part, youth civic education is sporadic, however, limited to a few countries and not institutionalized.

UNLOCKING THE POTENTIAL OF THE NEXT GENERATION

Asia-Pacific's young people will be the driving force behind the demographic dividend and human development in the next few decades, but only if deliberate measures are in place to enhance their opportunities for education, health, decent work and participation.

The quantity and quality of education needs to improve, especially for vulnerable groups, and remain relevant to the demands of the labour market. Health care should be universal, with priorities including further reduction of child and maternal mortality, and access for all to the full range of sexual and reproductive health services. A smoother transition from school to employment would result from easing barriers to starting work, improving flexibility in hiring and job mobility, and encouraging private sector participation in vocational training. Finally, young people need to be fully engaged in civic and political life, and the choices that affect them now and in the future.

Asia-Pacific's young people will drive the demographic dividend, but only if supportive measures are in place

CAMBODIA: MEDIA PROGRAMMES RAISE AWARENESS

UNDP's Strengthening Democracy Programme, conducted from 2011 to 2015, sought to enhance the civic knowledge and skills of Cambodian youth, and enable them to participate more fully in democratic processes. The programme has its roots in research showing that youth were disengaged, and had limited knowledge of political processes and institutions.

A multimedia partnership with BBC Media Action, locally known as Loy9, produced a radio programme, an online platform, and a popular and entertaining TV show for youth. These aimed at expanding awareness of democratic governance, civic responsibilities, gender equality and other current issues.

Loy9 rapidly became popular among Cambodian youth. One survey found that over half watched the TV programme, and about a fifth listened to the radio broadcast. Together, these programmes reached 2 million Cambodian youth, with even greater penetration in rural areas. Those who watched shows about voting and elections, for example, said that they learned new information, and in recent elections, youth turnout increased.

MONGOLIA: CIVIC EDUCATION STRESSES DEMOCRATIC PRINCIPLES

In collaboration with UNDP, the Government has embarked on a three-pronged programme to empower youth and increase their participation. First, the academic curriculum was revised to include civic education. The revision stressed democratic principles and human rights. Teachers have been trained to help youth see how democratic governance applies to real-life situations.

The second component focuses on building leadership skills among youth and teaching them to engage with local government leaders on issues impacting community life and well-being, such as the provision of local public services. The third element has mobilized youth groups through social media and other channels to boost awareness of such democratic values as access to justice, freedom of speech and protecting human rights. An international Youth Forum in 2013 highlighted actions to make democratic systems more transparent and accountable, and to pursue peaceful youth activism.

Sources: BBC World Service Trust and UNDP 2010, BBC Media Action, Research and Learning 2014, UNDP 2013.

PROVIDE BETTER QUALITY EDUCATION AND SKILLS DEVELOPMENT

A good education is essential for human development, including in paving the way for young people to secure decent work. Many Asia-Pacific countries have made impressive gains in education in the last decade, but mainly in primary and junior secondary school. Access to senior secondary and tertiary education, while better on average, still remains extremely low for poorer people. Outside East Asia, education quality is still low and not improving.

Aim for improved quality: While the Millennium Development Goals helped accelerate progress in access to education and gender parity, there is less evidence of advances in the quality of education. Quality remains a challenge particularly in public schools, where even secondary school graduates struggle with basic writing and numerical ability. Teacher shortages pose a serious impediment and could be a starting point for improvements. As against the benchmark of 10 to 20 students per teacher in Europe and North America, the student-teacher ratio is from 20 to 30 students in South-east Asian countries and 30 to 40 students in South Asian countries, with higher ratios in poorer countries. Another priority is to ensure teachers are well trained.

Boost investment in education: Low public expenditure partly explains the shortfall in education quality. In 2008, the Oslo Declaration⁹⁴ urged governments to spend 4 percent to 6 percent of GDP on education. Only about a third of countries in Asia-Pacific, however, have crossed 4 percent. The share of children and youth does not necessarily determine expenditure. In Bangladesh, Cambodia and Timor-Leste, Expanding skills and education requires increased public expenditure

TABLE 3.15:Some countries with large young populationsstill invest relatively little in education (%)

		Government
	Share of children and youth in population	expenditure on education as a share of GDP
Bangladesh	49	1.8
Bhutan	46	6.8
Cambodia	52	1.8
China	31	4.1
Fiji	46	3.1
India	47	2
Republic of Korea	27	3.4
Kiribati	55	10.9
Malaysia	43	5.5
Nepal	54	3.6
Philippines	52	2.9
Singapore	29	2.9
Sri Lanka	40	1.8
Thailand	31	3.9
Timor-Leste	62	1.6

Source: ADB 2015a, UN DESA 2015a.

Health-care coverage and performance need to improve to reduce inequities

for instance, where children and youth still make up high population shares, expenditure on education continues to be below 2 percent of GDP (Table 3.15). National allocations to education need to be adjusted, particularly for young countries. At the same time, spending needs to be accompanied by a clear focus on improving quality and learning outcomes, and on distribution, since education finance often still largely benefits better-off groups.

While a majority of countries are providing support for primary and in some cases secondary education, tertiary education is still not available freely. This excludes a substantial segment of society, forcing the majority of youth to go to work instead of continuing their education. Countries can expand access for children from poor families through options such as scholarships and part-time work-study arrangements.

Be more relevant: A shift in emphasis towards education that stresses relevant skills and is alert to labour market demands will cultivate a higher quality and more productive workforce.⁹⁵ Some countries have introduced work-study programmes in secondary schools. For instance, Vanuatu's Student Industrial Attachment Program provides work experiences to students so that they can develop real-life problem-solving skills and get a head start on professional development. Malaysia's Technical and Vocational Education and Training seeks to close gaps in the demand for and supply of highly skilled labour. Led by industry experts, the programme facilitates internships in high-technology jobs including in tourism, retail services, urban development, education and health care.

ACHIEVE UNIVERSAL HEALTH CARE AND SOUND NUTRITION

The Asia-Pacific region has made significant progress in reducing infant and child mortality rates. Progress varies significantly across countries, however, and the region still accounts for a large share of child deaths and child malnutrition. There are still substantial shortfalls in services meeting the specific needs of adolescents. Overall, health-care coverage and performance both need to improve towards the aim of universal provision and the reduction of inequities in health outcomes. Where vulnerabilities are particularly acute, more specific and targeted interventions may be warranted.

Several Asia-Pacific governments, including China, India and Indonesia, have pledged to provide universal health coverage, which is among the targets of the Sustainable Development Goals. Investments in universal access will be vital to support all stages of demographic transition, from a continued decline in infant mortality to care for the elderly.

Reduce shortfalls in affordability and access:

These are major barriers that deserve early attention in the move towards universal coverage. Currently, a majority of people who can afford it seek health care in private facilities in Asia Pacific. Public services have suffered from many years of neglect and are plagued by challenges such as limited resources, poor administration and lack of available space, although this is not the case in all countries (Box 3.9). Medical insurance systems are still missing, which implies large out-of-pocket health expenses that reduce accessibility, especially for poorer families. In some cases, a bump in public spending has begun to mitigate these costs. Out-of-pocket payments in India are still high at 58 percent, for instance, but declined 10 percentage points in the last decade, helped by measures such as the free provision of drugs, which account for nearly half of out-of-pocket spending.

The region also needs to rectify the still limited supply of doctors and nurses.⁹⁶ Revising national intellectual property legislation could take advantage of flexibilities in trade rules that allow enhanced access to medicines. Public-private partnerships to deliver expanded and/ or improved health services could be explored, with due consideration for balancing public and private risks and gains.

Accurate and relevant health information is critical for services to improve their efficiency, cost-effectiveness, quality and safety. Reviewing government policies relevant to health disparities and bringing together data from disparate sources can shed light on effective means to uproot the causes of unequal access to health care.

As appropriate, the decentralization of health services and community participation can help push forward the provision of universal primary health care. For example, decentralization of services to provide immunization, prenatal care and rehydration against diarrhoea have saved many children in developing countries. Increase spending on health care: As recommended by the World Health Organization, in moving towards universal health care, all countries should aim for a minimum health care spending floor of at least 5 percent of GDP.⁹⁷ The region on average is above that share, but lags other regions. Health expenditures in Asia-Pacific increased by 17 percent from 1995 to 2012 to an average of 6.7 percent of GDP in 2012, yet the average was 7.7 percent for Latin American countries and 10.1 percent for European ones. Some subregions and countries have yet to hit the 5 percent mark. Among all Asia-Pacific subregions, South-east Asian countries invested the smallest share, about 3.9 percent, while the Pacific countries had the highest share at 9.2 percent. Myanmar at 1.5 percent, Timor-Leste at 2.6 percent and Pakistan at 4.7 percent are among the countries with the lowest shares.98

Promote health equity: Efforts to improve health care affordability and access and to scale-up investment need to be backed by a reorientation of public policy to explicitly tackle inequities in health outcomes. This should be grounded in health policy itself, with explicit and practical strategies to achieve equity. In New Zealand, for example, guidance has been developed to assist staff working in health planning and funding to incorporate equity considerations during

Accurate and relevant health information is critical for efficiency, quality and safety

BOX 3.9: Low-cost care and quality medical services improve health outcomes in some Pacific island and other countries

Several Pacific island countries have set excellent examples of providing state-sponsored health care systems. Out-of-pocket health costs in Kiribati, Tuvalu, Samoa, and Solomon Islands account for less than 10 percent of total health expenditures.

At 17 percent of GDP, the share of public expenditure on health care in Tuvalu is among the highest in the region. From 2007 to 2012, 93 percent of births were attended by qualified medical personnel, and 98 percent of one-year-olds received immunizations. Indicators on child and maternal health are very good, with the proportion of underweight children under the age of five only 1.7 percent, and child mortality at only 30 per 1,000 births. Brunei Darussalam has high-quality, comprehensive health care that is universal and equitable. An early achiever of the Millennium Development Goal health targets, it has attained commendable progress in child and maternal health care, with 99 percent of deliveries attended by trained staff. Average life expectancy at birth stands at 75 years. High-quality hospitals and clinics are at hand, along with flying medical services for airlifting any citizen in need of emergency care. policy development. Thailand has pursued a deliberate focus on equitable access to medicine and technologies.

Policies in areas outside but closely interrelated with health can also make a difference in ending disparities. Housing, drinking water and sanitation initiatives aimed at improving daily living conditions, for instance, can greatly reduce infectious diseases that are more heavily concentrated among the poor. Education, trade, investment and employment interventions providing equitable access to capabilities and opportunities for well-being can also help, as can social protection across the life cycle. There are roles as well for promoting people's abilities to empower themselves and claim their rights through political and legal instruments.

Focus investment on a healthy start in life: Many Asia-Pacific countries, including several in South Asia, need to invest heavily in prenatal and postnatal care, meals at school for children at risk of nutritional deficits, and increased coverage of childhood vaccines and early dental care, which influences overall health. They need to urgently address gender discrimination, especially in access to nutrition and health care, from childhood on. Solutions to some of these issues will require changes in attitudes and behaviours that are rooted in and conditioned by social norms as well as overall economic conditions.

Immunization can save children's lives and is one of the most cost-effective health interventions. It is an essential measure in all countries, but carries an extra rationale in those moving towards the start of the demographic transition. Many countries have made progress on delivering vaccines, yet a third or more of the region's children still do not receive the full set. Coverage is low in India, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Papua New Guinea and the Solomon Islands. Despite being a poor country, Bangladesh has achieved impressive health advances by focusing on selected core interventions, including vaccinations, family planning, oral rehydration therapy, and other maternal and child health services.

Although there is no single cause for child malnutrition in Asia-Pacific, malnutrition among women is a major factor. A woman's poor health during her own infancy, childhood, teenage and child-bearing years results in low birth-weight children, who tend to be less healthy and are more likely to die prematurely. Another major factor is poor sanitation and open defecation, which, among other impacts, cause children to suffer from diarrhoea and other infectious diseases that reduce the ability to absorb adequate nutrients.

On the other end of the spectrum, developing healthy eating and exercise habits in the first two decades of life are key to avoiding obesity in adulthood. Reducing foods high in saturated fats or salt and providing opportunities for physical activity are important for children and adolescents, and can reduce eventual risks of chronic and debilitating non-communicable diseases.

Extend services to adolescents: Across the region, a priority for adolescents, particularly in countries with a growing youth bulge, is access to a full array of youth-friendly health care services. Issues related to homicide, suicide, substance use and abuse, smoking, sexually transmitted diseases and unplanned pregnancies are prevalent among youth. But adolescent health care is still at a nascent stage, and often not recognized as part of national health strategies, at times due to political, religious or social norms. Specific policies for the health care of adolescents need to be in place, coupled with expanded services so that all adolescents can find the care they need for sexual and reproductive health, HIV/ AIDS prevention, and alcohol and drug abuse, among other issues. Services need to proactively emphasize outreach and responsiveness to the concerns of adolescents, given the social and economic barriers that may otherwise impede them from seeking care.

TACKLE YOUTH UNEMPLOYMENT

An astonishing 34 percent of youth in Asia-Pacific are neither in school nor the labour market.⁹⁹ Many face long periods of unemployment, which may delay their options to move into adult life, such as by starting a family, and depress lifetime earnings. While job creation for youth is essential, policy makers must give equal attention to the quality of employment and the

Immunization saves children's lives and is one of the most cost-effective health interventions scope for entrepreneurial activities, since these will unlock greater productivity, contribute to the demographic dividend and accelerate the pace of human development.

Smooth the transition to work: Youth unemployment in many countries largely results from many young people not having the skills demanded by employers. This stems in part from poor quality or poorly aligned educational systems. Policies need to correct this pattern, paying close attention to the transition from education to work, such as by encouraging young people without work to continue their education. Education itself needs to be more skills and career-oriented, and strengthen links to workplaces. Supplementary training may be required so young people become 'employable' by industry standards. Opportunities for internships or apprenticeships should be expanded to allow young people to apply theories learned in class in real environments and gain practical experience.¹⁰⁰

More could be done to shift the current emphasis from 'job protection' to 'security through employability', including through schools emphasizing technical education and helping to overcome traditional social biases against physical work, which still lead many youth to opt for academic education, even if it lowers chances of getting a job. A process of integrating vocational training into the education curriculum might look towards models such as those in Germany, which has one of the best vocational training systems in the world (Box 3.10).

Orient economic and labour policies to expand youth employment: While appropriately training new workers is critical, measures are also needed to create jobs matching their skills. Good coordination among workers, employers and governments can help link education and training policies and programmes with job market demands, and influence job providers to adapt their demands to match skills available. Public policy can play a role in fostering employment-rich economic growth, particularly in sectors most likely to absorb large numbers of young people, and with an emphasis on reaching those who are currently idle or engaged in precarious, informal sector jobs.

Well designed, appropriately funded active

labour policies can support youth employment, such as by offering a comprehensive package of services accessible to all youth, including those who are disadvantaged. Standard support could involve job counselling, job search techniques, mentoring and networking. Japan maintains public employment services for youth that helps them with career counselling and practical vocational training, and supports job matching. One-stop career services centres known as 'job cafes' are located throughout the country welcoming youth who may need help with job hunting. Mongolia's National Programme on the Promotion of Youth Development gathers labour market information and makes it available on an e-labour exchange. It assists with job-matching and placement for students and youth in temporary, contract and home-based work.

Provide incentives to hire youth. A number of countries have established these. For example, in China, companies that recruit some proportion of unemployed graduates are qualified to apply for concessional loans of up to 2 million RMB (\$310,000). China also offers tax discounts for young graduate entrepreneurs for their first three years, up to 8,000 RMB (\$1,250) yearly. Mongolia provides a year of wage subsidies to employers for young people above age 16 who are hired from orphanages. The Republic of Korea allows wage subsidies to small and medium enterprises that hire unemployed youth between the ages of 15 and 29; it also grants KRW 800,000 (\$675) to social enterprises that hire unemployed youth. Japan offers employers 40,000 yen (\$320) per month if a young person is hired for three months and for at least 30 hours per week. Some countries also subsidize training for newly hired recruits.¹⁰¹

Ensure that no young person is left behind: Special attention is needed for young people in conflict zones as they have had limited scope for education and training, and may have been involved in the military or armed conflict for extensive periods of time. Countries in conflict will need to combine policies for education and employment expansion with targeted conflict and post-conflict programmes to enable youth to transition into the labour market.

Special attention is also needed for young

Education needs to be more skills and career-oriented, and strengthen links to workplaces Germany's vocational training programmes are recognized worldwide as highly effective. Around two-thirds of high school graduates choose to enter vocational training, an appealing career path for more than 350 occupations. Students have apprenticeships in companies and take classes once or twice a week that complement work experience with theoretical training. Oral, written and practical exams are based on material taught at school as well as on-the-job learning.

Much of the success of the programme is due to meeting multiple needs—among students, businesses and the Government. Students obtain a well-recognized and readily marketable professional certification. A basic monthly stipend of about 680 euros allows them to become independent at an earlier age than in many countries. In 2013, about 450,000 trainee positions were available, and nearly all of them were filled, demonstrating keen demand.

For businesses, the vocational programme helps identify candidates and employ them at a lower cost. Companies save on training new employees, searching for candidates and advertising for posts. On its side, the Government has been able to meet targets to keep youth unemployment low—it has been beneath rates in all other European countries for decades. This has motivated many European countries, as well as some in Asia-Pacific, such as China, India and Viet Nam, to adapt the German model.

Sources: Young Germany 2013, German Missions in the United States 2016.

Removing obstacles to doing business can help create jobs for youth people in remote areas. Protecting the security and welfare of young rural migrants and lowskilled female migrants, as among the most socially and economically vulnerable groups, will enhance their well-being and the potential contributions of migration to human development. Well-managed and implemented social protection programmes should be structured to cover all people across the life cycle, including young workers, and ensure that no one falls through a minimum 'floor' of income and well-being.

Extend support to youth entrepreneurship. Young people are creative, enterprising and not afraid to take risks. They bring unique ideas to businesses and markets. Young entrepreneurs often are more aware of and responsive to new market trends, have more faith in other youth and tend to employ younger workers. In the last few years, the number of young entrepreneurs and venture capitalists has increased. An important reason for this trend is that high economic growth rates in China and India have encouraged more Western-trained youth to return home to start their own companies.

Removing obstacles to doing business is an important way to create jobs for youth, especially if coupled with sound management training, advice and mentoring, access to credit and markets, and labour market reforms. Entrepreneurship development programmes are effective in developing the capacity of youth to start their own businesses, since many have limited knowledge and experience of the processes involved.

Across the region, there has been little emphasis on entrepreneurship development, although Japan offers interesting examples of entrepreneurship education in schools. Its Youth Independence Challenge Plan requires entrepreneurial education that is both participatory and experiential in elementary, junior high and senior high schools, and its Dream Gate service raises awareness among youth about entrepreneurship.¹⁰² In some cases, programmes to cultivate entrepreneurial skills could facilitate the transition from self-employment in the informal economy to microenterprise development in the formal economy (Box 3.11).

Improve access to finance. A key barrier to business entry for youth is the lack of financing. Prospects for finding capital for start-ups can be constrained by their brief credit history and limited collateral. Other obstacles include legal and administrative hurdles, red tape, and favouritism that only allows a handful of youth with political connections to thrive in the market, a major loss in terms of the larger youth talent In the Republic of Korea, entrepreneurship among young people has declined since the dot-com bubble burst in the early 2000s. In 2000, nearly 55 percent of owners of start-ups were in their 20s and 30s, but that figure fell to 20 percent in 2011. Youth face several challenges to succeeding in venture capitalism. Because the economy is dominated by large conglomerates, small and medium enterprises struggle to find a foothold in a highly competitive environment. Access to finance can be limited. And the education system produces more learners than innovators.

The start-up rate in the Republic of Korea is much lower than in OECD economies with similar income levels. To break this cycle, the Government has taken a number of steps, including by providing generous financial support for youth entrepreneurs, for research and development, and for investments in innovative business products. Youth Business 1000, for example, was initiated in 2011 to assist young entrepreneurs with exceptional business ideas. The programme opened up youth business curator centres that accommodate up to 1,000 young entrepreneurs, and provided a start-up fund of 1 million won (\$900). Selected participants receive guidance from the Seoul Business Agency and can use programme facilities for up to a year until their business takes off.

In its first year, Youth Business 1000 created 5,892 jobs. It was later extended to involve the Dreaming Youth shop, which sells products from centre graduates at a retail location in downtown Seoul and online. The programme has now successfully assisted over 2,600 young entrepreneurs who have established 1,400 enterprises.

Sources: Ernst & Young 2014, Seoul Solution 2014.

pool and potential business opportunities. Some governments in the region are now assisting young entrepreneurs through different financing mechanisms, including grants, soft loans, subsidies and venture financing. For example, Mongolia offers a one-off grant of up to one million tugrug (\$500) to youth if they start a household-based business or are self-employed.¹⁰³

Crowdfunding is emerging as an alternative tool for young people to stimulate innovation, secure seed money and create jobs. Governments could back crowdfunding with forward-thinking regulations, access to technology, and tools to optimize benefits and manage risks. In addition to improving access to finance for youth, offering fiscal incentives and reducing bureaucratic hurdles can support youth in starting and maintaining their own businesses. Recognizing the importance of fiscal incentives, recently Indian government announced 100 billion rupee (\$1.5 billion) fund, a three-year break from paying income tax on profits, Rs 500-crore (\$75 million) per year credit guarantee mechanism, and exemption from capital gains tax to promote start-ups among young entrepreneurs.

EMPOWER YOUTH AS LEADERS OF TOMORROW

Today's youth are tomorrow's leaders, whether in business, politics, media, academia or non-profit organizations. The more familiar they are with out-of-school, real-life situations and challenges, the better they will be equipped to manage tasks that require maturity and responsibility. Many youth say that they are interested in giving back to their communities or countries, as it gives them a sense of accomplishment.

Cultivating youth leadership through volunteerism with public benefits. Volunteer public projects that benefit communities provide youth with multifaceted learning experiences. Young volunteers learn how to solve problems, work together in teams, and execute tasks with limited time and resources. They acquire skills that are not taught in schools but that are highly valuable to future employment. Some may bring to the table new skills, such as those related to technology and youth networking.

There are numerous examples of youth volunteering for community development projects worldwide. For instance, in the Voice of Crowdfunding is emerging as an alternative tool for stimulating innovation One key concern for youth is quality public service delivery. The Philippines' well-known Check My School programme mobilizes youth volunteers to monitor and report on the resources and facilities of public schools in their local communities. Volunteers work with school administrations to collect a wide range of data, including on the number of teaching and non-teaching staff, instructional materials, computers, budgets and school donations.

This information is stored in a publicly accessible database, increasing transparency and accountability. It also helps in planning and policy making, and in ascertaining school needs. Young Filipinos bring IT and data management skills to the programme, and manage the data platform through a web portal.

Two factors underpin the programme's effectiveness. First, the networks of the Affiliated Network for Social Accountability in East Asia and the Pacific (ANSA-EAP) and the Ateneo School of Government are used to mobilize youth from civil society organizations and youth groups, as well as socially active individuals. Youth who sign up are given leadership and other forms of training. Second, a significant degree of trust is created by providing youth with access to public documents about educational resources and procurement processes. A Memorandum of Agreement between the Department of Education and ANSA-EAP ensures that partners have access to all of the department's public data, and establishes relationships with local school authorities. This facilitates data collection, but it also demonstrates political commitment to a cooperative relationship between the Government and youth.

Launched in 2011, the programme has been so successful that it has attracted the attention of civil society organizations, international donors and other countries, including Indonesia, Kenya and Moldova, which have expressed interest in adopting the model.

Sources: Check my school 2016, World Bank 2012.

Youth offer unique perspectives; their involvement in policymaking should increase

Kibera project, local youth gathered the voices of poor community members living in Kenya's largest slum. They mapped service provision by collecting data from businesses, health centres, clinics and schools, information that allowed numerous non-governmental organizations and government entities working in the areas to better plan and coordinate their interventions.

In India, young people from labourers' families were trained to conduct a social audit of the National Rural Employment Guarantee Scheme, a large public programme. The young auditors raised specific concerns about financial discrepancies, which led to the recovery of 19 million Indian rupees. The Check My School project in the Philippines is another example (Box 3.12).

Bring youth into policy dialogues, especially on issues that affect them most. There is growing consensus that youth can help catalyse better governance overall, with countries increasingly engaging with them on key national topics. About half of Asia-Pacific countries have adopted national youth policies. More youth are also active in international dialogues, including around Agenda 2030 and the Sustainable Development Goals. International forums discuss integrating youth into mainstream decision-making, such as at the 2014 World Conference on Youth in Sri Lanka, which brought together governments, civil society, academia and youth organizations from over 30 countries.

Youth involvement in public policy-making should increase, particularly in areas where young people are profoundly affected by the choices being made. One priority issue is migration, since in many countries, youth constitute the major group migrating for work. Those seeking low-skilled employment abroad face a host of challenges related to their rights and well-being. Youth should be involved in shaping policies and mechanisms that can safeguard their rights and safety. Similar issues apply to labour standards within countries, where young people make up a large share of workers in factories, the informal sector and various low-wage occupations.

THE RIGHT START IN LIFE

Young people's choices, capabilities and opportunities have profound impacts not only on their own lives, but also on their societies. While policy makers sometimes see young people as a 'problem' group, a large young population, where youth have the right chances to make their way in life, can catalyse enormous human development gains and the demographic dividend.

Policy decisions can help or hamper this process. A positive childhood, adolescence and youth, with a high-quality education, good nutrition, sound health, ready access to decent employment and an empowered voice in decision-making, can set young people on a successful path. But if many youth end up struggling with little sense of hope for the future, their potential may be lost—an unjustifiable cost.

Many Asia-Pacific countries are entering a demographic transition, where any dividend depends heavily on young people having the right capabilities and opportunities. This is a critical moment. Decisions made today—about and with youth—will determine the future for everyone. Countries making the right choices will derive tremendous benefits from the energy and idealism of the largest generation of young people in history.

Chapter 4

AGEING SOCIETIES: NEW OPPORTUNITIES TO THRIVE

4. AGEING SOCIETIES: NEW OPPORTUNITIES TO THRIVE

People in Asia-Pacific live far longer today than they did a half-century ago, testifying to the success of the region's human development, with its better nutrition, education, health care and economic well-being. As societies age, they face both challenges and opportunities. From a human development perspective, human well-being must extend to all ages and stages of life, a commitment echoed in the call of Agenda 2030 to leave no one behind.

Population ageing is an inevitable consequence of demographic transition. Globally, more than 2 billion people in the world will be over age 60 by 2050; more than 1 billion will live in Asia-Pacific. In 2005, the region, for the first time in its history, had more older people than children under age five.

Given the current speed of ageing in Asia-Pacific, countries have limited time to prepare for an older society. Many will face ageing at lower levels of socioeconomic development than was the case in developed Western countries that aged over a longer period of time, allowing them to become economically prosperous first. A number of Asia-Pacific countries will have to simultaneously juggle traditional human development issues, such as low levels of education and health, and needs for pensions and other forms of support for the aged. Current financial conditions and the narrow window during which these changes have to be made will only heighten some of the complexities.

Growing numbers of older people may contend with issues of income security, access to health services, and community recognition and participation. The traditional family support system is under pressure, a trend intensified by shrinking family size and in some cases the migration of children to cities in search of work. More and more older people will live alone—many will be women, as they live longer. Women as a whole will face greater vulnerabilities, given disadvantages imposed by gender discrimination throughout their lives. This manifests, for example, in more limited earnings and savings.

The challenges of ageing should not overshadow its opportunities—or the rights of older people, which are the same as for all other age groups. Older people are a vital social resource, and societies do well when they encourage them to share lifetimes of understanding and experience. When countries leave the elderly behind, by contrast, national well-being falters. Countries perform best when they invest in pension systems, access to health care and the social inclusion of older people.¹

Managing ageing is a complex and dynamic process. Until now, Asia-Pacific governments have mainly focused on youth development, poverty reduction, job creation and the eradication of infectious diseases, paying less attention to the issues of older persons. Given the direction of demographics, however, it is time to begin integrating ageing issues across all elements of national development planning, whether in transport or housing, labour or health care. Ageing is already a serious issue in East Asia. Other subregions have some breathing time—but not much. All countries need to begin preparing for what lies ahead.

AN ERA OF RAPID AGEING

Asia-Pacific today is ageing more rapidly than all other regions except Latin America and the Caribbean (Figure 4.1). In countries of the West, the doubling of the share of older people, from 7 percent to 14 percent, took about a century, whereas it is occurring in countries of Asia-Pacific over a compressed two to three decades (Figure 4.2). For example, in France, this process took 115 years, compared to a mere 26 in Japan and an expected 18 in the Republic of Korea.

Asia-Pacific has the world's largest number of older people at 489 million, of whom over 209 million live in China. By 2050, the region will have more than 1 billion older people (Table 4.1).² The share of older people in Asia-Pacific populations, having doubled from 6 percent in 1975 to almost 12 percent in 2015, is projected to reach about 25 percent of the population by the middle of this century.³

Subregionally, the share of older people is currently largest in East Asia and smallest in South Asia (Figure 4.3 and Table 4.1). The level and pace of ageing across the region is diverse, ranging from aged richer countries such as Japan and the Republic of Korea; to rapidly aging middle-income countries such as China, Thailand and Sri Lanka; to several low- or lower-middle-income younger countries such as Cambodia, India, Lao Peoples Democratic Republic and Nepal, which will only start to age rapidly two or three decades from now.

Among countries, the proportion of older people ranged from 4 percent in Afghanistan to over 33 percent in Japan in 2015. Countries with the lowest current shares, aside from Timor-Leste, will likely have larger proportions by 2050, ranging from about 9 percent in Afghanistan to around 25 percent in the Maldives. The older populations of India and China will be around 19 percent and 37 percent in 2050, rising from about 9 percent and 15 percent, respectively (Figure 4.4).

The demographic transition of large and populous countries and territories defines the course of ageing in the region. In 2015, seven Asian countries, namely Bangladesh, China, India, Indonesia, Japan, Pakistan and the Philippines, had 420 million people aged 60 and older, which accounts for 47 percent of people The United Nations and many demographers use 60 years to refer to older people. In many developed countries, however, age 65 is the reference point for older people and often the age at which people become eligible for oldage social security benefits.

A consistent definition of who is older is further challenged by the changing average human lifespan. Around 1900, people on average lived to between 45 and 50 years in developed countries. Now, life expectancy there reaches 78 years.

Other definitions of 'old' go beyond chronological age. Old age as a social construct is often associated with a change of social roles and activities, for example, becoming a grandparent or a pensioner. It can also be considered a stage at which functional, mental and physical capacities are declining, and people are more prone to disease or disabilities. Discussions with older people in South Africa showed that they associated old age both with experience gained in life and increasing dependence on others. Chronological definitions were not viewed as so important.

Under any definition, older persons are a highly diverse population group, considering age, sex, ethnicity, education, income and health, among other factors. Recognizing this is required in order to adequately uphold the human rights and address the needs of all older persons, including those who are most vulnerable to poverty, discrimination and other forms of marginalization.

Source: UNFPA and HelpAge International 2012a.

aged 60 and above in the world. By 2050, they will have just over half the global share—more than 1 billion.

The 'oldest old' population, comprising people above age 80, is rising fast in Asia-Pacific, from 0.4 percent in 1950 to 1 percent in 2015. By 2050, the proportion will touch about 5 percent. The number of 'oldest old' will almost quadruple, from 58 million in 2015 to nearly 246 million in 2050,⁴ with the largest numbers living in China, India and Japan. Bangladesh, Indonesia, Pakistan, the Republic of Korea, Thailand and Viet Nam will also have signif-

FIGURE 4.1: Asia-Pacific is one of the fastest ageing regions



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

icant numbers.⁵ The growth of the 'oldest old' population is currently fastest in East Asia and South-east Asia, but will accelerate from 2030 in all subregions except the Pacific.

THE FACE OF AGE IS FEMALE

Higher and rising female life expectancy drives the feminization of ageing in Asia-Pacific. Not only do women comprise the majority of older people, but their share tends to increase with age. In 2013, there were 91 males per 100 females 60 years and over. By contrast, the 'oldest old' had 69 males per 100 females (Figure 4.5). The 'oldest old' sex ratio, however, has increased due to improvements in the health of older men, particularly in East Asia. By 2050, the gender ratio for those 80 years and over is projected to rise to 72 men per 100 women.

The higher life expectancy of women is mainly due to biology as well as some behavioural patterns that, for instance, put young men at greater risk of violent deaths. There is a clear need to incorporate gender dimensions of ageing in public policy and elsewhere, based on women's longer lifespan as well as the imperative of

FIGURE 4.2:

A number of Asia-Pacific countries will age in a few quick decades—or less

Number of years required to increase the share of older people from 7 to 14 percent



Source: Kinsella and Wan 2009.

FIGURE 4.3: Ageing will eventually accelerate in all subregions of Asia-Pacific



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

FIGURE 4.4: Even countries with small shares of older people will see an increase in the coming years



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

TABLE 4.1: East Asia is the oldest region and South Asia the youngest

Number and share of 60+ people, 1950-2050

	1950		1980		2015		2030		2050	
	Number (in millions)	%								
World	202	8	377	9	901	12	1,402	17	2,091	22
Africa	12	5	24	5	65	5	105	6	220	9
Asia	88	7	168	7	489	12	807	18	1,219	25
East Asia	49	7	90	8	270	17	435	26	578	37
China	40	8	70	7	209	15	358	25	492	37
South Asia	29	6	54	6	153	8	256	12	460	19
India	20	5	41	6	117	9	191	13	330	19
South-east Asia	10	6	21	6	59	9	106	15	167	21
Pacific	1	11	3	12	6	17	10	20	13	23
Europe	65	12	111	16	177	24	217	30	242	34
Latin America and the Caribbean	10	6	24	7	71	11	121	17	200	26
North America	21	12	40	16	75	21	105	26	123	28

Source: UN DESA 2015a.

FIGURE 4.5: Women outlive men, especially at older ages



Source: UN DESA 2013.

systematically responding to gender differences in all areas of life and at all ages.

MORE ELDERLY DEPENDENTS

Through demographic transition, the share of older people dependent on working-age people is growing, even as the share of young dependents shrinks. The overall dependency ratio, which was nearly 36 percent in 2015, could approach 43 percent in 2050,⁶ largely reflecting how the oldage support ratio, or the number of working-age people per older person, is rapidly decreasing. Again, there is considerable variation across countries, however. In 2015, there were about 5 working-age people for each older person in Asia, compared to only 4 for the Pacific island countries. By country, the range extends from 2 persons in Japan to 13 in Afghanistan (Figures 4.6 and 4.7).

About 27 countries have a ratio above 5. Four countries have a particularly high ratio of more than 10— Afghanistan, Mongolia, Papua New Guinea and Solomon Islands, all of which are still fairly young. High-income countries and regions tend to have support ratios below 5, such as Australia; Hong Kong, China (SAR); Japan and New Zealand. They have entered a period of ageing and will continue to see declines in the ratio.

The support ratio of developing countries and territories, while higher than that of developed countries, will likely decrease significantly by 2050, to as low as 1 to 2 persons for Brunei Darussalam; China; the Islamic Republic of Iran; Macao, China (SAR); Thailand and Viet

The number of working-age people per older person is quickly decreasing

FIGURE 4.6:

Some countries still have a high number of working-age people to support elderly dependents



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

FIGURE 4.7: Older countries have fewer working-age people per elderly dependent



Source: Based on UN DESA 2015a.

Nam. Ratios for 12 countries and territories will shrink to 3 or fewer persons. Traditionally, families have been a major source of income security and health care for older people, but this role is becoming less reliable as more women participate in labour markets, birth rates fall, children move away from the homes of their parents, people migrate from rural to urban areas and cultural norms evolve. These forces will increasingly leave older persons bereft of the assistance they received in the past. Falling support ratios do not take into account all of these dynamics, and in reality, it is likely that a significantly smaller number of working-age people may be around to actually help and care for older persons. A further challenge is the estimated global shortage of 13.6 million care workers.7

OLDER SOCIETIES FACE CHALLENGES—AND CAN BUILD ON STRENGTHS

Rapid ageing in Asia-Pacific poses particular issues in terms of human development, including those related to health, housing, poverty and gender. All older people have rights that must be protected, and diverse needs and hopes that should be respected. Many countries have begun to tackle different dimensions of ageing, but there is often scope for more comprehensive understanding and action, including through public policy that recognizes ageing touches every area of life.

OLD AND IMPOVERISHED

Meeting essential needs for the well-being of older people is among the greatest challenges of ageing, given the continuously decreasing numbers of working-age people and growing pressures on public funds. Poverty rates are higher in many countries among older people,⁸ a strong justification for pension schemes, which first emerged in highly developed countries, but have since spread across the globe.⁹

Vulnerability to poverty rises in later life as earnings and employment opportunities

Countries with the lowest shares of young people are likely to have larger proportions of older people by 2050 China faces an urgent challenge of caring for its growing older population, more so because of the legacy of the one-child policy. Among people over age 60, 23 percent or 42 million individuals live below the poverty line, compared with 15 percent of people aged 45-59.14 With urbanization and the migration of youth to urban areas, many older persons in rural areas in particular lack familial support,15 despite an expanded social security scheme.¹⁶ A further issue is that while the share of older persons working does not drop below 20 percent until after age 80 in rural areas, it plummets to 20 percent at age 60-64 in urban areas. This causes a significant financial burden with ramifications for older citizens in present and future generations.¹⁷ The need for pension reform to incentivize longer working lives has become increasingly urgent.

Among people aged 65 and older in the **Republic** of Korea, nearly half live on less than half of the country's median household income.¹⁸ This disparity can be attributed not only to early retirement, but also to a young public pension scheme that provides inadequate payments. About 0.26 percent of the 2014 national budget was allocated for services and income for older persons.¹⁹ Older people are provided with a maximum of \$200 each month, which does not, in most cases, cover all medical and provisional expenses.²⁰ Some of the consequences have been severe, including a tripling in the suicide rate of older persons since 2000.²¹

Until 2009, **Thailand** had a domestic social protection scheme for underprivileged older persons. It was restricted to individuals who were abandoned, lacked a caregiver, were unable to work or did not have enough income to meet necessary expenses. The system fell short of universality, and implementation was difficult given Thailand's expansive informal sector, which involves 76 percent of the population.²² In 2009, a universal pension infrastructure was established, closing the eligibility gap.²³ The monthly payment of 500 baht, however, is considered insufficient. The Government has committed to finding new sources of income to raise payments to the national poverty line of 1,453 baht.²⁴

ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS

A growing share of older people requires identifying financing options to assist those who are poor and vulnerable. Cash benefits can be one option,25 an approach taken in Canada for individuals aged 65 and over. It uses a combination of a universal demogrant (a grant based on demographics), a negative income tax and an earnings-related pension.²⁶ The demogrant, known as Old-Age Security, is available to any Canadian citizen or legal resident who has resided in Canada for more than 10 adult years and is 65 and older. Eligibility is not restricted to individuals without an earnings-related pension.27 The negative income tax, known as the Guaranteed Income Supplement, provides a monthly non-taxable benefit to Old-Age Security recipients whose annual income falls below the maximum annual threshold.28

These two elements have built an income floor for all older persons, regardless of income level and labour force participation, a feature particularly important for women, who move in and out of the labour force at higher rates than men, and who are more likely to work in informal sector jobs. The third component is contingent on income. Known as the Canada/Quebec Pension Plan, it consists of benefits based on total contribution amounts and duration.²⁹ This combined approach with multiple transfer channels may offer a way forward for countries in Asia-Pacific. Rapid ageing in Asia-Pacific poses challenges related to health, housing, poverty and gender

Sources: Peking University 2013, Vansant 2015, Shon and Palley 2014, Novak 2015, Harlan 2014, ILO n.d., Suwanrada and Wesumperuma 2013, HelpAge International 2009, Osberg 2001, Financial Consumer Agency of Canada n.d., Government of Canada, Priebe and Howell 2014.

decline, due to factors such as deteriorating health, mandatory retirement and discrimination by employers.¹⁰ Gender discrimination and socioeconomic marginalization are other issues, as is the inherent generational disadvantage of people who spent their working lives in countries when they were at a lower level of human development and may have lacked basic capabilities to build wealth and prepare for old age. Because social insurance programmes, including pension schemes, have limited coverage in the region's developing countries, older people face significant risks of impoverishment unless they have accumulated adequate savings and wealth.

The 2004 Viet Nam Household Living Standard Survey concluded that not only are many older persons poor, but their presence in a household drives up its poverty as well.¹¹ In Sri Lanka, a U-shaped relation between poverty and age suggests that poverty declines until ages 55-64 and increases thereafter.¹² In the Republic of Korea, despite very low overall poverty rates, nearly half of people above age 65 live below the poverty line.¹³ Box 4.2 sketches issues in China, the Republic of Korea and Thailand.

The older people get, the poorer they tend to become. In Indonesia, the poverty rate increased from 13 percent among the 60-plus population to 15 percent among those aged 75 and above in 2012.¹⁴ Many older people subsist just above the poverty line—and when the poverty line is increased by only 50 percent, the proportion of elderly poor shoots from 13 percent to 42 percent. Poverty rates are higher in rural areas, at 17 percent, compared to urban areas, at 11 percent. A contrary pattern, however, operates in some provinces outside Java in Indonesia, where old-age poverty rates are below those of the non-elderly. This may be explained by cultural habits, earning possibilities, family structures and regionally specific migration patterns.¹⁵

Among older persons, women are more at risk of poverty, often as a result of lower pension coverage, lower income and fewer benefits.¹⁶ Men hold a larger proportion of paid jobs, while women perform a larger proportion of unpaid care and voluntary jobs,¹⁷ and earn 33 and 20 percent less than men in South Asia and the rest of Asia-Pacific, respectively, in paid employment during the period 2008-2014.¹⁸

For many women, a lifetime of gender discrimination crosses with age discrimination, leaving them with far fewer tools to manage the vicissitudes of ageing, and resulting in the 'feminization' of poverty among the elderly.¹⁹ Women still carry more than half of the work burden at home,²⁰ and many face employment interruptions due to childbearing and care responsibilities.²¹ They comprise a larger proportion of workers in the less remunerative agricultural and informal sectors, have less education and participate in the labour market at lower overall rates.²²

In South-east Asia, older men have more income from a greater variety of sources than older women, including pension schemes and investments. They are more likely to work, whereas older women tend to depend more on social sources for income, whether from spouses or relatives, or through public provision.²³ Women in general who are widowed, divorced, separated or never married, or who do not have children, are particularly vulnerable to poverty in old age.²⁴ Since women, on average, live longer, they have a greater chance of becoming impoverished as they age. Rural women fare worse than rural men as well as urban women and men.

Some countries have begun to pay special attention to older women, because their numbers and vulnerabilities are greater. In the Republic of Korea and Indonesia, the National Plan of Action for Older Persons' Welfare contains provisions for special education and training initiatives for older women, and health programmes specifically targeting them, as well as policies aimed at increasing women's employment opportunities.²⁵

AT RISK OF DISCRIMINATION, IN NEED OF PROTECTION

Older men and women have the same rights as everyone else. Yet ageism²⁶ and age discrimination are widespread. Negative attitudes towards old age and older people are deeply ingrained in many societies. Unlike other forms of prejudice and discriminatory behaviour, these are rarely acknowledged or challenged, leading to isolation and exclusion.²⁷ Many people fear the ageing process and old age itself, suggesting the need for measures encouraging new perspectives on older age as a time of opportunity, not just a stage of life to be feared.

Older people can be highly vulnerable to deprivation, exploitation and abuse, including in their own homes as well as in institutional facilities. They may be denied the right to make decisions about their personal finances, property and medical care,²⁸ or lose out on social security entitlements, access to health and opportunities to work.²⁹

Discrimination and exclusion linked to age may intersect with other forms, based on factors such as gender, ethnic origin, disability, income, sexuality, HIV status or literacy levels. The result of any type of discrimination is a narrowing of individual choices and freedoms. It also eats away at a country's progress and prospects for human development. There is clear evidence, for example, that when older people's right to social security is realized, poverty rates fall, as does child labour, while enrolment rises in schools.³⁰

Among international efforts to help fight

Vulnerability to poverty increases in old age, especially for women Adopted by 159 countries in 2002, the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing offers a bold agenda for addressing ageing in the 21st century. It focuses on three pillars: older persons and development, advancing health and well-being into old age, and ensuring enabling and supportive environments. It puts forward a number of recommendations. Chief among these are to promote the participation of older persons as citizens with full rights, and to ensure that people everywhere can age with security and dignity.

Under the first pillar, the Plan of Action calls for countries to encourage the participation of older people in policy-making, and factor ageing dynamics into employment and social protection policies. Recommendations under the second pillar stress health promotion and well-being throughout the life cycle, geriatric and gerontology training for healthcare providers, self-care and support systems, and responding to HIV and disabilities among older people. The third pillar emphasizes affordable and accessible housing, and a liveable environment that includes the emotional and psychological security of a home and a community that enables older persons to live independently.

The Plan of Action is the first global agreement recognizing older people as contributors to the development of their societies, and committing governments to including ageing in all social and economic development policies, including poverty reduction programmes. It implies that governments, non-governmental organizations and others need to reorient the ways in which their societies perceive, interact with and care for their older citizens. This includes viewing them as agents rather than just objects of change, and as contributors to, not just beneficiaries of economic and social development.

Source: United Nations 2008.

old-age discrimination, the Political Declaration and Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing so far provide the most comprehensive basis for empowering older people and guaranteeing appropriate social protection (Box 4.3). With the exception of high-income countries, however, most other Asia-Pacific nations are severely underprepared to support and protect their older people. Existing old-age social protection systems generally have low and uneven coverage, and limited benefits. Challenges vary, but for most countries, the top priorities are to expand coverage, raise benefits, and do so in an equitable and sustainable way. This will require major improvements in current institutions, especially in the delivery of health services, cost control and pension management.

Across Asia-Pacific, 40 percent of countries now have overarching legislation on older persons.³¹ Australia has the Aged Care Act, the Age Discrimination Act, and the Home and Community Care Act. The Japanese Government has incorporated disability prevention services into long-term care benefits and is exploring ways to promote independent living. India, Nepal, the Philippines and Viet Nam have all adopted national legislation on older persons, while several Asia-Pacific countries have a national policy, strategy or plan on ageing and/or older persons.³²

Only a few countries have specific legislation to protect older persons against abuse. One such initiative is the Australian National Aged Care Advocacy Programme, which provides free and confidential services to promote and protect the rights of people receiving residential and community care services. In Japan, the Act on Prevention of Elder Abuse, Support for Caregivers of Elderly Persons focuses on early detection and response to abuse.³³

MORE LIKELY TO LIVE ALONE

Living alone in old age is typical in developed countries. In developing countries, older people still generally live in multigenerational households. On average, around three-quarters of those aged 60 years or over in less developed regions live with their children and/or grandchildren, compared with about a quarter of older people in more developed regions.³⁴

Practices have begun to shift, however, driven by changes in family structures. More than a quarter of people 60 years and above in Asia now

FIGURE 4.8: Shifting practices mean many older people live independently



Source: UN DESA 2013c.

live independently (Figure 4.8), among them, a slightly higher proportion of men than women. Cultural norms and/or men's greater economic independence may explain this phenomenon.

Although co-residence of older people with adult children is higher in East Asia, Southeast Asia and the Pacific, it has declined significantly over time in some countries. In China the rate for people ages 65 to 70 fell from 66 percent in the early 1980s to roughly 43 percent by 2011. In the Republic of Korea, the rate for people 65 years and older decreased from more than 80 percent in 1980 to below 30 percent by 2010.³⁵

Both Japan and the Republic of Korea have experienced a pronounced attitudinal shift, with diminishing acceptance of the idea that children should be responsible for the care of older parents. In Thailand, working-age adults anticipate receiving less support from their offspring than they have provided for their own parents.³⁶

INCREASING HEALTH-CARE NEEDS AND COSTS

While longer life expectancy signals improved well-being and human development progress, maintaining good health at older ages can be challenging. As societies age, major causes of death and disability shift from infectious to

chronic non-communicable diseases. Globally, 85 percent of people aged 60 or above died from these in 2008. They account for 90 percent of deaths in Australia and New Zealand, and 80 percent in Japan, the Republic of Korea and Singapore.³⁷ They caused 76 percent of deaths in East Asia, Southeast Asia and the Pacific in 2008, and the share is projected to rise to 85 percent by 2030.³⁸ Since 2000, deaths from non-communicable diseases have risen significantly in larger developing countries, such as China, India, Indonesia, Pakistan, the Philippines and Thailand. In the Pacific, these diseases are widespread as well, causing an increasing share of premature death.³⁹ Particular difficulties in the Pacific island countries relate to providing intensive care and treatment for populations scattered across different islands.⁴⁰

Health-care costs tend to escalate with increasing shares of older people, since they use more services⁴¹ and require more expensive treatment, including for non-communicable diseases.⁴² A World Health Organization (WHO) report on 23 low- and middle-income countries estimated an economic loss of \$83 billion from heart disease, stroke and diabetes alone from 2006 to 2015.43 Asia-Pacific's health-care costs have rapidly increased in recent years,44 outstripping even historically quick rises in income. This exerts significant pressure on government treasuries that will likely continue to grow, especially without advances in more efficient and affordable technologies. Several countries have begun to stress prevention strategies, including through promoting healthy lifestyles to, for example, curtail obesity, which can lead to high blood pressure, diabetes and other chronic conditions.

Between 2000 and 2012, many Asia-Pacific countries registered a rapid increase in per person health-care spending at a rate far above the world average. In high-income countries, except Japan, costs rose by more than 200 percent. They climbed even more dramatically in middle-income countries—over 400 percent in Viet Nam, for example—and skyrocketed nearly 10 times in Mongolia (Figure 4.9). Japan, on the other hand, provides an excellent health-care system where every individual is covered under an insurance programme through their work or a community insurer, and the Government

As societies age, major causes of death shift from infectious to chronic non-communicable diseases

FIGURE 4.9: Per capita health-care expenditure has risen rapidly in the region



Source: Feng 2014.

covers those who cannot afford insurance. The Government helps keep costs low by monitoring the prices of all drugs and medical procedures.⁴⁵

Universal health coverage has been a goal of the international community since 2010, as reiterated in Agenda 2030. A United Nations General Assembly⁴⁶ resolution in 2012 urged all governments to move towards providing all people with access to affordable, quality healthcare services. Realizing this goal is crucial for an ageing population, given the higher incidence of disease and disability.

Currently, most Asia-Pacific countries provide public health care, but without much emphasis on older people. Particularly in lowand middle-income countries, health systems are poorly designed to meet their chronic and complex care needs. Government policy still heavily emphasizes the care of children and adults. While heart disease and stroke result in the loss of many years of life, and high blood pressure is a key treatable risk factor for these diseases - only 4 percent to 14 percent of older people in low- and middle-income countries receive effective treatment.⁴⁷ They are far less likely to receive psychological therapies for mental illness and more likely to be prescribed medication.⁴⁸

These tendencies raise issues of equity, suggesting that in the move towards universality, health systems will need to both provide a younger population with curative interventions, and adapt so that older people also have high-quality, safe care, beyond the hospital setting, including for chronic non-communicable diseases and disabilities.⁴⁹

Inequities in access to health care also relate to costs. Out-of-pocket health expenses can be high, particularly for older people who are poor and/or are no longer working. Among 13 Asian countries and territories with 55 percent of the region's population, social medical insurance schemes and out-of-pocket payments are actually regressive in some cases, in that the wealthy pay a smaller share of their income to fund them.⁵⁰

Asia-Pacific countries have been making some efforts to address the health challenges of older people—80 percent have policies, programmes or plans backing accessible and affordable health-care services,⁵¹ although wide differences prevail in implementation. Several countries and areas have universal health-care systems in place, with some offering free access to public health care for all citizens, such as Australia, Brunei Darussalam; Japan; Macao, China (SAR); Malaysia; New Zealand; the Republic of Korea and Singapore.

Some countries and areas, such as China; Hong Kong, China (SAR); the Philippines and Sri Lanka, are making efforts to reform their health systems to reach universal coverage in the near future, including through a deliberate emphasis on older people. China has established a national database and information centre for older people that offers specialized expertise. Other recent reforms include the National Cooperative Medical System, a rural insurance system to protect the health of farmers. Pilot-tested in 2003, the programme was extended and covered 802 million people by 2013.52 The Philippines has recently moved to universal health coverage of older persons through its state-owned Philippine Health Insurance Corporation (Box 4.4).

Countries have increasingly recognized the importance of promoting self-care for older

Older people use more health-care services and require more expensive treatment

BOX 4.4: Attaining universal health-care coverage for older people in the Philippines

Since 2014, all citizens aged 60 and above in the Philippines have had automatic healthcare coverage through the government-owned Philippine Health Insurance Corporation (Phil-Health). It now covers over 6 million older people.

The Government established PhilHealth as part of a drive for universal health care. The corporation also administers the National Health Insurance Programme, which provides basic health coverage and quality health services for all Filipinos. In recent years, it has expanded benefits to cover specific groups such as people with disabilities. As of December 2013, PhilHealth covered 76.9 million Filipinos.

Contributing to the PhilHealth fund is mandatory for all Filipino workers employed by private businesses and the Government as well as those employed overseas. People aged 60 and above who are working and earning more than the poverty threshold of income also contribute, helping make universal coverage feasible.

Source: Philippines Health Corporation 2014.

Pensions are important guarantees of income security and well-being for the elderly

persons. For example, Thailand has established elderly clubs in all provinces that encourage selfcare and social participation. Very few countries have tackled disabilities or HIV among older people, although the Republic of Korea has established a community-based rehabilitation system for older people with disabilities.⁵³

PENSION SYSTEMS STRUGGLE TO KEEP UP

Pensions are important guarantees of income security and well-being for the elderly. Amid rapid population ageing in Asia-Pacific, countries need to make sure that public pension systems are designed to meet the needs of older people, and provide them with sufficient resources to live a life of dignity. Because social pensions entail public money, they invoke issues related to budget priorities, coverage, adequacy and sustainability. These in turn are framed by human rights principles inherent to human well-being, and the need to steer the economy on a steady course by protecting against fiscal deficits.

Given relatively rapid development, public pension systems in Asia-Pacific tend to be fragmented and complex, not having had time to evolve into more integrated and mature systems. In one of the region's most advanced countries, the Republic of Korea, a pension system was only created in 1988. In China, the basic oldage insurance programme for non-public sector employees was established mainly in 1997 (Box 4.5). In Indonesia, it was only in 2004 that a law was enacted to establish a comprehensive social security programme.⁵⁴

According to the World Bank classification, pensions can be put into five pillars. Pillar 0 characterizes social pension that is typically funded from the national revenue to ensure minimum income security at old age and combat poverty. These programs are non-contributory in nature and could be targeted towards some specific groups or be universal, depending upon budget availability. Pillar 1 involves mandatory publicly managed schemes including defined benefits where the amount of pension is connected to individual earnings and defined-contribution scheme where individuals also contribute to the pension. Pillar 2 characterizes privately managed mandatory savings with various investment options, while Pillar 3 consists of privately managed voluntary savings. The final Pillar constitutes of non-financial assets including home-ownership, non-cash savings, and family support.55

Most Asia-Pacific countries have contributory pension schemes, either a defined benefit or defined contribution scheme, or a combination of the two (Table 4.2). Contributory systems cover only a small segment of the population, however, mainly public servants and employees in the formal sector. Even for employees in the latter, programmes are often broken down by type of employment, public or private, and sometimes by social status, such as whether someone is a migrant or not.

Both defined benefit and defined contribution systems are inherently inequitable, in that they are available only to some people, generally those with better employment and more means. With defined contribution systems, which require employee contributions, the poor and lower cadre staff may not be able to make adequate contributions, which could deprive them of an
In recent years, China has initiated various social protection measures aimed at universal pension coverage. Before 2009, it mainly had two mechanisms for income security among older people: one for civil servants and other employees, based on employer contributions, and another for urban workers, based on social insurance principles. Together, the two schemes covered around 250 million people in 2008, about 23 percent of the population aged 15 and above.

Starting in 2009, China established the New Rural Pension Scheme, and in mid-2011, it announced a national pilot Urban Residents Pension Scheme. These measures were aimed at completing a national framework for universal pension coverage. Participation is voluntary. To encourage people to join, the pensions consist of two components: a social pension paid by the Government, and an individual savings account financed jointly by individuals, collective entities such as state-owned enterprises and the Government. A minimum level set for the social pension can be higher if local governments can fund it.

Source: ILO 2014a.

adequate pension in old age.

As a step towards universal public pension coverage, many countries have established some form of publicly funded social pension, varying in coverage, sufficiency and cost (Table 4.3). Social pensions are an important way to extend coverage to those without access to contributory pension systems and provide the elderly with protection against poverty. The growing importance of these programmes responds to rapid ageing, low coverage of contributory pension schemes, a large informal sector and the weakening of traditional family support systems. Coverage now exceeds that of contributory systems, which reach only around 20 percent of the elderly.

Malaysia, the Philippines, the Republic of Korea, Thailand and Viet Nam all have social pension programmes, but most provide limited support, for which a means test, either by income or age, is required. In Viet Nam, only those aged 85 and over and without pensions are eligible, and the current payment level is about \$7.50 per month. Nepal's monthly social pension is just By the end of 2013, between the pre- and post-2009 schemes, 850 million people, nearly 75 percent of the population aged 15 and above, was covered by a pension.

To address issues of adequacy, equality and sustainability in the schemes, in 2013, China embarked on a number of major reforms. These have included merging the two newer schemes to equalize entitlements, allowing 'portability' so that entitlements can move between the merged schemes and others, and converting employers' liability for civil servants into a social insurance pension scheme.

The Chinese experience shows that if there is political will, extending pension coverage to all citizens within a very short period is feasible. It also demonstrates how combining contributory schemes and non-contributory social pensions may be an effective way to achieve universality.

\$5, and surveys of elderly persons have found complaints with paltry sums.⁵⁶

Globally, just over half of people above the legal retirement age receive pensions.⁵⁷ Coverage is as low as 22 percent in Africa and as high as over 90 percent in North America, Western Europe, and Central and Eastern Europe (Figure 4.10).⁵⁸ Where many people work in informal employment, are self-employed or are under temporary contracts, a smaller proportion of people will receive pensions.⁵⁹ Many more can rely only on family support or savings they have cobbled together.⁶⁰ Migration introduces another dimension. While young people who have moved away from rural areas to live in cities may become eligible for participation in public pension programmes, large numbers of older people left behind in the countryside are not entitled to benefits based on employment.⁶¹

In Asia-Pacific, pension coverage, including by non-contributory pensions, hovers around the global average of about 47 percent, but falls sharply to just over 32 percent if China is excludPension systems are still weak and fragmented in the region

TABLE 4.2:Most countries in Asia-Pacific have contributory pension schemes

		MODALITY OF PILLARS	
	Pillar 0 *	Pillar 1 **	Pillar 2 ***
East Asia			
China	Targeted Programme	Defined Benefit	-
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	Universal		Defined Contribution
Japan	Basic	Defined Benefit	-
Korea, Republic of	Basic	Defined Benefit	
Mongolia	Universal	National Defined Contribution	14 A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A
South-east Asia			
Brunei Darussalam	Universal	Provident Fund	-
Cambodia		<i>n</i> .	10 M
Indonesia		Provident Fund	
Lao People's Democratic Republic	•	Defined Benefit	*
Malaysia	Targeted Programme	Provident Fund	21
Philippines	Basic	Defined Benefit	-
Singapore	-	Provident Fund	-
Thailand	Universal	Defined Benefit	÷.
Timor-Leste	Universal	-	-
Viet Nam	Targeted Program	Defined Benefit	
South Asia			
Afghanistan			
Bangladesh	Targeted Programme	-	
Bhutan			
India	Targeted Programme	Defined Benefit, Provident Fund	-1
Maldives	Universal	<u></u>	Defined Contribution
Nepal	Targeted Programme	Provident Fund	
Pakistan	ā.	Defined Benefit	
Sri Lanka	5	Provident Fund	•
Oceania			
Australia	Targeted Programme	•	Defined Contribution
Fiji	Targeted Programme	Provident Fund	*
Kiribati		Provident Fund	
Marshall Islands			
Micronesia, Federated States of	2	Defined Benefit	12
New Zealand	Universal		÷
Palau	-	Defined Benefit	-
Papua New Guinea		Provident Fund	÷.
Samoa	Basic	Provident Fund	
Solomon Islands	5.	Provident Fund	
Tonga		5.47	6
Vanuatu		Provident Fund	•:

Notes:

* Pillar 0: Often called 'social pensions' in recognition of their social policy goal of offering a minimum income in old age. Targeted programmes pay benefits only to older people with the lowest incomes. Basic pensions refer to either a flat rate or a sum dependent on years of work. A universal social pension is a non-contributory, non-earning-related scheme for all people above a certain age.

** Pilar 1: Mandatory publicly managed schemes include: defined-benefit schemes with a formula directly relating retirement incomes to individual earnings; notional defined-contribution schemes, where benefits depend on contributions made and notional interest credited to individual accounts; and provident funds/publicly managed defined-contribution schemes, where benefits depend on the amount of contributions and the investment returns they earn.

*** Pillar 2: Mandatory privately managed schemes that are either fully funded or are defined benefits schemes.

TABLE 4.3: Social pensions are an important way to extend access, but most are still limited in their support

Country	Social pension	Targeting method	Age eligibility (years)	Proportion of 60+ receiving pensions (%)	Amount (% of income per capita)	Cost (% of GDP)
Bangladesh	Old age Allowance	Means-tested	65	31	8.3	0.12
India	Indira Gandhi Old Age Pension	Means-tested	60	12	6.8	0.05
Korea (Republic of)	Basic Old Age Pension	Means-tested	65	68	4.7	N.A
Nepal	Old Age Allowance	Universal but pensions-tested	70 (60 in some areas)	80	17.3	0.35
Philippines	Expanded Senior Citizen Pension	Means-tested	60	N.A	N.A	0.1
Thailand	Old Age Allowance	Universal but pensions- tested	60	73	4.5	0.33
Viet Nam	Social Pension	Pensions-tested	80 (60 for some categories)	10	6.5	0.05

Source: Asher 2012.

ed. Coverage ranges from almost 1 percent in Papua New Guinea and Tonga to 100 percent in Mongolia and Timor-Leste. Coverage in Nepal, a least developed country, is higher than in some middle-income countries such as Malaysia and Sri Lanka. Among 34 countries with available data, 14 have coverage rates of 50 percent or more (Figure 4.11). Pension coverage shrinks if considered only in light of contributory pensions.

Despite gaps, developing countries in the region have made significant progress over the last decade, with pension coverage increasing in 30 out of 34 countries with data. Countries that have made big jumps include China, Maldives, Thailand and Timor-Leste, among others.⁶²

Differences in coverage are explained by several factors, including public policy choices and pension types. In China, for instance, most people are not in the contributory pension system, so they receive benefits from a social protection programme that is fairly small.⁶³ Thailand's high coverage rate largely stems from defined benefit programmes such as the Old-Age Allowance System, which is a mandatory social insurance system requiring all formal entities with employees to participate, and the National Savings Fund, which acts as a safety net for Thai workers not covered by state pension.⁶⁴ Nepal has higher coverage through publicly funded social pensions. In some countries, including Bhutan, Cambodia, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Tonga, and Vanuatu, pensions coverage are relatively low, with coverage extending only to 5 percent or less of the older population.

Actual pension coverage tends to be less than that promised by law. Such gaps occur, for instance, when national institutions are not effective enough in delivering benefits and

FIGURE 4.10: Globally, pension coverage varies widely



Source: ILO 2014a.

services, and where there are budgetary constraints. Pensions with voluntary affiliation mechanisms, which are more likely for self-, part-time or informal employment, have lower coverage. Globally, more than half of employees are affiliated with a pension scheme, compared with 16 percent of the self-employed. Men are better covered than women.⁶⁵

Besides understanding coverage, it is important to look at the adequacy of pension systems, which indicates the degree to which older people can rely financially on pensions. The variety and complexity of national pension systems, as well as the limited availability of data, make it difficult to find a comparable benchmark for measuring adequacy. Some indicators can provide an estimate, however,⁶⁶ such as the replacement rate. It measures how

FIGURE 4.11:

In Asia-Pacific, pension coverage tends to be higher in wealthier countries, but many developing states have made impressive progress



Actual pension coverage may be less than that promised by law

Source: ILO 2014a.

effectively a pension system replaces earnings before retirement. The gross replacement rate is defined as gross pension entitlement divided by gross pre-retirement earnings, while the net replacement rate uses net values taking into account income taxes and social security contributions.⁶⁷ The minimum replacement rates necessary to guarantee pension income above the poverty line varies from country to country, but is estimated to be between 50 percent and 90 percent for low-income earners.⁶⁸ As shown in Figure 4.12, among countries where data are available, many are below this threshold.

In Japan, for example, the pension coverage rate of 95 percent is very high. But the gross replacement rate of an average earner is only 36 percent, however, and 50 percent for a low earner.⁶⁹ In China, the active coverage rate of 34 percent is lower, but the replacement rate for low earners reaches 98 percent, and 78 percent for people who receive an average income. In India, only 6 percent of the working-age population contributes to a pension scheme, yet replacement rates of 76 percent for low earners and 56 percent for average earners are quite high.

Maintaining a balance between the volume of people covered and the level of benefits received is a matter of public policy and involves issues of sustainability. Implicit pension debt, defined as the present value of future pension promises minus prefunding, if any, is an indicator of sustainability. In Asia-Pacific countries with defined benefit pension systems, pension promises are often at least partly funded, which can lead to implicit pension debts larger than the public debt of the country. This has sparked concerns about maintaining pension systems over the long term, for example, in the Philippines and the Republic of Korea.⁷⁰

Worldwide, more than half of total public pension expenditure, amounting to 3 percent of global GDP, is allocated to income security for older persons.⁷¹ In 2010 to 2011, public nonhealth social protection expenditure for older people was highest in Western Europe at 11 percent of GDP, and lowest in Africa at 1 percent. Asia-Pacific, at 2 percent, is significantly below the global mean (Figure 4.13). If the proportion of expenditure is compared with the share of the older population, Asia-Pacific is worse off than Africa. Among 36 Asia-Pacific countries

FIGURE 4.12: Pension replacement rates provide a measure of adequacy



Source: OECD 2014.

Notes: The pension coverage rate is that of individuals who are actively working and contributing to a pension. It does not include individuals covered by non-contributory pension schemes.

with available data, 17 spent less than 1 percent of GDP on pensions in 2010 to 2011. Australia and New Zealand spent around 5 percent, while Japan spent almost 12 percent (Figure 4.14).

Current low spending on pensions in most Asia-Pacific countries is expected to rise. In emerging economies, there was a 2 percentage point jump in public pension spending as the share of GDP between 1990 and 2010, with predicted climbs in advanced and emerging economies by an average of 1 and 3 percentage points over the next two and four decades, respectively.⁷² The proportion of the government budget spent on social pensions ranges from 0.05 percent in India and Viet Nam to 0.35 percent in Nepal. However, research indicates that the cost should range from 1 percent to 1.5 percent of GDP in the medium term, and 2 to 2.5 percent in the long run.⁷³ The Japanese have had some experience in taking measures to

FIGURE 4.13: Non-health public expenditure on pensions is very low in Asia-Pacific compared to other regions



Source: ILO 2014a.

Pensions in many cases do not provide enough income for self-sufficiency protect fiscal sustainability during this process (Box 4.6). In all cases, good design, governance and delivery are critical.

While domestic savings as a share of GDP has risen in some high- and middle-income countries with a greater share of older people, and can produce a demographic dividend as well as cushioning the process of ageing for individuals, it does not increase indefinitely. A reversal is especially likely as the number of 'oldest old' people grows, given increased needs for medical care and support services. And introducing a pension scheme, regardless of the type, can lead to a drop in overall per capita savings.⁷⁴

Governments in some Asian countries have made efforts to encourage saving—people in Singapore are required to save a high fraction of their earnings through mandatory contributions to a central provident fund. Some East Asian economies, including China, have achieved high-

FIGURE 4.14:

Social protection spending on pensions lags behind in many countries



The proportion of government spending on social pensions is low

BOX 4.6: Japan sustains a system by containing costs

Japan's social security system provides public pensions, health insurance and long-term care for old-age security. Pension systems are mainly operated by the national Government, and health-care services by prefectural governments, with key roles for private organizations. The social security system is funded through both private and public sources: 60 percent by insurance contributions, 30 percent by public expenditure and about 10 percent by asset income.

While an ageing population exerts a heavy fiscal burden, the Government has managed to contain costs. In 2009, it spent 10 percent of GDP on old-age and survivor benefits, less than several advanced countries with relatively younger populations, such as France at 14 percent and Germany at 11 percent. The Government has sought to moderate benefits to address rising demand, and the structure of the pension system has been adjusted several times. In 2004, benefits for new retirees were cut by 1 percent a year. People have been encouraged to work longer and take later retirement. Public pensions are progressive, meaning high-income retirees draw fewer benefits.

The sustainability of Japan's medical care and long-term care insurance services will be tested in the next 10 years, however, when the baby-boomer cohort will turn 75. Demand for social security benefits will hit its peak.

Sources: National Institute of Population and Social Security Research 2011, Government of Japan 2016, OECD 2013, Takashi 2014.

er rates of personal saving without government mandates. This stands in sharp contrast with the public pension systems in Europe, and to a lesser extent in Japan and the United States, which tend to provide for retirees out of current taxes.⁷⁵ Some examples of successful pension systems are highlighted in Box 4.7.

ACCESSIBILITY IS IMPROVING BUT STILL LIMITED

Interactions with friends, families and the wider community are vital to older people. As the region's population ages, and more seniors begin Demographic shifts have catalysed a re-evaluation of pension schemes worldwide. Increasingly common elements, which are often used in combination, include non-contributory schemes such as a social pension, contributory schemes scaled to varying degrees of earnings, mandatory individual savings accounts, and flexible and discretionary arrangements through employers. Familial assistance can also be significant.

The **Danish** retirement scheme provides opportunities for citizens to contribute to private pension funds while simultaneously guaranteeing basic old-age pensions scaled to prior occupations. The system has grown from entirely public to partly private to meet the future challenge of an older population. Population longevity is being linked to increases in retirement age, with a predicted pension age of 69 by 2050.

In **Australia**, the retirement income system synthesizes a means-tested age pension, paid from general government revenue, with a mandatory employer contribution to private sector plans. The means-tested pension provides a basic income to those whose incomes or assets do not meet specified levels. The mandatory retirement saving programme, known as the Superannuation Guarantee, requires employers to contribute 9 percent of earnings, rising to 12 percent by 2020. A final element is voluntary saving.

Chile's system incorporates means-tested social assistance with mandatory privately managed defined contribution and employer-sponsored supplementary plans. Any retiree who has worked at least 20 years and whose pension falls below the minimum level receives additional support to reach that level.

With continued improvements in life expectancy and mortality, the financial sustainability of pension models has been increasingly questioned, particularly where early retirement has placed a strain on reserves. In **Germany**, the benefits of the national scheme go disproportionately to older generations while younger people face higher contribution requirements. This can reduce incentives to remain in the labour force and lead to full withdrawal of pension funds and an early retirement.

Rising pressure to reform public pension systems to contain costs is often spurred by the need to increase domestic fiscal stability and sustainability. Implementing these reforms, however, can incur high administrative costs, and could potentially result in public protests and political instability, underscoring the need to carefully consider different elements in the process of reform and in aiming for sustainability.

Private pension systems may be an appropriate support to public schemes. Policy options to increase cooperation between the two include compulsory or automatic enrolment to raise coverage rates, encouragement to contribute larger amounts for longer periods of time through measures such as increasing retirement age, and establishing outreach programmes to target population subgroups requiring improved access to private pensions.

Sources: Nguyen 2002, Mason and Lee 2011, Holzmann and Hinz 2005, Abrahamson and Webner 2003, Williams and Fixsen 2012, Melbourne Mercer Global Pension Index 2015, Melbourne Mercer Global Pension Index 2015a, Melbourne Mercer Global Pension Index 2015b, Agnew 2013, The economist 2014b, The Economist 2014c, Longman 2015.

to live alone, elderly communities will increase, making accessibility even more important. To fully align with human development and human rights, these communities will have to be equipped with facilities for transportation, grocery stores, pharmacies, medical facilities, social support services and public parks. Such amenities help older people living alone to stay independent, healthy and happy, and to continue contributing to their communities.

Ageing in place is an important concept that encourages measures allowing seniors to continue living in their own homes and communities,⁷⁶ recognizing that the nature and suitability of housing is one of the major determinants of older people's well-being.⁷⁷ Older people spend more time at home or in their neighbourhood than other age groups.⁷⁸ While decent, appropriate housing can contribute to active ageing and well-being, poor housing exacerbates chronic conditions and disability. Falls among older people are a major cause of lost independence, with home environments proven to influence their likelihood.

Only some countries in the region have policies or programmes to enable older persons to

Decent, appropriate housing can contribute to active ageing and well-being remain in their own homes; more have facilities for affordable and accessible transportation, such as discounts, special fares, concessions or exemptions, and priority seating. For example, India's Ministry of Railways has offered discounts and earmarked separate counters at various passenger reservation centres for senior citizens.

While much more needs to be done in the region, there are examples of good practices and innovations in housing design, assistive devices, transportation and community services. A growing number of national and local governments have adopted policies to make housing and the urban environment more accessible. Many cities offer reduced public transit fares for older persons; some also have special transportation arrangements for those with limited mobility. Building codes have been revised to provide age-friendly features in new construction.

Governments and civil society organizations have sometimes made significant investments in modifications to existing housing and public facilities. In 2008, the Mayor of Seoul announced a move towards an 'age-friendly city' with a '3-10 plan', comprising 10 new care centres for the elderly within each city district, accessible within a 10-minute walk and open until 10 pm.⁷⁹ While innovative programmes are mostly found in more developed countries, cities such as Bangkok, Beijing and New Delhi are also adopting new measures, in some cases on a pilot basis.⁸⁰

Some cities are already adopting ageing strategies and targeted policies. For example, the City Council of Brisbane's Seniors Strategy for 2012-2017 focuses on improving pedestrian mobility and transport, infrastructure, and access to public buildings and venues.⁸¹ China has created proposals for 'universities of the third age' to accommodate active older citizens, and is building more nursing homes for others. The Republic of Korea has invested in parttime public sector employment programmes for retirees to help them avoid falling into poverty and social isolation.⁸² Globally, the WHO has established a network for sharing experiences on age-friendly cities and communities (Box 4.8).

Accessibility is particularly critical—and difficult—among Asia-Pacific's fast-ageing rural populations. Many rural older people still lack access even to basic health care, for reasons related to shortfalls in health care systems as well barriers such as poor roads and transport systems. A lack of banking services may pose obstacles to collecting pensions or accessing savings for those who have them. A deteriorating social network due to rural-urban migration can mean older people left behind end up struggling with social isolation and a lack of support. Some promising models to improve accessibility in rural areas are starting to emerge, often through the use of telecommunications technology, including mobile phones. Through telemedicine, for instance, older rural residents can be readily and inexpensively connected to centres of medical excellence.

On the whole, most efforts to accommodate older people in developing Asia-Pacific countries are still nominal, such as seats on public transport. Provisions lack a holistic approach, which results in shortfalls, such as when older persons cannot use a seat reservation on a public bus because it is difficult for them to get into the bus. Reservations for senior citizens to oc-

BOX 4.8: The WHO Global Network of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities

The WHO Global Network of Age-Friendly Cities and Communities was launched in 2005 to help create more liveable urban areas for older citizens. The initiative aims to promote the sharing of experiences among communities across the world, and provides guidance for integrating an ageing perspective into urban planning and enacting policies for more age-friendly communities.

The initiative has also produced a guide that identifies the core features of an age-friendly city. It builds on the WHO's active ageing framework, which views ageing as "the process of optimizing opportunities for health, participation and security in order to enhance quality of life as people age." The project has tapped the views of older residents through focus group discussions in a diverse range of cities across the world, covering different regions, income levels and population size. It includes good practices in the areas of public spaces, transportation, housing, social participation, employment and health.

Source: WHO 2007, Economist 2013.

Many rural older people still contend with poor roads and transport systems cupy space in some public buildings have little meaning if the buildings lack elevators.

REMAINING ENGAGED

Many older people remain in the workforce, earn incomes, vote and pay taxes. They also volunteer, and in fact, many organizations would be difficult to run without their older volunteers.⁸³ Self-employment is the dominant form of their work, commonly at rates of 90 percent and higher in rural areas of East Asia and the Pacific. Older people of 65 and above in East and South-east Asia tend to continue working long hours, particularly in rural areas. In some countries, older men work on average 40 hours or more a week, and women work 30 to 45 hours a week.⁸⁴ Women also play critical role within households, such as caring for children. One study found that grandparents in rural China provide care to 19 million children whose parents have migrated to cities.85

As people age, they leave the workforce, but in some cases, they exit at rates that may be higher than ideal. The labour force participation of older people has increased in some Asia-Pacific countries between 1990 and 2013 (Figure 4.15); others have seen a decline. For the region as a whole, the rate is low compared to other developing regions-among people aged 65 and above, it is only 34 percent for men and 11 percent for women. This compares with 53 percent of men and 28 percent of women in Africa and 47 percent of men and 19 percent of women in Latin America and the Caribbean.⁸⁶ And while Asia-Pacific's labour force participation rate among older people is projected to decline, the rate will likely rise in Latin America and the Caribbean and North America until 2020.

Institutional, legal, social and technical barriers that constrict work force participation for older people in Asia-Pacific include a legal age requirement for retirement, a lack of familiarity with modern technology, limited

FIGURE 4.15: Labour force participation rates are low among older people in Asia-Pacific countries



A variety of barriers constricting work force participation for older people need to be removed options for lifelong learning, and the reluctance of companies to invest in training or hiring older employees. These obstacles occur despite several international agreements stipulating that older persons have a right to decent work opportunities, free from any form of discrimination. Older workers often face discrimination at workplaces particularly with respect to training and recruitment. Preference is given to the recruitment of younger workers who are assumed will stay longer on the job.

While legislation has a role in correcting prejudices, this may not be sufficient to change employer attitudes and employment practices.⁸⁷ Practical considerations should be stressed as well—China, for instance, will have a shortage of 22 million skilled workers by 2020, despite massive investments in education.⁸⁸

Low retirement age is a particular barrier, because it may push people out of the workforce even before they are ready. Among all global regions, and for men and women, retirement ages are lowest in Asia-Pacific,⁸⁹ currently ranging from 55 years to 60 years. The gap between life expectancy and formal retirement age is noticeably large in several countries, almost 25 years for men in Singapore⁹⁰ and 25 years for women in Viet Nam.⁹¹ China, Sri Lanka and Viet Nam still impose a lower retirement age for women than for men.⁹² This is discriminatory and overlooks the reality that women generally live longer than men, and may spend many years in old age without employment or a spouse to provide financial support.

Despite artificially low retirement ages, many people have no choice but to continue working, given the inadequacy of pensions especially in developing countries, and the general weakening of family-based support in the region. Many end up in the informal sector, where working conditions tend to be poor and safety nets are typically tattered, if they exist at all. While there is a pronounced preference for early retirement in developed countries such as Japan and the Republic of Korea, older people in Indonesia and the Philippines fund two-fifths of their consumption from their own labour income.⁹³ In Indonesia and Japan, they provide more support to their families than what they receive from them.

The poor matching of life expectancy and retirement age has implications for individuals and societies at large. Skilled labour may go to waste, and fiscal pressures linked to pension funds may increase, blocking more productive investments. Recognizing these risks, some countries have begun to promote employment for older persons. China's Silver Age Action Programme organizes retired intellectuals to apply their scientific and technological knowledge and expertise to aid the advancement of underdeveloped regions of the country. Between 2003 and 2010, the programme benefited an estimated 200 million people and generated economic returns worth five billion yuan.⁹⁴

The governments of Indonesia and the Philippines have educational assistance programmes that encourage senior citizens to pursue different types of technical and vocational training. In the Philippines, private companies are entitled to a 15 percent reduction on income taxes paid on behalf of older workers.⁹⁵ Indonesia has established centres in almost all of its 34 provinces that provide training to workers in the informal sector, including older ones. In Viet Nam, the 2002 Labour Law guarantees older people the right to decent work while receiving pension benefits.⁹⁶

The workforce is only one channel for older people to participate in their societies. Increasingly, they are a powerful political constituency. In some countries, they show up in large numbers for elections, wielding significant political influence that governments cannot afford to ignore.⁹⁷

Since the Madrid International Plan of Action, many countries have formulated or revised policies on national ageing policy, strategy or plan. In Asia-Pacific, 40 percent of countries have specific and overarching legislation on older persons,⁹⁸ with recent examples including the Senior Citizens Acts in India (2007) and the Law on the Elderly in Viet Nam (2010).⁹⁹ These acts and regulations are meant to support active ageing and ensure the full participation of older adults in society.

Governments in Sri Lanka, Turkey and Viet Nam have worked closely with civil society organizations representing older persons on national action plans on ageing. Both Indonesia and New Zealand, under the aegis of govern-

Legislation has a role in correcting prejudices, but may not be enough to change employer attitudes and practices ment bodies, encourage regular interactions between older and younger people to discuss intergenerational issues.

Civic and cultural programmes to combat social isolation and support empowerment include the Chinese Older Persons' Chorus Festival and Olympic Games for older persons. In Thailand, over 25 percent of older people, about 2 million in total, were members of senior citizen clubs in 2007. A national Elderly Fund provides financial support for activities of older persons' groups, clubs or networks.¹⁰⁰

Despite progress, the participation of older persons in society and development is still relatively limited in many Asia-Pacific countries, requiring concerted advocacy to shift mindsets and tackle marginalization. Only a few countries have actually implemented comprehensive policies for older people, in part due to inadequate awareness of the importance of addressing population ageing. Another issue is a dearth of information or evidence upon which to base the design and implementation of appropriate and effective policy responses. Collecting better data and conducting more comprehensive research could shine a light on ageing in the region, and its specific dynamics and impacts in each country. While some countries have now conducted initial surveys on ageing (Table 4.4), large gaps remain on a range of ageing issues. Data on older persons need to be collected regularly, and disaggregated by age, sex, subnational units and socioeconomic characteristics.

PRESSURES ON FISCAL SUSTAINABILITY

Ageing has profound implications for public budgets. Difficult choices may lie ahead, particularly without sufficient preparations. A major challenge overall will be balancing the needs and rights of different generations, so that expanding older populations have protection and care, but without sacrificing essential services for everyone else.

In some developing regions, such as Latin America and the Caribbean, and Eastern Europe and Central Asia, the state provides generous pension systems. In Asia-Pacific, by contrast, people still rely more heavily on their own labour and the support of their families, especially in rural areas.¹⁰¹ Nonetheless, several Asia-pacific countries are among those globally with the largest recent increases in spending on pensions. Between 2010 and 2030, pension spending by the Republic of Korea will rise by 4 percentage points, from 2 percent of GDP to 6 percent, above the average of advanced economies, which is 1 percentage point. China's spending is projected to increase by 3 percentage points and Malaysia's by 2 percentage points, both substantially higher than the average of about 1 percentage point for similar countries.¹⁰²

With its current design, China's Basic Old-Age Insurance scheme for urban non-government employees could alone run up a deficit that might be 5 percent of GDP by 2030, with an accumulated total deficit amounting to over 30 percent of GDP.¹⁰³ A national social pension plan A major fiscal challenge is balancing the needs and rights of different generations

TABLE 4.4: A number of countries have initiated national ageing surveys to guide policy choices

Australia	National Seniors Australia's Atlas of Productive Ageing 2009, Older Adults at a Glance 2004
Cambodia	Older Persons in Cambodia: A Profile from the 2004 Survey of the Elderly
Chile	Situation analysis of pensioners and their home careers (SENAMA) 2007
China	Survey of the Aged Population of Urban/Rural China 2000, 2006 and 2010
Indonesia	Profile of the Older Population in Indonesia 2010
Japan	Annual Report on the Ageing Society since 2002, National Survey on Elder Abuse 2003
Myanmar	The Elderly Population in Myanmar: Trends, living conditions, characteristics and prospects 2005
Thailand	National survey every five years
Viet Nam	Results on Survey of the Elderly, 2007 (National Committee on Ageing)

to cover the population at the current poverty line, which is equivalent to 7 percent of GDP per capita, and with an increased retirement age of 65, could incur an annual cost of 0.7 percent to 1 percent of GDP, which is not very high. But a combination of more generous benefits, early retirement age and lower than expected fertility could raise the share to 4.5 percent.¹⁰⁴

Rising living standards and population ageing are also associated, inevitably, with higher health-care costs, with additional implications for public budgets. The population ageing threshold at which health-care spending begins a rapid rise is around a 9 percent share of older people. While there were only 13 Asia and Pacific countries and areas over this threshold in 2015, 16 more will reach it by 2030.

Most East Asian and Pacific countries spend less on public health care than countries in other regions and subregions, when adjusted for per capita income.¹⁰⁵ Ageing and the accompanying increase in chronic non-communicable diseases are likely to increase costs by 20 percent to 40 percent between 2000 and 2020,¹⁰⁶ however, requiring improved financing mechanisms.¹⁰⁷ Among the world's economically advanced countries, including Japan, health-care spending per capita is about four times higher for people aged 65 and older than for the rest of the population.

While many countries in recent decades have enjoyed historically high rates of economic growth, these are not sustainable, as countries such as Japan, the Republic of Korea and Singapore have demonstrated. High growth rate periods are generally followed by long periods of low growth, which means slower expansion of government revenue. This will constrain government abilities to fund pension programmes, health care and other forms of support for older people. In a business-as-usual scenario, the transfer of wealth to older people could rise to 320 percent of total labour income by 2030, and 540 percent by 2050.¹⁰⁸ China, where the recent economic boom has produced a sizable surplus, could see it vanish within the next 20 years.¹⁰⁹

The fiscal support ratio can be used to assess pressures on fiscal sustainability (Table 4.5).¹¹⁰ Values less than 100 percent indicate a decline in tax revenues relative to expenditures in 2010, which is the base year. The ratio deteriorates in advanced countries such as Japan by 26 percentage points. These countries would have to either increase taxes or reduce public expenditures. Ratios for India, Indonesia, the Philippines and Thailand are higher, suggesting that these countries can expand expenditures at the existing tax rate. The danger, of course, is that countries with favourable demographics in the early to middle stages of transition could implement generous systems of support that ultimately prove to be unsustainable.¹¹¹

REVERSING LOW FERTILITY RATES AND INCREASING THE FLOW OF IMMIGRATION

A number of Asia-Pacific countries are looking for ways to manage an ageing population. A

TABLE 4.5:Fiscal support ratios of some Asia-Pacific countries

Year	China	India	Indonesia	Japan	Republic of Korea	Philippines	Taiwan Province of China	Thailand
1960	84	96	81	98	76	84	68	66
1980	83	95	77	114	81	85	76	67
2000	98	98	92	111	99	94	94	92
2020	97	102	106	92	97	106	100	104
2040	84	103	109	79	83	114	85	104
2050	82	102	109	74	80	116	78	104

Health-care spending begins a rapid rise when the share of older people in a population reaches around 9 percent

Even in the face of ageing, well-designed policies have enabled some countries to keep their birth rates at desirable levels. In Sweden, for example, enabling women to work as well as become mothers has helped birth rates rise. Swedish parents receive 480 days of paid parental leave for each child, of which up to 60 days are reserved for fathers. The law also prohibits women from being dismissed from jobs due to reasons related to marriage or childbearing. In Norway, the state, municipality and parents share the burden of childcare, with the state's share being about 40 percent of the total cost. Subsidized public childcare programmes expanded extensively through the 1980s and 1990s, and nearly 66 percent of children now have access to these. Parents who do not use them can receive an equivalent cash bonus.

Family-friendly policies have helped France attain one of the highest fertility rates in Europe, even as female labour force participation is higher than the average for countries in the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD). France spends a significant 3 percent of GDP on family policies. Additional tax breaks and monthly stipends kick in from the second child. Women can take maternity leave, reduce the number of hours of work and receive childcare support for up to three years. Immigration has helped keep birth rates high in the United Kingdom, although family policy in the last 10 years has also played a role, including through extending maternity leave from 16 weeks to 54 weeks. Public childcare has been very limited, covering only 2 percent of children under age three, the lowest ratio in Western Europe. Reforms now seek to extend public facilities and provide low-cost care for poor families.

In Asia-Pacific in 2014, the Republic of Korea had the lowest fertility rate. People are disinclined to have more children in part because of high costs of schooling and childcare. Women struggle between choosing a career or staying at home to care for children; only half participate in the labour market. The Government now aims to extend public childcare to cover 30 percent of children by 2017, and also to encourage expansion of private health care. Policies are being devised to reduce the length of the workweek, increase parental leave and cut costs of education.

Sources: Rønsen 2004, Ivanovic 2008, Toulemon, Pailhe and Rossier 2008, Toulemon et al. 2008.

shortage of younger workers, economic slowdown and increasing fiscal pressures have led some to encourage people to have more children. In October 2015, China's one-child policy was abolished and replaced with a two-child policy aimed at overcoming the negative socioeconomic implications of ageing. Countries in Europe, including France, the United Kingdom and Scandinavian countries have successfully increased fertility rates close to the replacement level. The Government of the Republic of Korea is incentivizing higher fertility by lowering the cost of education.

Japan's latest draft population policy aims to increase its birth rate by supporting local governments and others in sponsoring speed-dating events and matchmaking, and offering more paternity leave and fertility centres. Australia and Singapore have introduced baby bonus schemes and considerable cash incentives to improve fertility rates. Box 4.9 shows how different national polices have been effective in reversing falling fertility rates. Although fertility in many ageing Asia-Pacific developed countries may rebound in the coming decades, it will probably not reach replacement level in the foreseeable future. Any increase would need at least a couple of decades before becoming 'visible' to the labour market. In this context, expanding the labour force can be done primarily by increasing female labour force participation, raising the retirement age and encouraging immigration. In most cases, the first two will be sufficient to maintain a reasonable balance between people working and dependents. In other instances, international migration is the only option in the short to medium term to address risks from rapid ageing combined with greater demand for health care.

As migrants are usually younger, migration is often proposed as a quick solution to labour shortages, including among care workers. It can make a significant contribution to the economy and to individual well-being, as long as the process is managed in a way that upholds the safety and rights of people who decide to migrate.

Some countries want people to have more children to slow the speed of ageing

Older countries such as Japan and the Republic of Korea used to be migrant source countries. But both in recent years, having increasingly seen the need to attract younger people to their workforces, have amended and adopted laws and regulations to ease the flow of immigrants to their own countries.

SUSTAINING HUMAN DEVELOPMENT ACROSS LONGER LIFESPANS

Developing Asia-Pacific countries have made significant strides in improving human development. But rapid ageing poses potentially serious challenges to progress without appropriate policy actions, taken urgently. Ageing also offers opportunities that should not be squandered. Countries need to manage their resources—human and otherwise—to ensure that they develop in ways that sustain progress and open opportunities for all segments of their populations, young and old.

Countries need to make an institutional and datadriven commitment to the well-being of older people Drawing on Agenda 2030 and the three pillars of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing, strategies to guide ageing should be grounded in the active empowerment and engagement of older persons, where they have central roles in decisions on the issues they face. All strategies should be underpinned by core principles such as equity, sufficiency and sustainability.

It will be possible to manage rapid aging while sustaining human development. This will require a number of complementary policy reforms. Measures will be needed on both an individual level, such as through preventive health and financial preparedness, and on the societal level, on key issues such as retirement age and the design of pension systems. The private sector and civil society will have roles to play, such as in extending services and pioneering innovations.

MAKE AGEING A TOP POLICY ISSUE, BACKED BY INSTITUTIONAL SUPPORT

Enact national ageing policies: An ageing pop-

ulation is inevitable, underlining that it must be prioritized in national development policies and plans. These should uphold the rights of older persons to participate in the development process, and to have access to all the capabilities and opportunities on which human development depends, with a special emphasis on quality mental and physical health and long-term care. Policies can cover a wide range of issues relevant to older persons and, more generally, an ageing population, such as using community-based approaches to encourage the meaningful participation of senior citizens in decision-making, sharing information about preventative health care and protecting the rights of older people. Special attention should go to groups facing age discrimination combined with other forms, particularly women.

Equally important is to adopt a national strategy or plan for ageing economies. Countries will change in fundamental ways as age composition shifts. Ageing will impact the size of the labour force, tax revenues, GDP, public expenditures on health care and pensions, and other key macroeconomic indicators that affect not only older people, but the population at large. A long-term vision and planning can help countries secure a healthier, more economically stable future. Plans will need to be backed by necessary budget resources and oriented around clear goals. Countries that start investing now in pension and health care, in particular, stand a better chance of sustaining and achieving additional human development gains.

Mainstream ageing issues and establish relevant institutional mechanisms. While many Asia-Pacific countries have enacted ageing-related laws and regulations, implementation remains limited. Countries need to ensure policies and concerns linked to ageing are understood and reflected across a variety of government actions. Entities housed under the ministries of labour, health and social welfare, among others, might serve as instruments to carry forward this process.

Government institutions dedicated to the well-being of older people can help ensure that policy promises get off the ground. They can advocate for the elderly, focus public attention on their challenges as well as the positive social and economic benefits they offer, and help coordinate the work of other government agencies on the diverse array of issues tied to ageing, including the economy, labour markets, health care, housing, transportation, and so on. Institutions to conduct inspections, surveys and hearings on ageing interventions can be means to uphold accountability and avenues for older people to participate.

In Japan and Thailand, interministerial councils and commissions on ageing, chaired by the Prime Minister's Office, oversee policy implementation. New Zealand has appointed a minister for senior citizens. Australia, China, Malaysia, the Republic of Korea and Thailand reserve seats in different consultative bodies on ageing for older persons.

Gather data about older people to guide policy: Knowledge about population ageing is limited in the region. Building a better foundation of data, evidence and knowledge will help make policies more attuned to reality on the ground. More research is needed on the social, psychological, cognitive and biological aspects of ageing. Data collection should be disaggregated by age, sex, subnational units and socioeconomic characteristics, and collected through periodic surveys that reveal patterns and gauge progress over time. International and regional cooperation can enhance the exchange of information, including across countries at the same as well as different stages of transition.

STRENGTHEN PENSIONS AND PROTECTION FOR OLDER PEOPLE

Expand pension and social protection coverage. With some social traditions and family ties beginning to fray, including through increased urbanization and migration, pension systems will become crucial for older people to live out their lives in a decent, dignified manner. In Asia-Pacific, excluding China, pensions cover only one-third of the population.¹¹² In a rapidly ageing region, expanding coverage to all will be fundamental to human development. Pension systems need to reach workers outside government services, in formal and informal enterprises, and in urban and rural areas. In some instances, governments will need to partner with the private sector to develop pension systems that can offer broader coverage.

This process will not be easy or cheap, or necessarily readily sold to either younger or older members of the public. Both have vested interests—the former in minimizing tax burdens, and the latter in increasing or maintaining high benefit levels. Heavy debt burdens that destabilize the economy do not benefit any group.

It is particularly critical to reach workers in lower-income groups, including those in the informal sector and rural areas, who are unable to contribute to pension plans or set aside income. Potential measures include social security programmes and non-contributory pension schemes. While these systems are in place in the region, the financial support they offer is extremely small and needs to increase, especially towards the goal of ending poverty among older persons.

Make pension systems sustainable. As countries begin to expand pension systems, attention will need to be paid to design and long-term sustainability. Choices will arise around balancing priorities across generations. It will be important to develop social consensus around what constitutes a fair share.

Pension systems, in general, are complex and often controversial, given multiple possibilities for managing funds, investments and returns. Some countries have been successful in finding a way forward. Denmark's highly rated pension system, for example, offers stable and adequate benefits to its retirees through a strategy where nearly 80 percent of funds are invested in bonds.

In many Asia-Pacific countries, a serious discussion needs to begin around how to start saving for pensions, and to what extent working-age people should be saving now. Should governments develop large welfare systems as in Europe or parts of Latin America; call on people to rely more on the accumulation of personal assets as in Indonesia, the Philippines and Thailand; or use a combination of these strategies?

Broadly, pension systems should aim to be progressive, where benefits are equitably shared, and those with the capacity to contribute more do so. A fair floor of essential benefits could be established for all pensioners. Increasing contribution rates to soften the fiscal burden of Pension systems should aim to address the simultaneous challenges of coverage, adequacy and sustainability pensions should start from the perspective that higher labour taxes depress household income and spending, especially among households with little or no savings—and such households make up the largest share of consumption spending. Better-off households are more equipped to adjust savings behaviour based on income flow.

Broaden scope for personal savings and investment. Many people in Asia-Pacific hold personal savings in non-monetary assets such as gold, housing and property. This limits abilities to generate a steady flow of cash for retirement, and reduces the economic benefits of money circulation. The main factors deterring financial investments are high rates of inflation; lack of long-term investment options, including reliable pension schemes; and low confidence in and knowledge of banking systems. Without ensuring a stable macroeconomic environment and stronger financial institutions, countries are losing out on the potential benefits of a large middle-aged working population that tends to save the most.

In many parts of the region, financial markets are at a nascent stage. As economies develop, financial products and services will increase, but people need to be able to use these wisely and effectively, especially if households become increasingly responsible for their own retirement planning.¹¹³ Policy guiding the development of the financial industry should encourage the availability of low-risk investment options, such as annuities and bonds that will help older people earn relatively safe returns. Early on, workers should be encouraged to accumulate savings and assets, and invest them in useful ways. Deeper integration of financial markets in Asia-Pacific could allow the savings of Asia's older, more developed countries to help finance investments in infrastructure and education in younger, less developed countries.

Strengthen traditional support institutions. Public policy can play an important role in fostering family support systems for older people. In Singapore, children are now legally required to support their older parents and relatives.¹¹⁴ The Malaysian Government has offered tax incentives to families who care for elderly members. Both nations have concurrently revised public housing policies to encourage multigenerational living arrangements. Advertisements and public awareness schemes can also help uphold the importance of the family, and the need to assist older parents and relatives, taking care to avoid discriminatory gender stereotypes that assign a disproportionate burden of care to women.

Preservation of family units will help take excessive pressure off pension schemes, and increase psychological and emotional satisfaction among older people. Studies show that older adults providing home care for their grandchildren have greater cognitive abilities and better health as they remain physically active and mentally engaged. In a number of countries in Europe, taking care of grandchildren has been an important way to allow for maternal employment, especially among low-income families or where childcare is expensive. A combined approach comprised of assuring a minimum income in old age and mitigating challenges to family support can contribute to both financial well-being among older persons and more broadly to social cohesion.

IMPROVE HEALTH-CARE SYSTEMS FOR OLDER PEOPLE

Population ageing will undoubtedly place an increasing burden on national health-care and budget systems. Early intervention and planning can help countries strengthen health systems while a majority of people who will one day be older are still working.

Achieve universal health care. Universal health care can make some of the most significant contributions to human development, and should be a goal in all countries, as emphasized in Agenda 2030. This needs to include an explicit focus on older people, who currently face a number of barriers to access.

Older people typically need more health care, but not all can afford it, particularly those from lower-income households or who live independently. Health-care spending for older adults is about three to four times higher than that of the working-age population, for example, in the United States.¹¹⁵ To lower out-of-pocket costs, countries need to plan to allocate a greater share of public expenditure on health care, including

Mitigating the rise of non-communicable diseases can help keep health care for older persons affordable for older people. Many advanced countries spend from 0.5 percent to 1 percent of GDP on health care for the elderly, a level that countries in Asia-Pacific should over time seek to attain.

Other deterrents to health care for older people include a lack of access to facilities, particularly in rural areas, and a shortage of trained medical staff, including with skills specifically related to caring for the elderly. By 2030, 5.5 million additional health care workers will be needed in Asia-Pacific.¹¹⁶ This provides an opportunity to institute training of health workers that explicitly addresses age-related and geriatric care.

Stronger financial and programmatic commitments are needed to support prevention, diagnosis, management and proper care of non-communicable diseases over the course of life. Treating these in many cases requires extending affordable services in poorer communities, and shifting the focus from a hospital-centric model to one in which primary care plays a bigger role, and the treatment of older patients with chronic conditions is managed affordably. Closer ties between formal care providers and informal community health systems might extend care options for the elderly as a whole, given, for instance, the growing role of voluntary and private actors in filling service gaps in many communities. Information about services should be widely available.

Increase long-term care facilities. As the proportion of older people living alone rises, they will require more long-term care facilities, including in homes and communities. There is a growing demand for home-based nurses and care providers, but these are still largely missing in most countries in the region. Investments are needed in integrated, person-centred care tailored to the needs of individuals. Other priorities are to increase rehabilitative care, care for disabilities and mental health services geared to older people.

Promote preventative care. The current rise in non-communicable diseases underscores the importance of preventive health care, including healthy eating and exercise habits that can minimize common old-age illnesses such as diabetes and heart disease. Proactive strategies to foster active and healthy ageing could include awareness campaigns to cultivate healthy lifestyles. Health promotion and well-being should extend throughout life, recognizing that disease later in life often starts in childhood.

CREATE MORE OPPORTUNITIES FOR EMPLOYMENT

Opening more employment opportunities for older women and men requires removing a variety of barriers. Complementary and coherent policy measures need to encourage employment flexibility; promote the employability of older people, both as an issue of individual prerogative and to respond to changing labour market demands; and stop discriminatory attitudes and practices towards older workers.

Re-think retirement policy. One priority in many countries, especially those with rapid ageing, may be raising the retirement age, since it clearly lags life expectancy. This is likely to have a positive impact through increases in the labour supply and savings as well as higher household income. People will have more latitude to make choices about when to retire. Government savings will rise because lifetime benefits paid to retirees will be smaller, which will create fiscal space for expanding pension coverage. Similarly, private savings may increase as people remain longer in the labour force.

Increased longevity and improved health around the world have led a number of countries with ageing populations to remove the compulsory retirement age or increase it, and establish a pension-eligible age instead. The retirement/pension-eligible age for Australia, the United States and a majority of European countries is above 65, and in some is expected to increase to 67 in a few years, to help ensure that individuals can sustain themselves financially over a longer lifespan. In most of these countries, the retirement policy remains flexible. For instance, people can choose to work beyond their pension-eligible age, unless they are in specific categories of employment, such as the military or government service. By contrast, in nearly one-fourth of Asia-Pacific countries, including a majority of Pacific island states, people tend to retire before reaching 60, and women even earlier. This pattern needs to

Skills training improves employability at older ages change as the region ages.

Research shows that when healthy and physically able individuals remain engaged in active employment, there are positive impacts on their physical and mental well-being. In both developed and developing countries, more people are inclined to work longer when presented with the choice. Experiences from developed countries show that the designs of pension policies, social security benefits and tax systems greatly influence people's decisions to work or retire. These policies need to be configured so as not to discourage work, and instead support longer years of work for healthy individuals.

Promote flexible work and prevent discrimination. Every older adult should enjoy the right to choose to remain employed. Towards that end, work environments can become more inclusive by accommodating the physical and health conditions of older people. Business might be encouraged to retain older workers through flexible employment conditions, including work on a part-time basis, and wages commensurate with productivity rather than seniority. Flexible and part-time employment options may be especially attractive to women, who make up a majority of older people but a minority of the older work force. Company policies may also need to adjust to avoid discrimination against older workers.

Many Western countries have put in place laws to protect the rights of older people, but this alone may not change longstanding discriminatory employment practices. Active collaboration among governments, employers and advocates for the elderly; awareness and education in the workplace; and the championing of good practices among employers could help dispel biased perceptions. Conducting surveys to understand employers' views and to learn from older people about their experiences with age-related discrimination could help design appropriate legislation, and guide efforts to foster positive attitudes and practices.

Support lifelong learning. Policies that increase participation in the labour market throughout the lifecycle—both at earlier and later stages of people's lives—can do much to reduce the risk of exclusion or dependency in older years. Better appreciation and recognition of the value of experienced workers should be combined with occupational retraining programmes and lifelong learning that allows older men and women to take up new occupations and cope with technological change. China, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam have introduced new programmes and policies to promote employment opportunities for older people.¹¹⁷

SUPPORT ACTIVE AGEING

Engage older adults in public policies. As is the case for any other age group, older people have the right to participate in decisions that affect them, including those that shape public policies. In some cases, as older people lend their accumulated experience and knowledge, this can lead to better choices, for them and for younger generations. Most Asia-Pacific countries have begun developing policies and laws on ageing that integrate older people's concerns. New measures emphasize active participation and empowerment of older people in the development process, and encourage support from families and communities. Some countries, such as China and Malaysia, have reserved seats in consultative bodies to provide important roles to older adults in decision-making.

There is a still a deep need for advocacy, however, to mitigate the isolation and marginalization of older people, to cultivate positive images of ageing and to encourage a view of ageing as offering new opportunities, rather than being mainly a handicap.

Promote volunteering and community work. Older adults are in a good position to contribute to community and social work that can benefit society, as well as keep them active and healthy. While volunteerism is well-established in developed countries, it is still not common in Asia-Pacific. Multiple avenues can be opened so that older people can more easily participate in voluntary activities and community service. For example, seniors can mentor young workers, share their expertise with community development projects, and teach children their culture, history and heritage. Senior citizens' centres or clubs should be established where possible, offering regular opportunities for social inter-

Flexible and part-time employment options may be attractive to elderly women action. Free public transport, and free admission to museums, parks and tourist attractions encourage older people to stay active even on limited incomes.

Facilitate independent living. With the shift from joint to nuclear families, and the increasing rural-urban migration of young people, housing and community amenities must increasingly become primary supports in helping older persons live comfortably, and remain active and engaged. A living and working environment friendly to older people facilitates their movement, reduces their risk of injury, enhances their ability to care for themselves and access services, and increases their participation in economic and social activities.

Priority measures include, among others, dwellings that can accommodate those with limited mobility and strength; a clean and safe environment inside and outside the home; transportation that is elderly-friendly, affordable and accessible; walkways that are in good repair and free of obstacles; traffic signals that allow sufficient time for older persons to cross streets safely; places to rest outdoors; and public buildings accessible to those with limited mobility.

AGEING WITHOUT FEAR

The pace of ageing across Asia-Pacific is still very uneven. Wealthier countries, such as Australia, Japan, New Zealand and the Republic of Korea, have proportionately larger older populations, although middle-income countries, such as China and Thailand, are right behind them. Some countries, with very youthful populations, are on the cusp of potentially realizing their first demographic dividend, including most in South Asia and many in East Asia and the Pacific. By the middle of the present century, however, almost all Asia-Pacific countries will have a larger share of older people.

While various efforts have been made, the region as a whole is seriously underprepared for the challenges ahead—or potential opportunities. In most countries, public support systems are inadequate, and low in coverage and benefits. Many display deep inequities across different population groups. At the same time, the cost of old-age support, both in pensions and health care, has increased drastically and is expected to continue to do so for decades to come.

The onset of rapid ageing is an early warning signal, a call for action. Countries need to build robust pension and health-care systems, create innovative ways to mobilize resources and contain administrative costs, ensure older people can remain active at home and in the labour force, and equip public transport and public buildings to facilitate mobility.

Ageing should not to be feared. With the right planning and preparation, it can be a source of enrichment for individuals and the societies in which they live. Given the diverse stages of demographic transition across the region, countries and individuals are well placed to share experiences and tackle the challenges of ageing together in order to sustain human development for all. Given diverse stages of demographic transition, countries can share solutions to the challenges of ageing

Chapter 5

TAPPING THE HUMAN DYNAMISM IN CITIES

5. TAPPING THE HUMAN DYNAMISM IN CITIES

Rapid urbanization is transforming Asia-Pacific. Lured by the promise of better jobs and higher incomes, as well as quality education and health care, people across the region are on the move from the countryside to new lives in cities. Natural population growth, expanded urban boundaries and urban-centred development strategies also bump up the numbers. In Asia-Pacific, 47 percent of people today live in urban areas; their share will swell to an estimated 62 percent by 2050.¹

Demographic transition and human development and the links between the two—have profound ties to urbanization, as causes and consequences. Urbanization has long been seen as a key factor in the sharp fertility decline that triggers demographic transition. As transition builds on human development gains to provide a larger workforce, it can in turn dramatically accelerate urbanization, with people coming to cities in search of jobs that can only be found there. Cities also offer improved quality of housing, health systems, education and transportation. People have opportunities to save more and invest in productive activities in urban areas.

Throughout history, cities have been centres of learning, culture, art, medical progress, innovation and productivity. Urbanization is not without complex challenges, however. In the midst of explosive growth, the pressure is on to provide enough decent jobs and extend the reach of essential services. In the coming years, many cities will also need to be at the forefront of national efforts to plan for ageing societies; ideally, they will have prepared by building on dividends afforded by earlier stages of transition. The consequences of unplanned growth are likely to be severe, leading to increasingly unequal cities with high rates of poverty and crime. The international community has recognized the importance of planning and managing urbanization, most recently in Agenda 2030. It emphasizes that cities will be vital for achieving the Sustainable Development Goals, with the 11th goal calling on countries to integrate urbanization in national development strategies. The 2012 Rio+20 Summit outcome document states that "...if they are well planned and developed, including through integrated planning and management approaches, cities can promote economically, socially and environmentally sustainable societies."²

Asia-Pacific's future will be defined by how it manages its cities, given their growth rates. Diverse situations mean that there will be no one-size-fits-all solution. But as a general principle, countries that manage their cities well can look forward to attaining higher and more inclusive human development, and to making the most of the demographic dividend.

AN URBANIZING REGION

The rapid movement of people to cities is one of the most important development stories of recent decades.³ In 2010, for the first time in history, globally, more people lived in urban than rural areas. By 2050, the share of urban residents is expected to rise from about half to two-thirds of the total population.⁴

The shares of people living in urban areas in Africa and Asia-Pacific have traditionally lagged those of the rest of the world (Figure 5.1). But both regions are now urbanizing rapidly, resulting in the transformation of economies and societies. In Asia-Pacific, the scale and speed of urbanization are historically unprecedented.

In the last 30 years, Asia-Pacific added more than a billion people to its cities-more than all other regions combined-and another billion will be added in the next 30 years.⁵ More than 3 billion people will live in the region's cities by 2050 compared to 1.9 billion people now.

From 1950 to 2015, the share of people in the region's cities increased from 17 percent to 47 percent, and is expected to cross into a majority around 2025. While the move to an urban majority took 210 years in Latin America

and the Caribbean, and 150 years in Europe, countries such as China, Bhutan, Indonesia and Lao People's Democratic Republic will make the same transition in about 60 years, and Asia-Pacific in about 95 years.⁶

Urbanization in Asia-Pacific has some additional distinctive features. For example, population densities are generally very high compared to elsewhere in the world. And unlike in Western and Latin American countries, where the process of urbanization has matured, and urban population might even decline in the coming decades, Asia-Pacific's cities are likely to continue to grow at least until the end of this century. Recent United Nations projections confirm that urbanization there still has a long way to go, with cities escalating in number and size.

VARYING SHIFTS TO THE CITY

Among the 1.1 billion new urban dwellers in Asia-Pacific from 2015 to 2050, 589 million will be in South Asia, 268 million in East Asia and 206 million in South-east Asia. East Asia will be the most urbanized sub-region; the Pacific the least. In developed Asia-Pacific, the share of urban residents was close to 90 percent in 2015,

In the last 30 years, Asia-Pacific added over a billion people to its cities: it will add another billion in the next 30 years

FIGURE 5.1: The pace of urbanization in Asia-Pacific has accelerated rapidly



Urbanization rates by region, 1950-2050

and will surpass 94 percent by 2050. By contrast, urbanization rates in developing Asia-Pacific are much lower, and will not exceed 50 percent of the population until 2025.

Urban growth to date has been fastest in East and South-east Asia (Figure 5.2). In East Asia, urbanization is well above the world average, and is expected to reach 78 percent by 2050, close to that of Europe. Over a century, the number of urban residents in the sub-region will have shot up from 119 million to 1.25 billion people.

Urbanization in South-east Asia has followed a relatively linear growth pattern, from 16 percent of the population in 1950 to 48 percent in 2015, and to an expected 64 percent in 2050. It has been driven mainly by middle-income countries, especially Indonesia, Malaysia and the Philippines, each of which will have an urban majority by 2015. Low-income countries remain more rural, with city residents in 2015 comprising only 21 percent of people in Cambodia, 33 percent in Timor-Leste and 34 percent in Myanmar. Even in 2050, the urbanization rate in Cambodia is projected to remain at less than 40 percent.

In South Asia and the Pacific, urbanization has evolved more slowly. The former reached an urban share of 35 percent in 2015, with an urban majority expected by 2050. Driven by skyrocketing growth in the urban populations of Bangladesh, India and Pakistan, the number of South Asian city dwellers will grow from 78 million to 1.2 billion between 1950 and 2050. Nepal and Sri Lanka, however, will likely remain at less than 40 percent urban in 2050. Oceania is and will remain the world's most heterogeneous region, where levels of urbanization above 85 percent in Australia and New Zealand contrast with those below 20 percent in countries such as Papua New Guinea and Samoa.

There is considerable variation in the level and speed of urbanization among Pacific islands. Between 1970 and 2015, the share of the urban population increased from 15 percent to 19 percent in Melanesia, 46 percent to 67 percent in Micronesia, and 34 percent to 43 percent in Polynesia. By 2050, urbanization rates are projected to reach 28 percent, 72 percent and 48 percent, respectively. Due to continued reliance on subsistence agriculture, traditional patterns of land tenure and remote locations, countries such as Papua New Guinea and Samoa will continue urbanizing very slowly.

Looking at current urbanization rates, countries can be grouped into three categories: low, medium and high, based on 33.3 percent and

South Asia has urbanized more slowly than East Asia



FIGURE 5.2: Urbanization rates vary considerably within Asia-Pacific



Kiribat

Thailan

Maldiv

FIGURE 5.3: Even countries with fewer people in cities are now urbanizing rapidly

Viet Nam

Republ

tic

Lao People's Democi

Afghanista

Vanue

Timor-Les

Source: Based on UN DESA 2014a.

2015

Papua New G Sril

Cambodi Island

uo

Solom

2050

Micronesia (Federated States

66.6 percent cut-off points. Most high urbanization countries are in East Asia, while countries with low rates are in South Asia (Figure 5.3). Pacific island countries cross the high, medium and low urbanization groups. Even countries with low and medium levels, however, are now urbanizing rapidly, with large increases in city populations expected by 2050.

Urbanization rates are projected to increase in nearly all Asia-Pacific countries or areas between 2015 and 2050. Bangladesh, China, India, Indonesia and Pakistan will each have at least 50 million additional urban dwellers by 2050, together accounting for nearly half of global urban population growth.

FROM MEGACITIES TO SMALL AND MEDIUM CITIES

Democratic People's Republic of Kores

uvalt

Mongoll

Chin

ndone

In Province of China Brunei Darussalam Republic of Korea New Zealand Palau

Malaysia

sland

Republic

Iran (Islamic

Marshall Cook China (SAR) China (SAR)

Kong,

Singapor

apar

Australi

Cities in Asia-Pacific are remarkably diverse, starting with their population size, which stretches from less than 300,000 people to more than 30 million. 'Megacities' with over 10 million residents have attracted much attention, and will continue to grow in number and size. In 1975, only three cities globally had more than 10 million residents: Tokyo, New York and Mexico City. There were 23 in 2010, with a predicted 37 by 2025, 19 of which will be in Asia-Pacific (Figure 5.4).

Several megacities, such as Manila, Jakarta and Bangkok, have expanded into sprawling mega-urban regions that stretch 50 kilometres to 100 kilometres from the city centre, engulfing small towns, cities and rural areas on the urban periphery on a scale never seen before. In 2025, 10 cities will likely have more than 20 million people, of which six will be in developing Asia-Pacific-Delhi, Shanghai,

FIGURE 5.4: A majority of the world's megacities are in Asia-Pacific







Based on UN DESA 2014a.

Based on UN DESA 2014a.

Mumbai, Dhaka, Beijing and Karachi. Delhi is projected to nearly double in size between 2000 and 2025, from 16 million to 33 million residents, becoming the second most populous city in the world.

Small cities with populations of less than or equal to 1 million people, and medium cities with populations between 1 million and 5 million⁷ are increasing as well in Asia-Pacific (Figure 5.5). The number of smaller cities is expected to rise from 558 in 2015 to 728 in 2050, almost double the number in 2000. During the same time, the number of medium cities is projected to increase from 196 to 255. Countries have already been experiencing this rapid rise. In the Philippines, for example, the number of cities with 300,000 to 500,000 people increased from 5 to 12 between 2000 and 2015. Over the same period, in India, the number rose from 41 to 61. The number of cities in China with 500,000 to 1 million people shot up from 81 in 2000 to 155 in 2015, and is expected to reach 194 by 2030. Medium cities also grew rapidly in China from 58 to 89 during 2000 and 2015, with a predicted expansion to 125 by 2030.

While the rise of megacities is an important trend, they accounted for only 14 percent of the region's overall urban population in 2015, a share expected to rise to only 16 percent by 2025. By contrast, 75 percent of urban dwellers will be in cities with fewer than 5 million people (Figure 5.6). Nevertheless, the share of the smallest cities will likely contract—among those with fewer than 500,000 people, the share is expected to dip to 40 percent in 2025, from 51 percent in 2010. Megacities are most prominent in South Asia—22 percent of urban inhabitants will likely call them home in 2025, compared to only 6 percent in East Asia. A majority of China's urban residents now live in medium cities.

While megacities drive worldwide growth, the contribution of smaller cities will rise. Megacities no longer outgrow national economies, and their share of global GDP is predicted to shrink slightly from 14 percent in 2007 to 13 percent in 2025. Because of their sheer numbers, cities with between 150,000 and 10 million residents will make a rising contribution to GDP growth, and will comprise 50 percent of total growth from 2007 to 2025.⁸ Smaller cities, however, face challenges due to lack of experience and limits on, among other elements, their authority, managerial capacities and scope for generating revenues. As they grow rapidly, they may struggle to keep up.⁹ Megacities still drive global growth, but no longer outgrow national economies.

FIGURE 5.6: Most people will continue to live in cities with less than 5 million residents



Based on UN DESA 2014a.

YOUTHFUL CITIES

Cities are home to greater shares of youth and adult working-age people than rural areas,¹⁰ making them pivotal places to capture demographic dividends. In 2015, youth and adult working-age populations accounted for 67 percent to 70 percent of city populations in East Asia, South Asia and South-east Asia, compared to 60 percent to 62 percent of rural ones. Rural areas are home to increasing shares of older people, with shares increasing at a faster rate between 1980 and 2015 than in urban areas (Table 5.1). Cities attract youth and young workers from rural areas in part because of the diversity they offer in terms of education, jobs and economic opportunities.

While most rural areas now have more people who are either children or elderly, the split between young and old differs by stage of development (Box 5.1 and Figure 5.7). In more developed countries, the share of older residents in rural areas is higher than that of low- and medium-income countries.¹¹ In Japan, the share of people above 60 in rural areas went up from 25 percent to 35 percent in just 15 years, from

TABLE 5.1:

Cities attract young and working-age people, making them key to the demographic dividend

Population share (%)		Rural	Urban		
East Asia	1980	2015	1980	2015	
Children (0-14)	37	21	27	16	
Youth (15-24)	19	12	20	14	
Working-age (25-59)	36	50	44	54	
Old (60+)	8	17	8	16	
South Asia					
Children (0-14)	41	31	37	25	
Youth (15-24)	19	18	22	20	
Working-age (25-59)	34	42	36	47	
Old (60+)	6	9	5	8	
South-east Asia					
Children (0-14)	43	28	36	25	
Youth (15-24)	20	17	23	18	
Working-age (25-59)	32	45	36	49	
Old (60+)	6	10	6	9	

Based on UN DESA 2014a.

FIGURE 5.7:

More developed countries have higher shares of older rural residents



Notes: Data are taken from household survey data included in the United Nations Demographic Yearbook 2013. All surveys are from 2009 to 2013 except Lao People's Democratic Republic (2005).

Source: Based on UN DESA 2014a.

BOX 5.1: Age distribution in urban and rural areas tracks human development and demographics

	Republic	c of Korea			Nepal	
	2000	2014	2000	2014	2000	2014
Human Development Index	0.731	0.898	0.531	0.684	0.384	0.548
GDP per capita (constant 2005 \$)	15162	24,566	1073	1,854	290	426
Urban share of population (%)	74	82	31	54	9	19
Median age	27	41	21	28	19	23

Sources: World bank 2015d, UNDP 2014, and UN DESA 2014a.

Changes in shares of different ages in Asia-Pacific countries have had varying consequences for urban and rural areas, in many cases aligned with the stage of development. The experiences of Indonesia, Nepal and the Republic of Korea over the last 30 years show this process at work.

The Republic of Korea's transition to a high-income developed country is well documented. Between 1980 and 2013, GDP per capita rose from \$3,926 to \$23,893.¹² In 2013, it was classified as a 'very high' human development country with the world's 16th highest score on the Human Development Index. The Republic of Korea has urbanized and aged quickly since 1980, moving from 57 percent to 82 percent urban as the median age rose from 22 to 41.

Development has come relatively quickly to Indonesia. In 2013, it was a 'medium' human development country. From 1980 to 2013, GDP per capita tripled from \$556 to \$1,810, the urban population grew from 22 percent to 52 percent, and the median age rose from 19 to 28.

Despite progress, Nepal is one of the region's remaining least developed countries. In 2013, it was classified as a 'low' human development country, GDP per capita was \$409, the urban population share was one of the lowest in Asia-Pacific at 18 percent, and the median age was 23.

The three countries are in different stages of both development and demographic transition. Ageing in the Republic of Korea is already well advanced relative to both Indonesia and Nepal. This is most evident in rural areas, where the 60-plus population share was 27 percent in 2010. This process is largely still on the horizon in both Indonesia and Nepal. Urban areas in both countries retained about the same share of 60-plus people over the last two decades, although the share in Nepal increased slightly, and rural areas in both are now slightly older than urban areas.

The dynamic is reversed when it comes to the working-age population. In the Republic of Korea, the share in urban areas was nearly 70 percent in 1995 and has remained largely steady since then, while the share in rural areas declined. The share of workers increased in all areas in Indonesia and Nepal, especially in cities. All three countries are seeing a declining share of children. In Nepal, fewer children and an influx of migrant workers to cities has depressed the share of children in urban areas, although it is still sizable at 28 percent. Indonesian cities have not changed as dramatically, but about 28 percent of people in urban areas are 14 or younger. The share of young people has dropped most sharply in the Republic of Korea.

FIGURE 5.B1: Population distribution in urban areas



FIGURE 5.B2: Population distribution in rural areas



1995 to 2010.

In the region's middle-income countries, the share of the population above age 60 is growing in both rural and urban areas. In Thailand, for example, it increased from 9 percent to 12 percent in urban areas and from 10 percent to 13 percent in rural areas between 2000 and 2010. While there is not yet a significant difference between rural and urban areas in middle-income countries, rural populations are slightly older. Asia-Pacific's lower-income countries are in general still the youngest overall.

In recent years, growth in the shares of urban working-age people have been most pronounced in lower-income countries. In Nepal, for example, the share increased from 59 percent to 65 percent from 1996 to 2010, and in Cambodia it went from 58 percent to 70 percent.¹³ In both countries, shares of working-age people in rural areas also went up, but more slowly and from a lower level. In 2010, the working-age population accounted for 55 percent of people in rural Nepal and 61 percent in rural Cambodia. Middle-income countries are also experiencing a shift to higher shares of working-age people in cities. In Indonesia, for example, the share rose from 63 percent to 66 percent from 1995 to 2010, while the rural share went from 57 percent to 61 percent.

Social, cultural and economic incentives drive migration to urban areas

Many countries have sizable urban young populations. People below age 14 make up 30 percent or more of urban residents in Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Pakistan, Solomon Islands and Timor-Leste. Their share is more than 20 percent in most countries with data available, with the exception of China, Japan and the Republic of Korea.

MAKING THE CHOICE TO MIGRATE

The decision to migrate from a rural community to a city is a complex one,¹⁴ driven by a mix of economic, social and political factors. Across Asia-Pacific, people move in search of better education, work and services, to escape climate risks and environmental damages, and to discover new social, political or cultural opportunities.

Conditions in both rural and urban areas influence the reason to move. Many rural areas are characterized by poor education, declining

FIGURE 5.8:

The urban-rural gap in services such as electricity, particularly in less developed countries, can be wide





Note: Data are for 2012. Source: Based on World Bank 2015a.

agricultural productivity, low incomes from farming and few opportunities for off-farm rural employment. A pool of surplus labourers has been left in search of new options, with urban centres seen by many as offering more and better jobs, across a range of occupations, and for higher wages. Some urban areas are home to labour-intensive manufacturing and export-oriented industries that have been significant employers of migrant labour, as in Bangladesh, Cambodia, Indonesia, Sri Lanka and Viet Nam.¹⁵ Remittances from migrant labour now comprise a large share of rural household income in many Asia-Pacific countries.¹⁶

Big gaps in basic services also send rural people to cities (Figure 5.8). In Cambodia, 90 percent of urban residents have consistent access to electricity; less than 20 percent of rural dwellers do. In Nepal, migrants often choose destinations based on access to schools and hospitals.¹⁷ The importance of these preferences varies based on income level, as disparities in public services matter more to poorer populations.¹⁸

Many rural and remote areas face escalating environmental pressures, such as from degraded land and deforestation, as well as threats from the increased frequency and severity of extreme weather events that impact rural lives and livelihoods. Droughts and floods have caused people to abandon their rural communities for cities—often permanently and not by choice.

Migration in response to environmental factors is not a new phenomenon, as people throughout history have moved based on seasonal weather changes or in response to extreme weather events. But the intensity of environmental change in recent years is contributing to a growing number of 'climate migrants'. The 2010 floods in Pakistan, for instance, affected up to 20 million people, and after six months, the majority had not recovered their prior standard of living, returned home or regained access to services. Rural people were more commonly impacted, slower to recover and more likely to be out of their homes for a longer period.¹⁹

Non-economic social, cultural and political reasons can also push rural-urban migration.²⁰ Cities are seen as places with more social and political freedoms than traditional rural communities. This can be especially true for people experiencing discrimination.²¹ In some cases, the attraction is simply the excitement of modernity and the prospect of life in a dynamic metropolis.²² Changing cultural norms are reflected in the perception of agricultural work as a lower status form of employment. All of these drivers appeal particularly to younger people, and help contribute to their predominance among rural-urban migrants.

Cities can be especially attractive to women, who might have more limited opportunities in traditional rural areas. The opportunity to challenge existing social relations and norms, escape social constraints of the local community, and exercise new freedoms related to social interaction and political participation can be enticing reasons to migrate. A large share of rural-urban migrants have been women in some Asia-Pacific countries,²³ more commonly in South-east Asia, especially Myanmar, Thailand and Viet Nam, than in South Asia.²⁴

KEEPING UP WITH AN URBAN BOOM: POTENTIALS AND PITFALLS

Urbanization has long been linked with higher living standards. Most of the world's richest countries are also the most urban (Figure 5.9).²⁵ In Asia-Pacific, excluding the fully urban islands of Hong Kong, China (SAR); Macao, China (SAR) and Singapore, the richest four countries—Australia, Japan, New Zealand and the Republic of Korea—have more than 80 percent of their populations living in cities. Most of the poorer countries are still predominantly rural, including Afghanistan, Cambodia, Nepal and Papua New Guinea.

A similar relationship holds for urbanization and human development (Figure 5.10), where urbanized countries have the highest Human Development Index scores, while the least urban have among the lowest. Cities concentrate industries and highly skilled workers, generating jobs, increasing levels of technology, and improving skills development and education. Through economies of scale, they can provide social services and infrastructure at costs that can be up to 30 percent to 50 percent cheaper than in sparsely populated rural areas.²⁶ People in cities typically end up healthier, better educated and wealthier than their rural counterparts.

In most countries, urban areas are the main source of economic activity, usually exceeding their share of the national population.²⁷ Opportunities for innovation and the concentration of economic activity influence the birth of new industries, and the growth and transformation of existing ones. Transportation costs are lower, with large urban areas typically well connected to markets. Many are magnets for a disproportionate share of foreign direct investment.

The world's cities in aggregate now account for 80 percent of global GDP.²⁸ Large cities in China, with more than 1 million people in each, generate 56 percent of total national GDP, a contribution expected to reach 75 percent by 2030.²⁹ But how much individual cities produce varies, based on factors such as location and the quality of city governance. For those in the midst of demographic transition, it also depends

Countries that are more urban are also richer

FIGURE 5.9: Wealth tends to rise with urbanization



Sources: Based on UN DESA 2015a and World Bank 2015a.

FIGURE 5.10: Urbanized countries rank higher on the Human Development Index



Notes: Human Development Index values are from 2014, urbanization rates are for 2015. Sources: based on UNDP 2015a and UN DESA 2015a.

on the ability to nurture a capable workforce, and absorb its talents through the generation of decent work.

Whether measured in terms of growth, human development or demographic dividends, urbanization's full potential can only be reached one way: through the people who live in cities. Sound urban management is imperative so that cities become places where every resident has opportunities to thrive. Issues of equity and access are paramount, particularly since the benefits of urbanization have not been equally shared.

URBAN POVERTY AND SOCIAL EXCLUSION

One of the most compelling challenges for Asia-Pacific cities today involves urban poverty and social exclusion, with future human development prospects largely hinging on how well these are managed. They often result from the failure of governments to plan for and accommodate burgeoning urban populations. Many new city inhabitants end up poorly integrated into city structures, including those necessary for secure and well-paid jobs, adequate housing, and high-quality education and health care.

In Viet Nam and Thailand, for example, rural-urban migrant households tend to have fewer assets, live in worse housing conditions, are further from quality public schools, and have lower adult educational levels than urban native households.³⁰ In several countries, new arrivals lack access to formal systems of social protection or legal status, which exposes them to risks.

Urban poverty rates are generally lower than those in rural areas in Asia-Pacific (Figure 5.11). As city populations are so large, however, the numbers of urban poor are still high in many countries. For example, despite significant progress in reducing urban poverty in India in the last two decades, it still has about 81 million impoverished urban residents.³¹

Differences in the pace at which poverty rates are falling in rural and urban areas are in fact reshaping the face of poverty in Asia-Pacific. Rural poverty in the region has declined by 2.5 percentage points annually, but urban poverty, while lower, fell by only 1.5 percentage points. The share of urban poor among impoverished people overall increased from 18 percent in 1990 to 23 percent in 2008, reflecting the 'urbanization' of poverty.

The level of urban poverty and pace of poverty reduction vary between East Asia and the Pacific and South Asia. In the former, the prevalence of urban poverty dropped sharply from 24 percent to 4 percent from 1990 to 2008 (Table 5.2); the poverty rate in rural areas is now five times higher. South Asia also substantially reduced urban poverty, but not as rapidly. Its share of the urban poor within Asia-Pacific has risen significantly, from 47 percent in 1990 to 80 percent in 2008. Across the region, urban

The benefits of urbanization have not been equally shared

FIGURE 5.11: Poverty rates are lower in cities



Note: the data used for each country is for the latest year available. Source: Based on World Bank 2015a poverty is lower in the largest cities,³² since many small towns offer services not much better than those in rural areas.

Many towns and cities, however, suffer from relatively poor standards in terms of public water supply, sanitation, drainage and waste management services. This underscores the importance of urban poverty reduction strategies grounded in an integrated approach of developing basic infrastructure and essential services while also promoting employment and livelihoods, particularly for women and other vulnerable groups (Box 5.2).

Across Asia and the Pacific, measures of urban inequality tend to be higher than national averages (Figure 5.12). Patterns of urban development often exacerbate inequalities. Poor areas of cities, especially slum areas, are typically disconnected from road and transportation networks, communications technologies and energy grids. People there usually cannot obtain decent formal jobs, high-quality education and health care, good housing and the benefits of social safety nets. They are more likely to be disillusioned about the role of government and less willing to participate in civic or political activities.

Policies and the allocation of urban resources in many instances tend to favour the middle class and wealthy.³³ They draw more benefits, including better protection against negative aspects of urbanization, such as crime and violence.³⁴ Bias can affect land allocation practices that push the poor to the urban periphery and hazardous areas, depriving them of secure access to jobs, housing

TABLE 5.2: In South Asia, the share of urban poor has fallen, but their numbers have risen

	Poverty incidence (\$1.25 a day)						Numbe	er of poor
		1990		2008		1990		2008
Region	Rural	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural	Urban
East Asia and the Pacific	68	24	20	4	734	137	227	37
South Asia	51	40	38	21	426	122	408	152
Developing Asia	60	30	29	14	1160	259	635	189
Developing World	53	21	29	12	1471	298	889	271

Despite significant reductions in the incidence of urban poverty from 35 percent in 2000 to 21 percent in 2010 in Bangladesh, urban poverty conditions, particularly in slum areas, are still severe. Initiatives such as the Urban Partnerships for Poverty Reduction (UPPR) and the Urban Governance and Infrastructure Improvement Project (UGIIP), which engaged international donors, national and local governments, and community beneficiaries, have contributed to further reductions through capacity development and community participation. They have proven so successful that the Government of Bangladesh has made a commitment to scale them up.

The UGIIP focused on improving urban governance and infrastructure by helping local governments enhance capacities to deliver municipal services, while simultaneously encouraging public engagement in the process. Sixty-five municipalities participated and achieved impressive results. Efficiency in tax collection improved, staff learned to use computers to issue trade licenses and water bills, accounting and billing were computerized, streets were cleaner, residents became more aware of their responsibilities, and annual budgets and development projects were discussed and endorsed by citizens.

By developing the capacity of 3 million slum dwellers to plan and manage their own development, the UPPR has worked to break the cycle of poverty. It mobilized more than 800,000 urban poor households to form inclusive groups and prepare community action plans. It also assisted households to access credit through a community banking scheme, and savings and credit groups. A settlement improvement fund improved access to clean water and sanitation.

Source: UNDP-Bangladesh 2015, ADB 2012, Ferdousi and Dehai 2014.

Slums are still prevalent even in prosperous cities

FIGURE 5.12: Inequalities in urban areas are often worse than national averages

Gini coefficient at national level and in urban areas



Notes: Displays consumption-based Gini coefficients and compares estimates for urban areas to those for the whole nation in approximately the same year: Bangladesh (2000), Cambodia (2004), India (2005), Mongolia (2008), Pakistan (2005), Sri Lanka (2007) and Thailand (2006). Urban Gini coefficients represent the estimate for all urban areas in each country except for Thailand, which uses the Gini coefficient for Bangkok.

Sources: Based on UNESCAP and UN-HABITAT 2010, World Bank 2015a.

and land. Poor women, the young and old are even more severely affected by these situations, as they are more vulnerable to exploitation.³⁵

Inequalities in the region's sprawling slums are larger than in the cities (Figure 5.13),³⁶ especially in South Asia. In Bangladesh and Nepal, about 55 percent of urban residents struggle to survive in slums, as do 45 percent in Pakistan. While there has been progress in reducing slums in the last two decades, particularly in East and South-east Asia, they are still prevalent even in some rapidly growing economies. The share of urban residents living in slums is 27 percent in Viet Nam, 38 percent in the Philippines and 25 percent in China.

While shares of slum dwellers have fallen in some cases, their sheer numbers, on average, have risen. In Bangladesh, the number climbed from 20 million to 29 million from 1990 to 2014, even as the share fell from 87 percent to 55 percent. The number increased over the same period in China and Pakistan (Figure 5.14).

One of the key targets in Agenda 2030 is to upgrade slums, and ensure access to adequate, clean and affordable housing. Singapore offers an example of how this can happen. Ranked today as Asia's greenest city, and as having the

FIGURE 5.13: High shares of urban residents still live in slums



Source: UN DESA 2015a.

FIGURE 5.14: The number of people living in slums is increasing



Source: UN DESA 2015a.

best business environment and being the best place to live, Singapore was once a city with polluted rivers and massive infrastructure and housing shortages. In the 1950s, more than 50 percent of its people lived in slums and squatter settlements. In 1960, the government initiated a new public housing programme to provide affordable housing for low-income communities. Based on careful planning and coordinated development, guided by well-equipped institutions and regulations that have evolved as needed over time, and rooted in the principle of being responsive to people's needs, the programme has had a central role in making Singapore the flourishing city it is today. More than 80 percent of people live in publicly constructed housing, 90 percent of whom are homeowners. Over 99 percent of the city's slums have been cleared as alternative, improved housing became available, contributing to urban renewal. Satisfaction with public housing consistently surpasses 80 percent.37

ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

In driving economic activity and human development gains, cities consume vast quantities of energy, water and other resources, and generate more greenhouse gas emissions and waste than rural areas. The responses of city governments to these challenges will have direct consequences on human development and the long-term sustainability of both cities and nations—and the world.

World Health Organization (WHO) latest data on 2,000 cities show pollution worsening globally, but the problem is most acute in Asia-Pacific. In 2014, 15 of the 20 most polluted places were in India and China. The others were in Bangladesh, the Islamic Republic of Iran and Pakistan. Of the worst 100, nearly 70 were in Asia and only a handful in Europe or the United States.³⁸

Air pollutants in particular are extremely hazardous to human health, with consequences such as respiratory illness, lung cancers and premature deaths among babies. In a number of Asian cities, levels are significantly above WHO recommendations. Growing public concern has motivated stepped-up efforts to curb pollution, such as by imposing traffic rules to reduce private 15 of the 20 most polluted cities in the world are in India and China vehicles on the road. Beijing issued its red alert, the highest of a four-level alert system, twice in the last five years, leading to a complete halt in traffic movement, industrial work and commuter movement. So far, actions like these have not significantly curtailed pollution, but they have brought some additional benefits such as reducing road congestion and fuel usage, and raising public awareness.

Rapid urbanization also spurs greenhouse gas emissions (Figure 5.14)—the world's cities as a whole emit around two-thirds of the total even as they occupy only 2 percent of total land area.³⁹ One encouraging dimension is that as cities develop, they can more efficiently control emissions. In some large cities, including Seoul, Tokyo and Sydney, per capita emissions

FIGURE 5.15:

As people move to cities, greenhouse gas emissions rise

Cities tend to have a larger climate footprint



Source: UN DESA 2015a.

FIGURE 5.16:

Per capita emissions in Asia-Pacific developing country cities are higher than national averages



Source: World Bank 2015a.

are lower than national averages—a trend so far largely taking place in the most developed and advanced cities (Figure 5.16). Elsewhere in Asia-Pacific, Dhaka, Bangkok, Beijing and Shanghai all release emissions at higher rates than the national average.

People in cities typically generate more solid waste than those in rural areas, and the largest cities tend to surpass national averages (Figure 5.17), as is the case for Kuala Lumpur, Bangkok, Ulaanbaatar and Jakarta. With urban expansion, this problem will become even more acute, and cities will need to develop ways to both manage and decrease waste. In the Republic of Korea, the Government's Extended Producer Responsibility system, for instance, requires manufacturers to recycle a certain percentage of their waste. Since its implementation in 2003, it has saved an estimated \$1.6 billion, in addition to providing environmental benefits.

While the risk of natural disaster has always been high in Asia-Pacific's cities, climate change poses ever worsening threats (Box 5.3). Rising sea level threatens cities in low-elevation coastal zones, including Tokyo, Dhaka, Shanghai and Mumbai. Greater water scarcity is likely in the future, as flooding contaminates freshwater supplies. Urban infrastructure is often ill equipped to deal with natural disasters. For
the poor, the risks are even greater, as many are forced to settle in areas with the least protection from flooding and other dangers. With limited savings or coverage by social safety nets, they may be unable to recover from a disaster, which can perpetuate the cycle of poverty and limit human development across generations.

In 2011, 70 percent of Asia-Pacific cities with more than 750,000 people were considered at high risk of natural disaster. This translates into 562 million vulnerable people—a number that will undoubtedly grow. Across the region, 73 cities are deemed particularly vulnerable, being at high risk of at least two different natural hazards.⁴⁰ These include Tokyo (cyclones and floods), Shanghai (cyclones and floods) and Kolkata (droughts and flood). Manila is one of the most vulnerable cities; already home to 12 million people, it is in danger of being hit by cyclones, earthquakes and floods.

FIGURE 5.17: Cities tend to generate more solid waste than rural areas



Source: Waste Atlas 2015.

BOX 5.3: Effective planning can reduce urban vulnerabilities

Coastal cities and urban areas in Asia-Pacific, especially those with dense populations in slums, are highly vulnerable to natural disasters, with the risks expected to increase dramatically through climate change. In the last few years, urban flooding has affected millions of people in Bangkok (2011), Chennai (2015), Dhaka (2015), Jakarta (2013), Karachi (2009) and Manila (2012). In Dhaka, 30 percent of people live in slums near water edges that make them more vulnerable to coastal flooding. In Jakarta, 40 percent of the land is below sea level, leaving the city highly vulnerable to flash floods during rainy seasons. A number of Asia-Pacific cities are susceptible to earthquakes, particularly where city structures do not comply with adequate building codes, as was observed in the fatal 2015 earthquake in Kathmandu.

Better city planning, early warning systems and effective urban governance can help reduce the risks and impacts of natural disasters. Understanding and communicating risk, reducing risk and managing risk are three key elements that countries in the region need to look into as part of sustainable urban development planning. In particular, greater attention need to go towards building resilience and ensuring city development adapts to climate shocks.

Many urban areas are highly vulnerable to natural disasters

DISASTERS IN ASIA-PACIFIC: 2005-2014



1,300+



331,000+ People killed



1.4 billion+ People affected



\$429 billion

MANAGING THE REGION'S CITIES⁴¹

As Asia-Pacific's cities grow, they confront vast demands for land, housing, jobs, infrastructure, water, energy and social services. Many are already operating at nearly full capacity, and lack the necessary institutions, policies and investments to provide additional services and infrastructure for growing populations. In terms of governance, cities and urban governments in Asia-Pacific are among the weakest in the world.

If urbanization is not well managed and soon, however, Asia-Pacific will likely not sustain the momentum of economic growth or human development, and it will lose much of its demographic dividend. The most serious impediments include weak public administration and limited authority, inadequate capacity, financial deficits,

TABLE 5.3: Most countries have multiple tiers of government

Municipal governments in Asia-Pacific are among the weakest in the world

Country	Levels of government and administration (number)					
Cambodia	3 levels* -					
Califound	• Province (23 including 3 municipal) and capital					
	District (159) and municipality (26)					
	Commune and sangkat (municipal commune) (1,621) divided into villages					
India	3 levels* -					
	· State (28)					
	 Union territory (7) including federal district 					
	 Urban local bodies: municipal corporation (138), municipal council (1,595), town council (2,108); rural local bodies: zilla (593), samity (6,087), gram/village (239,432) 					
Indonesia	3 levels* -					
	· Province (33), special region (2) and capital city					
	 Local government: kota (cities, 98) and kabupaten (districts, 410) 					
	·Desa/villages: very limited roles (69,249)					
Philippines	3 levels* -					
	Province (79)					
	· City (112) and municipality (1,496)					
	·Barangay/village (41,944)					
Notes: * not cou	inting central government.					

and public policies biased towards the middle and upper classes. These are not new issues, but unprecedented urban growth will increasingly complicate the ability of policy makers to respond effectively, underlining the need to tackle persistent challenges earlier rather than later.

Asia-Pacific currently has diverse administrative and political systems to manage its cities, ranging from those that are more centralized and top down, as in China and the Republic of Korea, to those that are more decentralized, for example, in Indonesia and the Philippines. Customary and traditional laws and governance systems prevail in some places, often coexisting with modern state institutions, as in Malaysia and many Pacific island states.

Most governance systems are plural and multitiered (Table 5.3), spanning central governments, state/provincial governments, local governments, and an array of autonomous municipal corporations and metropolitan bodies.⁴² The composition, powers and practices of local governments vary, typically deriving from legislation or directives from higher levels of government. In towns and smaller cities, the governance structure generally includes a policy-making body such as a town or city council, and an executive arm such as a mayor. But these bodies are often vested with only limited authority. Central governments usually remain responsible for raising most tax revenue, spending the largest share of the public budget, and defining rules for how subnational governments operate, even if the latter are charged with local service delivery.

The Philippines has three levels of local government: province, city and municipality, and barangay. While all chartered cities⁴³ have their own corporate and administrative entities governed by specific municipal charters, the national government has strong influence over local governments, which have limited authority to collect taxes and largely rely on central revenue allotments. In Malaysia, by contrast, local governments collect assessment taxes, create by-laws, and grant licenses and permits. They provide basic amenities, collect and manage waste and garbage, and plan and develop the area under their jurisdiction. The Federal Ministry of Housing and Local Government coordinates and standardizes practices across the country.

BOX 5.4: The Metro-Manila Development Authority: Mandated responsibilities come with limits

In 1995 the Congress of the Philippines passed a law establishing the Metro-Manila Development Authority and designating Metro-Manila as a special development and administrative region. The Authority was given powers related to metro-wide development planning; transport and traffic management; solid waste disposal and management; urban renewal, zoning and land use planning; health and sanitation; urban protection and population control; and public safety.

But despite its mandated responsibilities, the Authority cannot override local authorities. It can carry out its responsibilities only without affecting the autonomy of local government units (7 cities and 10 municipalities) within its area. As a result, often it acts as an adviser.

Source: Oreta 1996.

BOX 5.5: An urban infrastructure deficit in Karachi

The population of Pakistan's largest city, Karachi, has more than doubled since 1990, making it one of the fastest growing cities in the world. Despite multiple urbanization plans, implementation obstacles prevail. These include frequent procedural delays, an unclear institutional framework and weak coordination among municipal agencies.

The lack of planned citywide infrastructure has resulted in significant service deficits. For example, the Karachi Circular Railway, the only nationwide commuter train, terminated service in 1999. Future population growth will only compound this gap, which will be further exacerbated by the environmental consequences of increased use of private vehicles.

Sources: Gopinathan 2014, Kahn 2014, Qureshi and Huapu 2007, Dawn News 2015, World Bank 2015d.

In some cases, local or national governments can set up metropolitan entities, such as the Metro-Manila Development Authority. But such arrangements are complicated in practice and require clear policy and management structures, and the capacity to address interjurisdictional issues (Box 5.4).

Large metropolitan areas-including mega-urban corridors (e.g., the Mumbai-Pune development corridor in India), megacity-dominated metropolitan regions (e.g., Metro Manila in the Philippines) and subnational mega-urban regions (e.g., the Pearl River delta region in China)—usually have governance structures falling in one of three basic types.⁴⁴ These may allow autonomous local governance, where each city, town and municipality within the city-region is in charge of its own planning, policy-making, regulation, etc. Under mixed regional governance systems, the most common type, authority and responsibilities are distributed to different institutions and levels of government. Unified regional governance involves a single governing body that plans, manages, finances, supports and maintains services in an area-wide territory.

The devolution of administrative powers in some countries permits the election of heads of city administration and more autonomy, such as in terms of budgets. Motivations and models for decentralization are diverse,⁴⁵ but a common tendency is for fiscal decentralization to fail to follow on the heels of administrative decentralization, leaving cities with responsibilities, but not much control over resources to pay for them. The chronic imbalance between government especially local government—responsibilities and local revenues is in fact an important contributor to weak governance and corruption.

Especially in small cities, local governments have limited authority to collect revenues, low capacity for financial management and planning, and difficulty accessing private capital, issues that result in a failure to fully harness local revenue mobilization potential, and undercut abilities to provide essential services and infrastructure (Box 5.5). Table 5.4 summarizes revenue mobilization authority in three megacities: Jakarta, Manila and Mumbai.

Most local governments remain highly dependent on intergovernmental transfers, with amounts varying. In the Philippines, the manLimited authority to collect revenues is one major challenge for local governments

TABLE 5.4: Revenue mobilization options vary considerably for the region's major cities

Authority	Jakarta*			Manila			Mumbal**		
Control Over:	Rate setting	Base setting	Collection	Rate setting	Base setting	Collection	Rate setting	Base setting	Collection
Revenue									
Property tax	Р	Ν	Р	F	F	F	Р	Р	F
Taxes on vehicles	F	F	F	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Ν	Р
Fees	F	F	F	F	F	F	Р	Р	F
User charges for services	F	F	F	F	F	F	Р	F	F
Expenditure									
Expenditures from own-revenue		F			F			F	
Expenditures from inter- governmental transfers	Р			F			Р		
Inter-governmental transfers									
Distributable pool	Formula based			Formula based			Formula based, ad hoc		
Distribution across local governments	Formula based			Formula based			Ad hoc		
Purpose of transfers	Unconditional block grant, conditional earmarked grant			Unconditional block grant			Unconditional block grant, conditional earmarked grant		
Management of transfer system	Ν			Ν			Ν		
Discretion to borrow	Р			F***			Р		

Notes: Control of the local government: F = Full control; N = No control; P = Partial control.

* Property tax is in the process of devolution to the local government level. This will give full authority over base setting, collection, and, up to a limit, rate setting. Jakarta is currently piloting bond issuance.

** In theory, the city has control over setting rates. In practice, the state exercises considerable control through its approval powers.

*** Local government units are accorded the power to undertake loans and borrowings subject to a statutory debt limit; annual debt service cannot exceed 20 percent of income.

Poor urban infrastructure reduces urban economic prospects

Source: Sud and Yilmaz 2013.

dated transfer is 40 percent of gross national internal revenues, which accounts for 94 percent of total transfers to subnational governments. In Indonesia, the amount is set at a minimum of 25 percent of the national budget, constituting about 75 percent of local government revenues. While most countries have more than one type of transfer, there is a trend towards consolidation.

All cities need resources for infrastructure and services for their citizens, given direct links to human development and the realization of the demographic dividend. These also improve city competitiveness and growth prospects—or the opposite where gaps occur. Dhaka's inadequate and intermittent power supply costs an estimated 8 percent per year of GDP, for instance.⁴⁶ In Latin American cities, poor or inadequate infrastructure is estimated to have reduced urban economic output by 10 percent to 15 percent. The impact seems to be even higher on small firms and home-based enterprises, which cannot afford more reliable private sources, such as power generators and wells for water.⁴⁷

Successful cities anticipate demand rather than playing constant catch-up, yet as urban populations expand, infrastructure demand often quickly outstrips supply due to constrained municipal finances. Providing even the most basic infrastructure becomes difficult. For Asia-Pacific as a whole, an estimated \$8 trillion will be needed for national infrastructure in the areas of energy, transport, telecommunication, water and sanitation from 2010 to 2020 to redress historical underinvestment and keep up with population growth;⁴⁸ much of this will investment will have to be made in urban areas

REALIZING THE FULL PROMISE OF URBANIZATION

How countries and cities respond to the challenges of urban poverty and inequality, pollution and climate change, and governance will determine whether or not they deliver broad-based human development and optimize benefits from the demographic transition. The current exclusion of large segments of urban residents from the economic, social and political life of cities needs to be reversed, because it is unjust, and contradicts the Agenda 2030 emphasis on inclusive development. By depriving some groups of basic human capabilities and rights—to be educated, healthy and earn a decent income—it also undercuts the potential for higher productivity and making the most of the demographic dividend.

Governments and all others with a stake in a liveable urban future will need to commit to improved services, the generation of decent employment and extended protection measures, particularly for the most marginalized. This includes as well a sustainable urban environment that supports the health of all citizens, and manages resources so that they are equitably available for generations now and in the future.

Where cities fail to ensure urban inclusion and liveability, they can end up with a growing class of urban poor and deepening social division. Urban populations will likely continue to split along class lines, where the middle- and upper-classes will enjoy well-paying jobs, high-quality health care and schools, a clean supply of water, and safe housing in clean neighbourhoods. The poor will be marginalized to the worst work and living areas, without equal access to high-quality services, and with diminishing capabilities. This does not have to be the future of Asia-Pacific's cities—but it may be, without timely and deliberate policy interventions.

FORMULATE COMPREHENSIVE NATIONAL URBAN STRATEGIES

National and local governments need to become more strategic and sensitive to the full range of threats and opportunities posed by rapid urbanization, with the speed at which it is occurring leaving little time for adjusting or learning. A clear, far-sighted view of where cities should head is key, and a national strategy on the role of urbanization in national development is a first step forward. It could help to identify urban development priorities, provide national and regional spatial plans, and better coordinate actions by national and local actors, including the private sector.

Under it, governments at all levels can help cities become more equitable, efficient, sustainable and environmentally friendly, including through making informed trade-offs on the use of scarce resources such as land and water. The strategy should be linked to overcoming governance fragmentation in public policy formulation and implementation, as key to addressing issues such as disorderly expansion in urban peripheries. A sound property rights protection system and transparent land registry are critical in leveraging rapid urbanization for economic development.

Plan land use to connect urban and rural areas.

This should be an integral aim of national urban strategies. The various disparities between rural and urban areas, in particular, suggest the need for an 'evening out' process, including through targeted investments and an equitable distribution of resources to help reduce spatial inequalities. A broader territorial perspective can emphasize stronger connectivity between cities, towns and rural areas, and promote two-way links, including to foster economic opportunities and enhanced quality of life in rural areas.

Urbanization could catalyse rural economic development by pulling large numbers of underemployed and unemployed rural workers into urban areas. Market and other urban-rural connections could help stimulate the development and application of modern farming practices, and the growth of vibrant rural nonfarm activities. Investments in better services and enhanced human capital in rural areas can also yield benefits, including to slow the tide of rural-urban migrants⁴⁹ where that is warranted, and to ensure that if people do choose to move, they have skills to compete for well-paying jobs in urban areas and can contribute to labour productivity and thus economic growth.⁵⁰

In some sense, the region cannot get its urbanization strategy right without fundamentally Rapid urbanization calls for proactive planning and sound management shifting a mindset that separates rural from urban development. Like the two sides of the human brain, these areas are closely intertwined; each can either limit or unlock possibilities in the other.

Integrate sectors and services. National urban policy should provide a general framework to orient actions by the diverse ministries and service providers with an impact on urbanization. Housing, transport, basic infrastructure and other policies need to become more flexible and adapted to the realities of cities and towns. Housing, land management and property administration responsive to needs that vary across different age groups-such as requirements by elderly citizens to have accessible buildings and transport links-require specific policies and improved legal and regulatory frameworks. Coordinated planning and implementation of diverse policies helps ensure that they are well aligned and build on each other.

MOVE TOWARDS MORE EFFECTIVE GOVERNANCE AND INSTITUTIONS

Strengthening the capacities of national, regional and city governments to develop more liveable, productive, inclusive and sustainable cities requires a strong legal foundation, capable institutions and adequate financial instruments, including to manage decentralization, coordination and collaboration. Sound planning, based on a well-defined understanding of often rapidly shifting trends and dynamics, including those related to the demographic transition, should be aligned with a vision of how a city can deliver human development, in a sustainable manner, to all its citizens.

Aim for well-designed and managed decentralized government. This is the foundation of effective urban service delivery. The devolution of appropriate responsibilities and resources should cover issues such as clearly defined functions, accountability, independent financial resources, and autonomy to make decisions on investment and service delivery. City authorities need adequate technical and managerial skills, and strong capacities to design, implement, monitor and evaluate local public policies and works. Moving towards a more proactive, bottom-up urban policy, in other words, calls for more than designing a new territorial administrative structure.

Both horizontal and vertical coordination are important. The first works across sectors, such as transportation and land use, and neighbouring towns and cities. The second orchestrates actions by central, provincial and city governments. An integrated urbanization ministry, such as India's Ministry of Urban Development, can help champion the urban agenda and facilitate consistent coordination.

Make governance inclusive. Participatory governance can propel well-balanced urban development, and should ensure the involvement, on an equal footing, of women and all other excluded groups. Elected local governments can do much to ensure, for instance, that quality services reach everyone in a fair manner. Decentralization can change the way citizens interact with governments. In Indonesia, the introduction of direct elections of provincial and local government executives and legislatures has helped make them more accountable to local electorates. The Philippines witnessed a noticeable increase in citizen participation in local governance through new mechanisms for consultation, including local referenda and a requirement that members of non-governmental organizations comprise 25 percent of local development council representatives.

Improve information flow, including through technology. In many Asia-Pacific cities, it can be difficult to find information about municipal activities; data collection and management is generally poor. But some, such as the Bangkok Metropolitan Authority, publish information on the use of funds, and citizens are free to request information via official procedures. Bangladesh has enacted comprehensive right-to-information legislation, yet some 29 percent of citizens have reported facing harassment and 8 percent have recounted having to pay additional money when seeking information from public authorities.⁵¹ India is developing 100 'smart' cities that harness digital and information technology to improve the quality of life. Smart cities are essentially urban clusters with smooth transportation links,

City governments need to have the necessary resources and authority for better planning and service delivery e-governance, and better social infrastructure, including for health care and education. ICT will be used to improve day-to-day city management and provide real-time information guiding efficient service provision.⁵²

Increasingly, Asia-Pacific cities are using new technologies, especially e-governance, to bolster transparency and access to information. In India, Mumbai has set up an online public complaint management system, while Bangalore has posted the city's quarterly financial statements online.⁵³ Malaysia's Ministry of Housing and Local Government has instructed all local authorities to use computers and the Internet for public transactions.⁵⁴ In general, several issues block more widespread application of e-governance, however, including a 'digital divide', problems in connecting different systems across government entities, and security and privacy concerns.

SECURE ADEQUATE FINANCE AND DISTRIBUTE IT EQUITABLY

Many cities need to find ways to address the chronic imbalance between local government responsibilities and their revenue. As a basic starting point, each city, regardless of size, needs a well-defined administrative area over which it has full autonomy, and a clear formula for intergovernmental transfers. In Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) countries, governments have created transparent, formula-based finance-allocation mechanisms, rather than ad hoc ones, to fund their cities. Over time, if capacity for local government administration improves, localities can often boost local resource mobilization, such as through better tax assessment and collection practices. They can also ensure more equitable distribution, and plan more systematically for infrastructure investment, operations and maintenance (Box 5.6).

Large metropolitan governments have significant economic bases and can be expected to have higher local revenue mobilization capacity, compared with smaller cities. They might be capable of self-financing given their economic resources and potential fiscal capacity. Such an arrangement favours making proportionally larger transfers to smaller and medium cities with insufficient capacity to fund public services.

New partnerships, alternative financial instruments and effective resource mobilization underpin successful cities

BOX 5.6: Better financial management boosted income in Ahmedabad, India

About 80 percent of Ahmedabad Municipal Corporation's income is derived from taxes levied on residential and non-residential properties, and goods imported into the city. But at one point, the collection rate was very low, so in the mid-1990s, the Corporation decided to implement a series of improvements.

These included stiffening penalties for avoidance of taxes on goods, and the preparation of valuation books on the basis of prevailing market rates. Goods entering the city were randomly verified to prevent underinvoicing and undervaluation. Additional vigilance squads were deployed in roundthe-clock checking of vehicles entering the city, and checkpoints were equipped with systems for rapid communication. In terms of property taxes, stronger enforcement was taken against defaulters, including by shutting down water and drainage services. Warrants were issued for attachment of movable and immovable properties. Properties were put to auction for tax recovery.

Through these strategies, the city's income rose by 50 percent after one week and doubled after one month. Later, the city registered its first annual surplus in 10 years. After paying off its debts, the municipality decided to access the debt market and obtained a credit rating, becoming the first South Asia city to obtain a rating of A+.

After six months, the rating was improved to AA, higher than that of the national Government. The city issued municipal bonds in 1998 and raised \$25 million from over 5,000 investors to finance infrastructure development.

Consider alternative instruments of finance to increase fiscal self-reliance. These could include user fees, real estate taxes, municipal bonds, land-based financing instruments, development impact fees,55 tax increment financing, special tax districts, business improvement districts within cities, and redistribution of property tax base growth within a metropolitan area.⁵⁶ Options should be considered based on a sound assessment of local capacities for management. Municipal bonds are increasingly used to raise capital, where bond markets have begun to emerge. In Viet Nam, Ho Chi Minh City issued the country's first municipal bond in 2003 to supplement capital for infrastructure investment. Principal and interest payments came from the city's budget. This opened a new fundraising channel and was replicated in other Vietnamese cities.⁵⁷ Similar instruments have been used in Bangladesh, Indonesia and the Philippines.

User fees and charges are another option for funding. In many Asia-Pacific countries, user fees cover substantial parts of urban services such as electricity, water and public transport. They can be beneficial both for containing excessive demand and increasing the supply of public services. Appropriate user fees for environmentally sensitive services such as waste collection, water treatment and transportation can help contain environmental degradation. A congestion charge or parking fee can be an effective instrument for regulating traffic and decreasing air pollution, while funding urban infrastructure.

Explore new partnerships to finance infrastructure. In the Philippines, Mandaluyong City used a public-private partnership to rebuild its public market. In China, India and Indonesia, public-private partnerships have been used to stimulate affordable housing construction for the poor.⁵⁸ Careful consideration needs to be given to these partnerships to ensure they provide a public benefit and minimize public risk, however, including through a clear initial process of assessment, and sound project design and management.

Ensure resources reach the most vulnerable. Raising sufficient resources only serves human development goals if they are used to promote balanced growth and reach underserved or disconnected populations. Fair and effective resource allocation has always been a challenge in Asia-Pacific, both at the local and national levels.

Allocations in urban areas need to prioritize providing services to vulnerable communities and reaching all people at all stages of life. Intergovernmental transfers should aim to equalize economic and income disparities among local governments, recognizing that the dominance of primary cities in Asia-Pacific has often resulted in skewed regional development. One approach is to compensate for inequalities through income transfer mechanisms and targeted investments in disadvantaged areas, such as in infrastructure and public education. Effectiveness depends on long-term strategic planning to allocate resources appropriately, ensuring they reach first the poorest and most vulnerable communities.

IMPROVE INFRASTRUCTURE TO MAKE CITIES MORE COMPETITIVE

A substantial infrastructure gap exists across the region, with cities plagued by power cuts, poor quality roads, inefficient ports, inadequate schools and insufficient transit systems, among other issues. While some progress has been made in narrowing the deficit over the past few decades, much more needs to be done to remove bottlenecks and upgrade systems that make cities competitive and positioned to sustain economic growth.

Close the infrastructure deficit. To make cities more liveable, governments need to provide high-quality infrastructure—physical and social. Asia-Pacific's ability to continue growing at current rates and advance its human development will largely depend on adequate transport, energy, water, waste management, banking services, telecommunications, drainage, flood control and preparation for the adverse effects of climate change, among other issues. Infrastructure provision needs to be inclusive, reaching all citizens-including through targeted investments to reach the most marginalized people. It should also be environmentally sustainable. Integrated transport infrastructure, for instance, can link people to jobs, convey products, connect economic centres, stimulate business development and reduce air pollution.

Investing in essential infrastructure propels growth and human development The Economist Intelligence Unit developed the 2025 City Competitiveness Index to rank the competitiveness of 120 cities across the world based on their ability to attract capital, businesses, talent and visitors today and in 2025. The index includes 27 qualitative and 5 quantitative indicators.

North American, European and Asia-Pacific cities namely New York; London; Singapore; Hong Kong, China (SAR); Tokyo; Sydney; Paris; Stockholm; Chicago and Toronto—are the top 10 most competitive cities today and are likely to retain their advantages until 2025, despite concerns over ageing populations and infrastructure. Many cities in China and the Republic of Korea have already made it into the top 50, while a number of Indian cities are expected to soon catch up with East Asian ones. Mumbai is among the top three in terms of rapidly improving competitiveness.

The quality of a city's infrastructure and institutions along with easy maritime access help them rapidly ascend in the overall rankings. Cities of all sizes can be competitive. For example, in 2025, the top 10 most competitive cities are expected to range from the world's biggest (Tokyo, with an estimated population of 37 million) to some of the smallest (Zurich, estimated population 1.4 million).

Source: The Economist Intelligence Unit Limited 2013.

Build competitiveness: Many factors that affect countries' competitiveness, such as infrastructure, the presence of educational and research institutions, and the quality of public administration, are directly linked to urbanization. While some Asia-Pacific cities are successful in attracting talent and investment, and ensuring prosperity and good public services for their citizens, others are struggling to cope with challenges such as the large-scale influx of people from rural areas or the inability to provide decent jobs or housing.

Currently, North American and European cities, along with some in Asia-Pacific, namely, Singapore; Hong Kong, China (SAR); Tokyo and Sydney, are among the world's most competitive, an advantage they will likely retain until around 2025, despite ageing populations and infrastructure (box 5.7). Developing cities in Asia-Pacific countries need to reinvent themselves and build their competitiveness, including to leapfrog rivals in other parts of the world. Some key priorities are to increase institutional effectiveness, establish mature and well-recognized financial systems, improve quality of life, bolster appealing urban social elements, maintain a safe and clean environment, and aim for global appeal. One important aspect of physical infrastructure is citywide high-speed wireless networking, which can eliminate the need to lay cables, improve communications, and help draw new talent and investment.

INTEGRATING CITIZENS INTO URBAN ECONOMIES, SOCIETIES AND POLITICAL PROCESSES

Since exclusion is a critical impediment to human development in urban areas, every effort needs to be made to integrate marginalized populations and new arrivals. Beyond targeted spending on infrastructure and services, this includes support for finding decent work, and encouraging greater citizen participation in governance.

Open doors to migrants. Carefully crafted policies for rural-urban migrants should aim at protecting their rights and well-being, including by ensuring access to justice, health-care, education and other essential services. This can enhance development outcomes in both urban and rural communities. Urban migration registration systems and unemployment insurance, access to finance and job training are among the tools to help migrants gain a foothold in the urban economy. Initiatives targeting young people should promote skills development, employment opportunities, and social and political participation, since youth who migrate to cities often have limited means and low levels of education, and are at high risk of exploitation.

Take special measures related to age, gender and disability. Cities will need to adapt their structures to accommodate a growing number of older people—a process already underway The rights of all citizens should be protected, including rural-urban migrants in East Asian cities, and occurring in the near future in many others. This entails taking proactive measures to ensure adequate health care, financial security and opportunities for civic participation. Many large cities need to review and extend social pension schemes. Both Hanoi and Ho Chi Minh City have increased the benefit level above the mandated rate, but these pensions have reached only 63 percent of targeted populations, compared to 89 percent in other urban areas and 78 percent in rural areas.⁵⁹

Urban planning strategies also need to pay specific attention to the rights and needs of women and girls, as well as people with disabilities. Safe street lighting and adequate policing can reduce rates of gender-based violence. Ramps and elevators are among the many interventions improving mobility for the disabled.

Tap the benefits of citizen participation and collaboration. Building well-designed, inclusive and ecologically friendly cities demands partnership and decision-making involving a spectrum of actors-national and local governments, civil society, community-based organizations, non-governmental organizations, international supporters, academia and private sector entities. Since governments may not possess all the resources required to provide urban infrastructure and services at the rate and scale demanded, citizen participation can be a way to build consensus on priorities, efficiently allocate scarce funds, and pinpoint the most needed improvements in economic and social development.

Bridging the still often wide gap in many Asia-Pacific cities between citizens and governments involves strengthening lines of accountability, and increasing government transparency and openness. Governing approaches need to commit to responding to citizen needs. In some cases, greater local accountability has come through involving local users in evaluating service delivery, establishing benchmarks for institutional and service quality, strengthening the performance of the civil service and enacting anti-corruption legislation.

International assistance has in some areas helped push practices of public engagement forward. Through participatory budgeting and allocation mechanisms in Bangladesh, Indonesia, Pakistan and the Marshall Islands,⁶⁰ citizens influence choices to allocate public resources in their community. In Pune, India, municipal authorities have involved residents in budgeting processes at the ward level, leading to better solid waste collection and public transport.⁶¹

Encourage citizen action. Citizen action also opens room for participation, as well as innovation and creative problem solving (Box 5.8). Increasingly, urban dwellers, rich and poor, are organizing to improve local government responsiveness. The Asian Coalition for Community Action Program supports a community process of citywide upgrading in 150 Asian cities, including through conducting community-driven surveys, networking, building partnerships, dealing with eviction problems and strengthening community savings among the urban poor.⁶²

Women have organized to influence solid waste management in Pammal, a rapidly growing industrial town on the periphery of Chennai, India's fourth largest urban region. They initiated a neighbourhood-wide clean-up and waste-recycling campaign eventually championed and expanded by the mayor of Chennai.⁶³

BUILD ENVIRONMENTALLY SUSTAINABLE CITIES

The massive growth of Asia-Pacific cities over the past 40 years has significantly affected the environment, with fallout felt from the local to the national levels, and even across borders. Increasingly, the environmental costs of not dealing with rapid urbanization will be excessive and difficult to reverse. It is more cost-effective to begin now to plan and work towards sustainable urbanization.

Scale up environmental management. Urban areas need new environmental management measures to protect their environments, clean up pollution and waste sites, and reduce carbon emissions, as highlighted in Agenda 2030. There is deepening understanding of the need to improve energy efficiency, develop renewable energy and cleaner production technologies, adopt green growth strategies (Box 5.8), and put cities at the centre of national plans to mitigate and adapt to climate change. Conservation and efficient use of resources should be central principles in green urbanization strategies. Massive amounts of solid waste, for instance, could be turned into a resource through composting, recycling, the production of bio-gas and so on. Since buildings generate 40 percent of greenhouse gas emissions, green housing programmes can encourage use of sustainable materials, and efficient heating and cooling systems. Another priority is renewable energy. In the Republic of Korea, Seoul plans to expand its renewable energy share from 1.5 percent in 2007 to 20 percent by 2030, with nearly half to come from hydro energy.⁶⁴

Consider compact cities. Fostering urban agglomeration and promoting green and compact cities need to be at the core of national urbanization strategies. Left to themselves, private developers tend to favour building on lower cost peripheral land, which may contain housing costs in the short-term, but at the expense of long-term transport costs for households and capital infrastructure costs for government. Urban sprawl and the spread of low-density settlements can make public services more expensive and difficult to provide, and dramatically increase traffic congestion and emissions. Denser forms of urban development, encouraged through restrictions on the expansion of the urban boundary, may help achieve more sustainable patterns. Countries such as China, India, Japan and Republic of Korea have begun pursuing the concept of compact and smart cities, including to reduce per capita carbon emissions.

Plan for disasters. Cities need to ensure they are equipped to minimize damage and recover from natural disasters, particularly given growing threats from climate change. Impact assessments should identify vulnerable locations, populations and sectors, and climate change and disaster risk reduction should be integrated into urban planning and development. Strict regulations should govern development projects in highrisk areas, and standard building codes should be improved.

Make a political commitment. Building sustainable cities depends critically on the political will of governments, combined with a supportive

BOX 5.8: A programme in Thailand empowers slum dwellers to solve housing issues

Launched in 2003, the Baan Mankong programme, implemented under the Ministry of Social Development and Human Security, has used a people-driven housing development process where slum communities are empowered to find solutions to housing problems in their cities. The programme stresses improved access to credit, training, land and infrastructure, as well as more supportive regulations and policies. It has cultivated partnerships among poor communities, local authorities, development agents and landowners in slum upgrading.

By 2011, the programme had supported nearly 91,000 households in 277 cities. Among other achievements, it has helped solve eviction problems, develop secure land tenure, upgrade slums, and repair and develop housing.

Source: Community Organization Development Institute 2016.

administrative, financial and legal framework, and robust planning that connects the many issues at stake. China has started to build a low-carbon economy and called for a new style of people-centred urbanization in its first urbanization policy released in March 2014.65 Its focus is on making cities fairer for migrants and the new middle class, with the aim of repairing social exclusion, and embracing sustainable city management as an explicit means of sustaining growth. China has recently pledged to spend \$280 billion on measures to reduce air pollution over the next five years, while requiring 15,000 factories, including state-owned enterprises, to disclose data on airborne emissions and water discharge (Antholis 2014). The Republic of Korea has started promoting low-carbon and green growth in urban areas (Box 5.9).

ADAPT TO CITY DIFFERENCES

There is no single strategy for guiding urbanization, at the national or local level. Priorities and choices depend on a variety of factors—such as the scale and speed of urbanization, the pace of rural-urban migration, available resources, technical and administrative capabilities, and political appetites.

Green growth strategies are urgently needed in cities

In 2008, President Lee Myung-bak launched 'low-carbon, green growth' as the Republic of Korea's new vision for national development for the next 60 years. National carbon emissions have grown fast during decades of rapid urbanization and industrialization, leaving the Republic of Korea among the top emitters globally.

The country's green growth is now guided by a comprehensive set of objectives, strategies and implementation actions. The objectives are: to promote a synergistic relationship between economic growth and environmental protection, improve people's quality of life and bring about a green revolution in their lifestyles, and contribute to global action to fight climate change and other environmental threats. The ultimate aims are to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 30 percent, and for the Republic of Korea to rank among the world's top five green energy powerhouses by 2020.

Green growth is supported by political commitment, interministerial coordination, public investment, enabling legislation and public-private-community involvement. To kick-start the process in 2009, the Presidential Committee on Green Growth was established. Supported by 12 task forces of public and private sector experts, the committee has prepared various sectoral and issue-specific plans, roadmaps and initiatives including the national green growth strategy (2009-2050), and convened public hearings and seminars to generate public support. The Framework Act on Low-Carbon Green Growth was passed, mandating a cap on emissions. It establishes a system of mandatory reporting of carbon emissions by all carbon and energy-intensive industries.

Overall, four main policy instruments have been identified for green growth: public investment in infrastructure and research and development to support a low-carbon society; regulations and incentives to stimulate market development and support an energy-conserving society; market correction measures to account for externalities and strengthen climate actions; and moral suasion through education and mass media campaigns.

Since 2009, the number of venture start-ups in green industries has increased by more than 40 percent. The national bullet train network is being expanded to connect most major cities nationwide by 2020, and the number of households who have joined a carbon point system to curtail emissions reached 2 million in 2011.

Policy-making must respond to the unique challenges that each city faces

Source: The Republic of Korea Culture and Information Service 2011.

Some differences arise from demographic transition, with cities likely to track overall national trends. Countries on the cusp of transition might draw benefits from encouraging people to come to cities, given the association with reductions in fertility and mortality rates. At that point and further into the transition, cities offer jobs essential to the well-being of individuals and to prospects for reaping a demographic dividend. On the far curve of transition, as cities age, priorities need to include elements of access and protection vital to older citizens.

The stage of transition can also determine the source of urban growth, which in older countries tends to be from migration, and in younger countries stems from migration as well as still higher fertility rates within cities themselves. The source of growth has different policy implications, but all should be aligned with human development aims. For example, if 'push' factors such as rural poverty drive rural-urban migration, then viable responses might include fostering rural development, including through measures to raise farm productivity, and incentivize small and medium non-farm enterprises. On the other hand, 'pull' factors propelling rural-urban migration likely reflect urban dynamism. In this situation, countries can focus on urban services infrastructure such as housing and transport to sustain consistent quality of life.

Tailor urban strategies to city size. Whether the issue is finance, participation or sustainability, urban strategies will likely differ based on the size of cities. Megacities attract the greatest share of national and international investments. Their management is complex, involving interjurisdictional coordination. Some priorities for action include developing new urban management strategies—a city-wide mega-politan body, for instance, might be set up to oversee efforts by all local authorities to provide public services and develop resource allocation plans. These cities could in many cases rely more heavily on their own financing rather than transfers from higher levels of government, perhaps freeing resources for smaller cities in greater need. New laws and appropriate wealth transfer mechanisms could back strategic resource planning to equitably distribute resources among all municipalities and peri-urban areas within the megacity and its adjoining areas.

By contrast, smaller cities face critical problems with poor infrastructure, limited technical capacity and constrained resources. Their priorities may need to include capacity-building initiatives that hone urban planning and management skills, enhanced infrastructure and essential services, and collaboration with neighbouring cities to define competitive niches to take advantage of economies of scale, such as through joint service delivery.

Realize the potential of small and medium cities. In recent years, small and medium cities have grown rapidly in many Asia-Pacific countries. They act as economic growth centres and are important as bridges between rural and large urban areas. Their potential has not yet been fully exploited, however. An increased focus on them could bring about not only higher economic growth but also greater efficiency, as they often do not face constraints such as serious traffic congestion and rental costs. Booming and dynamic small and medium cities could also play a key part in reducing income inequality and promoting balanced spatial development.

THE REGION'S FUTURE DEPENDS ON CITIES

The unprecedented speed of Asia-Pacific urban transition has left many of the systems and institutions that manage cities behind. But countries should not view urbanization as a problem. It is in fact a powerful tool to unlock human development and capture historic demographic dividends offering enormous impetus to progress.

City and national planners need to act now to catch up, because urbanization will only accelerate. Long-range strategies should capture the scale of the coming changes, adopting investments and reforms aimed at development goals that extend beyond short-term political cycles. Governments at all levels must be committed to social inclusiveness, environmental sustainability, and improved quality of life for all citizens, rather than economic growth and efficiency alone. City planners must take up the imperative of designing specific strategies for young people, working-age people and the elderly, both as an issue of equity and to tap demographic benefits.

Across the Asia-Pacific region, urban areas are already taking actions and adopting innovations to achieve sustainable and inclusive cities. Reform can be a difficult and fragile process, dependent on sustained political support and commitment. It must remain closely attuned to diverse needs. But given the impact of urbanization on people's lives, and the potentially greater dividends for development over the long term, the region's future depends very much on better managing its cities.

Chapter 6

AN AGENDA FOR ACTION: SHAPING THE FUTURE

6. AN AGENDA FOR ACTION: SHAPING THE FUTURE

The last several decades have deepened understanding of the dynamic relationships between population patterns and human development. Human development leads to demographic transition, which in turn can produce a demographic dividend with significant positive consequences for human development. Societies become more prosperous, productive, healthy and well educated. People are better off.

These outcomes, however, are not automatic. While demographic transition is likely to occur in every country, accelerating its arrival and realizing the full promise of any potential dividend depend largely on policy choices to steer the process. If these choices are not made, or are made poorly, a historic opportunity for human development gains will be lost.

In the world as a whole, the right choices are no more important than in Asia-Pacific, home to half the human population. They are particularly critical at a time when the need for development to be sustainable and inclusive is increasingly obvious and backed by international consensus through Agenda 2030. If resources—whether human, fiscal, environmental or any other form—are not marshalled judiciously today, and the most made of them, they will not be around tomorrow, undercutting prospects for generations to come.

Most Asia-Pacific countries, at this moment in time, are in a fortunate position. With more workers, and fewer older and younger people dependent upon them than at any point in history, they are on the cusp of a unique moment to accelerate and sustain human development. Earlier chapters of this report provided detailed recommendations of potential public policy choices. This chapter outlines some priority options that might be pursued early on, recognizing that these need to be tailored to different country and even local contexts. There are no one-size-fits-all solutions.

Some proposals generally apply to all countries; others break down across three broad stages of demographic transition, loosely defined as having a large working-age, young or ageing population. Some countries will need to consider implementing policies from different categories at the same time, because they bridge different stages of transition within their own populations. Since urbanization is a profound challenge and opportunity in many parts of Asia-Pacific, with deep connections to demographic changes, a few priorities are highlighted here as well.

FOR ALL COUNTRIES, SOME COMMON PRINCIPLES

While national context is the starting point for designing any human development strategy and defining the stage of demographic transition, some broad considerations can help set a framework for diverse policy choices.

Integrate demographic changes into national development plans and strategies. Demographics might once have been considered a pursuit mainly for people working on population issues, but today, given the potential power of a demographic dividend, it is understood as relevant to many elements of public policy. To leverage demographic opportunities and accelerate human development, demographic considerations need to be integrated across core national development plans and strategies. They also need to be factored into policies and plans in many other areas, among them economic management, education, health, gender equality, youth, ageing and urbanization.

As India has recently done when formulating its 12th Five Year Plan(2012–2017), countries can use emerging demographic trends in allocating investments in education, skills training, health, job creation and social protection, among other arenas. This approach would be consistent with the 2030 Agenda, where governments in Asia-Pacific and around the world commit to an integrated approach to development, and to taking population trends and projections into account in national development strategies and policies.¹

A sound understanding of demographic transition should guide this process. In countries with large shares of children and youth and high population growth rates, for example, such as Afghanistan, Kiribati, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tonga and Timor-Leste, demographic opportunities may not open fully without adequate investment in child survival and education, and without upholding sexual and reproductive health rights, including to give families the ability to choose the spacing and number of children.

Ageing societies such as Japan, Republic of Korea, Singapore and Thailand, where a small workforce supports a burgeoning retired population, may need to adopt policies to encourage population growth. Tax incentives, family friendly employment and subsidized day care are among the measures encouraging young people to have more children.

Increase investment in human capabilities. Human capabilities, such as those gained from health and education, are essential at all stages of demographic transition and human development. They help initiate transition, make the most of the dividend, and ensure that momentum is maintained even as societies age. Strategies focused on human capabilities should take a comprehensive vantage point, recognizing that capabilities can and should be cultivated throughout the life cycle.

Different priorities in various phases of demographic transition may be informed by rising and falling population shares, and principles of generational balance and fairness. A country with many young children, for instance, might earmark a greater portion of resources for early childhood development and primary schools. On the other hand, a country with a large share of youth might focus on tertiary education and decent employment opportunities. An ageing society might provide special education and training on emerging technologies for older people, while scaling up pension benefits. The overarching aim should be to work, over time, towards the universality of services essential for building and sustaining human capabilities, in line with the core Agenda 2030 principle of leaving no one behind.

Manage macroeconomics well and deliver decent jobs. Sound macroeconomic management is fundamental for countries at all stages of demographic transition and development. Alongside overall goals for growth and stability, policy choices need to be made in line with potential demographic benefits and inclusive human development. Of particular importance is the intersection with policies related to labour and livelihoods, as these are the main conduits for most people to translate capabilities and opportunities into higher levels of well-being that, individually and collectively, offer social and economic returns. As the 2015 global Human

A sound understanding of demographic transition is key Development Report argues, decent work is essential for youth to get a productive start in their lives, to make the best use of a large workforce and to help meet the needs of the elderly.

There are multiple avenues to link economic objectives with the generation of enough decent jobs. These might include fostering employment-intensive sectors, particularly, in the short term, those best equipped to absorb the current workforce. Private sector development is critical, and in many countries rests on greater ease of doing business and sound property rights regimes, with special emphasis on small and medium enterprises that typically deliver most employment. An inclusive and deeper financial sector, which effectively mobilizes savings, channels them into productive investment, and fosters entrepreneurship, innovation and productivity is another priority.

Unleash the potential and power of women. The region's record on gender equality is still poor, despite advances in some countries. Among world regions, the highest pay gaps are in South Asia, where women earned a full third less than men from 2008 to 2014.² This is a loss in terms of meeting internationally agreed human rights standards. It is also a serious impediment to making the most of demographic transition and advancing human development. Gender equality should be understood as an immediate policy priority of central importance not just for women, but for societies and economies as a whole, since women are key to increasing labour force participation and employment rates as well as productivity.

Countries need to review the variety of barriers to women, even in highly developed countries. These may include laws that require women to retire at earlier ages than men, despite longer lifespans.³ They might involve social norms and practices that tolerate gender-based violence, even if it is against the law.

Most countries in the region still have far to go in integrating women fully into political and economic decision-making. The continuing gap reduces the likelihood that policies and plans will fully support women to realize their rights, cultivate capabilities and make powerful contributions to development. All countries need to work to achieve the target in the Sustainable Development Goals on ensuring women's full participation and equal opportunities for leadership in all levels of economic, political and public decision-making.⁴

Deepen regional integration. Considerable diversity in demographic patterns across Asia-Pacific countries is a rationale for improved regional integration. Current forms of cooperation focus mainly on trade among countries. But taking demographic considerations on board recognizes that many relevant issues cross national borders. Demographic differences among sub-regions could be harnessed to enhance financial and labour integration, and increase prospects for all countries in the region to capture demographic dividends.

One priority issue might be migration, since countries at different stages of transition have different workforce profiles. Ageing societies may struggle to find workers, while those in the earliest stages of transition may face a surplus. Cooperation might prove beneficial in easing imbalances and developing organized strategies for migration that are beneficial to migrants as well as sending and receiving countries. Freer movement for work would include more flexible visa regimes and should entail strong protections for migrants' safety and rights.

Another priority might be financial integration. East Asian countries, where high savings have been made possible in part by favourable demographic in the last few decades, are looking for opportunities to invest. South Asian countries, with a large share of working-age people, might need to attract increased capital inflows because of their relatively large labour pools and potential for productivity growth. Cross-border cooperation will be crucial as well in filling deficits in infrastructure. Among cities, it could help define and coordinate comparative advantages in order to reduce unsustainable competition for resources and foreign direct investment, among other concerns.

Since all countries will pass through demographic transition, there may also be scope to cooperate in learning from each other, across countries at the same as well as different stages. As transition proceeds quickly, while policy and institutional structures to manage it typically evolve more slowly, countries in the region need Demographic differences among subregions could be harnessed to enhance financial and labour integration to share experiences, including to overcome obstacles and capitalize on opportunities.

Collect more and better data. While the importance of demographic transition and potential dividends is increasingly endorsed, many Asia-Pacific countries still do not have adequate data to gauge and manage the process. The collection of high-quality data needs to be geared towards monitoring the demographic profile overall, as well as the impacts of public policy measures aimed at youth, workers, older people and migrants, and related issues such as urbanization. This would be consistent with-and might build on-the data revolution called for as part of the Sustainable Development Goals. Regional and national Human Development Reports and reports on progress towards the goals could become important tools for additional data gathering and analysis.

Better measurement and more systematic analysis could define the significant contributions of unpaid work to human well-being as well as to the potential size of the demographic dividend. Governments have already agreed in Agenda 2030 to recognize and value unpaid care and domestic work, including through collecting stronger data on the proportion of time spent on unpaid domestic and care work by sex, age and location.

and analysis could capture substantial contributions from the unpaid work of women and older people

Better measurement

MAKING THE MOST OF DEMOGRAPHIC OPPORTUNITIES

For most Asia-Pacific countries, the rapid growth of working-age populations and corresponding decline in dependent populations presents incredible possibilities. But countries on the verge of demographic transition must manage well to make the most of a potential demographic windfall. They will need to develop plans to build a stronger and healthier economy, and improve job prospects and overall well-being for a growing number of workers. Measures may be needed to mitigate adverse effects from underemployment and informal work, which have grown in the region, and ensure that when people choose to migrate, the process is a safe one.

Prioritize job creation in national development strategies. Decent and productive work is fundamental to human development, as emphasized in Agenda 2030, which calls for full and productive employment and decent work for all. Employment growth has fallen behind economic growth in Asia-Pacific, however, underscoring the urgency of reinvigorating job growth. To accommodate changes in age- and sex-specific population and labour force participation rates and achieve unemployment rates at or below 4 percent for adults and at or below 8 percent for youth, approximately 300 million new jobs will be needed across Asia-Pacific from 2010 to 2030.⁵ In South Asia, where poor quality employment is already pervasive, the challenges will be severe as the number of jobs that will need to be created from 2010 to 2030 is much higher at 238 million than the number of jobs created at 198 million from 1990 to 2010.6

To create more—and decent—employment, governments will need to focus on encouraging private sector development as the backbone of economies. This could entail supporting new enterprises, simplifying business regulations, increasing trade and market access, and probably revisiting tax codes. Targeted growth is needed in sectors yielding high numbers of jobs as well as those that improve productivity and allow better educated people to find jobs matching their skills. The latter will be particularly important in East Asia, South-east Asia and the Pacific, where job creation needs will likely be lower than they have been - at 62 million from 2010 to 2030 compared to 221 million from 1990 to 2010.7 These countries now have opportunities to create high skills jobs based on the considerable investments they have made in educating and training in the previous decades.

Stimulating pro-employment growth may call for strengthening and implementing national job creation plans. The mandate for these should not lie only with the Ministry of Labour, but with multiple ministries and departments, including finance, labour, commerce, industrial development, transportation, manufacturing, agriculture, trade, youth and women. To promote high-tech industries, for instance, the labour ministry will need to work together with ministries overseeing youth, education, technology and foreign affairs. Success depends largely on a shared vision, adequate resources and seamless coordination. As the 2015 global Human Development Report recommends, this process must aim for equal access to new technologies, and be geared towards equipping people to seize opportunities in the changing world of work, including through the updating of skills through their lives.

Protect workers' rights and safety. The Sustainable Development Goals call for protecting labour rights, and promoting safe and secure working environments for all workers. Protections should cover all sectors of employment, in rural or urban areas, and apply to all migrants. Priorities include progressive formalization of informal sector employment, expanding social protection, establishing and enforcing a minimum wage to eliminate working poverty, adopting legal guarantees of workers' rights backed by processes to uphold them, eliminating child labour and any other practices that violate human rights, and setting and implementing basic workplace health and safety standards.

Stimulate small and medium enterprises.

These are responsible for two-thirds of total employment in Asia-Pacific, and are vital for inclusive growth. Helping them expand in size and number will be essential to responding to a growing workforce. Much depends on boosting their relatively small shares in trade and limited access to finance, among other serious obstacles to growth. Other assistance could encompass expanding market access, enhanced use of appropriate technology, and easing disincentives to enter the formal sector, such as excessive business regulations and minimum capital requirements. One-stop service centres could provide assistance with managing formalization, but also advisory, training and other services on issues related to establishing and sustaining a smaller enterprise.

Countries could also support these businesses through enhancing the skills of people involved, establishing development banks or designing loan guarantee schemes, offering fiscal incentives, providing market support and regulation, and supporting research and development, among other measures. Promote structural transformation and greater productivity. Economies with large working-age populations need to shift from mainly low-productivity agricultural activities to high-productivity activities in other sectors in order to improve competitiveness and stimulate productivity. Malaysia provides an example, as it successfully transformed from a traditional plantation-based economy to a sophisticated manufacturing and services economy within a generation.

To help the process along, policy makers need to promote entry into regional and global value chains, and broader regional economic integration. A conducive environment depends on incentives for research and innovation, expanded skills training, the diffusion of new technology and investment in infrastructure, among other avenues.

Policies, regulations, institutions and progressive workplace practices can be geared towards equipping enterprises to improve productivity and remain competitive. Workplace practices include good working conditions, continual learning, sound labour and management relations, and respect for workers' rights. Linking wages more robustly to productivity will ensure that both labourers and entrepreneurs share the benefits of productivity growth.

Mobilize savings and channel them into productive uses. The extent to which a country realizes its demographic dividend depends in part on how well it mobilizes savings and channels them into improved productivity and human well-being, such as can be gained through investing in essential infrastructure for education, health, roads, ports, electrical grids, water systems, and so on.

One key element is ensuring that people have mechanisms to accumulate wealth for old age, including through safe and readily accessible instruments for saving. A large portion of Asia-Pacific's savings is currently invested outside the region, given the shortage within the region of long-term financing instruments. Expanding these has tremendous potential. More developed bond markets, for instance, could build on lessons from successes in Malaysia, Republic of Korea and Singapore.

In low-income countries, banks are still the most important source of financing; many remain state-owned. Reforms could improve the alloAn employmentoriented growth strategy is essential for achieving a demographic dividend cation of loans to the most productive economic sectors, and extend more loans to small and medium enterprises, since larger corporations in many cases can access international financial markets.

Another priority is to lay the foundation for pension systems in anticipation of inevitable ageing. Investing in these systems while the workforce is still large means that as workers age and withdraw from the labour force, there will be sufficient resources for them to enjoy a decent standard of life. While there are different options to expand pension coverage, contributory pension systems may be more sustainable over the longer term as they encourage the current population to save, easing pressures on public budgets.

UNLOCKING THE POTENTIAL OF THE NEXT GENERATION

Asia-Pacific's children and young people will be the driving force behind demographic transition and human development in the next few decades. Deliberate measures and scaled-up investments need to be in place to enhance their education, health and passage from school to work, as affirmed in Agenda 2030, where the international community committed to providing children and youth with a nurturing environment for the full realization of their rights and capabilities.⁸ Public services for youth need to be high in quality and accessible to all, and young people need to be more systematically included in the decisions that affect their lives.

Raise public investment in education to international standards. Asia-Pacific as a region has made commendable progress in primary education and attaining gender parity in education. Greater effort is needed to expand the availability of secondary and tertiary education, however, as these levels produce the skills many countries need to cultivate an increasingly productive workforce and advance to higher levels of human development.

The region needs to invest in the quality of education, at all levels, with a starting point being to reach international standards for

budget allocations to education. One priority for additional resources could be to improve school facilities and faculty, particularly in rural areas and for marginalized communities, as a pathway to equity in opportunities later in life. A comprehensive review of curricula and an assessment of pedagogical approaches may be important, as highlighted in Sri Lanka's 2014 National Human Development Report on Youth and Development, including to ensure that these meet the needs and expectations of students, and prepare a strong foundation for them to flourish as adults. The success of East Asian countries in providing quality education may offer lessons, as students there regularly top global rankings under the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) conducted by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD).

Provide universal health services and nutrition. Though Asia-Pacific as a whole has fared well on vital health issues such as improving access to immunization, reducing infant mortality, curbing stunting among children and improving maternal health, huge health and malnutrition challenges still persist. The Sustainable Development Goals now call for universal health care for all nations at all stages of development. Though priorities for action may differ among countries, this implies that health services need to be available to everyone, as well as affordable, efficient and of good quality. They should be comprehensive, covering not only physical and mental well-being, but also social, economic and cultural factors that influence health. Current underfunding of health services underscores the need for a boost in resources.

Carrying the world's highest burden of child malnutrition, South Asia should make greater investments in reducing it. Most countries in Asia-Pacific as a whole, particularly those with a growing youth bulge, need to pay greater attention to adolescent health. A youth-friendly health policy is central if young people are to learn healthy behaviours, curtail substance abuse and tobacco use, become more physically active, realize their sexual and reproductive health rights, and avoid HIV and obesity.

Strengthen the transition from school to work.

Investing in education and health helps people to realize their full potential This is an urgent priority in a region where an astonishing one-third of youth are neither in school nor the labour market. Part of the reason is that youth with college degrees are unable to find commensurate jobs. To rectify this situation, countries need to ensure that educational systems prepare youth with skills demanded by the labour market. They should also more systematically assess the demand and supply of graduates against anticipated labour market needs.

A shift in emphasis towards education offering relevant skills and alert to labour market demands will produce a higher quality and more employable workforce. Opportunities for internships or apprenticeships for young people could be created and incentives provided to employers to hire more of them. Vocational training will help them explore new avenues for work. Germany's dual vocational training system, which attracts two-thirds of high school graduates, provides an excellent example of how a well-designed work-study programme can help train students in disciplines with clear market demand, and thereby minimize mismatches between available jobs and skills.

With rapid growth in new industries and technology, and increased innovation across Asia-Pacific, there are many new opportunities for talented young people. But governments will also have to engage the private sector and civil society in more meaningful ways to ensure that these translate into decent employment.

Support youth in employment and entrepreneurship. Centres to provide youth with career counselling, information and legal advice are still nascent in the region. Further developing these services could assist in managing challenges related to job searches, informal jobs and migration both to urban areas and abroad. Among other options, they can provide job matching assistance, offer training and mentoring aligned with current labour market needs, arrange for internships or apprenticeships, and even impose sanctions to encourage people to take jobs.

They can also help proactively counter gender and other forms of discrimination, and can conduct targeted outreach to youth who are marginalized, recognizing as well that they may require tailored support. Information and advice on migration specifically targeted to youth could do more to protect them from exploitative recruiting agencies. In general, support services should be integrated within well-designed, appropriately funded labour market policies. These policies should make youth employment a major goal, and aim at overcoming information gaps, improving youth employability and stimulating demand for young workers.

Nurturing youth leadership and entrepreneurial talents can stimulate innovation and creativity, and open new doors for them to transition into a successful adult life. Youth Young people can offer new insights and pioneering solutions

BOX 6.1: Crowdfunding—a new tool to stimulate jobs and innovation among youth

In recent years, crowdfunding has enabled young people to raise capital for businesses from different sources online, rather than relying on traditional options such as families and banks. In Singapore, when sisters Hani and Aisah Dalduri decided to scale up their textile printing business, Fictive Fingers, they launched a crowdfunding campaign by writing their story, sharing photos of their products and encouraging supporters to contribute in return for a range of rewards. The sisters readily exceeded their funding target of \$3,600. When asked why they took the crowdfunding route, they said the campaign wasn't all about money. They were also drawn by the opportunity to reach out to a community.

Asia is currently witnessing exponential growth in crowdfunding, to the tune of \$3.4 billion in 2014. Given that countries in the region have many technically savvy young people, crowdfunding is an obvious tool for them to realize their full potential. Credible crowdfunding systems, however, still require support, including forward-thinking regulations, effective technology and the kinds of cultural shifts encouraging more people to invest in them. start-up ventures could benefit from improved access to finance, including through new tools such as crowdfunding, as well as technical support related to business management and legal advice. Countries such as the Republic of Korea provide financial and other forms of support to youth with innovative business ideas. Helping youth to establish small and medium enterprises not only brings new products and ideas to markets, but also increases employment.

Engage youth in community development and public policy. Young people can offer new insights and pioneering solutions in policy dialogues, or as representatives in national or local decision-making bodies. Many today are more informed than ever before, and keen to tap into new technologies to devise innovative solutions, such as through social media and crowdsourcing platforms. They participated pro-actively in deliberations around Agenda 2030, and are now poised to support its implementation, a process that countries should seek to encourage. National youth councils are one option; reserving seats for youth in parliaments and local legislatures can be another. Bhutan recently launched its first Children's Parliament and Constitution as a platform for youth participation. Civic education is another priority, as it instils common values, and a sense of social and civic rights and obligations-one possibility is to integrate it as a routine element of national education curricula.

Volunteerism and civic engagement of youth can bring tremendous value to local communities. The Philippines' well-known 'Check My School' programme mobilizes youth volunteers to monitor educational resources in local schools to ensure accountability and responsiveness to community needs. The programme has become so successful partly because of a trusted partnership between youth and local governments, and a strong emphasis on transparency and publicly available information.

The World Programme of Action on Youth to the Year 2000 and Beyond is an overarching global framework for addressing youth issues, covering 15 thematic areas in a practical, action-oriented way. Drawing on this, Asia-Pacific countries have developed and refined their own national youth policies, which are now in place in most of countries in the region. More now needs to be done, however, to speed up implementation.

TABLE 6.1: National laws, policies and actions plans on ageing in Asia-Pacific

Australia	Australian Local Government Population Ageing Action Plan 2004-2009, Home and Community Care Act 2007
Bangladesh	National Policy on Ageing 2007
Cambodia	Policy for the Elderly 2003
India	Senior Citizens Act 2007, National Policy on Senior Citizens 2011 (formerly National Policy on Older Persons 1999)
Indonesia	National Plan of Action for Older Persons 2008
Lao People's Democratic Republic	National Policy on the Elderly 2005
Nepal	Senior Citizens Regulation 2009, National Action Plan for Senior Citi-zens 2005
New Zealand	Retirement Villages Act 2003
Philippines	Philippines Plan of Action for Older Persons 2005, Expanded Senior Citizens Act 2010
Thailand	Older Persons Act 2003, 2nd National Plan for Older Persons 2009
Viet Nam	Law on Elderly 2010 and Action Plans 2005-2010

Source: UNFPA and HelpAge International 2012a.

SUSTAINING HUMAN DEVELOPMENT ACROSS LONGER LIFESPANS

Rapid ageing poses challenges and opportunities. All countries should recognize that an ageing population is inevitable and plan accordingly, but the need is particularly acute among those already at the forefront of change. People who are 60 years and above account for more than 12 percent of the population in 12 Asia-Pacific countries.⁹ Ageing in the region is proceeding at rates much faster than it did in Western nations, including in countries that will be grey long before they are rich.

For many older people, vulnerabilities associated with limited income are exacerbated by weak state-assistance systems and the disintegration of intergenerational families. Support needs to be geared up to protect their rights and well-being, in many cases requiring significant political commitment. Countries such as Japan and Thailand, where interministerial

BOX 6.2:

European countries prohibit age-related discrimination and support active ageing

With a large population of older people, the European Union has developed a series of programmes and policies to safeguard their interests and rights. The EU Framework Directive legally prohibits discrimination in employment based on age, among other personal attributes.

Excluding some specific occupations, a majority of European Union member states have abolished a compulsory retirement age, which helps to counter the labour loss from a shrinking population of working-age people. Other policies support active ageing, encouraging people to participate economically, provide care to family members, maintain healthy and independent lives, and find sustainable solutions related to health care, pensions and long-term care. The European Disability Strategy 2010-20 fosters equal access to goods and public services, including health services, by eradicating discrimination based on disability.

Source: European Parliamentary Research Service 2014.

councils and commissions on ageing oversee policy implementation, are moving in the right direction. New Zealand has appointed a minister for senior citizens.

Establish a national ageing policy. Both the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing and Agenda 2030 stress grounding strategies to support older people in their active empowerment and engagement, and upholding core principles such as equity, sufficiency and sustainability. Many Asia-Pacific countries have launched policies and/or action plans based on the rights of older persons to participate in development and acquire human development capabilities and opportunities (Table 6.1). Nearly 40 percent of countries have specific legislation on older persons.

Some countries have adopted monitoring systems to assess the impacts of policies and laws on the elderly, as in China for the Law on the Protection of the Rights and Interests of the Aged. Malaysia conducts surveys and research on ageing, including the Review of the National Policy and Plan of Action for Older Persons, which focuses on reintegration and increased participation of older persons in society.

Given still considerable gap between policy and practice, however, a majority of countries need to prioritize implementation. Plans need to be backed by necessary resources and structured around clear goals. Results could build on better data, evidence and knowledge, such as can be collected through regular surveys on ageing. This will help decision makers attune policies to realities on the ground.

Enact legislation to protect the elderly from discrimination. Ageing is a relatively new phenomenon in Asia-Pacific, and legal frameworks have not necessarily kept up with it. Some priority issues might include laws banning agebased discrimination, protecting the elderly against abuse in their homes or institutions, and guaranteeing essential service delivery and access to social security entitlements. Raising the age of retirement should be accompanied by laws to ensure that elderly people who need or choose to work will not face discrimination in employment. In crafting new statutes, countries can learn from experiences in regions at a more Stronger commitments are needed to manage non-communicable diseases advanced stage of ageing (Box 6.1).

Rebalance health systems. Population ageing will undoubtedly place an increasing burden on national health care services and budgets. At least part of this can be mitigated by proactive strategies to foster active and healthy ageing, such as through awareness campaigns to cultivate healthy lifestyles and reduce the escalating costs of chronic non-communicable diseases. This approach requires an assessment of the health system as a whole and the needs of different population groups, working towards the goal of universality, and aligned with principles of equity, fairness and efficiency.

Having already passed through the early stages of demographic transition, some ageing countries still retain a heavy focus on primary health care, particularly child and maternal health. At a more advanced stage of transition, rebalancing may be required to better meet the needs of older people. Among other measures, this may call for stronger financial and programmatic commitments to support prevention, diagnosis, management and proper care of non-communicable diseases; training of health workers to explicitly address age-related care; and investment in care for disabilities and mental health services geared to the elderly, particularly these who are poor and/or live rural areas.

Proper design and appropriate institutions can ensure pension systems are sustainable

Raise the retirement age, and ensure it is the same for women and men. In several countries, mandatory retirement ages no long reflect the reality that people are living much longer. Raising the retirement age could have a number of positive impacts, including a boost to the supply of experienced and skilled labour, which is critical for Asia-Pacific countries to remain competitive, and contributes to higher household incomes and savings. Government savings will rise because lifetime benefits paid to retirees will be smaller.

To uphold gender equality norms, retirement ages should legally be the same for women and men. Working environments could be adapted to accommodate the physical and health conditions of elderly people, and more flexible work conditions embraced to encourage older people to remain in the workforce. Flexible and part-time employment options may be especially attractive to women, who make up a majority of the elderly, but a minority of the elderly workforce. Asia-Pacific countries can learn from experiences in China, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam, which have introduced programmes promoting employment for elderly people.

Several countries have instituted higher retirement ages or abolished a compulsory retirement age altogether. Higher longevity and healthier lives have led Japan and the Republic of Korea to increase their retirement ages to 60. Singapore not only raised the minimum retirement age from 55 to 62, but in 2011 passed re-employment legislation through which companies must rehire healthy workers until they reach age 65. Recently, Singapore's Prime Minister announced that the re-employment age will be raised to 67 by 2017.10 Australia, the United States and the European Union have all adopted flexible approaches to retirement that allow people to remain employed according to their individual circumstances.

Adjust national pension systems for equity, adequacy and sustainability. Pension systems are still at an early stage in the region, but will need to grow-rapidly in many cases. This will not be easy or cheap. Choices may be needed to balance priorities across generations and develop social consensus around what constitutes fair shares of limited resources. Proper design and appropriate institutional mechanisms can help contain expenditures. In general, pension systems should aim to be progressive, where pension benefits are equitably shared, and those with the capacity to contribute more do so. A fair floor of essential benefits could be established for all pensioners, while avoiding the trap of setting overly generous benefit levels that are a disincentive to work or unsustainable in the long-run.

There are numerous pension models around the world to learn from. A majority of countries operate with contributory pension schemes, where both workers and their employers contribute. In the United States, for example, approximately 80 percent of full-time workers have access to employer-sponsored retirement plans that can be continued as people move between jobs. In New Zealand, the KiwiSaver plan automatically enrols people in saving for retirement unless they choose to opt out. Unlike in the United States, New Zealanders cannot withdraw their savings at any time prior to their retirement, which makes the system more sustainable. Denmark maintains a well-funded pension system with investments in long-term bonds that was recently ranked as the world's best. It is robust and provides good benefits.

Undertake national campaigns to change negative perceptions around ageing. Ageing societies face a process of adjustment that will take place on the policy and planning levels, but also in the court of public opinion. Public awareness campaigns can be invaluable in countering discriminatory notions about older people that can marginalize them in multiple ways.

Some initiatives might aim to slow the erosion of traditions and values that treat the family as a cohesive unit where different members at different stages of life help each other. They could encourage, for example, adults to support their elderly parents, or elderly people to assist with rearing grandchildren. At least in the interim, this could help take excessive pressure off pension schemes, and increase psychological and emotional satisfaction among the elderly. Grandparents play an important role in child care in European countries. Their role in the family is believed to have a positive impact on their own health even as it allows more mothers to participate in the labour market.¹¹

REALIZING THE FULL PROMISE OF URBANIZATION

Though urbanization is both a cause and consequence of demographic changes, it should not be viewed as simply a demographic phenomenon. At its core, urbanization is a transformative force that alters the landscape and fortune of countries, in both positive and negative ways. Cities are hubs of modern living, better paid jobs, higher quality education and health care, and improved sanitation, hygiene and nutrition. They boost productivity and innovation, and open access to markets and technology. But they can also be sources of heightened risk for poor residents, such as through crime and low living standards. They can dramatically amplify pressures on the environmental through urban sprawl and unsustainable consumption of resources.

In Asia-Pacific, urbanization is occurring more quickly than in other regions, forcing cities to adapt and manage demographic transformation in a narrower window of time. Higher human development outcomes largely depend on better services and the fair sharing of benefits from urban economic dynamism. Towards these ends, local and national policy makers need both vision and political will. Governments will need to expand capacities and resources to cater to rapidly growing demands for public services and infrastructure, extend protection measures for the urban poor and marginalized, and guide the building of cities that are resilient and sustainable.

Enact a national urbanization strategy. National and local governments need to become more strategic in responding to the full range of threats and options posed by rapid urbanization. For this, a national urbanization strategy is a first step. It could help to identify urban development priorities, shape national and regional spatial plans, and better coordinate actions by national and local actors, including the private sector. Working with such a strategy, governments at all levels can help make cities more equitable, efficient and environmentally friendly, through, for example, informed trade-offs on the use of scarce resources such as land. In orienting diverse policies for housing, transport and basic Well-defined property rights and transparent land and labour markets help harness urban potential infrastructure, a good urbanization strategy will make these more adapted to the realities of cities and towns.

Urban policy priorities and choices depend on a variety of factors-including the scale and speed of urbanization, the size of cities, and the stage of demographic transition, which among other issues can determine the source of urban growth. But in general, urbanization strategies should aim for higher levels of human development, as well as greater productivity and stable growth. Necessary ingredients include well-defined property rights, a good investment climate, an attractive incentive framework for businesses, functioning land and labour markets, high investment in education and training, reliable electricity and power grids, good transportation systems, interconnectedness between cities and outstanding telecommunication networks.

Links between rural and urban development are still often overlooked. The two are in fact closely intertwined; each can either limit or unlock possibilities in the other, such as by accelerating or slowing the flow of migrants. China's 2013 National Human Development Report on Sustainable and Liveable Cities highlighted how accelerated urban growth is fuelling a rural and urban divide. It urged a closer examination of rural-urban links to gain insights into solutions to address this phenomenon. These might include, for instance, roads that improve the flow of goods and people in both directions, or banking services that permit the ready transfer of money earned in cities to dependents in outlying villages.

Asia-Pacific cities differ vastly from each other. In terms of development trajectories, for example, Hong Kong, China (SAR); Mumbai and Singapore are centres of financial services, while high-tech drives Bangalore, Chennai and Hyderabad. Many cities in China and the Republic of Korea are powerhouses of export-oriented manufacturing. City-specific strategies are crucial for them, in addition to a national urban strategy.

In recent years, small and medium-sized cities have grown rapidly in many Asia-Pacific countries. They act as economic growth centres and are important as bridges between rural and large urban areas, but their potential has not yet been fully exploited. Many enjoy advantages such as low rental costs and limited traffic congestion. An increased focus on them, through national and city-specific urbanization strategies, could generate additional economic growth and greater efficiency. With adequate attention, dynamic small and medium-sized cities could eventually play an important role in reducing income inequality and promoting balanced territorial development.

Strengthen municipal government capacities.

The capacities of local governments and their relationships with central authorities do not consistently reflect the pace of urbanization or its many demands. The process of defining appropriate capacities and links can be a complex one, more so because many countries lack the luxury of enacting new systems over a longer period of time.

A review of current relationships is a starting point in this direction. It should aim for moving towards a proactive, bottom-up approach that goes beyond just designing a new territorial administrative structure. National, regional and city governments need to have clearly defined roles grounded in existing capacities, but also connected to a vision of developing future capacities, particularly among local governments, as they are on the frontlines of managing liveable, productive, inclusive and sustainable cities.

Over time, success will depend strongly on a national legal foundation, capable institutions and adequate financial instruments to manage decentralization and coordinate among different levels of government. Effective urban service delivery rests largely on the devolution of appropriate responsibilities backed by the resources to pay for them. Institutions of local governance need requisite technical and managerial skills, the ability to engage with the public, and strong capacities to design, implement, monitor and evaluate local public policies to transform urban areas into centres of productivity.

Address chronic budget imbalances among local government. Each city, regardless of size, needs a well-defined administrative area over which it has full autonomy, and a clear formula for intergovernmental transfers. As capacity for local administration improves, cities can often boost local resource mobilization, such as through

Local government capacities and relationships with central authorities need to improve The Delhi metro rail system provides an interesting example of how mass transportation systems are being developed and managed in major urban centres of developing Asia. Construction for the railway system began in the mid-1990s and over two decades encountered various technical challenges, such as the need to tunnel under old, fragile buildings and avoid disruptions to the mobility of residents, as well as political hurdles involved in resettling residents and reimbursing landowners. Today the 216-kilometre rail system consists of modern, air-conditioned, eco-friendly trains. With 160 stations, the system connects the busiest parts of the city, including the international airport. Plans call for extending it to suburban areas through express lines.

A successful public-private partnership was key to securing funding for the project. The Government

of India formed the Delhi Metro Rail Corporation (DMRC) to oversee implementation and financing. Most funding came in the form of low-interest loans from the Japan Bank for International Cooperation and the Japan International Cooperation Agency, with matching grants from the governments of Delhi and India. Up to 15 percent of funding was derived from a 'value capture' scheme, where the Corporation drew some proceeds from commercial property development around metro stations.

The DMRC has been recognized for pioneering the world's first metro system to purchase carbon credits. These help to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 0.63 million tons every year, on top of reductions from vehicles taken off the streets due to the new public transport system. All stations have energy efficient buildings; several are powered with solar energy.

Source: Delhi Metro Rail Corporation Limited 2016, Siemens Report 2014.

better tax assessment and collection practices. They can ensure more equitable distribution of public resources, and plan more systematically for infrastructure investment, operations and maintenance. Those at more advanced stages can explore alternative instruments of finance to increase fiscal self-reliance, such as user fees, real estate taxes, municipal bonds, land-based financing instruments, development impact fees and public-private partnerships (Box 6.2).

Promote inclusiveness. Urban exclusion, social or otherwise, is a critical impediment to human development in cities. Conscious and comprehensive analysis of patterns of exclusion, which can be gained in part through engaging directly with excluded groups, needs to inform urban planning, development and investment strategies. When excluded groups play key roles in making decisions on these, such as through community-based budgeting and similar exercises, the actions that result may be better suited to meeting their needs, doing more to reduce exclusion and enhance human well-being.

Every effort should be made to integrate all marginalized people, who may include rural-urban migrants, slum dwellers, youth, older people, women and girls, and people with disabilities, among others. All urban residents should be able to access essential services and decent work, which initially may require targeted spending, for example, on infrastructure that closes longstanding gaps in transport, and access to water and electricity. Street lights can help reduce instances of gender-based violence and harassment. Repairing potholes and installing ramps on sidewalks ease access for the disabled and elderly. The fact that gender pay gaps are often wider in urban areas¹² suggests scope for awareness campaigns, engagement with employers and enforcement of anti-discrimination statutes, and may also indicate a need for the provision of services such as childcare that reduce the burdens of unpaid care work.

Build more environmentally sustainable cities. The environmental and other costs of poorly managed urbanization can be excessive and difficult to reverse, making it far more cost-effective to plan now for sustainable urban development. Forward-looking environmental, social and economic policies need to be central to urban development agendas. These can be designed through citizen participation, and aim for integrated responses to human development goals and market demands.

One measure is to foster urban agglomeration, and promote green and compact cities, as both China and Japan are doing. These avoid the urban sprawl that can make public services costlier and more difficult to provide, and can dramatically increase traffic congestion and greenhouse gas emissions. Restrictions on the expansion of urban boundaries are one way to encourage denser forms of urban development. Sustaining compact cities depends in part on instituting efficient, low-emissions public transportation systems.

All cities should be equipped to minimize damage and quickly recover from natural disasters. Impact assessments can help identify vulnerable locations, populations and sectors, and inform urban response plans. Climate change considerations and disaster risk reduction should be factored in, such as through stricter regulations for development projects in high-risk areas and improved standard building codes.

Make cities more competitive. Many factors that affect a country's competitiveness, such as infrastructure, educational and research institutions, and the quality of public administration, come under the purview of cities. Some Asia-Pacific cities are successful in attracting talent and investment, and ensuring prosperity and good public services for their citizens. Singapore; Hong Kong, China (SAR); Sydney and Tokyo are currently among the world's most competitive cities, and are likely to retain their advantages in the near term.

By comparison, many cities in developing Asia-Pacific countries struggle to cope with challenges such as the large-scale influx of migrants, or the inability to provide essential services, decent jobs or housing. They suffer from substantial infrastructure gaps, such as unreliable power systems, poor quality roads, inefficient ports, inadequate schools and so on. There has been some progress in narrowing the infrastructure deficit in recent decades, but much more needs to be done to remove bottlenecks and upgrade systems if cities are to become more competitive and realize their full potential as hubs of human and economic dynamism.

SUSTAINING MOMENTUM

Asia-Pacific's human development achievements have been nothing less than extraordinary. The pace of progress can and should be maintained, but the means may differ, particularly given challenges such as slowing economic growth and threats from climate change. Success will depend in large part on the adept use of all available avenues to sustain and accelerate human development; among the most powerful of these may be demographic transition.

Every country has valid reasons for exploiting its narrow window of demographic opportunity. It is time for a broad cross-section of policy makers and the public at large to understand the enormous potential at hand. Every possible effort should be made to steer the process that is now unfolding, so that it provides all people, across the region, with every chance to flourish.

Better infrastructure, education and research, and public administration make cities more competitive

End Notes

CHAPTER 1

- 1. UNFPA 2014b.
- The term 'demographic dividend' usually refers to the potential economic growth resulting from a change in population age structure. In this report, the term refers not only to potential economic growth, but also to potential human development progress.
- 3. UNDP 2015a.
- 4. Annex Table 2.
- Human Development Index values have not been calculated for nine Asia-Pacific countries and territories, namely the Cook Islands; the Democratic People's Republic of Korea; Macao, China (SAR); Marshal Islands; Nauru; Niue; Taiwan Province of China; Tokelau and Tuvalu.
- 6. Annex Table 1.
- 7. Ibid.
- 8. Ibid.
- 9. Ibid.
- 10. Ibid.
- 11. Annex Table 3.
- 12. Ibid.
- 13. Annex Table 4.
- 14. UNDP 2014.
- 15. Annex Table 5.
- 16. The demographic data in this report are per the World Population Prospects projections, 2015 revisions (UN DESA 2015a). Asia-Pacific in the report refers only to East Asia, South-east Asia, South Asia and Oceania. It does not include Central Asia, North Asia and West Asia. Please see the Readers Guide for a complete list of countries, and the Annex Tables for country data.
- 17. World Bank 2015a.
- The population projections used in this report are based on the medium-variant of United Nations population projections.
- 19. Annex Table 7.
- 20. The window of demographic opportunity is the time when the proportion of the population aged 0 to 14 is below 30 percent, and the proportion aged 65plus is below 15 percent (United Nations 2004).
- In 2100, four out of five people in the region will be 15 years of age or older and 28 percent will be 60 years of age or older.
- 22. Annex Table 9.
- 23. Ibid.
- 24. UN DESA 2015a.

25. Annex Table 9.

- 26. The common indicator of fertility is the total fertility rate, which expresses the number of births that can be expected to occur for a typical woman in a given society during her childbearing years. The total fertility rate and crude birth rate are especially influential in determining the number of children in a country.
- 27. IMF 2015 and World Bank 2015 use a similar typology for grouping countries on the basis of demographic variables.
- 28. Annex Table 8.
- 29. Government of India 2012; Hunter 2012.
- Andhra Pradesh, Tamil Nadu, Kerala, Karnataka, Goa, Punjab, Himachal Pradesh, Jammu and Kashmir, Maharashtra, West Bengal, Sikkim, Tripura and the union territories.
- 31. Annex Table 8.
- 32. Bloom and Williamson 1998.
- 33. UN DESA 2012.
- 34. Ibid.
- Afghanistan, Bhutan, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Fiji, Kiribati, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Micronesia, Myanmar, Nepal, India, Mongolia, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Solomon Islands and Timor-Leste.
- 36. Annex Table 8.
- Feeney and Mason 1997; Bloom and Williamson 1998.
- 38. UN DESA 2015a.
- 39. Migration stock data refer to the number of people living in a country other than the one in which they were born at a given point in time.
- 40. Sijapati 2015.
- 41. IOM 2013.
- 42. Castles et al. 2012.
- 43. IOM 2013.
- 44. Castles et al. 2012.
- 45. OECD 2012a.
- 46. The demographic dividend occurs from 'accounting' and 'behavioural' effects. One accounting effect is the swelling of the working-age population after a baby boom. Another is the fact that the 'working age' coincides with the prime years for savings. Behavioural effects include the rise in women's workforce activity as fertility declines; faster urbanization as people move from rural to urban areas for improved education and employment opportunities; the

boost to savings and productivity as people work harder and save more due to the possibility of a longer retired life; and the use of human and physical capital, infrastructure and technological innovation.

- 47. Bloom and Williamson 1998; Bloom et al. 2007; Lee et al. 2000; Lee and Mason 2006.
- 48. Becker and Barro 1988; Lee and Mason 2010; Prettner and Prskawetz 2010.
- 49. See Coale and Hoover 1958. The study stressed three demographic factors affecting economic development. First, there is the age dependency effect as rapid population growth creates a worsening dependency ratio that leads to a dip in the savings rate for people in their early 30s due to the high consumption needs of people with young families. Second, there is a resource diversion effect as high population growth leads to a large amount of money spent by the government on social sectors rather than on productive growth-oriented sectors. Third, a 'capital-shallowing' effect occurs as rapid population growth leads to a fall in the ratio of capital to labour. See also Bloom and Freeman 1988; Bloom et al. 2003.
- 50. Bloom and Williamson 1998.
- 51. Wang 2011.
- 52. IMF 2011.
- 53. Drummond et al. 2014.
- 54. UNDP 2015a.
- 55. For a detailed description of the model, see Mason 2005.
- 56. Economic growth is measured here by GDP per equivalent consumer (GDP/N) rather than the more traditional GDP per person. Growth of GDP/N is a better measure of gains in the standard of living because high-consuming age groups grew more rapidly than lowconsuming age groups between 1970 and 2010. Accounting for age structure changes leads to a downward revision of economic growth of between 0.1 and 0.2 percentage points, except in Africa, where the downward revision is only 0.04 percentage points.
- 57. The effective number of workers uses age variation in labour force participation, unemployment, hours worked and productivity to measure the size of the work force. The effective number

of consumers uses age variation in consumption to control for the effects of age structure on standards of living.

CHAPTER 2

- UN DESA 2015a. 1.
- 2. ADB 2005.
- Philippines Statistics Authority, Republic З. of the Philippines 2015.
- 4. ILO and ADB 2011.
- McKinsey & Company 2011. 5.
- 6. Noland et al. 2013.
- 7. Bloom and Williamson 1998.
- 8. World Bank 2013a.
- 9. ADB 2014a.
- 10. Gross enrolment ratio = (persons in school x100)/(persons of school age). 11.
- Fogel 2004.
- 12. For example, Bloom et al. 2000. Leung et al. (2003) argued that it is 13. impossible to disprove the role of luck in economic growth. They claimed that Asia-Pacific countries have experienced successes and failures generated by high economic volatility, and that "luck is endogenous through learning-by investing." As result, "good luck is a function of good policy. Luck favours those who strive."
- 14. Otsubo 2007.
- 15. Kensuke 2011.
- 16. UNDP 2014.
- Otsubo 2007. 17.
- Ibid. 18.
- Corbet 2012. 19.
- 20. World Bank 2015a.
- 21. ADB 2014c.
- 22. Norbu 2014.
- 23 The Economist 2014a.
- 24. ADB 2014c.
- 25. Ibid.
- OECD 2012. 26.
- ILO and ADB 2011. 27.
- 28. Kabeer 2005.
- 29. World Bank 2014e.
- 30. World Bank 2014b.
- 31. Ibid.
- 32. Mirza and Bacani 2013.
- 33. ILO 2013; WIEGO 2014. 34. Estimates of global domestic workers
- vary from 100 million to 200 million as reported by the ILO (UN Women 2015a).
- 35. ILO 2011b.
- 36. ILO 2012b.
- 37. ESRC-DFID 2014.
- 38. International Committee of the Red Cross 2015.
- 39. ILO 2015b.
- 40. ILO 2013.
- 41. Monthly Review 2014.
- 42. ILO 2015c.

200

- 43. WageIndicator 2011.
- China Briefing 2014. 44.
- 45. The Asia Foundation 2013.
- World Bank 2014a; Dev 2015. 46.
- 47. ILO 2015a.
- 48 II O 2008
- UNESCO-UNEVOC 2014. 49.
- 50. National Skills Development Foundation
- 2013 51. ADB 2014b.
- 52. Demirguc-Kunt and Klapper 2012.
- 53. The Global Findex Survey 2014.
- 54. Karlan et al. 2014.
- 55 Burgess and Pande 2005.
- 56. Bill and Melinda Gates Foundation 2015.
- 57. Norbu 2014.
- 58. ADB 2015a.
- 59. Ernst and Young 2014.
- 60. ADB 2015b.

CHAPTER 3

- 1. Bloom and Williamson 1998.
- ADB 2011b. 2.
- Huntington 1996; Esty et al. 1998; З. Goldstone 2001.
- 4. Both the shares and numbers of children and youth have been declining rapidly in Asia-Pacific. The regional share of children in the total population, after reaching a peak of 41 percent in 1970, declined to 24 percent in 2015, and is projected to fall further to 18 percent by 2050. The regional share of youth decreased from a peak of 21 percent in 1985 to 16 percent today, and is projected to shrink to 12 percent by 2050. The numbers of children and youth have also declined since 1995 and 2010, respectively.
- 5. United Nations 2015c.
- 6. Ibid.
- UNESCO 2012. 7.
- 8. OECD 2012b.
- 9. UNESCO and UNICEF 2012.
- 10. World Bank 2015a.
- UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015. 11.
- 12. UNESCO (2003) defines a Gender Parity Index value of between 0.97 and 1.03 as the achievement of gender parity. This allows for some measurement error but does not imply a judgement about the acceptability of any particular level of disparity.
- 13. UNESCO 2015b.
- 14. UNESCO 2015a.
- 15. UNESCO Institute for Statistics 2015.
- 16. United Nations 2010.
- 17. Government of India Planning Commission 2013.
- 18. The learning outcomes are disturbingly low. The annual Status of Education

Report of Pratham (2012), which is one of the largest NGOs in India working to improve the quality of education, indicates that more than more than half of all children in Standard V were unable to read a Standard II level text in 2012. Similarly, 46 percent of children enrolled in Standard V were not able to solve simple-two digit subtraction problems.

- 19. Pratham 2013.
- 20. Muralidharan 2013.
- 21. UNESCO 2012.
- 22. UNESCO 2015b.
- 23. Tertiary students are those who enrolled for a university degree, vocational training or advanced research degree of doctoral standard.
- 24. See, for example, Carnoy et al. 2012; World Bank 2012a.
- 25. UNESCO 2014a.
- 26. ADB 2012b.
- 27. Altback et al. 2009.
- 28. Morley 2005.
- 29. UNDP 2013.
- 30. ADB 2011b.
- 31. UNESCO 2014b.
- 32. UNESCO 2015b.
- 33. UNICEF 2015a.
- 34. UNDP 2015a.
- 35. ILO 2015d.
- 36. ILO 2015e.
- 37. ILO 2015d. 38. UNICEF 2007.

39. WAVE Trust 2013.

41. UNICEF 2014.

48. UNICEF 2014.

49. UNICEF 2016.

51. UNICEF 2014.

52. WHO 2016a.

53. UNICEF 2014.

55. WHO 2014c.

58. UNICEF 2011.

59. UNODC 2015.

61. UNFPA 2012.

62. WHO 2014a.

60. Kothari et al. 2012.

56. Ibid.

57

42. Ibid.

43. Ibid.

44. Ibid.

45. Ibid.

46.

47. Ibid.

40. OECD and WHO 2014.

Save the Children 2012.

underweight children.

54. WHO 2014c; UNICEF 2014.

Chen et al. 2011, WHO 2012

50. Underweight (low weight-for-age) is

related to both low height and low weight

of a child. Hence countries with a higher

prevalence of stunting and wasting are

likely to have a higher proportion of

- 63. WHO 2014b.
- 64. UNFPA 2012.
- 65. UNICEF 2015b.
- 66. Ibid.
- 67. Guarcello et al. 2007.
- 68. UNDP 2014.
- 69. ILO 2015d.
- 70. Ibid.
- 71. World Bank 2015a.
- 72. O'Higgins 2001.
- 73. World Economic Forum 2013.
- 74. ILO 2015d.
- 75. ADB 2008.
- 76. ILO 2010.
- 77. Fares and Puerto 2009.
- 78. Angel-Urdinola et al. 2010.
- 79. UNESCO 2015b.
- 80. UN DESA 2015b.
- 81. ADB 2014d.
- 82. UNESCO 2016.
- 83. UNESCAP 2015a.
- 84. World Bank 2015b.
- 85. ADB 2014d.
- 86. UNESCAP 2015a.
- 87. Ibid.
- 88. Global Migration Group 2014.
- 89. UNESCAP 2015b.
- 90. World Bank 2014d.
- 91. Asian Barometer 2016.
- 92. Ibid.
- 93. Teléfonica 2013.
- 94. UNESCO 2008.
- 95. Norbu 2014.
- 96. OECD countries have an average of 3.2 doctors and 8.7 nurses per 1,000 people. Asia-Pacific countries have only 1.2 doctors and 2.8 nurses per 1,000, for the latest years with available data. See OECD and WHO 2014.
- 97. WHO 2010.
- 98. UNESCAP 2014.
- 99. World Economic Forum 2013.
- 100. Angel-Urdinola et al. 2010.
- 101. ILO 2015f.
- 102. Ibid.
- 103. Ibid.

CHAPTER 4

 Constructed by HelpAge International, the Global AgeWatch Index ranks countries by how well their older populations are faring in social and economic well-being. It consists of four dimensions—income status, health status, education and employment, and enabling environment—with 13 indicators. An 'enabling environment' has four indicators: social connection, physical safety, civic freedom and access to public transport. For further details, see HelpAge International 2015.

- 2. UN DESA 2015a.
- 3. Ibid.
- 4. Ibid.
- 5. Ibid.
- At the regional level, there is a shift in the dependency ratio over the decades. Initially, the proportion of young people was rising, while that of the elderly population (60 and above) was decreasing. Both of these trends peaked in 1965 and have reversed direction thereafter.
- 7. UNDP 2015a.
- 8. Gorman 2007 as cited in Mujahid 2012.
- 9. ILO 2011a.
- 10. Barrientos 2012.
- 11. Evans et al. 2006.
- 12. Government of Sri Lanka 2002.
- 13. Shon and Palley 2014.
- 14. Priebe and Howell 2014.
- 15. Ibid.
- 16. ILO 2015g.
- The Human Development Report 2015 distinguishes between the concepts of 'work' and 'job'. Work is a much broader concept, including unpaid care work, voluntary work and other types of work with a large impact on human development. For further details, see UNDP 2015a.
- 18. UN Women 2015b.
- The feminization of poverty is a change in poverty level biased against women or female-headed households.
- 20. UNDP 2015a.
- 21. Bibby 2010.
- 22. Beales 2002.
- 23. Handayani and Babajanian 2012.
- 24. Ibid.
- 25. UN 2012a.
- 26. Ageism is stereotyping and prejudice against older people that can lead to age discrimination.
- 27. United Nations 2012b.
- 28. See, for example, United Nations 2011.
- 29. United Nations 2012b.
- 30. Knox-Vydmanov 2011.
- 31. UN 2012a.
- 32. UNPFA and HelpAge International 2011a.
- 33. UNESCAP 2012.
- 34. UN DESA 2011.
- 35. World Bank 2016.
- 36. UN DESA 2007.
- 37. UNSW, SPC and University of the Queensland 2014.
- 38. World Bank 2016.
- 39. UNSW, SPC and University of the Queensland 2014.
- 40. UNDP 2014.
- 41. WHO 2007a.
- 42. Langenbrunner and Somonathan 2011; Chongsuvivatwong et al. 2011.

- 43. WHO 2014d.
- 44. Chongsuvivatwong et al. 2011.
- 45. NPR news 2008.
- 46. United Nations 2012b.
- 47. Population Reference Bureau 2012.
- 48. Cooper et al. 2009, cited in Oliver et al. 2014.
- 49. WHO 2012.
- 50. O'Donnell et al. 2008.
- 51. United Nations 2012a. A survey conducted in Asia-Pacific countries in May 2011 by UNESCAP assessed the implementation status of the Madrid Plan of Action. The survey results are presented in UNESCAP 2012.
- 52. Cai and Wang 2014.
- 53. United Nations 2013a.
- 54. Park and Estrada 2012.
- 55. World Bank 2008
- 56. Mujahid 2012; Falkingham and Vlachantoni 2010.
- 57. The proportion comes down to 20 percent when non-contributory pensions are taken out.
- 58. ILO 2014a. 59. ILO 2015g.

60. ILO 2014a.

61. Wang 2014.

63. Feng and Chen 2014.

64. The low coverage of contributory

IMF 2011, for instance, noted a

pensions in most Asia-Pacific countries

has been noted by two major studies.

particularly low coverage rate, citing an

The Asian Development Bank analysed

average of 26 percent in seven countries.

public pension systems in eight countries

(China, Indonesia, Malaysia, Philippines,

Republic of Korea, Singapore, Thailand

and Viet Nam), and concluded that most

face the problems of low coverage and

low levels of benefits (Park and Estrada

69. Despite relatively low replacement rates,

leaving it to them when they die.

The concept of 'ageing in place' is a

popular current term. It is defined as

201

older people in Japan, rather than being

a burden to family, transfer resources to

younger generations by spending money

on their children and grandchildren or by

62. ILO 2014a.

2012).

65. ILO 2015g.

66. ILO 2014a.

68. ILO 2014a.

70. ADBI 2012.

72. IMF 2011.

73. Asher 2012.

74. Nguyen 2002.

Mason and Lee 2011.

71. Ibid.

75.

76.

67. OECD 2016.

living in the community, with some level of independence, rather than in residential care.

- 77. Yuen 2015.
- 78. Clapham 2015.
- 79. Yuen 2015.
- 80. UN DESA 2011; WHO 2007b.
- 81. Global City Indicators Facility 2013.
- 82. The Economist 2013.
- 83. Verena 2012.
- 84. World Bank 2016.
- 85. UNDP 2015a.
- 86. UN DESA 2011.
- 87. Bouman et al. 2015.
- 88. Marsh 2012.
- 89. United Nations 2013b.
- 90. Singapore has an early retirement age of 55 for both men and women, but it also has substantial post-retirement reemployment.
- 91. Wang 2014.
- 92. East West Centre 2002.
- In the United States, labour force participation increased from 1990 to 2010. Only 12.1 percent of people aged 65 years and older were in the labour force in 1990; 16.1 percent were in 2010 (Kromer and Howard 2013).
- 94. United Nations 2013a.
- 95. Ibid.
- 96. UNFPA and HelpAge International 2012a.
- 97. UN DESA 2011.
- 98. United Nations 2012a.
- 99. UNFPA and HelpAge International 2012a.
- 100. UNFPA 2011.
- 101. World Bank 2016.
- 102. IMF 2011.
- 103. Wang 2014.
- 104. Lu et al. 2013.
- 105. Langenbrunner and Somonathan 2011.106. Ibid.
- 107. Tangcharoensathien et al. 2011.
- 108. Mason and Lee 2012.
- 109. Cai and Wang 2014.
- 110. The ratio is calculated by holding age-specific public transfer inflows and outflows constant, while allowing population age structure to change in accordance with historical estimates and projections. The ratio is the projected tax revenues relative to public transfers (cash and in kind) as a percentage of values in 2010. Revenues and expenditures are projected assuming that per capita taxes and public transfers/ expenditure by single year of age remain constant at base-year values. Thus, values are the result of changes in population age structure only.
- 111. The role of the public sector is, in fact, growing quite rapidly in most countries of the region. In the Republic of Korea,

for example, social welfare benefits for the elderly rose sharply over a very short period.

- 112. ILO 2014a
- 113. Naoyuki et al. 2015.
- 114. East West Center 2000.
- 115. Stanton 2006.
- 116. UNDP 2015a.
- 117. East West Center 2002.

CHAPTER 5

- 1. UN DESA 2014.
- 2. United Nations 2012c.
- 3. Definitions of 'urban' areas differ, including across countries. This means that data are not always directly comparable at the regional or global levels. Government reclassification of areas as 'urban' can also be based on incentives that do not necessarily reflect actual conditions. Differences at the global level are illustrated by a comparison of data definitions used by UN DESA (2014) and the Brookings Institute (2012). Brookings data for Jakarta include large peri-urban areas, resulting in a far larger population than the UN DESA estimates. Many datasets also fail to include temporary migrants. This report tries to make clear the definition of urban used whenever statistics are presented. For all population estimates, the report relies on the UN DESA definition and its corresponding statistics.
- 4. UN DESA 2014.
- 5. Ibid.
- 6. ADB 2012a.
- 7. UN DESA 2013a.
- 8. McKinsey Global Institute 2009.
- 9. UN-Habitat 2012a.
- 10. 'Children' are defined as people aged 0 to 14; 'youth' as between the ages of 15 and 24; 'working-age' as those aged 15 to 59; and 'elderly' as people aged 60 and above. The listed year indicates the date of the household survey included in UN DESA 2013b. All surveys are from 2009 to 2013, except Lao People's Democratic Republic (2005). See UN DESA 2013c.
- It is also largely true globally. Rural dependency ratios tend to be higher than urban dependency ratios across all regions, and they tend to be highest in rural areas of the least developed regions. See Anríquez and Bonomi 2008.
- 12. GDP data is in constant 2005 US dollars.
- 13. The year of the baseline data in Cambodia was 1996.
- 14. Migration decisions are also not only

about whether or not to migrate, but also where to go. Potential migrants face complicated decisions with many different options and uncertain consequences. They are often making these different decisions simultaneously. Dechingtor 2006

- 15. Deshingkar 2006.
- For example, a 2005 study found that domestic remittances contributed between 20 percent and 50 percent of the total income of recipient rural households in China (Cheng and Zhong 2005).
- 17. Dudwick et al. 2011.
- 18. Lall et al. 2009.
- According to Kirsch et al. (2012), the flood destroyed 55 percent of affected homes and caused 87 percent of households to move; lack of electricity increased from 19 percent to 33 percent; and 88 percent of the affected population reported a loss of income. After six months, most people had not recovered their prior standard of living. Rural households were more commonly impacted and slower to recover.
- 20. For examples, see de Haan and Rogaly 2002, Gardner and Osella 2003, and Shah 2006.
- 21. Cities are not immune from discrimination, including for newly arrived migrants. But this does not discount the lure of cities as an escape for many from the constraints of rural areas.
- For example, a survey in China found the attractions of city life as among the primary drivers of rural-urban migration (Hu 2012).
- 23. UN-HABITAT 2012b.
- 24. According to UN-Habitat (2012b), traditionally lower levels of female ruralurban migration in South Asia have been explained by factors such as sociocultural restrictions on independent female movement, marriage customs where couples reside with the husband's parents, social norms that encourage young men to move to the city, and the lack of employment opportunities for women in towns and cities. For more on female migration in South-east Asia, see Chant and Mcllwaine 2009.
- 25. The World Bank (2013b) found a large degree of overlap between a country's level of agglomeration and its income classification. Most low-income countries are low-agglomeration countries and most advanced economies are high-agglomeration economies.
- 26. McKinsey Global Institute 2012.
- 27. Bangkok, for example, is home to less than 20 percent of Thai citizens but
produces 40 percent of total economic output. Higher shares of output relative to population are also true for Manila, Tokyo, Kuala Lumpur and Jakarta.

- 28. McKinsey Global Institute 2012.
- 29. UNDP and Institute for Urban and Environmental Studies, Chinese Academy of Social Sciences 2013.
- UNICEF 2012. Another study of Viet Nam found that the lack of adequate policies and the residence-based nature of the social policy framework create multiple vulnerabilities and social exclusion among rural-urban migrants (IDS 2011).
- 31. ADB 2014e.
- 32. See Ferré et al. 2012. The World Bank (2013b) found that urban poverty in South Asia and East Asia is mostly present in smaller towns. Urban poverty rates in South Asia were also significantly higher in smaller towns than megacities. See also Deichmann et al. 2009.
- 33. For example, some governments may impose below-market prices for agricultural output and above-market prices for urban products (Quigley 2008) or allocate resources in favour of larger cities at the expense of smaller towns (Ferré et al. 2012).
- 34. Sheng 2012.
- 35. UN-HABITAT 2012b; UNESCAP 2010.
- 36. For the purposes of the Millennium Development Goal target, slum households were defined as those with at least one of the following four characteristics: (a) lack of access to an improved water supply; (b) lack of access to improved sanitation; (c) overcrowding (three or more persons per room); and (d) dwellings made of non-durable material. See United Nations 2015b.
- 37. Based on Yuen 2005.
- 38. UN-HABITAT 2011.
- 39. UN DESA 2014.
- 40. Parts of this section are drawn from Yuen 2014.
- 41. Depending on location, income and population size, local governments have been variously categorized as wards, districts, communes, shires, counties, municipalities, cities, prefectures and provinces.
- 42. Charter cities are those that have locally generated income of at least PHP100 million for two consecutive years and have a population of at least 150,000 or a contiguous territory of 100 square kilometres.
- 43. UN-HABITAT and UNESCAP 2010.
- 44. Bardhan 2002; Chiarelli et al. 2010.
- 45. For example, see Choudhury 2007.

- 46. World Bank 2010.
- 47. ADB 2009.
- 48. Mayer-Foulkes 2010.
- 49. World Bank 2013b.
- 50. McDevitt 2014.
- 51. Government of India 2015.
- 52. UN-HABITAT and UNSECAP 2010; CIOL Network DataQuest 2014.
- 53. Talip and Narayan 2012.
- 54. For example, estimates indicate that a 10 percent development fee imposed on the cost of new construction in Mumbai, India, could finance 40 percent to 50 percent of all regional infrastructure investment required over the next 20 years (Peterson 2009).
- 55. Association of London Government 2005; Peterson 2009; Walls 2013.
- 56. Ho Chi Minh City Investment Fund for Urban Development 2004.
- 57. UN-HABITAT and UNESCAP 2010.
- 58. World Bank 2010.
- 59. UNFPA 2014a.
- 60. The Asian Development Bank implemented a two-year
 "Institutionalizing Civil Society Participation to Create Local Pro-poor Budgets" pilot project in Indonesia, Marshall Islands and Pakistan to
 "enhance civil society's awareness of resource allocation and the budgeting process and their actual involvement in the budget decision-making process" (Ahmad and Weiser 2006).
- 61. Janwani 2010.
- 62. Asian Coalition of Housing Rights 2010.
- 63. Based on Dahiya 2003.
- 64. OECD 2010.
- 65. The Economist 2014d.

CHAPTER 6

- 1. United Nations 2015a, paragraph 34.
- 2. UN Women 2015b.
- Economist Intelligence Unit (2010) and Ellis et al. (2010) suggest a glaring gap between men's and women's statutory pensionable retirement ages. In Australia, the difference is up to three years; in China, up to five years; and in Viet Nam, more than five years. Lower retirement ages for women are a form of gender discrimination. They can adversely affect access to training and promotion, and therefore to economic advancement.
- 4. United Nations 2015a.
- 5. Bloom and McKenna 2015.
- 6. Ibid.
- 7. Ibid.
- 8. United Nations 2015a, paragraph 24.
- 9. Australia, China, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Japan, New Zealand,

Republic of Korea, Singapore, Sri Lanka and Thailand.

- 10. Chuan 2015.
- 11. See, for example, Gessa et al. 2015; Bordone 2016.
- For example, in South Asia, urban women earn 42 percent less than their male counterparts; rural women earn 28 percent less. See UN Women 2015b.

Bibliography

Abrahamson, P., and C. Webner. 2003. "Pension Reforms in Denmark." LSE, London. [www.lse.ac.uk/ europeanInstitute/research/hellenicObservatory/ pdf/pensions_conference/AbrahamsonWehner-Pensions.pdf].

ADB (Asian Development Bank). 2005. Key Indicators of Asian and Pacific Countries. Manila. [www.adb.org/publications/key-indicators-developing-asian-and-pacific-countries-2005].

. 2008. Asian Development Outlook 2008. Manila. [www.adb.org/publications/asian-development-outlook-2008-workers-asia].

. 2009. Infrastructure for a Seamless Asia. Manila. [http://adb.org/sites/default/files/ pub/2009/2009.08.31.book.infrastructure.seamless. asia.pdf].

_____. 2014a. Key Indicators for Asia and the Pacific 2014. Manila. [www.adb.org/publications/key-indicators-asia-and-pacific-2014].

—___. 2014d. Labor Migration, Skills & Student Mobility in Asia. Manila. [www.oecd.org/migration/ Labour-migration-skills-student-mobility-in-Asia.pdf].

_____. 2015b. Making Money Work: Financing a Sustainable Future in Asia and the Pacific. Manila. [www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publica-tion/158432/making-money-work-main-report.pdf].

Agnew, J. 2013. "Australia's Retirement System: Strengths, Weaknesses and Reforms." Center for Retirement Research, Boston College. [http://crr. bc.edu/wp-content/uploads/2013/04/IB_13-5-508. pdf].

Ahmad, R., and E. T. Weiser. 2006. "Fostering Public Participation in Budget Making: Case Studies from Indonesia, The Marshall Islands, and Pakistan." ADB and Asia Foundation, Manila. [https://asiafoundation.org/resources/pdfs/fosteringpublicparticipation.pdf].

Aiyar, S., and A. Mody. 2011. "The Demographic Dividend: Evidence from the Indian States." Working Paper 11/38. IMF, Paris. [www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/wp/2011/wp1138.pdf].

Altbach, P. G., P. Reisberg and L. E. Rumbley. 2009. "Trends in Global Higher Education: Tracking an Academic Revolution." Prepared for the UNES-CO 2009 World Conference on Higher Education. Paris. [www.uis.unesco.org/Library/Documents/ trends-global-higher-education-2009-world-conference-en.pdf].

Angel-Urdinola, D. F., A. Semlali and S. Brodman. 2010. "Non-Public Provision of Active Labor Market Programs in Arab-Mediterranean Countries: An Inventory of Youth Programs." Discussion Paper 1005. World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://siteresources.worldbank.org/SOCIALPROTECTION/ Resources/SP-Discussion-papers/Labor-Market-DP/1005.pdf].

Anriquez, G., and G. Bonomi. 2008. "Long-Term Farming and Rural Demographic Trends." Background paper for the World Development Report 2008.

Asher, M. G. 2012. "Social Pensions for the Elderly in Asia: Fiscal Cost and Financing Methods." In S. W. Handayani and B. Babajanian, eds., Social Protection for Older Persons: Social Pensions in Asia. ADB, Manila. **The Asia Foundation. 2013.** "Thailand Adopts Nationwide Minimum Wage Policy Amid Controversy." 30 January. [http://asiafoundation.org/inasia/2013/01/30/thailand-adopts-nationwide-minimum-wage-policy-amid-controversy]. Last accessed 26 January 2016.

Asian Barometer. 2016. "Survey Results." Taipei. [www.asianbarometer.org/survey/survey-results/]. Last accessed 22 January 2016.

Asian Coalition of Housing Rights. 2010. "Second Yearly Report of the Asian Coalition for Community Action Programme." Bangkok.

Asian Development Bank Institute (ADBI). 2012. "Developing Asia's Pension Systems and Old-Age Income Support." ADBI Working Paper Series No. 358, Tokyo. [www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/156213/adbi-wp358.pdf].

Association of London Government. 2005.

"Local Authority Guide to Business Improvement Districts." London. 25 March. [www.gov.uk/government/publications/business-improvement-districts-technical-guide-for-local-authorities].

Bardhan, P. 2002. "Decentralization of Governance and Development." In Journal of Economic Perspectives 16 (4): 185-205.

Barnwal, A. 2004. "Success of the Indonesian Population Program: Lessons for India." In Journal of Development and Social Transformation 1: 43–51.

Barrientos, A. 2012. "Preparing for the 200 Million." In Prayas 7: 9–10. [www.social-protection.org/gimi/ gess/ShowRessource.action?ressource.ressourceld=43737].

BBC News GSCE Bitesize. 2014. "Managing Population Change Case Study: China." [www.bbc. co.uk/schools/gcsebitesize/geography/population/ managing_population_rev3.shtml]. Last accessed 28 January 2016.

BBC World Service Trust and UNDP (United Nations Development Programme). 2010. "Youth Civic Participation in Cambodia—Knowledge, Attitudes, Practices and Media." [http://ticambodia.org/ library/wp-content/files_mf/1436244678YouthKAP-FinalwithDataTables.pdf].

Beales, S. 2002. "Why We Should Invest in Older Women and Men: The Experience of HelpAge International." In Gender and Development 8 (2): [www. tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/741923631].

Becker, G. S., and R. J. Barro. 1988. "A Reformulation of the Economic Theory of Fertility." In Quarterly Journal of Economics 103(1): 1–25.

Better Factories Cambodia. 2015. "Thirty Second Synthesis Report on Working Conditions in Cambodia's Garment Sector and Statement of the Project Advisory Committee." Phnom Penh. [http://betterfactories.org/?p=9832]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

Bibby, P. 2010. "Fight to Close Wage Gap Keeps Going Backwards." In The Sydney Morning Herald, 21 May. [www.sharmanstone.com/Mediaand-Speeches/Whatsmakingnews/Onlinenewslinks/ tabid/78/articleType/rticleView/articleId/112/Fightto-close-wage-gap-keeps-going-backwards.aspx]. Last accessed 13 March 2014.

Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation. 2015. "Financial Services for the Poor: Strategy Overview." [www. gatesfoundation.org/What-We-Do/Global-Development/Financial-Services-for-the-Poor]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

Bloom, D. E., D. Canning and G. Fink. 2010. "Implications of Population Ageing for Economic Growth." In Oxford Review of Economic Policy 26(4): 583–612.

Bloom, D. E., D. Canning, G. Fink and J. Finlay. 2007. "Realizing the Demographic Dividend: Is Africa any Different?" Program on the Global Demography of Aging, Working Paper Series 23. [www.hsph. harvard.edu/pgda/working.htm].

Bloom, D. E., D. Canning and P. Malaney. 2000. "Population dynamics and economic growth in Asia." In Population and Development Review 26 (Supplement): 257–290.

Bloom, D. E., D. Canning and J. Sevilla. 2002.

"The Demographic Dividend: A New Perspective on the Economic Consequences of Population Change." RAND, Santa Monica. [www.rand.org/content/dam/ rand/pubs/monograph_reports/2007/MR1274.pdf].

Bloom, D. E., and R. B. Freeman. 1988.

"Economic Development and the Timing and Components of Population Growth." In Journal of Policy Modeling 10(1): 57–82.

Bloom, D. E., and M. J. McKenna. 2015.

"Populations, Labor Force, and Unemployment: Implications for the Creation of Jobs and of Decent Jobs, 1990-2030." Background think piece for Human Development Report 2015. UNDP Human Development Report Office, New York.

Bloom, D. E., and J. G. Williamson. 1998.

"Demographic Transitions and Economic Miracles in Emerging Asia." In World Bank Economic Review 12(3): 419-456.

Bloomberg Business. 2014. "Mothers wanted back in workforce as Malaysia seeks growth." 20 August. [www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2014-08-19/malaysia-seeks-to-draw-womenback-to-work-southeast-asia]. Last accessed 13 January 2016. Bordone, V., and B. Arpino. 2016. "Do Grandchildren Influence How Old You Feel?" In Journal of Aging and Health. [http://jah.sagepub.com/content/early/2015/12/08/0898264315618920.full.pdf+html].

Bose, A. 1995. "The Family Welfare Programme in India: Changing Paradigm." In H. M. Mathur, ed., The Family Welfare Programme in India, pp. 1–29.

Bouman, R., R. Horne, S. Milasi and N. Prasad. 2015. "Ageing and Labour Market Implications for Lithuania." Working Paper 6. ILO, Geneva. [www.ilo. org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---inst/documents/publication/wcms_424066.pdf].

Brown, D., R. Dehejia and R. Robertson. 2013. "Is there an efficiency case for international labour standards?" Better Work Discussion Paper Series 12. ILO and IFC (International Finance Corporation), Geneva. [www.freit.org/WorkingPapers/Papers/ TradePolicyMultilateral/FREIT574.pdf].

Burgess, R., and R. Pande. 2005. "Do Rural Banks Matter? Evidence from the Indian Social Banking Experience." In American Economic Review 95(3): 780–795.

Cai, F., and M. Wang. 2014. "Old Age Support System in China: Situations, Challenges and Policy Trends." Technical background paper prepared for *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report* 2016. UNDP, New York.

Carnoy, M., B. Jarillo, J. Castano-Munoz, J. M. Duart and T. Sancho-Vinuesa. 2012. "Who attends and completes virtual universities: the case of the open University of Catalonia (UOC)." In Higher Education 63: 53–82.

Castles, S., E. Vasta and D. Ozkul. 2012. "The Internal Dynamics of Migration Processes and Their Consequences for Australian Government Migration Policies." Working paper. Department of Immigration and Citizenship, Australia. [www.border.gov.au/ ReportsandPublications/Documents/research/internal-dynamics-migration-process.pdf].

Center for Migrant Advocacy. 2011. "Survey Research on the Effectiveness of the HSW Policy Reform Package." In Migrants Rights Policy Monitor. [https://centerformigrantadvocacy.files.wordpress. com/2012/06/household-service-workers-policy-reform-package.pdf].

Chant, S., and C. McIlwaine. 2009. Geographies of Development in the 21st Century: An Introduction to the Global South. Edward Elgar Publishing, Cheltenham.

Charmes, J. 2016. "Time-Use Across the World: Findings of a world compilation of time-use surveys". Technical background paper prepared for the Human Development Report 2015. UNDP Human Development Report Office, New York. **Check My School. 2016.** [http://checkmyschool. org/]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

Cheng, E., and Z. Xu. 2005. "Domestic money transfer services for migrant workers in China." World Bank Seminar on Issues of Migrant Workers' Remittance in Beijing. Consultative Group to Assist the Poor, Washington, DC. [www.microfinancegateway.org/sites/default/files/mfg-en-paper-domesticmoney-transfer-services-for-migrant-workers-in-china-2005.pdf].

Chiarelli, D., R. Giroux and P. Lavoie. 2010.

"Strengthening Local Governance and Decentralization: Lessons and Experiences from Local Government Associations in Asia." Federation of Canadian Municipalities, Ottawa.

China Briefing. 2014. "China's 2014 Q1 minimum wage hikes." 2 April. [www.china-briefing.com/ news/2014/04/02/chinas-2014-q1-minimum-wagehikes.html]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

Chongsuvivatwong, V., K. H. Phua, M. T. Yap, N. S. Pocock, J. H. Hashim, R. Chhem, S. A. Wilopo and A. D. Lopez. 2011. "Health and health-care systems in Southeast Asia: Diversity and Transitions." The Lancet 377 (9763): 429–437.

Chou, K. L., and I. Chi. 2001. "Social Support Exchange Among Elderly Chinese People and Their Family Members in Hong Kong: A Longitudinal Study." In Journal of Aging and Human Development 53(4): 329-346. [www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ pubmed/11890173].

Choudhury, A.I.C. 2007. "Mega-city Dhaka and its economic prospects." In The Jahangirnagar Review 31(1):72–96.

Chuan, T. Y. 2015. "Re-employment Age Will Rise to 67 by 2017" In The Straits Times. [www.straitstimes.com/politics/re-employment-age-will-rise-to-67-by-2017]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

CIOL Network DataQuest. 2014. "E-Governance: 20 Hot eGov Projects in India." [www.dqindia.com/ dataquest/news/149707/e-governance-hot-egovprojects-india]. Last accessed 2 April 2014.

Clapham, D. 2015. Accommodating Difference: Evaluating Supported Housing for Vulnerable People. Policy Press, Bristol.

CNBC.Com. 2014. "Power of people–Crowdfunding gains traction in Asia." 16 April. [www.cnbc. com/2014/04/16/power-of-people-crowdfunding-gains-traction-in-asia.html]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

Coale. A. J., and E. M. Hoover. 1958. Population Growth and Economic Development in Low-Income Countries: A Case Study of India's Prospect. Princeton University Press, Princeton.

CODI (Community Organizations Development

Institute). 2016. "Baan Mankong Collective Housing." Bangkok. [www.codi.or.th/housing/about-Baanmankong.html]. Last accessed 2 April 2016.

Commonwealth Health Online. 2016. "Health Systems in Tuvalu." [www.commonwealthhealth. org/pacific/tuvalu/health_systems_in_tuva/]. Last accessed 22 January 2016.

Cooper, H., G. Findlay, A. Goodwin, M. Gough, S. Lucas, D. Mason, I. Mason, J. Martin Stewart, and K. Wilkinson. 2009. "Caring to the End? A Review of the Care of Patients Who Died in Hospital within Four Days of Admission." National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death, London. [www.ncepod.org.uk/2009report2/Downloads/ DAH_report.pdf].

Corbet, J. 2012. "Growth: Getting Japan back on track." 28 November. [www.eastasiaforum. org/2012/11/28/growth-getting-japan-back-ontrack]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

Crowdsourcing.org. 2015. "2015CF: The Crowdfunding Industry Report." 7 April. [www. crowdsourcing.org/editorial/global-crowdfundingmarket-to-reach-344b-in-2015-predicts-massolutions-2015cf-industry-report/45376]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

Dahiya, B. 2003. "Hard Struggle and Soft Gains: Environmental Management, Civil Society and Governance in Pammal, South India." In Environment and Urbanization 15(1): 91–100.

Dawn News. 2014. "Pakistan Ranks Eight Among Countries Hit by Climate Change." 17 January. [www. dawn.com/news/1080878/pakistan-ranks-eighthamong-countries-hit-by-climate-change]. Last accessed 6 February 2016.

de Haan, A., and B. Rogaly, eds. 2002. Labour Mobility and Rural Society. Frank Kass, London.

Deichmann, U., F. Shilipi and R. Vakis. 2009. "Urban Proximity, Agricultural Potential and Rural Non-farm Employment: Evidence from Bangladesh." In World Development 37(3): 645–660.

Delhi Metro Rail Corporation Limited. 2016. [www.delhimetrorail.com/]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

Demirguc-Kunt, A., and L. Klapper. 2012. "Measuring Financial Inclusion—The Global Findex Database." Policy Research Working Paper 6052. World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/1813-9450-6025].

Deshingkar, P. 2006. "Internal Migration, Poverty and Development in Asia." Topic Paper 2 for Asia 2015 Conference. ODI, London. [www.odi.org/ sites/odi.org.uk/files/odi-assets/publications-opinion-files/5669.pdf]. **Dev, M. S. 2014.** "Creating Employment for Young Population in Asia-Pacific." Technical background paper for *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report* 2016. UNDP, New York.

Drummond, P., T. Vimal and Y. Shu. 2014. "Africa Rising: Harnessing the Demographic Dividend." Working Paper 14/143. IMF, Paris. [www.imf.org/ external/pubs/ft/wp/2014/wp14143.pdf].

Dudwick, N., K. Hull, R. Katayama, F. Shilpi and K. Simler. 2011. "From Farm to Firm: Rural-Urban Transition in Developing Countries." World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://documents.worldbank.org/ curated/en/2011/01/14282647/farm-firm-rural-urban-transition-developing-countries].

East West Center. 2000. "Policy Options to Support Asia's Growing Elderly Population." East-West Center, Honolulu. [www.eastwestcenter.org/filead-min/stored/pdfs/p&p054.pdf].

The Economist. 2013. "Ageing cities: What are cities doing to make urban environments more age-friendly?" [www.economistinsights.com/sites/default/files/Ageing%20Cities.pdf].

. 2014a. "Reviving India's economy, Modi's mission: The new prime minister has a good chance of resuscitating the country's underperforming economy." 24 May. [www.economist. com/news/briefing/21602709-new-prime-minister-has-good-chance-resuscitating-countrys-underperforming]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

_____. 2014b. "In the Wrong Direction." 8 March. [www.economist.com/news/europe/21598721-government-reversing-some-its-predecessors-sensible-pension-reforms-wrong]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

. 2014d. "Moving On Up." [www.economist. com/news/china/21599397-government-unveils-new-people-centred-plan-urbanization-moving-up]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

_____. 2015. "China Allows All Couples to Have Two Children." 29 October. [www.economist.com/news/ china/21677273-china-has-abandoned-its-more-35-year-old-one-child-policy-now-couples-canhave-two-china]. Last accessed 28 January 2016.

Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU). 2010.

Women's Economic Opportunity: A New Global Index and Ranking. [http://graphics.eiu.com/upload/ weo_report_June_2010.pdf].

Ellis, A., D. Kirkwood and D. Malhotra. 2010. "Economic Opportunities for Women in the East Asia and Pacific Region." World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/978-0-8213-8300-1].

Ernst and Young. 2014. "A Maturing Market: Asia-Pacific Private Equity Outlook 2014." [www. ey.com/Publication/vwLUAssets/EY_-_Asia-Pacific_private_equity_outlook_2014/\$FILE/EY-Asia-Pac-PE-Outlook-2014.pdf].

ESRC (Economic and Social Research Council) and DFID (Department for International Development). 2014. "Capital and Labour Standards in the Organised Construction Industry in India."

Esty, D. C., J. Goldstone, T. R. Gurr, B. Harff, M. Levy, G. D. Dabelko, P. T. Surko and A. N. Unger. 1998. "State Failure Task Force Report: Phase II Findings. Environmental Change & Security Project Report." Wilson Center, Washington, DC. [www. wilsoncenter.org/sites/default/files/Phase2.pdf].

European Parliamentary Research Service. 2014. "EU Policies and Programs for Older People." [www.europarl.europa.eu/Reg-Data/bibliotheque/briefing/2014/140811/LDM_BRI%282014%29140811_REV1_EN.pdf].

Evans, M., I. Gough, S. Harkness, A. McKay, D. T. Hu Yen and D. L. Ngoc. 2006. "The Relationship between Old Age and Poverty in Viet Nam." UNDP. [www.globalaging.org/elderrights/ world/2007/poverty.pdf].

Falkingham, J., and A. Vlachantoni. 2013.

"Social Protection for Older People in Central Asia." International Policy Centre for Inclusive Growth and ADB, Brasilia. [www.ipc-undp.org/pub/IPCOnePager211.pdf].

Fang, C., and Meiyan, W. 2014. "Old Age Support System in China: Situations, Challenges and Policy Trends." Technical background paper prepared for *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report* 2016. UNDP, New York.

Fares, J., and O. S. Puerto. 2009. "Towards Comprehensive Training." SP Discussion Paper 0924. World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://siteresources. worldbank.org/SOCIALPROTECTION/Resources/ SP-Discussion-papers/Labor-Market-DP/0924.pdf].

Feeney, G., and A. Mason. 1997. "Population in East Asia." Paper presented to the Conference on Population and the East Asian Miracle. Honolulu, Hawaii. Feng, J., and Q. Chen. 2014. "Public Pension System and Fiscal Policy Response in China." In M. G. Asher and F. Zen, eds., Age Related Pension Expenditure and Fiscal Space: Modelling Techniques and Case Studies from East Asia. Routledge, Oxon, pp. 36–72.

Feng, W. 2014. "Institutional and Fiscal Challenges of the Old-Age Support System in Asia-Pacific Region." Technical background paper prepared for *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report* 2016. UNDP, New York.

Ferdousi, S., and W. Dehai. 2014. "Economic Growth, Poverty and Inequality Trend in Bangladesh." In Asian Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities 3(1).

Ferré, C., F.H.G. Ferreira and P. Lanjouw. 2012. "Is There a Metropolitan Bias? The relationship between poverty and city size in a selection of developing countries." In World Bank Economic Review 26(3): 351–382.

Finnish Institute of Occupational Health. 2011. "OSH Profiles." In Asian-Pacific Newsletter on Occupational Health and Safety 18(3).

Fogel, R. W. 2004. "Health, Nutrition, and Economic Growth." In Economic Development and Cultural Change 52(3): 643–658.

Gardner, K., and F. Osella. 2003. "Migration, modernity and social transformation in South Asia." In Contributions to Indian Sociology 37(1&2): v-xxviii.

German Missions in the United States. 2016. "The German Vocational Training System: An Overview." [www.germany.info/Vertretung/usa/ en/06__Foreign__Policy__State/02__Foreign__ Policy/05__KeyPoints/Vocational__Training.html]. Last accessed 13 January 2016].

Gessa, G. D., K. Glaser and A. Tinker. 2015. "The Health Impact of Intensive and Nonintensive Grandchild Care in Europe: New Evidence from SHARE." In The Journals of Gerontology, Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences 57: 444–452.

Global City Indicators Facility. 2013. "Cities and Aging." GCIF Policy Snapshot 2. University of Toronto, Toronto. [http://www.cityindicators.org/Deliverables/Cities%20and%20Ageing%20Policy%20 Snapshot%20-%20GCIF%20and%20Philips%20 -%20Sept%202013_9-30-2013-1145908.pdf].

The Global Findex Survey 2014. "Measuring Financial Inclusion around the World." World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://documents.worldbank. org/curated/en/2015/04/24368699/global-findex-database-2014-measuring-financial-inclusion-around-world]. **Global Migration Group. 2014.** "Migration and Youth: Challenges and Opportunities." New York. [www.globalmigrationgroup.org/migrationandyouth]. Last accessed 12 February 2016.

Goldstone, J. A. 2001. "Demography, Environment, and Security." In P. Diehl and N. Gleditsch, eds., Environmental Conflict. Westview, Boulder.

Gopinathan, N. 2014. "Pakistan's Infrastructural and Environmental Challenges." 11 February. University of California at Berkeley blog. [http://berc. berkeley.edu/pakistans-infrastructural-environmental-challenges]. Last accessed 6 February 2016.

Gorman, M. 2007. "Enhancing Social Pensions: A Key Tool in Poverty Reduction." Paper presented at the Bangkok ESCAP/DFID/HAI/ILO regional seminar on Ensuring Social Protection/Social Pensions in old age in the context of rapid ageing in Asia. Bangkok. [www.socialprotectionasia.org/newsletter_3/SocialCashTranfersforAsia.pdf].

Government of Canada. 2014. "Canada's Public Pension System." 17 June. [www.fcac-acfc.gc.ca/ Eng/forConsumers/lifeEvents/planningRetirement/ Pages/Canadars-Systmede.aspx]. Last accessed 1 April 2016.

Government of Hong Kong. 2015. "Hong Kong fact Sheet: Trade and Industry." [www.gov.hk/en/ about/abouthk/factsheets/docs/trade%26industry. pdf].

Government of India. 2012. "Vital Statistics of India." In SRS Statistical Report, Chapter 3. The Registrar General & Census Commissioner, New Delhi.

Government of India Planning Commission. 2013. "Twelfth Five Year Plan (2012–2017) Social Sectors." Vol. 3. [http://planningcommission.gov.in/ plans/planrel/12thplan/pdf/12fyp_vol3.pdf].

Government of Malaysia. 2015. "11th Malaysia Plan 2016-2020." Economic Planning Unit, Prime Minister's Department. [http://rmk11.epu.gov.my/ book/eng/Elevent-Malaysia-Plan/index.html].

Government of Sri Lanka. 2002. Household Income and Expenditure Survey. Department of Census and Statistics, Colombo. [www.statistics.gov.lk/ page.asp?page=Income%20and%20Expenditure].

Guarcello, L., S. Lyon, F. Rosati and C. Valdivia. 2007. "Children's Non- Market Activities and Child Labour Measurement: A Discussion based on Household Survey Data." ILO, Geneva. [http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/ en/2007/03/15058070/childrens-non-market-activities-child-labour-measurement-discussion-based-household-survey-data].

The Guardian. 2010. "Asian cities more vulnerable to natural disasters." 21 October. [www.theguardian. com/global-development/2010/oct/21/asian-cit-ies-natural-disasters-risk]. Last accessed 03 March 2016.

Handayani, S. W., and B. Babajanian, eds. 2012. Social Protection for Older Persons Social Pensions in Asia. ADB, Manila. [www.adb.org/publications/social-protection-older-persons-social-pensions-asia].

Harlan, C. 2014. "South Korea's Rapid Economic Rise Leaves Many of Its Elderly Facing Poverty." 24 January. [www.theguardian.com/world/2014/jan/24/ south-korea-elderly-older-poverty]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

HelpAge International. 2009. "Thai PM Guarantees Older People's Right to Social Pension." 15 April. [www.globalaging.org/pension/world/social/ Thai.htm].

. 2015. "Global AgeWatch Index 2015: Insight Report." London. [www.helpage.org/ global-agewatch/reports/global-agewatch-index-2015-insight-report-summary-and-methodology/?gclid=CjwKEAiA__C1BRDqyJOQ8_ Tq230SJABWBSxnzCoroHDAdJRX4LW7A-kX-E0pEtGGKY6lzBOL9r-krLRoCZojw_wcB]. Accessed on 12 Feb 2016.

Ho Chi Minh City Investment Fund for Urban Development. 2004. "Current Experiences, Opportunities and Innovations in Municipal Financing in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam." [www.globalclearinghouse. org/InfraDev/assets%5C10/documents/Vietnam%20 -%20Ho%20Chi%20Minh%20Bonds%20-%20na%20 (2004).doc]. Last accessed 14 January 2016.

Holzmann, R., and R. Hinz. 2005. Old-Age Income Support in the 21st Century. World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/ abs/10.1596/0-8213-6040-X].

Hu, X. 2012. "China's 'New Generation' Rural-Urban Migrants: Migration Motivation and Migration Patterns." Migration Information Source, Washington, DC. [http://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers. cfm?abstract_id=1978546].

Huntington, S. P. 1996. The Clash of Civilizations and the Remaking of World Order. Simon & Schuster, New York.

IDS (Institute of Development Studies). 2011.

"Social protection for rural-urban migrants in Vietnam: current situation, challenges and opportunities." Brighton. [www.ids.ac.uk/publication/social-protection-for-rural-urban-migrants-in-vietnam-current-situation-challenges-and-opportunities].

ILO (International Labour Organization). 2010.

Global Employment Trends for Youth. Geneva. [www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/ wcms_412015.pdf].

------. 2011b. "C-189–Domestic Workers Convention, 2011." Geneva. [www.ilo.org/dyn/normlex/ en/f?p=NORMLEXPUB:12100:0::NO::P12100_IN-STRUMENT_ID:2551460].

. 2012a. "Social Protection for Thailand's Informal Economy Workers." Geneva. [www.ilo. org/global/about-the-ilo/newsroom/features/ WCMS_177229/lang--en/index.htm].

. 2014a. World Social Protection Report 2014/15: Building Economic Recovery, Inclusive Development and Social Justice. [www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/documents/ publication/wcms_245201.pdf].

. 2014b. Women and Men in the Informal Economy-A Statistical Picture. Geneva. [www.ilo.org/ stat/Publications/WCMS_234413/lang--en/index. htm].

—____. 2015b. Global Wage Report 2014/2015. Geneva. [www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/ WCMS_324678/lang--en/index.htm].

. 2015c. "Asia-Pacific Labour Market Update." Geneva. [www.ilo.org/asia/whatwedo/publications/ WCMS_342137/lang--en/index.htm]. Last accessed 26 January 2016.

. 2015g. "World Employment and Social Outlook: The Changing Nature of Jobs." Geneva. [www.ilo.org/global/research/global-reports/weso/2015-changing-nature-of-jobs/WCMS_368626/ lang--en/index.htm].

—____. 2015h. "The Republic of Korea's Employment Permit System (EPS): Background and Rapid Assessment." Geneva. [www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/ public/@ed_protect/@protrav/@migrant/documents/ publication/wcms_344235.pdf].

. 2016. ILOSTAT Database. Geneva. [www.ilo.org/ilostat/faces/oracle/webcenter/ portalapp/pagehierarchy/Page137.jspx?_afr-Loop=552554914033022&clean=true#%40%3F_ afrLoop%3D552554914033022%-26clean%3Dtrue%26_adf. ctrl-state%3Dxes9kwmh1_9]. Last accessed 22 February 2016.

ILO and ADB. 2011. "Women and Labour Markets in Asia–Rebalancing for Gender Equality." Bangkok. [www.adb.org/publications/women-and-labour-markets-asia-rebalancing-gender-equality].

International Committee of the Red Cross

(ICRC). 2015. "Migration: Counting the human cost in Asia-Pacific." 17 June. [www.icrc.org/eng/ resources/documents/interview/2014/07-17-migration-asia-pacific.htm]. Last accessed 26 January 2016.

IMF (International Monetary Fund). 2011. "The Challenge of Public Pensions in Developed and Emerging Economies." Paris. [www.imf.org/external/np/pp/eng/2011/122811.pdf].

IOM (International Organization for Migration). 2013. World Migration Report: Migrant Wellbeing and Development. Geneva.

Ivanovic, N. 2008. "Family Policies in the United Kingdom: Work-Family Balance Policies as a Paradigm Shift?" Working Paper 11. Hertie School of Governance, Berlin. [www.hertie-school.org/fileadmin/images/Downloads/working_papers/11.pdf]. Janwani. 2010. "Annual Report 2014-15." City of Pune, India. [http://janwani.org/site/wp-content/up-loads/2015/12/Annual-Report-online.pdf].

Jha, J., S. Bakshi and E. M. Faria. 2012.

"Understanding and challenging boys' disadvantage in secondary education in developing countries." Background paper for UNESCO 2012 Education for All Global Monitoring Report. [www.ungei.org/ resources/files/217868E.pdf]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

Kabeer, N. 2005. "Is Microfinance a 'Magic Bullet' for Women's Empowerment? Analysis of Findings from South Asia." In Economic and Political Weekly 40(44/45): 4709–4718.

Karlan, D., A. L. Ratan and J. Zinman. 2014. "Savings by and for the Poor: A Research Review and Agenda." In Review of Income and Wealth 60(1).

Kensuke, M. 2011. "Measuring Human Capital in Japan." Discussion Paper Series 11-E-037. The Research Institute of Economy, Trade and Industry, Tokyo. [http://www.rieti.go.jp/jp/publications/ dp/11e037.pdf].

Kinsella, K., and H. Wan. 2009. "An Aging World: 2008." United States Census Bureau, Washington, DC. [www.census.gov/prod/2009pubs/p95-09-1. pdf].

Kirsch, T. D., C. Wadhwani, L. Sauer, S. Doocy and C. Catlett. 2012. "Impact of the 2010 Pakistan Floods on Rural and Urban Populations at Six Months." In PLOS Currents Disasters 1. [http:// currents.plos.org/disasters/article/impact-of-the-2010-pakistan-floods-on-rural-and-urban-populations-at-six-months].

Knox-Vydmanov, C. 2011. "Social Protection as Development Policy: Social Pensions in the Global South." In Die Alten Der Welt: neue Wege der Alterssicherung im globalen Norden und Suden: 285–287.

Kothari, M. T., S. Wang, S. K. Head and N. Abderrahim. 2012. "Trends in Adolescent Reproductive and Sexual Behaviors." DHS Comparative Reports 29. ICF, Calverton, Maryland. [http://dhsprogram.com/pubs/pdf/CR29/CR29.pdf].

Kromer, B., and D. Howard. 2013. "Labor Force Participation and Work Status of People 65 Years and Older." American Community Survey Briefs ACSBR/11-09. United States Census Bureau, Washington, DC. [www.census.gov/prod/2013pubs/ acsbr11-09.pdf].

Lall, S. 1995. "Malaysia: Industrial success and the role of the government." In Journal of International Development 7(5): 759–773.

Lall, S., C. Timmins and S. Yu. 2009. "Connecting Lagging and Leading Regions: The Role of Labor Mobility." Working Paper 4843. World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/ abs/10.1596/1813-9450-4843]. Langenbrunner, J. C., and A. Somanathan. 2011. "Financing Health Care in East Asia and Pacific: Best Practices and Remaining Challenges." World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/ abs/10.1596/978-0-8213-8682-8].

Lee, R., and A. Mason. 2006. "What is the Demographic Dividend?" In Finance & Development 43(3): 16–17.

. 2007. "Population Aging, Wealth and Economic Growth: Demographic Dividends and Public Policy." Background paper for the World Economic and Social Survey. [www.un.org/en/development/ desa/policy/wess/wess_bg_papers/bp_wess2007_ lee_mason.pdf].

Lee, R., A. Mason and T. Miller. 2000. "Life Cycle Saving and the Demographic Transition in East Asia." In Population and Development Review 26 (supplement).

Longman, P. 2015. "Pension Reform in Developing Nations." Initiative for Policy Dialogue, Columbia University. [http://policydialogue.org/publications/ backgrounders/pension_reform_in_developing_nations/en/]. Last accessed 4 December 2015.

Malaysia Palm Oil Board. 2013. "Production of Crude Palm Oil." [http://bepi.mpob.gov.my/ index.php/statistics/production/118-production-2013/603-production-of-crude-oil-palm-2013.html]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

Marsh, P. 2012. "Skilled workers shortfall of 40m forecast." 18 November. [www.ft.com/cms/s/0/13e-0ae56-316f-11e2-b68b-00144feabdc0.html#axz-z43AlfCcIQ]. Last accessed 17 March 2016.

Mason, A. 2005. "Demographic Transition and Demographic Dividends in Developed and Developing Countries." United Nations Expert Group Meeting on Social and Economic Implications of Changing Population Age Structures, Mexico City.

—____. 2014. "Is Low Fertility Really a Problem? Population Aging, Dependency, and Consumption." In Science 346: 229–234.

Mason, A., and R. Lee. 2011. "Population Ageing and Economic Progress in Asia: A Bumpy Road Ahead?" In Asia Pacific 99 (February 2011): 1–8. Mason, A., and S. H. Lee. 2012. "Population, Wealth, and Economic Growth in Asia and the Pacific." ADB, Manila. [www.adb.org/publications/population-wealth-and-economic-growth-asia-and-pacific-region].

Mayer-Foulkes, D. 2010. "Divergences and Convergences in Human Development." Human Development Reports Research Paper. UNDP, New York. [http://hdr.undp.org/en/content/divergences-and-convergences-human-development].

McDevitt, A. 2014. ed. "Fighting Corruption in South Asia: Building Accountability." Transparency International, Berlin. [www.transparency.org/ whatwedo/publication/fighting_corruption_in_ south_asia_building_accountability].

McFarren, L. 2010. "It Could Be You: Female, Single, Older and Homeless." Older Women's Network, New South Wales. [www.ownnsw.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2013/08/ItCouldBeYou.pdf].

McKinsey & Company. 2011. "Unlocking the full potential of women in the U.S. economy 2011." New York. [www.nais.org/Articles/Documents/WSJExecutiveSummary.pdf].

McKinsey Global Institute. 2009. "Preparing for China's Urban Billion." New York. [www.mckinsey. com/global-themes/urbanization/preparing-for-chinas-urban-billion].

Melbourne Mercer Global Pension Index. 2015a. "Australia Country Summary." [www.globalpensionindex.com/country-summaries-2/australia-2]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

_____. 2015b. "Chile Country Summary." [www. globalpensionindex.com/country-summaries-2/ chile-2]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

Mirza, T., and E. Bacani. 2013. "Addressing Hard and Soft Infrastructure Barriers to Trade in South Asia." South Asia Working Paper Series. ADB, Manila. [www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/30182/addressing-hard-and-soft-infrastructure-barriers-trade.pdf].

Monthly Review. 2014. "The Labour Share Question in China." In Monthly Review 56(08).

Morley, L. 2005. "The Micropolitics of Quality." In Critical Quarterly 47(1-2): 83-95.

Mujahid, G. 2012. "Social Protection for Older Persons in Asia and Pacific." York Centre for Asian Research, Toronto. [www.unescapsdd.org/files/documents/MIPAA_Paper-Social-Protection-and-Ageing.pdf]. **Muralidharan, K. 2013.** "Priorities for Primary Education Policy in India's 12th Five-year Plan." [http:// pdel.ucsd.edu/_files/paper_2013_karthik.pdf].

Naoyuki, Y., P. Morgan and G. Wignaraja. 2015. "Why do we need financial education in Asia?" [www. asiapathways-adbi.org/2015/02/why-do-we-needfinancial-education-in-asia/#sthash.dhZil0gZ. krLRs1YJ.dpuf]. Last accessed 18 February 2016.

National Skill Development Corporation. 2013. "NSDC Innovation for Skills Compendium 2013." [www.nsdcindia.org/nsdcreports]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

Neak, S., and R. Robertson. 2009. "Globalization and Working Conditions: Evidence from Cambodia." In R. Robertson, D. Brown, G. Pierre and L. Sanchez-Puerta, eds., Globalization, Wages, and the Quality of Jobs: Five Country Studies. World Bank, Washington, DC.

Nguyen, T. 2002. "The Impacts of an Ageing Population on Savings and Pension Schemes in a World with Uncertain Life Expectancy." [http://ssrn.com/ab-stract=2029912\]. Last accessed 13 February 2014.

Noland, M., D. Park and G. Estrada. 2013. "Can a Growing Services Sector Renew Asia's Economic Growth?" In Asia-Pacific Issues 109 (April). East-West Center, Honolulu.

Norbu, W. 2014. "Policies to Capitalize on Demographic Transition in South Asia." Technical background paper for *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report* 2016. UNDP, New York.

Novak, K. 2015. "Forgotten': South Korea's Elderly Struggle to Get By." [www.cnn.com/2015/10/23/ asia/s-korea-elderly-poverty/]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

NPR News. 2008. "Japanese Pay Less for More Health Care." [www.npr.org/templates/story/story. php?storyId=89626309]. Last accessed on 7 February 2016.

O'Donnell, O. 2008. "Who Pays for Health Care in Asia?" In Journal of Health Economics 27: 460-475.

O'Higgins, N. 2001. Youth Unemployment and Employment Policy. ILO, Geneva. [www.ilo.org/global/publications/ilo-bookstore/order-online/books/ WCMS_PUBL_9221113485_EN/lang--en/index. htm].

OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development). 1999. "Measuring Student Knowledge and Skills—A New Framework of Assessment." Paris. [www.oecd.org/edu/school/ programmeforinternationalstudentassessmentpisa/33693997.pdf].

_____. 2012b. "The Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA)." Paris. [www.oecd.org/pisa/aboutpisa/]. Last accessed 22 January 2016.

. 2016. "Pension replacement rates (indicator)." Paris. [https://data.oecd.org/pension/net-pension-replacement-rates.htm]. Last accessed 19 January 2016.

OECD and WHO (World Health Organization).

2014. "Health at a Glance Asia-Pacific 2014: Measuring Progress towards Universal Health Coverage." Paris. [www.oecd.org/edu/school/programmeforint-ernationalstudentassessmentpisa/33693997.pdf].

Oliver, D., C. Foot and R. Humphries. 2014. "Making Our Health and Care Systems Fit for an Ageing Population." The King's Fund, London. [http:// canadiangeriatrics.ca/default/index.cfm/linkservid/ F5ABBC5A-B646-A0DD-9ED4D95D3408E694/ showMeta/0]. Last accessed 31 July 2014.

Omoju, O. E., and T. W. Abraham. 2014. "Youth Bulge and Demographic Dividend in Nigeria." In African Population Studies 27(2): 352–360.

Oreta, P. I. 1996. "City study of Manila." In J. Stubbs and G. Clarke. eds. Megacity Management in the Asian and Pacific Region: Policy Issues and Innovative Approaches. Vol. II. ADB, Manila.

Osberg, L. 2001. "Poverty among Senior Citizens: A Canadian Success Story." [http://www.fcac-acfc. gc.ca/Eng/forConsumers/lifeEvents/planningRetirement/Pages/Canadars-Systmede.aspx]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

Otsubo, S. T. 2007. "Post-War Development of the Japanese Economy." [www.gsid.nagoya-u.ac.jp/sot-subo/Postwar_Development_of_the_Japanese%20 Economy (Otsubo_NagoyaU).pdf].

Park, D., ed. 2011. Pension Systems and Old-Age Income Support in East and Southeast Asia Overview and reform directions. Routledge, London. [www.adb.org/publications/pension-systems-andold-age-income-support-east-and-southeast-asiaoverview-and-reform].

Park, D., and G. Bolotaulo Estrada. 2012.

"Developing Asia's Pension Systems and Old-Age Income Support." Asian Development Bank Institute Working Paper Series 358. [www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/156213/adbi-wp358.pdf].

Peking University National School of Development. 2013. "Challenges of Population Aging in

China." Beijing. [http://charls.ccer.edu.cn/uploads/ document/public_documents/application/Challenges-of-Population-Aging-in-China-final0916.pdf.%5b-Accessed: 20 November 2015]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

Peterson, G. 2009. Unlocking Land Values to Finance Urban Infrastructure. World Bank, Washington, DC. [http://elibrary.worldbank.org/doi/ abs/10.1596/978-0-8213-7709-3].

Philippines Health Corporation. 2014. "Phil Health–your partner in health." [www.philhealth.gov. ph/]. Last accessed 14 January 2016.

The Philippine Migrants Watch and ILO. 2014. "The Rights of Domestic Workers." Manila.

Philippines Statistics Authority, Republic of the Philippines. 2015. "Labor Employment." [https:// psa.gov.ph]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

Pletcher, J. 1991. "Regulation with Growth: The Political Economy of Palm Oil in Malaysia." In World Development 19(6): 623–636.

Population Reference Bureau. 2012. "Non-communicable Diseases among Older Adults in Lowand Middle-Income Countries." In Today's Research on Aging: Programme and Policy Implications, 26 August. [www.prb.org/pdf12/TodaysResearchAging26.pdf].

Pratham. 2012. "Annual Status of Education Report." ASER Centre, New Delhi. [http://img.asercentre.org/docs/Publications/ASER%20Reports/ ASER_2012/fullaser2012report.pdf].

---- 2013. The Ninth Annual Status of Education Report. Released 15 January. New Delhi. [www. pratham.org/templates/pratham/images/aser-2013pressreleaseenglish.pdf]

Prettner, K., and A. Prskawetz. 2010. "Decreasing fertility, economic growth and the intergenerational wage gap." In Empirica 37(2): 197–214.

Priebe, J., and F. Howell. 2014. "Old-Age Poverty in Indonesia: Empirical Evidence and Policy Options—A Role for Social Pensions." TNP2K Working Paper 07-2014. TNP2K (Tim Nasional Percepatan Penanggulangan Kemiskinan), Jakarta.

Prusty, R. K. 2014. Contraceptive Use and Unmet Need for Family Planning among Tribal Women in India and Selected Hilly States." In Journal of Health Population and Nutrition 32(2): 342–355.

Quigley, J. M. 2008. "Urbanization, Agglomeration, and Economic Development." University of California at Berkeley. [http://urbanpolicy.berkeley.edu/pdf/ GCU_04pp115-132.pdf].

Qureshi, I. A., and L. Huapu. 2007. "Urban Transport and Sustainable Strategies: A Case Study of Karachi, Pakistan." In Tsinghua Science and Technology 12(3): 309–317. **Rao, M. R. 2004.** From Population Control to Reproductive Health: Malthusian Arithmetic. SAGE Publications, New Delhi.

The Republic of Korea Culture and Information Service. 2011. "Green Korea." [www.korea.net]. Last accessed 25 Dec 2011.

Robertson, R., R. Dehejia, D. Brown and D. Ang. 2011. "Labour law compliance and human resource innovation: Better factories Cambodia." Better Work Discussion Paper Series. ILO and IFC, Geneva.

Rønsen, M. 2004. "Fertility and Family Policy in Norway–A Reflection on Trends and Possible Connections." In Demographic Research 10(10): 265–286.

Santhya, K. G. 2003. "Changing family planning scenario in India: An overview of recent evidence." Regional Working Papers of the Population Council 17.

Save the Children. 2012. "Nutrition in the first 1000 days—State of the World's Mother." Save the Children, Fairfield. [www.savethechildren.org/ atf/cf/%7B9def2ebe-10ae-432c-9bd0-df91d2eba74a%7D/STATE-OF-THE-WORLDS-MOTHERS-REPORT-2012-FINAL.PDF].

Schoemaker, J. 2005. "Contraceptive use among the poor in Indonesia." In International Family Planning Perspectives 31(3): 106–114.

Sen, A. 1994. "Population: Delusion and Reality." Paper for United World Colleges. [www.marathon. uwc.edu/geography/malthus/sen_NYR.htm]. Last accessed 28 January 2016.

Seoul Solution. 2014. "Youth's Business 1000." 11 June. [https://seoulsolution.kr/content/ youth%E2%80%99s-business-1000?language=en]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

Shah, A. 2010. "Poverty Around the World." 20 July. [www.globalissues.org/article/4/poverty-around-theworld#]. Last accessed 28 March 2014.

Shon, J., and H. A. Palley. 2014. "South Korea's poverty-stricken elderly." 10 May. [www.eastasiafo-rum.org/2014/05/10/south-koreas-poverty-strick-en-elderly]. Last accessed 18 February 2016.

Siemens Report. 2014. "Public Private Partnership Success Story." 7 May. [https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/siemens-report-public-private-partnerships]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

Sijapati, B. 2015. "Women's Labour Migration from Asia and the Pacific: Opportunities and Challenges." In Issue in Brief 12. IOM and MPI, Bangkok. [http:// publications.iom.int/system/files/pdf/mpi_issue12. pdf].

Simeh, A., and T.M.A.T. Ahmad. 2001. "The Case Study on the Malaysian Palm Oil." In the Regional Workshop on Commodity Export Diversification and Poverty Reduction in South and South-East Asia. UNCTAD (United Nations Conference on Trade and Development), Bangkok. [http://imm-gsm. s3.amazonaws.com/docs/Assignment_Q_2012_1/ ASM401_palmoil.pdf].

Smoke, P. 2013. "Metropolitan Cities in the National Fiscal and Institutional Structure." In R. W. Bahl, J. F. Linn and D. L. Wetzel, eds. Financing Metropolitan Governments in Developing Countries. Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, Cambridge.

Stanton, M. W. 2006. "The High Concentration of US Healthcare Expenditures." In Research in Action 19. Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality, Rockville, Maryland. [http://archive.ahrq.gov/research/findings/factsheets/costs/expriach/].

Sud, I., and S. Yilmaz 2013. "Institutions and Politics of Metropolitan Management." In R. W. Bahl, J. F. Linn and D. L. Wetzel, eds. Financing Metropolitan Governments in Developing Countries. Lincoln Institute of Land Policy, Cambridge.

Suwanrada, W., and D. Wesumperuma. 2013.

"The Challenges of the Old-Age Allowance System in Thailand." IPC-IG and UNDP, Brasilia. [www.ipc-undp.org/pub/IPCOnePager217.pdf].

Takashi, A. 2014. "Japan's Medical and Long-Term Care (LTC) Insurance System." In Discuss Japan Economy 9. [www.japanpolicyforum.jp/archives/ economy/pt20140314000746.html]. Last accessed 16 Jan 2016.

Talip, B.H.J.A., and B. Narayan. 2012. "An Exploration of the Role of Web and Mobile Social Media in the Implementation of E-Government in Malaysia." Paper prepared for 2nd DGI Conference: Social Media & Web Science—The Web as a Living Space, 22-23 March, Lindner Conference Hotel, Düsseldorf. [http://eprints.qut.edu.au/47965/].

Tangcharoensathien, V., W. Patcharanarumol, S. M. Aljunid, A. G. Mukti, E. Banzon, D. B. Huong, H. Thabrany and A. Mills. 2011. "Health-Financing Reforms on Southeast Asia: Challenges In Achieving Universal Coverage." In The Lancet 377(9768): 863–873.

Teléfonica. 2013. Global Millennial Survey: Results. [http://survey.telefonica.com/globalreports/assets/ Telefonica%20-%20Global%20Millennial%20Survey. pdf].

Touleman, L., A. Pailhé and C. Rossier. 2008. "France: High and stable fertility." In Demographic Research 9(16): 503-556.

Tronto, J. C. 2013. Caring Democracy: Markets, Equality, and Justice. London, Routledge.

United Nations. 2010. Millennium Development Goals Report. New York. [www.un.org/millenniumgoals/pdf/MDG%20Report%202010%20En%20 r15%20-low%20res%2020100615%20-.pdf].

. 2012a. "Overview of regional implementation of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing in Asia and the Pacific. Note by the secretariat." E/ ESCAP/MIPAA/IGM.1/1. United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific Asia-Pacific Intergovernmental Meeting on the Second Review and Appraisal of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing, Bangkok, 10-12 September. New York. [www.unescapsdd.org/files/documents/MIPAA_IGM1_1E.pdf].

2012d. "Global Health and Foreign Policy."
 67th session of the United Nations General Assembly, 6 December. Agenda item 123. New York.

2013a. "Further implementation of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing, 2002." Report of the Secretary-General. E/CN.5/2014/4. Economic and Social Council, Commission for Social Development, 11-21 February. 52nd session. New York. [www.un.org/en/ecosoc/docs/2010/res%20 2010-14.pdf].

UN Women. 2015a. "Facts and Figures: Economic Empowerment." New York. [www.unwomen.org/en/what-we-do/economic-empowerment/facts-and-figures]. Last accessed 29 January 2016.

UN DESA (United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs). 2000. United Nations Demographic Yearbook 2000. New York. [http://unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/products/ dyb/2000_round.htm].

. 2008. "The Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing: Guiding Framework and Toolkit for Practitioners and Policy Makers." New York. [www.un.org/ esa/socdev/ageing/documents/building_natl_capacity/guiding.pdf].

. 2011. "Current Status of the Social Situation, Well-Being, Participation in Development and Rights of Older Persons Worldwide." New York. [www. un.org/esa/socdev/ageing/documents/publications/ current-status-older-persons.pdf].

. 2013a. World Economic and Social Survey 2013. New York. [https://sustainabledevelopment. un.org/content/documents/2843WESS2013.pdf].

. 2013b. United Nations Demographic Yearbook 2013. New York. [http://unstats.un.org/unsd/demographic/products/dyb/dyb2.htm].

_____. 2013c. Profiles of Ageing 2013. New York. [www.un.org/en/development/desa/population/ publications/dataset/urban/profilesOfAgeing2013. shtml]. Last accessed 16 January 2016.

____. 2013d. World Population Prospects: The 2012 Revision. New York.

UNDP (United Nations Development Pro-

gramme). 2013. Human Development Report 2013: The Rise of the South: Human Progress in a Diverse World. New York. [http://hdr.undp.org/en/2013-report].

. 2015b. UNDP and the Hyogo Framework for Action. New York. [www.undp.org/content/undp/en/ home/librarypage/crisis-prevention-and-recovery/ undp-and-the-hyogo-framework.html].

UNDP Bangladesh. 2015. Urban Partnership for Poverty Reduction. [www.upprbd.org/]. Last accessed 28 February 2016.

UNDP China and Institute for Urban and Environmental Studies, Chinese Academy of Social Sciences. 2013. China Human Develop-

ment Report. 2013: Sustainable and Liveable Cities: Toward Ecological Urbanization. Beijing. [www.undp. org/content/dam/china/docs/Publications/UN-DP-CH_2013%20NHDR_EN.pdf].

UNDP Sri Lanka. 2014. Sri Lanka National Human Development Report 2014: Youth and development: Towards a More Inclusive Future. Colombo. [www. lk.undp.org/content/dam/srilanka/docs/localpublications/Sri%20Lanka%20National%20Human%20 Development%20Report%202014123123.pdf].

UNDP, UNFPA (United Nations Fund for Population Activities), UNESCAP (United Nations Economic and Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific), UNICEF (United Nations Children's Fund) and ILO. 2014. The State of Human Development in the Pacific: A Report on Vulnerability and Exclusion in a Time of Rapid Change. Suva. [www.unescap.org/resources/state-human-development-pacific-report-vulnerability-and-exclusion-time-rapid-change].

UNESCAP. 2012. Report of the Asia Pacific Inter-Governmental Meeting on the Second Review and Appraisal of the Madrid International Plan of Action on Ageing. Bangkok. [www.unescap.org/resources/report-asia-pacific-intergovernmental-meeting-second-review-and-appraisal-madrid].

. 2014. Economic and Social Survey of Asia and the Pacific. Bangkok. [www.unescap.org/resources/ economic-and-social-survey-asia-and-pacific-2014].

-----. 2015a. "Youth at the Heart of Sustainable Development in Asia and the Pacific." Bangkok. [www. unescap.org/resources/switched-youth-heart-sustainable-development-asia-and-pacific].

. 2015c. Economic and Social Survey of Asia and the Pacific. Bangkok. [www.unescap.org/resources/economic-and-social-survey-asia-and-pacific-2015]. UNESCO (United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization). 1985. Secretary-General's Report to the General Assembly, A/40/256. Paris. [www.youthpolicy.org/basics/2001_ WPAY_Implementation_Report.pdf].

_____. 2008. Oslo Declaration: 8th Meeting of the High-Level Group on Education for All. ED/ EFA/2009/ME/1. Oslo, 16-18 December. [http://un-esdoc.unesco.org/images/0017/001794/179421E. pdf].

—____. 2015b. Education for All 2000-2015: Achievements and Challenges Global Monitoring Report. Paris. [http://en.unesco.org/gem-report/report/2015/ education-all-2000-2015-achievements-and-challenges#sthash.sTWr6RcJ.dpbs].

——. 2016. "Global Flow of Tertiary-Level Students." Paris. [www.uis.unesco.org/Education/Pages/international-student-flow-viz.aspx]. Last accessed 12 February 2016.

UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2015. Database. Paris. [http://data.uis.unesco.org/]. Last accessed 29 February 2016.

UNESCO and UNEVOC (International Centre for Technical and Vocational Education and Training). 2014. World TVET Database, Philippines. Paris. [www.unevoc.unesco.org/wtdb/worldtvetdatabase_phl_en.pdf].

UNESCO and UNICEF. 2012. Asia-Pacific End of Decade Notes on Education for All, EFA Goal 1: Early Childhood Care and Education. Paris. [www. unicef.org/rosa/217145e.pdf].

UNFPA. 2011. "Overview of Available Policies and Legislation, Data and Research, and Institutional Arrangements Relating to Older Persons–Progress since Madrid." Report compiled in preparation for The State of the World's Older Persons 2012. New York. [www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/ Older_Persons_Report.pdf].

UNFPA and HelpAge International. 2012a.

Ageing in the Twenty-First Century: A Celebration and a Challenge. New York. [www.unfpa.org/sites/ default/files/pub-pdf/Ageing%20report.pdf].

. 2012b. "Overview of Available Policies and Legislation, Data and Research, and Institutional Arrangements Relating to Older Persons—Progress since Madrid." Report prepared for The State of the World's Older Persons 2012. New York. [www.unfpa. org/sites/default/files/pub-pdf/Older_Persons_Report.pdf].

UN-HABITAT (United Nations Human Settlement Programme). 2012a. State of Urban Youth Report 2012-13: Youth in the Prosperity of Cities. Nairobi. [http://mirror.unhabitat.org/pmss/getElectronicVersion.aspx?nr=3455&alt=1].

UN-HABITAT and UNESCAP. 2010. The State of Asian Cities 2010/11. Fukuoka. [www.unescap.org/resources/state-asian-cities-201011-report].

UN-HABITAT and UNESCO Institute for Statistics. 2015. UIS.Stat. [http://data.uis.unesco.org/]. Last accessed 11 March 2016.

UNICEF. 2007. "Child Labour, Education and Policy Options." New York. [www.unicef.org/Child_Labor_ Education_and_Policy_Options.pdf].

— 2011. The State of Pacific Youth Report 2011: Opportunities and Obstacles. Secretariat of the Pacific Community. New York. [www.unicef.org/pacificislands/State_of_the_Pacific_Youth_Report_web.pdf]. ____. 2012. Children in an Urban World. New York. [www.unicef.org/sowc/files/SOWC_2012-Main_Report_EN_21Dec2011.pdf].

_____. 2015a. "Child Protection from violence, exploitation and abuse." New York. [www.unicef.org/ protection/57929_child_labour.html]. Last accessed 24 December 2015.

_____. 2015b. "Child Marriage." New York. [http:// data.unicef.org/child-protection/child-marriage.html]. Last accessed 22 January 2016.

The University of New South Wales (UNSW), Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SPC) and the University of the Queensland. 2014. Mortality Trends in the Pacific. Secretariat of the Pacific Community. [https://sphcm.med.unsw.edu. au/sites/default/files/sphcm/Centres_and_Units/ Pacific_Mortality_Trends_Report.pdf].

UNODC (United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime). 2015. World Drug Report. Vienna. [www. unodc.org/documents/wdr2015/World_Drug_Report_2015.pdf].

USAID (United States Agency for International Development). 2015. "Demographic and Health Surveys." Rockville, Maryland. [www.dhsprogram. com/Data/]. Last accessed 15 January 2016.

Van Rijmenam, M. 2015. "From Sensors to Big Data: Chicago is Becoming a Smart City." 27 August. [https://datafloq.com/read/sensors-big-data-chicago-becoming-smart-city/255]. Last accessed 14 January 2016.

Van Sant, S. 2015. "China's Rapidly Aging Population Strains Resources." 11 June. [www. voanews.com/content/china-rapidly-aging-population-strains-resources/2817406.html]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

Verena, M. 2012. "Opinion: Without seniors, the rest of society would be much worse off." 24 August. [www.vancouversun.com/life/opinion+without+se-niors+rest+society+would+much+worse/7142461/ story.html]. Last accessed 1 April 2016.

WageIndicator Foundation. 2011. "Minimum Wage Report: Vietnam." Amsterdam. [www.wageindicator.org/main/documents/publicationslist/publications-2011/VIETNAM.pdf].

Walls, M. 2013. Paying for State Parks: Evaluating Alternative Approaches for the 21st Century. Resources for the Future, Washington, DC. [www. rff.org/files/sharepoint/WorkImages/Download/ RFF-Rpt-Walls-FinancingStateParks.pdf].

Wang, F. 2014. "Institutional and Fiscal Challenges of the Old-Age Support System in Asia-Pacific Region." Technical background paper prepared for *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report* 2016. UNDP, New York.

Waste Atlas. 2015. Waste Atlas Online Database. [www.atlas.d-waste.com]. Last accessed 14 January 2016.

WAVE Trust. 2013. "Conception to age 2-the age of opportunity." Croydon. [www.wavetrust.org/sites/ default/files/reports/conception-to-age-2-full-report_0.pdf].

Welch, A. 2011. Higher Education in Southeast Asia–Blurring borders, changing balance. Routledge, London.

WHO. 2003. "Thailand and Family Planning." Geneva. [www.ewc-popcomm.org/pdf/8_Writing_a_Decision_Memo_and_Giving_a_Policy_Briefing/Family_planning_fact_sheet_Thailand.pdf].

—____. 2007a. "Women, Ageing and Health: A Framework for Action: Focus on Gender." Geneva. [www.whqlibdoc.who.int/publications /2007/9789241563529_eng.pdf].

_____. 2007b. Global Age-Friendly Cities: A Guide. Geneva. [www.who.int/ageing/publications/Global_age_friendly_cities_Guide_English.pdf].

_____. 2014b. "Adolescent Pregnancy." Geneva. [www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs364/en/]. Last accessed 22 January 2016.

_____. 2014c. "Health for the World's Adolescents–A Second chance in the second decade. Geneva." [http://apps.who.int/adolescent/second-decade/ files/1612_MNCAH_HWA_Executive_Summary. pdf].

. 2014e. "World's 50 Most Polluted Cities." Geneva. [https://ktwop.files.wordpress. com/2014/05/50-most-polluted-cities-who-2014.pdf]. **_____. 2016a.** "Facts and Figures on Childhood Obesity." Geneva. [http://www.who.int/end-child-hood-obesity/facts/en/]. Last accessed 24 December 2015.

_____. 2016b. "Global Health Observatory data." Geneva. [www.who.int/gho/health_equity/services/ contraceptive_prevalence_text/en/]. Last accessed 22 February 2016.

Williams, J. and R. Fixsen. 2012. "Denmark Dethrones Netherlands in Melbourne Mercer Pensions Survey". Investment & Pensions Europe. [www. ipe.com/denmark-dethrones-netherlands-in-melbourne-mercer-pensions-survey/47896.fullarticle].

WIEGO (Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing). 2014. "Statistical Picture." Cambridge. [http://wiego.org/informal-economy/statistical-picture]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

Williams, J., and R. Fixsen. 2012. "Denmark Dethrones Netherlands in Melbourne Mercer Pensions Survey." 15 October. [www.ipe.com/ denmark-dethrones-netherlands-in-melbourne-mercer-pensions-survey/47896.fullarticle]. Last accessed 19 February 2016.

Wittgenstein Centre for Demography and Global Human Capital (IIASA, VID/ÖAW, WU). 2014. "Global Migration Data Sheet 2005-2010." Vienna. [www.global-migration.info/VID_Global_Migration_ Datasheet_web.pdf].

World Bank. 2007. The Global Family Planning Revolution: Three Decades of Population Policies and Programs. W. C. Robinson and J. A. Ross, eds. Washington, DC. [http://siteresources.worldbank. org/INTPRH/Resources/GlobalFamilyPlanningRevolution.pdf].

. 2013b. Global Monitoring Report 2013: Rural-Urban Dynamics and the Millennium Development Goals. Washington, DC. [http:// pubdocs.worldbank.org/pubdocs/publicdoc/2015/9/961951442415876455/GMR-2013-Full-Report.pdf].

—____. 2013c. Crowdfunding's Potential for the Developing World. Information for Development Programme. Washington, DC. [http://www.infodev.org/infodev-files/wb_crowdfundingreport-v12.pdf].

_____. 2014d. "Migration and Remittances: Recent Developments and Outlook." Washington, DC. [http://siteresources.worldbank.org/INTPROS-PECTS/Resources/334934-1288990760745/MigrationandDevelopmentBrief23.pdf].

World Bank. 2014e. "Economic Opportunities for Women in the East Asia and Pacific Region." A. Ellis, D. Kirkwood and D. Malhotra, eds. [http://elibrary. worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/978-0-8213-8300-1]. Last accessed 26 January 2016

_____. 2015a. World Development Indicators database. Washington, DC. [http://data.worldbank.org/ products/wdi]. Last accessed 22 January 2016.

World Bank. 2014e. "Economic Opportunities for Women in the East Asia and Pacific Region." A. Ellis, D. Kirkwood and D. Malhotra, eds. [http://elibrary. worldbank.org/doi/abs/10.1596/978-0-8213-8300-1]. Last accessed 26 January 2016

. 2015d. "Urban Development." Washington, DC. [www.worldbank.org/urban]. Last accessed 14 January 2016.

World Bank and IMF (International Monetary Fund). 2015/2016. Global Monitoring Report: Development Goals in an Era of Demographic Change. Washington, DC. [www.worldbank.org/en/publication/global-monitoring-report].

World Economic Forum. 2013. The Global Competitiveness Report. Geneva. [www3.weforum.org/ docs/WEF_GlobalCompetitivenessReport_2013-14. pdf].

Young Germany. 2013. "The German Vocational Training System." 18 July. [www.young-germany.de/ topic/study/courses-degrees/germanys-dual-vocational-education-system]. Last accessed 13 January 2016.

Yuen, B. 2005. "Squatters No More: Singapore Social Housing." World Bank 3rd Urban Research Symposium Proceedings, 4-6 April. Brasilia. [www. globalurban.org/GUDMag07Vol3Iss1/Yuen%20PDF. pdf].

. 2014. "Approaches to Urban Governance in Asia-Pacific." Technical background paper for *Asia-Pacific Human Development Report* 2016. UNDP, New York.

Readers' guide

COUNTRY GROUPINGS

In this report, Asia-Pacific countries refer to those based on UNDP regional classifications. Including both developing and developed countries and areas, the region is divided into four subregional groups: East Asia, South Asia, South-east Asia and Oceania. The subregions of Central Asia and Western Asia are excluded from Asia-Pacific demographic and other data.

The term country or economies as used in this publication also refers, as appropriate, to territories or areas. As the demographic and other data for China do not include Hong Kong, China (Special Administrative Region); Macao, China (Special Administrative Region of China); and Taiwan Province of China, for statistical purposes, these areas or territories have been denoted in this report as Hong Kong, China (SAR); Macao, China (SAR); and Taiwan Province of China, respectively. The designations used and the presentation of material in this publication do not imply the expression of any opinion whatsoever on the part of the United Nations or UNDP concerning the legal or UN Member State status of any territories, cities or areas.

The descriptions of countries and areas as 'developed' and 'developing' are intended for statistical convenience and do not necessarily express a judgement about the stage reached by a particular country or area in the development process. Developed or industrialized countries generally refer to members of the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development.

The Asia-Pacific region encompasses 42 countries and 3 areas. These include:

East Asia (5 countries and 3 areas)

China, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Japan, Republic of Korea, Mongolia. Plus Hong Kong, China (SAR); Macau, China (SAR); Taiwan Province of China.

South Asia or South-west Asia (9 countries) Afghanistan, Bangladesh, Bhutan, India, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Maldives, Nepal, Pakistan, Sri Lanka.

South-east Asia (11 countries)

Brunei Darussalam, Cambodia, Indonesia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Malaysia, Myanmar, Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, Timor-Leste, Viet Nam.

Oceania (17 countries)

Australia, Cook Islands, Fiji, Kiribati, Marshall Islands, Micronesia (Federated States of), Nauru, New Zealand, Niue, Palau, Papua New Guinea, Samoa, Solomon Islands, Tokelau, Tonga, Tuvalu, Vanuatu.

Wherever possible, all 45 countries and areas are reported in data tables to maintain uniformity; notes alert readers to data limitations. Lack of data in itself is a finding that may in some cases suggest the need for building statistical capacity.

The report generally uses the above categorization of countries, except for data from some specific sources. For World Bank data, subregional groupings generally follow the World Bank classification, which combines developing East Asia, South-east Asia and Oceania as East Asia-Pacific. For data from the International Labour Organization (ILO), subregional groupings generally follow its classification, which combines developing South-east Asia and Oceania as South-east Asia-Pacific.

Differences between classifications by UNDP and the World Bank are as follows.

East Asia and the Pacific (developing countries): 23 out of 24 countries are common in both UNDP and World Bank classifications. UNDP includes Nauru; the World Bank includes American Samoa.

South Asia: The World Bank classification includes eight countries. The UNDP classification includes all of these as well as the Islamic Republic of Iran. To recognize the difference, some statistical tables refer to South and West Asia.

References to Latin America in the text or

tables include the Caribbean countries unless otherwise indicated.

References to Sub-Saharan Africa include South Africa unless otherwise indicated.

KEY DATA SOURCES

Data in the report are derived from several key databases as listed below.

Demographic data

Data on demographics were obtained from the World Population Prospects projections of the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. The latest data come from the 2015 revisions. For projections beyond 2015, the medium variant on fertility is used according to which global fertility is projected to fall from 2.5 children per woman in 2010 to 2015 to 2.4 in 2025 to 2030 and 2.0 in 2095 to 2100.

The report refers to five age groups. Children, youth and young are defined as aged 0 to 14, 15 to 24, and 0-24 respectively. Different countries and institutions use different definitions. For comparability, this report uses the UN definition.

The categorization of working-age people also varies across countries and regions depending on the approximate age of entry to and exit from the workforce. The report generally applies the parameters of ages 15 to 64. Age 60 and beyond denotes older adults.

Data on labour markets

Extensive data on labor markets are used to understand the employment and occupations of working-age people in the region. Data on employment, labour force participation, unemployment, labour productivity, sectoral decomposition of employment and wages were obtained from the ILO's Key Indicators for the Labor Market database, 8th edition. Limited data are available on underemployment and informal sector employment; these were obtained from specific ILO publications.

Data on education and health

Data on education come predominantly from the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization's Institute of Statistics online database, available at www.uis.unesco. org/DataCentre/.

Data on health are from the World Health Organization.

Data on urbanization

Data on urbanization are from the World Urbanization Prospects database of the United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs. The latest data are from the 2014 database. They include data on urbanization rates; rural-urban distribution of population; small, medium and megacities; and age composition.

Data on the Human Development Index and other development indicators

Data on human development were obtained from the 2014 dataset produced by UNDP's Human Development Report Office for its 2015 Human Development Report. Annex tables include data from the Human Development Index, Gender Development Index, multidimensional poverty measures and indices adjusted for inequality.

Throughout the report, numerous development indicators come from a variety of other sources including the World Bank's World Development Indicators database and the Millennium Development Goals database.

Statistical Annex

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1 Human Development Index and Inequality-adjusted Human Development Index
- 2 Trends in the Human Development Index, 1990-2014
- 3 Gender Development Index
- 4 Gender Inequality Index
- 5 Multidimensional Poverty Index
- 6 Trends in income poverty, 1987-2014
- 7 Total population and growth change
- 8 Fertility rate and crude death rate
- 9 Median age of the population and dependency rate
- 10 Trends and share of child population, 1950-2050
- 11 Trends and share of youth population, 1950-2050
- 12 Trends and share of young population, 1950-2050
- 13 Trends and share of working-age population, 1950-2050
- 14 Trends and share of elderly population, 1950-2050
- 15 Trends and share of urban population, 1950-2050
- 16 Education indicators and enrolment ratio
- 17 Health indicators
- 18 Employment and unemployment indicators
- 19 International trade, finance and labour flows

TABLE 1: Human Development Index and Inequality-adjusted Human Development Index

		Human Development Index (HDI)	Life expectancy at birth	Expected years of schooling	Mean years of schooling	Gross national income (GNI) per capita		ly-adjusted (IHDI)	Inequality in life expectancy	Inequality in education	Inequality in income
HDI rank	Region, country or area	(Value)	(Years)	(Years)	(Years)	(2011 PPP \$)	(Value)	Overall loss (%)	(%)	(%)	(%)
		2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2010-2015	2014	2014
. 0	VERY HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPME		00.4	00.0	10.0	40.001	0.050	0.0	4.0	10	177
2	Australia New Zealand	0.935	82.4 81.8	20.2	13.0 12.5	42,261 32,689	0.858	8.2	4.2 4.8	1.9	17.7
11	Singapore	0.913	83.0	15.4	10.6	76,628		1.04	2.8		**
12	Hong Kong, China (SAR)	0.910	84.0	15.6	11.2	53,959	**		2.8		
17	Republic of Korea	0.898	81.9	16.9	11.9	33,890	0.751	16.4	3.9	25.5	18.4
20	Japan	0.891	83.5	15.3	11.5	36,927	0.780	12.4	3.2	19.8	13.5
31	Brunei Darussalam	0.856	78.8	14.5	8.8	72,570	1445	Suc	4.4		
	HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT										
60	Palau	0.780	72.7	13.7	12.3	13,496	1.00	200		12.0	23.0
62	Malaysia	0.779	74.7	12.7	10.0	22,762			4.9		40.0
69 73	Iran (Islamic Republic of) Sri Lanka	0.766	75.4 74.9	15.1 13.7	8.2	15,440 9,779	0.509	33.6 11.6	12.5 8.3	37.3 12.8	46.6
90	China	0.757	74.9	13.1	7.5	12,547			9.8	12.0	29.5
90	Fiji	0.727	70.0	15.7	9.9	7,493	0.616	15.3	12.3	10.5	23.5
90	Mongolia	0.727	69.4	14.6	9.3	10,729	0.633	12.9	16.6	9.4	12.3
93	Thailand	0.726	74.4	13.5	7.3	13,323	0.576	20.6	9.8	16.1	34.0
100	Tonga	0.717	72.8	14.7	10.7	5,069			13.7		
104	Maldives	0.706	76.8	13.0	5.8	12,328	0.531	24.9	8.1	40.0	23.2
105	Samoa	0.702	73.4	12.9	10.3	5,327			13.3		4
1000	MEDIUM HUMAN DEVELOPMENT		1000	142100		10122000		0.0000		10001001	0.000
110	Indonesia	0.684	68.9	13.0	7.6	9,788	0.559	18.2	16.4	20.8	17.3
115	Philippines	0.668	68.2	11.3	8.9	7,915	0.547	18.1	15.2	11.6	26.8
116	Viet Nam Missesseis (Endersted States of)	0.666	75.8 69.1	11.9	7.5 9.7	5,092	0.549	17.5	12.1	18.0	22.0
123 130	Micronesia (Federated States of) India	0.640	68.0	11.7	5.4	3,432 5,497	0.435	28.6	19.8 25.0	42.1	16.1
132	Bhutan	0.605	69.5	12.6	3.0	7,176	0.435	29.8	22.2	44.8	19.6
133	Timor-Leste	0.595	68.2	11.7	4.4	5,363	0.412	30.7	22.8	47.6	17.8
134	Vanuatu	0.594	71.9	10.6	6.8	2,803	0.492	17.2	15.4	17.5	18.5
137	Kiribati	0.590	66.0	12.3	7.8	2.434	0.405	31.5	20.6	21.4	48.4
141	Lao People's Democratic Republic	0.575	66.2	10.6	5.0	4,680	0.428	25.6	21.5	34.1	20.3
142	Bangladesh	0.570	71.6	10.0	5.1	3,191	0.403	29.4	20.1	38.6	28.3
143	Cambodia	0.555	68.4	10.9	4.4	2,949	0.418	24.7	25.3	28.3	20.3
115	LOW HUMAN DEVELOPMENT	0.540	00.0	10.4	0.0	0.011	0.404	00.0	01.1		15.1
145 147	Nepal Pakistan	0.548	69.6 66.2	12.4 7.8	3.3 4.7	2,311 4,866	0.401 0.377	26.8 29.9	21.1 29.9	41.4 44.4	15.1 11.6
147	Myanmar	0.536	65.9	8.6	4.1	4,608	0.311	20.0	29.9	19.4	11.0
146	Solomon Islands	0.506	67.9	9.2	5.0	1,540	0.385	23.8	22.3	22.8	26.3
158	Papua New Guinea	0.505	62.6	9.9	4.0	2.463	0.000	20.0	26.5	11.5	1010
171	Afghanistan	0.465	60.4	9.3	3.2	1,885	0.319	31.4	34.3	44.8	10.8
		NOTE STORE		10270	0.5550		100000	06021			1000
	Regions										
	Arab States	0.686	70.6	12.0	6.4	15,722	0.512	25.4	17.4	38.9	17.7
	East Asia and the Pacific	0.710	74.0	12.7	7.5	11,449	0.572	19.4	11.7	18.4	27.4
	Europe and Central Asia	0.748	72.3	13.6	10.0	12,791	0.651	13.0	14.3	7.9	16.6
	Latin America and the Caribbean	0.748	75.0	14.0	8.2	14,242	0.570	23.7	13.3	21.0	35.2
	South Asia	0.607	68.4 59.5	11.2	5.5	5,605	0.433	28.7	24.4	41.5	17.9
	Sub-Saharan Africa Developing countries	0.518	58.5 69.8	9.6 11.7	5.2 6.8	3,363 9,071	0.345 0.490	33.3 25.7	36.6 19.9	35.3 32.3	27.5 24.5
	Least developed countries	0.502	63.3	9.3	4.1	2,387	0.490	30.9	32.3	36.4	24.5
	Small island developing states	0.660	70.1	11.4	7.9	6,991	0.493	25.3	18.6	21.3	34.9
	Organisation for Economic Co-										
	operation and Development (OECD)	0.880	80.2	15.8	11.5	37,658	0.763	13.3	5.6	9.5	23.6
	World	0.711	71.5	12.2	7.9	14,301	0.548	22.8	17.4	26.8	24.0

Notes:

Countries or territories that do not have HDI calculations include Cook Islands, Democratic People's Republic of Korea, Macao, SAR (China), Marshall Islands, Nauru, Niue, Taiwan Province of China, Tokelau and Tuvalu.

TABLE 2:Trends in the Human Development Index 1990-2014

		l	Human Develop	ment Index (HD	Ŋ	HDI Rank		Average annu	al HDI growth	
HDI rank	Region, country or area		(Va	lue)		(Change)		(*	%)	
		1990	2000	2010	2014	2009-2014	1990-2000	2000-2010	2010-2014	1990-2014
	VERY HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT									
2	Australia	0.87	0.90	0.93	0.93	0	0.36	0.33	0.20	0.32
9	New Zealand	0.82	0.87	0.90	0.91	-1	0.64	0.35	0.24	0.45
11	Singapore	0.72	0.82	0.90	0.91	11	1.33	0.92	0.41	1.00
12	Hong Kong, China (SAR)	0.78	0.83	0.90	0.91	2	0.55	0.85	0.32	0.64
17	Republic of Korea	0.73	0.82	0.89	0.90	0	1.16	0.77	0.33	0.86
20	Japan	0.81	0.86	0.88	0.89	-3	0.51	0.31	0.18	0.37
31	Brunei Darussalam	0.78	0.82	0.84	0.86	1	0.46	0.29	0.37	0.38
	HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT									
60	Palau		0.74	0.77	0.78	0	121	0.31	0.44	
62	Malaysia	0.64	0.72	0.77	0.78	1	1.21	0.62	0.32	0.82
69	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	0.57	0.67	0.74	0.77	7	1.62	1.11	0.74	1.26
73	Sri Lanka	0.62	0.68	0.74	0.76	5	0.91	0.85	0.62	0.83
90	China	0.50	0.59	0.70	0.73	13	1.62	1.74	1.02	1.57
90	Fiji	0.63	0.68	0.72	0.73	1	0.72	0.56	0.36	0.59
90	Mongolia	0.58	0.59	0.70	0.73	14	0.18	1.68	1.11	0.96
93	Thailand	0.57	0.65	0.72	0.73	3	1.25	1.00	0.35	1.00
100	Tonga	0.65	0.67	0.71	0.72	-4	0.32	0.60	0.14	0.41
104	Maldives		0.60	0.68	0.71	2		1.25	0.86	
105	Samoa	0.62	0.65	0.70	0.70	-3	0.45	0.70	0.21	0.52
	MEDIUM HUMAN DEVELOPMENT									
110	Indonesia	0.53	0.61	0.66	0.68	3	1.34	0.92	0.71	1.06
115	Philippines	0.59	0.62	0.65	0.67	-1	0.61	0.50	0.52	0.55
116	Viet Nam	0.48	0.57	0.65	0.67	1	1.92	1.29	0.47	1.41
123	Micronesia (Federated States of)		0.60	0.64	0.64	-2		0.56	0.06	
130	India	0.43	0.50	0.59	0.61	6	1.49	1.67	0.97	1.48
132	Bhutan		1.44	0.57	0.61		44	**	1.39	
133	Timor-Leste		0.47	0.60	0.59	1		2.51	-0.22	
134	Vanuatu		144)1	0.59	0.59	1		44	0.19	4
137	Kiribati			0.59	0.59	-1	147		0.09	
141	Lao People's Democratic Republic	0.40	0.46	0.54	0.58	2	1.51	1.56	1.62	1.55
142	Bangladesh	0.39	0.47	0.55	0.57	0	1.94	1.57	1.07	1.64
143	Cambodia	0.36	0.42	0.54	0.55	1	1.40	2.50	0.87	1.77
	LOW HUMAN DEVELOPMENT									
145	Nepal	0.38	0.45	0.53	0.55	3	1.62	1.64	0.78	1.49
147	Pakistan	0.40	0.44	0.52	0.54	0	1.07	1.62	0.79	1.25
148	Myanmar	0.35	0.43	0.52	0.54	1	1.90	2.03	0.72	1.76
156	Solomon Islands		0.45	0.49	0.51	-2		1.02	0.57	
158	Papua New Guinea	0.35	0.42	0.49	0.51	-2	1.87	1.51	0.60	1.51
171	Afghanistan	0.30	0.33	0.45	0.47	0	1.20	2.97	0.97	1.89
	Regions									
	Arab States	0.55	0.61	0.68	0.69	17 <u>4</u> 2	1.02	0.99	0.38	0.90
	East Asia and the Pacific	0.52	0.59	0.69	0.71	-	1.39	1.48	0.87	1.34
	Europe and Central Asia	0.65	0.67	0.73	0.75	-	0.22	0.94	0.59	0.58
	Latin America and the Caribbean	0.62	0.68	0.73	0.75	-	0.91	0.70	0.47	0.75
	South Asia	0.44	0.50	0.59	0.61	11 A	1.42	1.55	0.86	1.38
	Sub-Saharan Africa	0.40	0.42	0.50	0.52	-	0.54	1.68	0.94	1.08
	Developing countries	0.51	0.57	0.64	0.66	-	1.02	1.23	0.70	1.06
	Least developed countries	0.35	0.40	0.48	0.50	-	1.39	1.95	0.92	1.54
	Small island developing states	0.57	0.61	0.66	0.66	12	0.56	0.79	0.13	0.59
	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)	0.78	0.83	0.87	0.88	-	0.61	0.44	0.24	0.48

TABLE 3: Gender Development Index

		Gender De Index	velopment (GDI)	Human Dev Index		Life exp at b		Expecte of sch		Mean of sch		nationa	ed gross l income capita
HDI rank	Region, country or area	(Value)	(GDI group)	(Val	ue)	(Yea	ars)	(Yea	ars)	(Yea	ars)	(2011	PPP \$)
				Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male	Female	Male
		2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014	2014
	VERY HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMEN	IT											
2	Australia	0.976	1	0.922	0.945	84.5	80.3	20.7	19.7	13.1	12.9	33,688	50,914
9	New Zealand	0.961	2	0.894	0.930	83.6	80.0	20.0	18.3	12.5	12.6	24,309	41,372
11	Singapore	0.985	1	0.898	0.912	86.0	79.9	15.5	15.3	10.1	10.9	59,994	93,699
12	Hong Kong, China (SAR)	0.958	2	0.892	0.931	86.8	81.2	15.7	15.5	10.9	11.9	38,060	72,052
17	Republic of Korea	0.930	3	0.861	0.926	85.0	78.5	16.0	17.7	11.2	12.7	21,896	46,018
20	Japan	0.961	2	0.870	0.905	86.7	80.2	15.2	15.5	11.3	11.7	24,975	49,541
31	Brunei Darussalam	0.977	1	0.840	0.860	80.7	77.0	14.9	14.2	8.5	9.0	54,228	90,437
	HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT												
60	Palau	**		**				13.9	13.5				
62	Malaysia	0.947	3	0.753	0.795	77.1	72.4	12.7	12.7	9.4	10.1	15,635	30,320
69	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	0.858	5	0.689	0.804	76.5	74.3	15.0	15.2	7.7	8.6	4,828	25,924
73	Sri Lanka	0.948	3	0.730	0.769	78.2	71.5	14.2	13.3	10.7	10.9	5,452	14,307
90	China	0.943	3	0.705	0.747	77.3	74.3	13.2	12.9	6.9	8.2	10,128	14,795
90	Fiji	0.941	3	0.699	0.743	73.2	67.2	16.0	15.5	9.8	10.0	4,274	10,592
90	Mongolia	1.028	2	0.737	0.716	73.9	65.3	15.3	13.9	9.5	9.0	9,029	12,462
93	Thailand	1.000	1	0.726	0.726	77.9	71.1	13.9	13.1	7.1	7.5	11,820	14,888
100	Tonga	0.967	2	0.704	0.727	75.8	69.9	15.0	14.4	10.7	10.8	3,796	6,336
104	Maldives	0.937	3	0.678	0.723	77.8	75.8	12.8	12.5	5.7	6.0	8,531	16,073
105	Samoa	0.956	2	0.681	0.713	76.8	70.4	13.2	12.5	10.3	10.3	3,416	7.124
	MEDIUM HUMAN DEVELOPMENT												
110	Indonesia	0.927	3	0.655	0.706	71.0	66.9	13.1	12.9	7.0	8.2	6,485	13,052
115	Philippines	0.977	1	0.649	0.664	71.8	64.9	11.5	11.1	8.4	7.9	5,382	10,439
116	Viet Nam	1945				80.5	71.0		34	7.0	7.9	4,624	5,570
123	Micronesia (Federated States of)	(44)		- 10		70.1	68.1						
130	India	0.795	5	0.525	0.660	69.5	66.6	11.3	11.8	3.6	7.2	2,116	8,656
132	Bhutan	0.897	5	0.572	0.638	69.7	69.2	12.8	12.6	2.0	4.1	5,733	8,418
133	Timor-Leste	0.868	5	0.548	0.631	70.1	66.5	11.3	12.0	3.6	5.3	3,122	7,530
134	Vanuatu	0.903	4	0.587	0.650	74.0	69.9	10.2	10.9	8.0	10.0	2,141	3,445
137	Kiribati	0.000	 E	0.540		69.2	62.8	12.7	11.9				5 070
141	Lao People's Democratic Republic	0.896	5	0.543	0.606	67.5	64.8	10.1	11.0	3.9	6.1	4,086	5,279
142 143	Bangladesh Cambodia	0.917	4	0.541 0.519	0.590	72.9 70.3	70.4 66.2	10.3	9.7 11.5	4.5 3.2	5.5 5.4	2,278 2,526	4,083 3,393
140	Jamuuula	0.030	J	0.013	0.004	10.0	00.2	10.0	11.0	0.2	0.4	2,020	0,000
	LOW HUMAN DEVELOPMENT												
145	Nepal	0.908	4	0.521	0.574	71.1	68.2	12.5	12.2	2.3	4.5	1,956	2,690
147	Pakistan	0.726	5	0.436	0.601	67.2	65.3	7.0	8.5	3.1	6.2	1,450	8,100
148	Myanmar	140		-		68.0	63.9			4.3	3.8	3,873	5,386
156	Solomon Islands	1.44				69.4	66.5	8.8	9.7			1,046	2,019
158 171	Papua New Guinea Afghanistan	0.600	5	0.328	0.546	64.8 61.6	60.5 59.2	7.2	11.3	3.2 1.2	4.8 5.1	2,145 506	2,768 3,227
						- 110							alas,
	Regions	0.010				20.2				10			
	Arab States	0.849	-	0.611	0.719	72.7	68.8	11.6	12.3	4.9	6.9	5,686	24,985
	East Asia and the Pacific	0.948		0.692	0.730	76.0	72.2	13.0	12.8	6.9	8.0	9,017	13,780
	Europe and Central Asia	0.945	#	0.719	0.760	76.1	68.5	13.5	13.8	9.0	10.0	8,238	17,607
	Latin America and the Caribbean South Asia	0.976		0.736	0.754	78.2	71.7	14.4	13.7	8.0	8.1	10,194	18,435
		0.801	-	0.525	0.655	69.9	67.1	10.8	11.3	3.7	6.9	2,198	8,827
	Sub-Saharan Africa Developing countries	0.872	-	0.480	0.550	59.7	57.1 68.0	9.1	10.3 11.9	4.2 5.4	6.0	2,626	4,148
	Least developed countries	0.899	25 12	0.617	0.686 0.537	71.7 64.8	61.9	11.6 8.9	10.0	3.2	7.3	5,926 1,783	12,178 3,005
	Small island developing states		12			72.6	67.8	13.4	12.6			5,045	8,849
	Organisation for Economic Co-			1.001						10000			
	operation and Development (OECD)	0.973	77	0.862	0.887	82.7	77.5	16.0	15.5	11.0	11.5	28,430	47.269
	World	0.924		0.670	0.725	73.7	69.5	12.2	12.4	6.2	7.9	10,296	18,373

TABLE 4: Gender Inequality Index

			nequality c (GII)	Maternal mortality ratio	Adolescent birth rate	Share of seats in parliament	some second	with at least ary education i and older)	Labour participa (% ages 15	tion rate
	Country	(Value)	(Rank)	(Deaths per 100,000 live births)	(Births per 1,000 women aged 15-19)	(% held by women)	(Female)	(Male)	(Female)	(Male)
		2014	2014	2013	2010/2015	2014	2005-2014	2005-2014	2013	2013
0	VERY HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT	0.110	10	C	10.1	00 F	04.0	04.0	50.0	71.0
2	Australia New Zealand	0.110 0.157	19 32	6	12.1 25.3	30.5 31.4	94.3 95.0	94.6 95.3	58.8 62.0	71.8 73.8
11	Singapore	0.088	13	6	6.0	25.3	74.1	81.0	58.8	77.2
12	Hong Kong, China (SAR)		15	U	3.3	20.0	72.2	79.2	51.3	67.8
17	Republic of Korea	0.125	23	27	2.2	16.3	77.0	89.1	50.1	72.1
20	Japan	0.133	26	6	5.4	11.6	87.0	85.8	48.8	70.4
31	Brunei Darussalam	0.100	20	27	23.0	11.0	63.9	67.8	52.6	75.3
					2010			0110		10.0
	HIGH HUMAN DEVELOPMENT									
60	Palau	-	1		10	10.3		14	-	
62	Malaysia	0.209	42	29	5.7	14.2	65.1	71.3	44.4	75.5
69	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	0.515	114	23	31.6	3.1	62.2	67.6	16.6	73.6
73	Sri Lanka	0.370	72	29	16.9	5.8	72.7	76.4	35.1	76.3
90	China	0.191	40	32	8.6	23.6	58.7	71.9	63.9	78.3
90	Fiji	0.418	87	59	42.8	14.0	64.2	64.5	37.5	72.0
90	Mongolia	0.325	63	68	18.7	14.9	85.3	84.1	56.6	69.3
93	Thailand	0.380	76	26	41.0	6.1	35.7	40.8	64.3	80.7
100	Tonga	0.666	148	120	18.1	0.0	87.5	88.3	53.5	74.6
104	Maldives	0.243	49	31	4.2	5.9	27.3	32.7	56.2	77.5
105	Samoa	0.457	97	58	28.3	6.1	64.3	60.0	23.5	58.4
110	MEDIUM HUMAN DEVELOPMENT	0.404	110	100	40.0	171	20.0	10.0	E1.4	04.0
110	Indonesia Dhilicealana	0.494	110	190	48.3	17.1	39.9	49.2	51.4	84.2
115	Philippines Viet Nam	0.420	89 60	120 49	46.8 29.0	27.1 24.3	65.9 59.4	63.7 71.2	51.1 73.0	79.7 82.2
123	Micronesia (Federated States of)			96	18.6	0.0				02.2
130	India	0.563	130	190	32.8	12.2	27.0	56.6	27.0	79.9
132	Bhutan	0.457	97	120	40.9	8.3	34.0	34.5	66.7	77.2
133	Timor-Leste	0.101	01	270	52.2	38.5	01.0	01.0	24.6	50.8
134	Vanuatu			86	44.8	0.0			61.5	80.0
137	Kiribati			130	16.6	8.7				
141	Lao People's Democratic Republic				65.0	25.0	22.9	37.0	76.3	79.1
142	Bangladesh	0.503	111	170	80.6	20.0	34.1	41.3	57.4	84.1
143	Cambodia	0.477	104	170	44.3	19.0	9.9	22.9	78.8	86.5
	LOW HUMAN DEVELOPMENT									
145	Nepal	0.489	108	190	73.7	29.5	17.7	38.2	79.9	87.1
147	Pakistan	0.536	121	170	27.3	19.7	19.3	46.1	24.6	82.9
148	Myanmar	0.413	85	200	12.1	4.7	22.9	15.3	75.2	82.3
156	Solomon Islands	0.011		130	64.9	2.0	70		53.4	79.0
158	Papua New Guinea	0.611	140	220	62.1	2.7	7.6	14.5	70.5	74.0
171	Afghanistan	0.693	152	400	86.8	27.6	5.9	29.8	15.8	79.5
	Panione									
	Regions Arab States	0.537	(25)	155	45.4	14.0	34.7	47.6	23.2	75.3
	East Asia and the Pacic	0.337	-	72	21.2	14.0	54.7	66.3	62.6	79.4
	Europe and Central Asia	0.320	-	28	30.8	19.0	70.8	80.6	45.6	70.0
	Latin America and the Caribbean	0.415	100 C	85	68.3	27.0	54.3	55.2	53.7	79.8
	South Asia	0.536	1201	183	38.7	17.5	29.1	54.6	29.8	80.3
	Sub-Saharan Africa	0.575	-	506	109.7	22.5	22.1	31.5	65.4	76.6
	Developing countries	0.478	-	225	51.5	20.2	44.2	58.4	49.5	78.7
	Least developed countries	0.566	-	439	97.0	20.4	17.2	26.4	65.7	82.6
	Small island developing states	0.474	24	220	61.5	22.8	51.1	55.1	53.0	73.3
	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and	0.231		21	25.4	26.9	82.9	86.3	50.9	68.9
	Development (OECD)		1							
	World	0.449	-	210	47.4	21.8	54.5	65.4	50.3	76.7

TABLE 5: Multidimensional Poverty Index

		Dev	Human elopment Report sifications		2010 Sifications	multidir	ation in nensional verty	Population near multidimensional i poverty	Population in severe nultidimensional poverty	depriva	ntribution tion in di verall pov (%)	nension	Populati below i poveri (%	ty line
	Year and survey	Index	Headcount	Index	Headcount	Headcount	Intensity of deprivation						National poverty line	PPP \$1,25 a day
Country	2005-2014	Value	(%)	Value	(%)	('000s)	(%)	(%)	(%)	Education	Health	Living standards	2004- 2014	2002- 2012
Afghanistan	2010/2011 M	0.293	58.8	0.353	66.2	17.116	49.9	16.0	29.8	45.6	19.2	35.2	35.8	
Bangladesh	2011 D	0.237	49.5	0.253	51.3	75.610	47.8	18.8	21.0	28.4	26.6	44.9	31.5	43.3
Bhutan	2010 M	0.128	29.4	0.119	27.2	211	43.5	18.0	8.8	40.3	26.3	33.4	12.0	2.4
Cambodia	2010 D	0.211	46.8	0.212	45.9	6.721	45.1	20.4	16.4	25.9	27.7	46.4	17.7	10.1
China	2012 N	0.023	5.2	0.023	5.2	71.939	43.3	22.7	1.0	30.0	36.6	33.4		6.3
India	2005/2006 D	0.282	55.3	0.283	53.7	631,999	51.1	18.2	27.8	22.7	32.5	44.8	21.9	23.6
Indonesia	2012 D	0.024	5.9	0.066	15.5	14,574	41.3	8.1	1.1	24.7	35.1	40.2	11.3	16.2
Lao People's Democratic Republic	2011/2012 M	0.186	36.8	0.174	34.1	2,447	50.5	18.5	18.8	37.7	25.4	36.9	23.2	30.3
Maldives	2009 D	0.008	2.0	0.018	5.2	6	37.5	8.5	0.1	27.8	60.2	11.9		1.5
Mongolia	2010 M	0.047	11.1	0.037	9.2	302	42.5	19.3	2.3	18.1	27.7	54.2	27.4	
Nepal	2011 D	0.197	41.4	0.217	44.2	11,255	47.4	18.1	18.6	27.3	28.2	44.5	25.2	23.7
Pakistan	2012/2013 D	0.237	45.6	0.230	44.2	83,045	52.0	14.9	26.5	36.2	32.3	31.6	22.3	12.7
Philippines	2013 D	0.033	6.3	0.052	11.0	6,221	51.9	8.4	4.2	35.3	30.2	34.5	25.2	19.0
Thailand	2005/2006 M	0.004	1.0	0.006	1.6	664	38.8	4.4	0.1	19.4	51.3	29.4	12.6	0.3
Timor-Leste	2009/2010 D	0.322	64.3	0.360	68.1	694	50.1	21.4	31.5	20.0	30.4	49.6	49.9	34.9
Vanuatu	2007 M	0.135	31.2	0.129	30.1	69	43.1	32.6	7.3	24.4	24.1	51.6		**
Viet Nam	2010/2011 M	0.026	6.4	0.017	4.2	5,796	40.7	8.7	1.3	35.9	25.7	38.4	17.2	2.4

TABLE 6:Trends in income poverty, 1987-2014

Major area, region, or country		of poor at \$1. 11 PPP) (millio			of poor at \$3. 11 PPP) (millio			dcount ratio a PPP) (% of pop			dcount ratio a PPP) (% of pop	
	1987-1993	1997-2003	2008-2014	1987-1993	1997-2003	2008-2014	1987-1993	1997-2003	2008-2014	1987-1993	1997-2003	2008-201
East Asia												
China	695.7	458.5	171.8	983.0	781.9	400.5	61.5	36.2	12.9	86.9	61.8	30.1
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	-	191	-	-	-		÷.	-	- 1	-		-
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	-			14			a.		12		-	
Japan	2	12.1	2	121	2	12	2		27	2	2	2
Macao, China (SAR)												
	-	0.4	0.0	-			-		0.0		471	0.0
Mongolia	-	0.4	0.0		1.1	0.2	÷:	18.7	0.6		47.1	6.3
Republic of Korea Taiwan Province of China	-		-	-	-	-	-		-	-	-	
Could could do to												
South-east Asia												
Brunei Darussalam	-				-				-		-	
Cambodia	-	121	1.6	-		6.2	-	12	11.3	12	123	43.6
Indonesia	111.7	67.2	44.3	158.3	149.8	114.5	61.9	31.7	18.6	87.4	70.5	47.5
Lao People's Democratic Republic	1.9	2.4	1.9	3.3	4.1	4.1	42.6	44.7	30.0	73.5	77.2	63.3
Malaysia	0.3	0.1	0.1	2.0	1.4	0.7	1.7	0.4	0.3	11.1	6.6	2.7
Myanmar			-									
Philippines	16.7	13.7	11.8	33.2	32.4	34.8	27.2	17.6	12.5	54.3	41.6	37.0
	10.7	10.7	11.0	00.Z	02.4	04.0	21.2	11.0	12.0	04.0	41.0	51.0
Singapore	-	-	-	10.7		-	-		-	-		-
Thailand	5.7	1.2	0.1	18.7	9.0	1.3	10.1	1.9	0.1	33.3	14.5	2.0
Timor-Leste	2	0.4		-	0.6		÷	44.2	-		72.8	~
Viet Nam	33.7	28.5	6.9	52.8	53.6	22.3	49.2	36.8	8.1	77.1	69.2	25.8
South Asia												
Afghanistan	1		1	14	20		20	1	23	5¥	10	1
Bangladesh	75.3	78.7	66.2	97.3	111.3	117.7	71.9	60.0	43.7	93.0	84.8	77.6
Bhutan	10.0	0.2	0.0	0110	0.2	0.1	-	24.9	2.2	00.0	30.1	13.5
India	417.4	0.2	318.9	701.9	-	763.1	48.2	21.0	26.3	80.9	-	63.0
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	3.0	1.4	0.1	9.6	7.3	1.4	5.3	2.2	0.2	17.0	11.5	1.9
Maldives		0.1	0.0		0.1	0.1		24.1	5.6		35.6	17.9
Nepal	7	11.7	4.0	17.1	18.5	13.0	5	47.1	15.0	-	74.4	48.4
Pakistan	62.3	35.6	14.1	88.6	91.5	76.5	60.6	26.0	8.3	86.1	66.9	45.0
Sri Lanka	1.5	1.6	0.4	6.9	6.5	3.1	8.7	8.3	2.1	40.5	34.1	15.4
Oceania												
Australia					-				-		5 .	-
Cook Islands				14			2.	4	-	2	-	-
Fiji	2	0.0	0.0		0.2	0.1		5.1	3.6		20.2	17.0
Kiribati		0.0	0.0		-	-		-	0.0		20.2	11.0
		1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 - 1990 -				10 C		1	5)	1.1	2	
Marshall Islands	<i></i>		<i>*</i>	1711		10	÷:		÷.	-	00.7	-
Micronesia (Federated States of)	+	0.1	-	1.4	0.1			50.4	-		66.7	
Nauru	4	-	÷		-		÷.		÷.	2	-	~
New Zealand	-		-		-	-	-		-		-	
Niue		1.70					5		7.5		-	
Palau				-	-		×.		-		-	
Papua New Guinea	2		2.6		-	4.3	÷		39.3		27 27	64.7
Samoa	2	12.0	0.0	121	2	0.0	2		0.8	12	21	8.4
Solomon Islands			0.0			0.0			0.0			0.4
		1997		12				17			23	1
Tokelau		1991			-			1	5			
Tonga	-		~	-	-	-	-		-		-	
Tuvalu	-	1211	-	-	2	1	-		27	2	2	1
Vanuatu	•	1	0.0	2723	5	0.1	5		15.4		7.	38.8
	1990	2002	2012	1990	2002	2012	1990	2002	2012	1990	2002	2012
Asia-Pacific	1,570.2	1.135.7	456.4	2.306.5	2.117.7	1.352.7	57.4	34.6	13.9	84.3	64.5	36.9
East Asia and The Pacific	995.5	552.7		1,378.6	1,043.6	453.8	60.6	29.2		83.9	55.1	22.2
			147.2						7.2			
Europe and Central Asia	8.8	29.2	10.1	36.5	67.1	30.0	1.9	6.2	2.1	7.9	14.3	6.2
Latin American	78.2	70.5	33.7	135.6	138.1	72.2	17.8	13.2	5.6	30.8	25.8	12.0
and the Caribbean		12455	Contra d		0.505 %.	.4.57.55		2002/10	1000			1/7859
Middle East and North Africa	13.5		-	56.3	-	-	6.0	-	-	24.9	123	-
South Asia	574.6	583.0	309.2	928.0	1,074.1	898.8	50.6	40.8	18.8	81.8	75.1	54.5
Sub-Saharan Africa	287.6	399.0	388.8	385.8	544.1	610.4	56.8 37.1	57.1	42.7	76.1	77.8	67.0

TABLE 7: Total population and growth change

				ex, midyear			•		lation change	
Major area, region or country		N	umber (millio	ns)				(%)		
	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	1950-1955	1995-2000	2010-2015	2025-2030	2045-2050
East Asia	666.6	1496.3	1612.3	1650.2	1566.8	1.83	0.65	0.46	-0.01	-0.40
China	544.1	1270.0	1376.0	1415.5	1348.1	1.91	0.68	0.52	0.01	-0.39
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	10.5	22.8	25.2	26.7	26.9	-0.90	0.97	0.53	0.31	-0.07
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	2.0	6.8	7.3	8.0	8.1	4.65	1.98	0.83	0.43	0.04
Japan	82.2	125.7	126.6	120.1	107.4	1.45	0.20	-0.12	-0.45	-0.57
Macao, China (SAR)	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.7	0.8	-1.59	1.61	1.89	1.17	0.64
Mongolia	.8	2.4	3.0	3.5	4.0	1.83	0.85	1.74	0.90	0.60
Republic of Korea	19.2	46.2	50.3	52.5	50.6	1.94	0.68	0.48	0.21	-0.41
Taiwan Province of China	7.6	21.9	23.4	23.1	20.8		0.00		-0.16	-0.41
raiwan Province of Gnina	7.0	21.9	23.4	23.1	20.0	3.15	U.7 Z	0.16	-0.10	-0.00
South-east Asia	164.9	526.2	633.5	724.8	792.1	2.45	1.55	1.20	0.75	0.27
Brunei Darussalam	0.0	0.3	0.4	0.5	0.5	5.57	2.28	1.47	0.87	0.27
Cambodia	4.4	12.2	15.6	19.0	22.5	2.59	2.63	1.62	1.13	0.67
Indonesia	69.5	211.5	257.6	295.5	322.2	2.12	1.43	1.28	0.76	0.25
Lao People's Democratic Republic	1.7	5.3	6.8	8.5	10.2	2.33	1.90	1.66	1.27	0.69
	6.1	23.4	30.3	36.1	40.7	2.33	2.45	1.51	1.01	0.43
Malaysia										
Myanmar	17.5	47.7	53.9	60.2	63.6	1.91	1.28	0.82	0.63	0.06
Philippines	18.6	77.9	100.7	123.6	148.3	3.54	2.19	1.58	1.24	0.73
Singapore	1.0	3.9	5.6	6.4	6.7	4.90	2.36	1.97	0.59	-0.01
Thailand	20.7	62.7	68.0	68.3	62.5	2.71	1.12	0.38	-0.11	-0.65
Timor-Leste	0.4	0.8	1.2	1.6	2.2	1.25	-0.22	2.28	1.74	1.46
Viet Nam	24.8	80.3	93.4	105.2	112.8	2.53	1.31	1.12	0.60	0.20
South Asia	493.4	1451.9	1823.0	2147.4	2423.8	1.72	1.91	1.36	0.94	0.42
Afghanistan	7.8	1431.5	32.5	43.9	56.0					
5						1.29	3.22	3.02	1.74	0.90
Bangladesh	37.9	131.3	161.0	186.5	202.2	2.12	2.06	1.20	0.81	0.18
Bhutan	0.2	0.6	0.8	0.9	0.9	2.48	2.06	1.46	0.72	0.16
India	376.3	1053.5	1311.1	1527.7	1705.3	1.68	1.84	1.26	0.88	0.38
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	17.1	65.9	79.1	88.5	92.2	2.39	1.76	1.27	0.46	0.04
Maldives	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.4	0.5	1.56	1.97	1.79	0.91	0.46
Nepal	8.5	23.7	28.5	33.1	36.2	1.82	2.08	1.18	0.83	0.26
Pakistan	37.5	138.3	188.9	244.9	309.6	1.48	2.40	2.11	1.50	0.96
Sri Lanka	8.1	18.8	20.7	21.5	20.8	1.79	0.58	0.50	0.11	-0.36
	40.7				50.0					0.70
Oceania	12.7	31.1	39.3	47.4	56.6	2.23	1.34	1.54	1.12	0.79
Australia	8.2	19.1	24.0	28.5	33.5	2.39	1.06	1.57	1.01	0.75
Cook Islands	0.015	0.018	0.021	0.023	0.024	1.65	-0.53	0.53	0.45	0.18
Fiji	0.3	0.8	0.9	0.9	0.9	2.95	0.90	0.74	0.20	-0.26
Kiribati	0.033	0.084	0.112	0.142	0.178	2.04	1.65	1.82	1.36	1.08
Marshall Islands	0.013	0.052	0.053	0.056	0.067	1.34	0.44	0.21	0.69	0.47
Micronesia (Federated States of)	0.032	0.107	0.104	0.118	0.129	3.38	-0.02	0.16	0.92	0.29
Nauru	0.003	0.010	0.010	0.011	0.011	4.08	0.14	0.39	0.21	-0.24
New Zealand	1.9	3.9	4.5	5.1	5.6	2.26	0.97	0.72	0.72	0.35
Niue	0.005	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.002	0.10	-2.63	-0.14	0.51	0.24
Palau	0.007	0.019	0.002	0.002	0.028	2.09	2.11	0.79	0.94	0.43
Papua New Guinea	1.7	5.4	7.6	10.1	13.2	1.28	2.61	2.14	1.72	1.17
Samoa	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2					
						2.75	0.52	0.76	0.56	0.46
Solomon Islands	0.1	0.4	0.6	0.8	1.0	2.56	2.76	2.07	1.63	1.15
Tokelau	0.002	0.002	0.001	0.001	0.002	0.50	0.42	1.93	0.63	0.48
Tonga	0.047	0.098	0.106	0.121	0.140	3.17	0.42	0.42	0.89	0.51
Tuvalu	0.005	0.009	0.010	0.011	0.011	1.48	0.41	0.18	0.63	-0.06
Vanuatu	0.048	0.185	0.265	0.354	0.476	2.82	1.91	2.27	1.79	1.28
Asia-Pacific	1337.6	3505.5	4108.1	4569.8	4839.3	1.89	1.31	0.99	0.56	0.13
Europe	549.1	726.4	738.4	733.9	706.8	0.98	-0.04	0.08	-0.11	-0.21
Latin America and the Caribbean	168.8	526.9		733.5						
			634.4		784.2	2.70	1.56	1.12	0.72	0.26
North America	171.6	313.7	357.8	396.3	433.1	1.67	1.18	0.78	0.62	0.38
Sub-Saharan Africa	179.7	642.2	962.3	1396.9	2123.2	1.97	2.63	2.71	2.38	1.90
World	2525.1	6126.6	7349.5	8500.8	9725.1	1.77	1.32	1.18	0.86	0.57

Major area, region or country		Total fertil	ity (children	per woman)		Cru	de death rate	e (deaths per	1,000 populat	tion)
	1950-1955	1995-2000	2010-2015	2025-2030	2045-2050	1950-1955	1995-2000	2010-2015	2025-2030	2045-2050
East Asia	5.60	1.48	1.55	1.63	1.73	21.0	6.6	7.2	8.9	12.6
China	6.11	1.48	1.55	1.66	1.74	23.1	6.5	7.0	8.6	12.5
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	3.46	2.01	2.00	1.87	1.82	23.2	9.4	9.2	10.0	12.2
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	4.44	0.87	1.20	1.44	1.63	7.6	5.3	6.0	7.8	11.8
Japan	3.00	1.37	1.40	1.57	1.69	9.4	7.5	10.0	12.6	14.2
Macao, China (SAR)	4.39	1.12	1.19	1.54	1.74	10.4	4.9	4.8	5.6	9.6
	5.60	2.40	2.68		2.10	21.7	4.3		6.6	8.1
Mongolia				2.33				6.2		
Republic of Korea	5.05	1.51	1.26	1.45	1.60	16.4	5.4	5.5	7.6	12.3
Taiwan Province of China	5.90	1.73	1.07	1.15	1.45	9.9	5.8	6.9	8.8	14.1
South-east Asia	5.92	2.69	2.35	2.10	1.94	19.1	6.9	6.9	7.7	10.0
Brunei Darussalam	7.00	2.60	1.90	1.72	1.69	12.7	3.2	3.0	4.1	7.8
Cambodia	6.95	4.25	2.70	2.27	1.97	23.2	10.6	6.3	5.4	6.4
Indonesia	5.49	2.55	2.50	2.14	1.91	21.4	7.2	7.2	7.9	10.4
Lao People's Democratic Republic	5.94	4.81	3.10	2.34	1.89	22.2	10.7	7.0	5.5	6.0
Malaysia	6.23	3.18	1.97	1.79	1.72	14.4	4.5	4.8	6.0	8.2
Myanmar	6.00	2.95	2.25	1.95	1.79	28.3	9.3	8.3	9.2	11.7
Philippines	7.42	3.90	3.04	2.59	2.20	13.3	6.2	6.7	7.2	8.4
Singapore	6.61	1.57	1.23	1.31	1.38	9.0	4.6	4.5	6.7	11.3
Thailand	6.14	1.77	1.53	1.43	1.58	15.5	6.7	7.7	10.0	14.5
Timor-Leste	6.44	7.01	5.91	4.30	2.99	34.2	11.6	7.0	5.5	4.5
Viet Nam	5.40	2.25	1.96	1.93	1.92	14.6	5.6	5.8	6.6	9.3
South Asia	6.04	3.61	2.56	2.18	1.93	26.7	8.8	7.1	7.1	8.5
Afghanistan	7.45	7.65	5.13	3.02	2.09	36.9	12.8	8.6	6.7	7.0
Bangladesh	6.36	3.43	2.23	1.84	1.67	24.8	7.5	5.5	5.4	7.9
Bhutan	6.67	4.13	2.10	1.69	1.59	34.6	9.9	6.3	6.6	8.8
India	5.90	3.48	2.48	2.14	1.89	26.8	9.1	7.4	7.5	8.8
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	6.91	2.63	1.75	1.49	1.61	26.8	5.3	4.7	5.4	9.3
Maldives	6.03	3.52	2.18	1.72	1.67	27.7	5.5	3.8	4.0	6.5
Nepal	5.96	4.41	2.32	1.85	1.69	28.7	9.4	6.5	6.1	7.0
Pakistan	6.60	4.99	3.72	2.88	2.31	27.4	9.2	7.5	6.8	7.6
Sri Lanka	5.80	2.24	2.11	1.90	1.80	18.9	7.7	6.7	8.3	11.0
Oceania	3.84	2.45	2.42	2.24	2.06	12.3	7.4	6.9	7.1	8.4
Australia	3.18	1.79	1.92	1.81	1.78	9.3	7.0	6.7	7.0	8.3
Cook Islands	0.10	1.10	1.02		1110	0.0	1.6	0.1	110	0.0
Fiji	6.63	3.19	2.61	2.27	1.98	14.9	6.0	6.8	8.3	10.1
						19.5	8.0		6.9	
Kiribati	6.10	4.20	3.79	3.23	2.74	19.0	0.0	7.1	0.9	7.7
Marshall Islands	7.00		-				0.0			0.7
Micronesia (Federated States of)	7.20	4.53	3.33	2.70	2.24	14.2	6.3	6.2	6.4	6.7
Nauru		-				14			-	1
New Zealand	3.69	1.95	2.05	1.90	1.82	9.2	7.5	6.8	7.4	9.6
Niue	-	-	-	-	1. A.	-		-	-	-
Palau	-	-				1 T	-	-	-	
Papua New Guinea	6.24	4.64	3.84	3.17	2.63	29.6	9.5	7.7	7.6	8.2
Samoa	7.63	4.62	4.16	3.46	2.86	18.0	6.3	5.4	5.4	5.9
Solomon Islands	6.40	4.91	4.06	3.29	2.68	17.7	8.4	5.9	5.3	6.0
Tokelau	0.10			0.20		110			0.0	0.0
	7.30	4.29	2 70	3.22	0.70	9.3	6.0	6.1	5.7	6.2
Tonga	1.30	4.29	3.79	3.22	2.72	9.3	6.2	0.1	0.7	0.2
Tuvalu Vanuatu	7.60	4.59	3.41	2.90	2.45	22.4	6.8	4.8	4.8	5.4
Europe	2.66	1.43	1.60	1.69	1.79	11.2	11.6	11.1	11.9	13.4
Latin America and the Caribbean	5.89	2.75	2.15	1.90	1.78	15.7	6.1	5.9	6.5	8.3
North America	3.35	1.95	1.86	1.88	1.90	9.6	8.5	8.1	8.9	10.4
Sub-Saharan Africa	6.56	5.91	5.10	4.13	3.23	27.8	15.6	10.6	8.0	6.4
World	4.96	2.74	2.51	2.38	2.25	19.2	8.7	7.8	8.0	9.2

TABLE 9: Median age of the population and dependency rate

					Demograph	nic transition				
Major area, region or country		Median a	ge of populati	ion (years)		1	fotal depende per 10	ncy ratio, age O people ageo		5+
	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050
East Asia	23.2	30.6	37.9	43.7	49.9	64.9	46.2	38.6	49.3	71.7
China	23.7	29.8	37.0	43.2	49.6	63.4	46.4	36.6	47.1	69.7
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	18.0	29.5	33.9	37.3	41.0	86.9	46.9	44.3	46.5	54.4
Hong Kong , China (SAR)	23.7	36.5	43.2	48.6	52.7	48.9	39.3	37.0	66.1	87.1
Japan	22.3	41.3	46.5	51.5	53.3	67.6	46.6	64.5	74.4	95.1
Macao, China (SAR)	26.5	33.1	37.9	43.7	47.0	42.8	43.3	28.2	54.3	69.0
Mongolia	25.0	22.0	27.3	31.2	35.4	57.4	62.5	47.6	49.8	57.1
Republic of Korea	19.0	32.1	40.6	47.5	53.9	83.0	39.5	37.2	58.5	87.2
Taiwan Province of China										
Taiwan Province of Ginna	19.1	31.8	39.7	48.1	56.2	77.2	42.5	34.8	54.0	90.3
South-east Asia	20.5	24.2	28.8	33.1	37.6	73.8	57.9	48.1	48.6	54.1
				37.8						
Brunei Darussalam	22.4	25.6	30.6		45.4	70.4	49.1	38.0	42.7	63.7
Cambodia	18.7	18.1	23.9	28.6	34.5	81.6	80.8	55.6	52.0	52.8
Indonesia	20.0	24.4	28.4	31.9	36.5	75.8	54.8	49.0	46.9	51.6
Lao People's Democratic Republic	19.8	18.1	21.9	26.4	33.7	74.2	88.3	62.8	52.4	45.3
Malaysia	19.8	23.8	28.5	34.5	40.5	85.0	59.1	43.6	46.1	50.8
Myanmar	22.4	23.5	27.9	32.4	38.0	62.2	57.9	49.1	44.4	47.3
Philippines	18.2	20.5	24.2	27.7	32.0	89.3	71.6	57.6	53.9	50.1
Singapore	20.0	34.1	40.0	47.0	53.0	75.0	40.4	37.4	56.3	81.6
Thailand	18.6	30.2	38.0	44.8	50.6	83.1	44.0	39.2	50.2	74.7
Timor-Leste	19.6	15.0	18.5	19.2	24.3	78.2	109.6	92.3	79.5	61.5
Viet Nam	24.5	24.2	30.4	37.0	41.9	56.5	61.5	42.5	48.2	62.0
South Asia	21.0	22.0	26.1	30.6	36.7	71.2	66.8	53.7	48.2	49.4
Afghanistan	19.4	15.7	17.5	22.5	29.8	78.2	103.3	87.0	59.1	44.0
Bangladesh	19.3	20.9	25.6	31.5	39.6	82.3	69.2	52.5	43.6	48.7
Bhutan	18.0	19.1	26.7	33.7	41.9	86.5	79.9	46.9	40.2	50.1
India	21.3	22.7	26.6	31.2	37.3	68.4	64.3	52.4	47.8	49.0
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	21.9	20.8	29.5	38.3	44.7	71.1	64.4	40.2	38.1	58.6
Maldives	18.6	18.6	26.4	33.9	41.4	81.1	79.9	47.4	42.2	51.4
Nepal	20.5	19.3	23.1	29.3	38.9	68.1	81.1	61.8	47.1	42.8
Pakistan	19.8	19.2	22.5	25.5	30.9	84.9	82.5	65.3	56.7	50.2
Sri Lanka	21.6	27.6	32.3	37.0	42.5	92.9	49.2	51.2	54.0	66.9
Oceania	27.9	30.8	32.9	35.1	37.4	59.3	55.3	54.8	60.4	61.9
Australia	30.4	35.4	37.5	39.8	41.4	53.3	49.7	50.9	61.3	65.7
Cook Islands	00.1	00.1	01.0	-	161	00.0	10.1	-	01.0	00.1
Fiji	16.6	22.1	27.6	30.5	35.4	97.9	62.5	52.8	53.1	55.7
Kiribati	19.2	19.7	22.4	24.2	28.4	80.0	76.3	63.0	61.7	56.5
Marshall Islands	10.2	10.7	22.4	24.2	20.4	00.0	10.5	00.0	01.1	00.0
Micronesia (Federated States of)	19.8	18.9	21.5	25.6	30.9	00.1	78.7	C0 4	60.1	44.4
	19.0	10.5	21.0	23.0	30.8	80.1	10.1	62.4	00.1	44.4
Nauru	-	-	-	40.0	-	-	-	-	-	-
New Zealand	29.4	34.3	38.0	40.0	43.0	61.4	52.7	54.0	64.8	68.8
Niue								-	-	
Palau	100				-	100				-
Papua New Guinea	20.3	19.6	21.2	24.3	28.2	76.9	74.5	67.1	57.4	51.9
Samoa	16.6	19.5	21.2	24.0	28.5	96.7	82.5	74.0	65.9	64.8
Solomon Islands	18.3	18.7	19.9	23.2	27.9	80.3	81.0	75.1	60.1	55.7
Tokelau	+	5	-	-	5	-	1	-	-	-
Tonga	15.5	20.0	21.3	24.6	28.4	102.7	78.7	74.3	61.6	60.3
Tuvalu			÷		190				-	191
Vanuatu	16.8	18.9	22.2	25.2	30.2	96.0	81.2	68.7	60.8	56.9
Europe	28.9	37.7	41.7	45.1	46.2	52.23	47.56	49.97	62.07	74.57
Latin America and the Caribbean	19.9	24.3	29.2	34.5	41.2	78.10	60.06	49.99	49.56	57.81
North America	29.8	35.4	38.3	40.4	42.1	54.86	50.14	50.54	63.68	66.27
Sub-Saharan Africa	19.1	17.6	18.3	20.1	23.7	81.78	90.20	85.58	74.05	62.35
World	23.5	26.3	29.6	33.1	36.1	65.13	58.71	52.31	54.67	59.61

TABLE 10:Trends and share of child population, 1950-2050

					Population	aged (0-14)				
Major area, region or country		N	umber (millio	ns)				Share (%)		
	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050
East Asia	232.7	359.1	270.7	241.3	209.9	35	24	17	15	13
China	186.9	318.3	237.1	209.7	182.1	34	25	17	15	14
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	4.6	5.9	5.3	5.2	4.6	43	26	21	20	17
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	0.6	1.2	0.9	1.1	1.0	30	17	12	14	12
Japan	29.1	18.4	16.3	14.7	13.4	35	15	13	12	12
Macao, China (SAR)	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	27	23	13	16	14
Mongolia	0.3	0.8	0.8	0.9	0.9	33	35	28	25	21
Republic of Korea	8.2	9.7	7.0	6.9	5.8	42	21	14	13	11
Faiwan Province of China	3.1	4.7	3.2	2.6	2.1	41	21	14	11	10
South-east Asia	63.8	167.1	168.2	165.5	154.4	39	32	27	23	19
Brunei Darussalam	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	36	31	23	19	15
Cambodia	1.9	5.1	4.9	5.2	4.9	42	42	32	27	22
ndonesia	27.2	64.9	71.3	69.4	64.5	39	31	28	23	20
Lao People's Democratic Republic	0.7	2.3	2.4	2.5	2.2	40	43	35	29	20
Malaysia	2.5	7.8	7.4	7.8	6.9	40	33	25	23	17
Myanmar	6.1	15.2	14.8	13.3	12.0	35	32	28	22	19
Philippines	8.1	30.0	32.2	35.0	35.2	44	38	32	28	24
Singapore	0.4	0.8	0.9	0.8	0.7	40	21	16	13	11
Thailand	8.7	15.0	12.0	9.5	7.9	42	24	18	14	13
Timor-Leste	0.2	0.4	0.5	0.6	0.7	41	50	42	40	33
/iet Nam	7.9	25.4	21.6	21.2	19.4	32	32	23	20	17
South Asia	187.7	519.1	538.7	526.4	476.3	38	36	30	25	20
Afghanistan	3.2	9.6	14.3	14.9	13.9	41	49	44	34	25
	15.6	48.7	47.4	42.9	34.8	41	37	29	23	17
Bangladesh										
Bhutan	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	44	41	27	21	16
India	141.1	365.9	377.4	365.0	326.3	37	35	29	24	19
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	6.2	23.0	18.7	15.8	13.8	36	35	24	18	15
Maldives	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	42	41	27	22	17
Nepal	3.3	9.7	9.3	8.2	6.3	39	41	33	25	17
Pakistan	15.1	56.8	66.1	75.1	77.3	40	41	35	31	25
Sri Lanka	3.1	5.0	5.1	4.2	3.6	38	27	25	20	17
Dceania	3.8	8.0	9.2	10.5	11.3	30	26	23	22	20
Australia	2.2	4.0	4.5	5.3	5.7	27	21	19	19	17
Cook Islands	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Fiji	0.14	0.28	0.26	0.23	0.19	47	35	29	25	21
Kiribati	0.01	0.03	0.04	0.05	0.05	41	40	35	32	28
Marshall Islands		-	-		15					
Micronesia (Federated States of)	0.01	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.03	40	40	34	31	23
Nauru	-	~			1.6		1.	-	9	
New Zealand	0.56	0.88	0.92	0.93	0.93	29	23	20	18	17
Niue	-	-	-			-		-	-	
Palau	-	-						-		
Papua New Guinea	0.67	2.16	2.83	3.26	3.65	39	40	37	32	28
Samoa	0.04	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.07	47	41	37	31	28
Solomon Islands	0.04	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.28	43	41	39	33	28
		0.17				40	42	00	00	
lokelau	-	0.04	-	-	-	-	00	07		-
longa	0.02	0.04	0.04	0.04	0.04	49	38	37	31	28
Tuvalu Vanuatu	0.02	0.08	0.10	0.11	0.13	46	41	37	32	26
ranuatu	0.02	0.00	0.10	0.11	0.13	40	41	01	32	20
Asia-Pacific	488.0	1053.3	986.8	943.6	851.9	36	30	24	21	18
Europe	144.6	127.2	116.2	111.7	107.0	26	18	16	15	15
Latin America and the Caribbean	68.0	168.4	163.2	152.3	134.0	40	32	26	21	17
North America	46.7	66.1	66.7	71.1	74.5	27	21	19	18	17
Sub-Saharan Africa	75.1	285.2	414.0	546.3	711.1	42	44	43	39	33

TABLE 11:Trends and share of youth population, 1950-2050

					Population	aged (15-24)				
Major area, region or country		N	umber (million	15)				Share (%)		
	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050
East Asia	120.6	231.1	212.4	182.6	143.6	18	15	13	11	9
China	97.1	198.9	185.1	160.5	123.2	18	16	13	11	9
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	2.1	3.4	4.0	3.4	3.3	20	15	16	13	12
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	0.4	0.9	0.8	0.7	0.7	23	13	11	9	9
Japan	16.1	15.9	12.1	10.8	9.4	20	13	10	9	9
100 To 100 August 100	0.0		0.1	0.1		20	15	13	9	10
Macao, China (SAR)		0.1			0.1					
Mongolia	0.1	0.5	0.5	0.6	0.5	17	21	17	17	13
Republic of Korea	3.3	7.6	6.8	4.6	4.6	17	16	13	9	9
faiwan Province of China	1.5	3.9	3.1	1.9	1.7	20	18	13	8	8
South-east Asia	32.2	104.1	109.4	110.7	105.4	20	20	17	15	13
Brunei Darussalam	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	18	18	17	13	11
Cambodia	0.9	2.4	3.2	3.3	3.2	19	20	21	17	14
Indonesia	13.9	43.2	43.9	47.0	44.2	20	20	17	16	14
ao People's Democratic Republic	0.3	43.2	1.5	1.6	1.5	19	20	22	19	15
Malaysia	1.1	4.4	5.7	4.9	5.1	18	19	19	14	13
Myanmar	3.5	10.0	9.6	9.4	8.7	20	21	18	16	14
Philippines	3.3	15.4	19.7	21.5	23.3	18	20	20	17	16
Singapore	0.2	0.5	0.7	0.6	0.6	18	13	13	10	9
Thailand	4.2	10.8	9.0	7.3	5.4	20	17	13	11	9
Timor-Leste	0.1	0.1	0.2	0.3	0.4	20	16	20	21	19
/iet Nam	4.7	16.0	15.8	14.7	12.8	19	20	17	14	11
Double Acto	05.0	000.0	000.0	050.4	004.0	10	00	10	40	
South Asia	95.0	286.9	339.3	353.4	334.3	19	20	19	16	14
Afghanistan	1.5	3.8	6.9	9.4	9.6	19	19	21	21	17
Bangladesh	7.1	27.5	31.3	30.1	25.7	19	21	19	16	13
Bhutan	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.1	0.1	19	21	20	15	12
India	72.9	204.5	241.5	246.3	233.9	19	19	18	16	14
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	3.3	15.6	12.6	13.1	8.7	19	24	16	15	9
Maldives	0.0	0.1	0.1	0.1	0.1	21	22	19	16	11
Nepal	1.7	4.6	6.0	5.7	4.7	20	20	21	17	13
Pakistan	7.0	27.0	37.6	45.5	49.1	19	20	20	19	16
									15	
Sri Lanka	1.4	3.6	3.1	3.2	2.5	18	19	15	10	12
Dceania	2.0	4.7	5.9	6.8	7.5	16	15	15	14	13
Australia	1.2	2.6	3.2	3.6	4.0	15	13	13	13	12
Cook Islands										
Fiji	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	19	20	17	17	15
Kiribati	0.007	0.016	0.022	0.027	0.029	21	19	20	19	16
Marshall Islands	0.001	0.010	0.022	0.021	0.020	21	10	20	10	-
Micronesia (Federated States of)	0.006	0.023	0.025	0.021	0.022	19	01	24	18	
	0.000	0.025	0.020	0.021	0.022	13	21	24	10	17
Nauru	-	-	-						-	-
New Zealand	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	14	14	14	13	12
Niue	-	-	3					÷.	3	
Palau	-	-	-	121		(7)	1	-	-	(2.)
Papua New Guinea	0.3	1.1	1.5	1.9	2.3	19	20	20	19	17
Samoa	0.016	0.032	0.038	0.043	0.041	19	18	19	21	17
Solomon Islands	0.018	0.087	0.115	0.153	0.172	20	21	20	20	17
lokelau	-	-	-	-	-	-	-		-	-
longa	0.009	0.021	0.021	0.024	0.025	20	21	20	20	18
	0.003	0.021	0.021	0.024		20	21	20	20	10
Tuvalu Vanuatu	0.009	0.037	0.048	0.064	0.075	19	20	18	18	16
Asia-Pacific	249.8	626.8	667.0	653.5	590.9	19	18	16	14	12
Europe	95.8	100.8	81.1	81.0	71.6	17	14	11	11	10
Latin America and the Caribbean	31.9	102.4	109.9	105.3	95.5	19	19	17	15	12
North America	25.7	43.9	48.6	48.4	51.7	15	14	14	12	12
Sub-Saharan Africa	33.9	127.9	190.2	281.2	398.8	19	20	20	20	19
	460.4	1084.6	1193.6	1286.3	1330.2	18	18	16	15	14

TABLE 12:Trends and share of young population, 1950-2050

					Population	aged (0-24)				
Major area, region or country		N	umber (millior	15)				Share (%)		
	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050
East Asia	353.4	590.2	483.1	423.9	353.6	53	39	30	26	23
China	283.9	517.2	422.2	370.2	305.4	52	41	31	26	23
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	6.6	9.4	9.3	8.7	7.9	63	41	37	32	29
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	1.0	2.1	1.7	1.8	1.7	53	31	23	22	21
						55	27		21	21
lapan Dia Kong	45.2	34.3	28.3	25.4	22.8			22		
Macao, China (SAR)	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	47	37	26	25	24
Mongolia	0.4	1.3	1.3	1.5	1.4	50	56	45	43	35
Republic of Korea	11.4	17.3	13.8	11.6	10.4	60	37	27	22	21
Taiwan Province of China	4.6	8.5	6.3	4.5	3.7	61	39	27	20	18
South-east Asia	96.0	271.2	277.6	276.2	259.9	58	52	44	38	33
Brunei Darussalam	0.03	0.16	0.17	0.16	0.14	54	49	40	32	25
Cambodia	2.7	7.5	8.1	8.5	8.1	62	61	52	45	36
Indonesia	41.2	108.1	115.3	116.4	108.7	59	51	45	39	34
	1.0	3.4	3.9		3.7	60	63	45	48	34
Lao People's Democratic Republic				4.1						
Malaysia	3.6	12.2	13.1	12.7	12.0	59	52	43	35	29
Myanmar	9.6	25.3	24.5	22.7	20.6	55	53	45	38	32
Philippines	11.4	45.4	51.9	56.5	58.5	62	58	52	46	39
Singapore	0.6	1.3	1.6	1.4	1.3	58	34	29	23	20
Thailand	12.9	25.8	21.0	16.9	13.4	62	41	31	25	21
Timor-Leste	0.3	0.6	0.7	1.0	1.1	60	66	62	60	51
/iet Nam	12.6	41.4	37.4	36.0	32.3	51	52	40	34	29
Sendle Andre	000 7	000.0	070.0	070.0	040 5		50			
South Asia	282.7	806.0	878.0	879.8	810.5	57	56	48	41	33
Afghanistan	4.7	13.3	21.2	24.3	23.5	60	68	65	55	42
Bangladesh	22.8	76.2	78.8	72.9	60.4	60	58	49	39	30
Bhutan	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.3	0.3	63	62	46	36	28
India	214.0	570.4	619.0	611.3	560.2	57	54	47	40	33
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	9.5	38.7	31.2	29.0	22.4	56	59	39	33	24
Maldives	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.1	63	62	47	38	27
Nepal	5.0	14.4	15.3	13.8	11.0	59	61	54	42	31
						59		55	49	
Pakistan	22.2	83.9	103.8	120.5	126.4		61			41
Sri Lanka	4.5	8.6	8.2	7.4	6.1	56	46	40	34	29
Dceania	5.8	12.7	15.1	17.3	18.9	45	41	38	36	33
Australia	3.4	6.6	7.6	8.9	9.7	41	34	32	31	29
Cook Islands	-	-		-	-	-		-	-	
Fiji	0.2	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.3	66	55	46	42	36
Kiribati	0.02	0.05	0.06	0.07	0.08	62	59	55	51	45
Marshall Islands	0.02	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.00	02	00	00	51	40
	0.00	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.05	50	60	50	40	
Micronesia (Federated States of)	0.02	0.07	0.06	0.06	0.05	59	62	58	49	41
Nauru				-	*		1.00	-		
New Zealand	0.8	1.4	1.5	1.6	1.6	43	36	34	31	28
Niue	-		100	5)		121	1.7	-	-	121
Palau										
Papua New Guinea	1.0	3.3	4.3	5.2	5.9	59	61	57	51	45
Samoa	0.05	0.10	0.11	0.11	0.11	66	59	57	52	45
Solomon Islands	0.06	0.26	0.35	0.40	0.45	62	63	59	53	46
okelau	0.00	0.20	0.00	-	0.45	02	50	50	50	10
						00	ED	F7	Et	45
longa	0.03	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.06	68	59	57	51	45
Tuvalu Vanuatu	0.03	0.11	0.15	0.18	0.20	66	61	55	50	42
unuu.U			0.10	0.10	0.20		01		00	
Asia-Pacific	737.8	1680.2	1653.8	1597.2	1442.8	55	48	40	35	30
Europe	240.4	228.0	197.4	192.7	178.6	44	31	27	26	25
Latin America and the Caribbean	99.9	270.8	273.0	257.7	229.5	59	51	43	36	29
North America	72.4	109.9	115.4	119.5	126.2	42	35	32	30	29
Sub-Saharan Africa	109.0	413.0	604.2	827.5	1109.9	61	64	63	59	52
									00	

TABLE 13: Trends and share of working-age population, 1950-2050

Major area, region or country	Population aged (15-64)										
	Number (millions)					Share (%)					
	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	
ast Asia	404.4	1023.6	1163.7	1105.5	912.4	61	68	72	67	58	
hina	332.9	867.2	1007.5	962.6	794.5	61	68	73	68	59	
emocratic People's Republic of Korea	5.6	15.5	17.4	18.2	17.4	54	68	69	68	65	
		4.9		4.8		67		73	60	53	
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	1.3		5.3		4.4		72				
apan	49.1	85.7	77.0	68.9	55.1	60	68	61	57	51	
Macao, China (SAR)	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.5	0.5	70	70	78	65	59	
Mongolia	0.5	1.5	2.0	2.3	2.6	64	62	68	67	64	
Republic of Korea	10.5	33.1	36.7	33.1	27.0	55	72	73	63	53	
aiwan Province of China	4.3	15.4	17.4	15.0	10.9	56	70	74	65	53	
South-east Asia	94.9	333.2	427.7	487.7	513.9	58	63	68	67	65	
Brunei Darussalam	0.03	0.22	0.31	0.35	0.33	59	67	72	70	61	
Cambodia	2.4	6.7	10.0	12.5	14.8	55	55	64	66	65	
Indonesia	39.5	136.7	172.9	201.1	212.5	57	65	67	68	66	
Lao People's Democratic Republic	1.0	2.8	4.2	5.6	7.0	57	53	61	66	69	
Malaysia	3.3	14.7	21.1	24.7	27.0	54	63	70	68	66	
Myanmar	10.8	30.2	36.2	41.7	43.1	62	63	67	69	68	
Philippines	9.8	45.4	63.9	80.3	98.8	53	58	63	65	67	
Singapore	0.6	2.8	4.1	4.1	3.7	57	71	73	64	55	
Thailand	11.3	43.5	48.8	45.4	35.7	55	69	72	67	57	
Timor-Leste	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.9	1.3	56	48	52	56	62	
Viet Nam	15.9	49.7	65.6	71.0	69.6	64	62	70	67	62	
Couth Asia	288.2	870.4	1185.8	1448.5	1622.6	58	60	65	67	67	
Afghanistan	4.3	9.7	17.4	27.6	38.9	56	49	53	63	69	
Bangladesh	20.8	77.6	105.6	129.8	136.0	55	59	66	70	67	
Bhutan	0.1	0.3	0.5	0.6	0.6	54	56	68	71	67	
India	223.4	641.2	860.0	1033.3	1144.6	59	61	66	68	67	
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	10.0	40.1	56.4	64.1	58.1	58	61	71	72	63	
Maldives	0.0	0.2	0.2	0.3	0.3	55	56	68	70	66	
Nepal	5.0	13.1	17.6	22.5	25.3	60	55	62	68	70	
Pakistan	20.3	75.8	114.3	156.3	206.2	54	55	60	64	67	
Sri Lanka	4.2	12.6	13.7	14.0	12.5	52	67	66	65	60	
Dceania	8.0	20.0	25.4	29.5	35.0	63	64	65	62	62	
Australia	5.3	12.8	15.9	17.7	20.2	65	67	66	62	60	
	0.0	12.0	10.0	tra	20.2	00	01	00	02	00	
Cook Islands	-	-	-			-	-	-	-	-	
Fiji	0.1	0.5	0.6	0.6	0.6	51	62	65	65	64	
Kiribati	0.02	0.05	0.07	0.09	0.11	56	57	61	62	64	
Marshall Islands	÷	-				-			÷		
Micronesia (Federated States of)	0.02	0.06	0.06	0.07	0.09	56	56	62	62	69	
Nauru	-	4			24	141	14	-		1.4	
New Zealand	1.2	2.5	2.9	3.1	3.3	62	65	65	61	59	
Niue	54	210	210	0.1		W4		50	21	00	
	100		10	1.50	1945	18.1	1982	1		1251	
Palau Parana Navi Ovlana	10		10		0.7			00		-	
Papua New Guinea	1.0	3.1	4.6	6.4	8.7	57	57	60	64	66	
Samoa	0.04	0.10	0.11	0.13	0.15	51	55	57	60	61	
Solomon Islands	0.05	0.23	0.33	0.47	0.64	55	55	57	62	64	
Tokelau	-	-		-	1.5	-	-	-	-	17	
onga	0.02	0.05	0.06	0.07	0.09	49	56	57	62	62	
luvalu					-						
Vanuatu	0.02	0.10	0.16	0.22	0.30	51	55	59	62	64	
to Beelfe			0000 0								
Asia-Pacific Europe	795.5 360.7	2247.3 492.3	2802.6 492.4	3071.2 452.8	3083.9 404.9	59 66	64 68	68 67	67 62	64 57	
					497.0	56	62	67	67		
Latin America and the Caribbean	94.8	329.2	423.0	482.1						63	
North America	110.8	209.0	237.7	242.1	260.5	65	67	66	61	60	
Sub-Saharan Africa	98.8	337.6	518.5	802.5	1307.8	55	53	54	57	62	
World	1529.2	3860.1	4825.5	5496.1	6093.2	61	63	66	65	63	

TABLE 14:Trends and share of older population, 1950-2050

Major area, region or country	Population aged (60+)										
	Number (millions)					Share (%)					
	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	
East Asia	49.0	165.8	269.8	435.2	578.4	7	11	17	26	37	
China	40.7	125.2	209.2	358.1	491.5	7	10	15	25	36	
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	0.5		3.1		6.6	5	10		19	24	
		2.3		5.2		0		13			
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	0.1	1.0	1.6	2.7	3.3	4	15	22	34	41	
Japan	6.3	29.3	41.9	44.8	45.6	8	23	33	37	42	
Macao, China (SAR)	0.009	0.041	0.087	0.185	0.289	5	10	15	26	35	
Mongolia	0.054	0.135	0.189	0.420	0.849	7	6	6	12	21	
Republic of Korea	1.0	5.2	9.3	16.5	21.0	5	11	19	31	42	
Taiwan Province of China	0.3	2.6	4.4	7.2	9.2	4	12	19	31	44	
South-east Asia	9.9	38.8	59.0	106.4	167.3	6	7	9	15	21	
						8	4	8			
Brunei Darussalam	0.004	0.013	0.032	0.085	0.169			8	17	31	
Cambodia	0.2	0.6	1.1	2.0	4.0	5	5	1	10	18	
Indonesia	4.3	15.6	21.2	39.0	61.9	6	7	8	13	19	
Lao People's Democratic Republic	0.1	0.3	0.4	0.7	1.5	4	5	6	8	15	
Malaysia	0.4	1.4	2.8	5.2	9.6	7	6	9	14	24	
Myanmar	1.0	3.4	4.8	8.0	12.0	6	7	9	13	19	
Philippines	1.0	4.0	7.3	12.7	20.8	6	5	7	10	14	
						0					
Singapore	0.0	0.4	1.0	2.0	2.7	4	11	18	31	40	
Thailand	1.0	6.2	10.7	18.4	23.2	5	10	16	27	37	
Timor-Leste	0.024	0.034	0.085	0.108	0.174	6	4	7	7	8	
Viet Nam	1.7	6.9	9.6	18.4	31.4	7	9	10	18	28	
South Asia	28.5	97.2	153.5	256.2	460.1	6	7	8	12	19	
Afghanistan	0.4	0.7	1.3	2.2	5.0	5	4	4	5	9	
								7			
Bangladesh	2.2	7.9	11.2	21.5	43.5	6	6	/	12	22	
Bhutan	0.01	0.03	0.06	0.10	0.23	4	6	7	12	25	
India	20.3	72.7	116.6	190.7	330.0	5	7	9	12	19	
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	1.4	4.1	6.5	12.7	28.8	8	6	8	14	31	
Maldives	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	0.1	5	6	7	12	25	
Nepal	0.3	1.4	2.5	3.6	6.5	4	6	9	11	18	
Pakistan	2.9	8.6	12.5	20.7		8	6	7	8	13	
					40.0						
Sri Lanka	1.0	1.7	2.9	4.5	6.0	12	9	14	21	29	
Oceania	1.4	4.1	6.5	9.6	13.2	11	13	16	20	23	
Australia	1.0	3.2	4.9	7.0	9.5	13	16	20	25	28	
Cook Islands	-	-						-			
Fiji	0.01	0.05	0.08	0.13	0.18	4	6	9	14	20	
Kiribati						6	5				
	0.00	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.02	0	0	6	9	12	
Marshall Islands			1.0		1.5		15	2		17.1	
Micronesia (Federated States of)	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	6	5	8	9	12	
Nauru				100		-			-	-	
New Zealand	0.3	0.6	0.9	1.4	1.6	13	16	20	27	29	
Niue	-	-	-	-		-			2011		
Palau	-	-		1.0	-			-	-		
Papua New Guinea	0.10	0.23	0.39	0.67	1.32	6	4	5	1	10	
						D	4			10	
Samoa	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.03	4	1	8	12	14	
Solomon Islands	0.00	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.11	3	4	5	7	11	
Tokelau	-	-	-	-	-		-		T .		
Tonga	0.00	0.01	0.01	0.01	0.02	3	8	8	11	13	
Tuvalu	-	-			12		142	4	4	-	
Vanuatu	0.00	0.01	0.02	0.03	0.07	4	5	6	9	14	
Asia-Pacific	88.9	306.0	488.8	807.3	1219.0	7	9	12	18	25	
		147.3	400.0					24			
Europe	65.1			217.2	242.0	12	20	24	30	34	
Latin America and the Caribbean	9.6	42.7	70.9	121.0	200.0	6	8	11	17	26	
North America	21.3	51.0	74.6	104.8	122.7	12	16	21	26	28	
Sub-Saharan Africa	9.4	30.6	46.5	74.5	161.1	5	5	5	5	8	
									•		
Major area, region or country	010	an population	at muyear,	number (mm	0115)		% of hohnigr	ion residing i	i ui uali al eas		
---------------------------------------	-------	---------------	------------	------------	--------	------	--------------	----------------	------------------	-----------------	
	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	1950	2000	2015	2030	2050	
East Asia	119.1	632.4	982.4	1207.8	1250.2	18	42	60	72	78	
China	64.2	459.4	779.5	998.9	1049.9	12	36	56	69	76	
Democratic People's Republic of Korea	3.3	13.6	15.3	17.3	19.5	31	59	61	65	72	
Hong Kong, China (SAR)	1.7	6.8	7.3	7.9	8.0	85	100	100	100	100	
lapan	43.9	98.9	118.6	116.9	105.8	53	79	93	97	98	
Macao, China (SAR)	0.2	0.4	0.6	0.7	0.8	97	100	100	100	100	
Mongolia	0.2	1.4	2.1	2.7	3.2	20	57	72	80	85	
	4.1	36.6	41.0	44.1	44.7	20	80	82	85	88	
Republic of Korea											
Taiwan Province of China	1.6	15.3	18.0	19.2	18.3	22	70	77	82	86	
South-east Asia	26.1	199.7	301.6	403.3	507.7	16	38	48	56	64	
Brunei Darussalam	0.013	0.236	0.331	0.403	0.458	27	71	77	81	84	
Cambodia	0.5	2.3	3.2	4.9	8.2	10	19	21	26	36	
Indonesia	9.0	87.8	137.4	184.9	227.8	12	42	54	63	71	
Lao People's Democratic Republic	0.1	1.2	2.7	4.5	6.4	7	22	39	51	61	
Malaysia	1.2	14.5	22.9	30.2	36.2	20	62	75	82	86	
Myanmar	2.8	13.1	18.5	25.1	32.2	16	27	34	43	55	
Philippines	5.0	37.2	45.2	59.2	88.4	27	48	44	46	56	
Singapore	1.0	3.9	5.6	6.6	7.1	99	100	100	100	100	
Thailand	3.4	19.6	34.0	43.1	44.3	16	31	50	64	72	
limor-Leste	0.0	0.2	0.4	0.6	1.0	10	24	33	41	48	
Viet Nam	2.9	19.7	31.4	43.7	55.7	12	24	34	43	54	
South Asia	79.0	420.7	624.4	875.2	1213.6	16	29	35	42	52	
Ifghanistan	0,4	4.4	8.5	14.8	25.6	6	21	27	34	45	
Bangladesh	1.6	31.2	55.0	83.2	112.4	4	24	34	45	56	
Bhutan	0.004	0.143	0.300	0.430	0.539	2	25	39	48	55	
India	64.1	288.4	419.9	583.0	814.4	17	28	33	39	50	
Iran (Islamic Republic of)	4.7	42.2	58.3	72.5	84.4	28	64	73	79	84	
Maldives	0.0	0.1	0.2	0.2	0.3	11	28	46	56	62	
Nepal	0.2	3.1	5.3	8.2	13.0	3	13	19	25	36	
Pakistan	6.6	47.7	72.9	107.9	155.7	18	33	39	47	57	
Sri Lanka	1.2	3.5	4.0	4.9	7.2	15	18	18	21	30	
Descrite	7.0	00.0	07.0	00.7	41.0	60	74	74	74	74	
Dceania	7.9	22.0	27.9	33.7	41.8	62	71	71	71	74 93	
Australia	6.3	16.8	21.4	25.8	31.3	77	87	89	91		
Cook Islands	0.006	0.012	0.016	0.017	0.020	38	65	75	78	82	
Fiji	0.070	0.389	0.480	0.554	0.597	24	48	54	59	65	
Kiribati	0.003	0.036	0.047	0.062	0.085	11	43	44	48	55	
Marshall Islands	0.003	0.036	0.039	0.044	0.054	23	68	73	76	80	
Micronesia (Federated States of)	0.006	0.024	0.023	0.029	0.039	20	22	22	24	30	
Nauru	0.003	0.010	0.010	0.011	0.011	100	100	100	100	100	
New Zealand	1.4	3.3	4.0	4.5	5.2	73	86	86	87	90	
Niue	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	0.001	22	33	43	52	59	
Palau	0.004	0.013	0.019	0.023	0.026	54	70	87	92	93	
Papua New Guinea	0.029	0.710	0.993	1.503	2.976	2	13	13	15	23	
Samoa	0.011	0.038	0.037	0.040	0.057	13	22	19	19	23	
Solomon Islands	0.003	0.065	0.131	0.218	0.355	4	16	22	29	35	
lokelau	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0	0	0	0	0	
longa	0.006	0.023	0.025	0.031	0.045	13	23	24	26	32	
Tuvalu	0.001	0.004	0.006	0.007	0.009	11	46	60	70	75	
Vanuatu	0.004	0.040	0.069	0.109	0.177	9	22	26	31	38	
Asia-Pacific	232.0	1274.8	1936.3	2520.0	3013.4	17	36	47	55	62	
Europe	232.0	516.8	547.1	567.0	581.1	52	71	47	77	82	
Latin America and the Caribbean	69.3	396.3	502.8	595.1	673.6	41	75	80	83	86	
North America	109.7	249.5	294.8	339.8	390.1	64	79	82	84	87	
Sub-Saharan Africa	19.2	196.9	359.5	621.4	1136.8	11	31	38	45	55	
World	746.5	2856.1	3957.3	5058.2	6338.6	30	47	54	60	66	

Urbanization

Source: UN DESA 2015a.

TABLE 16:Education indicators and enrolment ratio

		1	iteracy rat	P		G	ross enro	lment rati	n				Educati	on quality		
HDI rank	Region, country or area	Adult	"Youth (% aged 15-24)"		Population with at least some secondary education	Pre- primary	Primary	Secondary		Primary school dropout rate	15-	Performance o year-old stude	f	Primary school teachers trained to teach	Pupil- teacher ratio, primary school	Public expenditure on education
		(% ages 15 and older)	Female	Male	(% ages 25 and older)	(% of preschool-age children)	(% of primary school-age population)	(% of secondary school-age population)	(% of tertiary school-age population)	(% of primary school cohort)	Reading	Mathematics	Science	(%)	(Number of pupils per teacher)	(% of GDP)
		2005- 2013	2005- 2013	2005- 2013	2005- 2013	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2012	2012	2012	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2005- 2014
	VERY HIGH HUMAN	DEVELOPM	MENT													
2	Australia				94.4	108	105	136	86		512	504	521	-11		5.1
9	New Zealand				95.2	92	99	120	80	**.	512	500	516	44	15	7.4
11	Singapore	96.4	99.8	99.8	77,4	++	44			1.3	542	573	551	94	17	2.9
12	Hong Kong, China (SAR)	(a)		27	75.4	101	105	99	67	1.0	545	561	555	96	14	3.8
17	Republic of Korea				82.9	118	103	97	98	0.8	536	554	538		18	4.9
20	Japan				86.4	88	102	102	61	0.2	538	536	547	+4	17	3.8
31	Brunei Darussalam	95.4	99.7	99.8	65.9	64	94	106	24	3.6				85	10	3.8
	HIGH HUMAN DEVE	LOPMENT														
60	Palau	99.5	99.8	99.8	10 C	65	103	89	46	**				w.	**	1144.0
62	Malaysia	93.1	98.5	98.4	68.2	84	101	71	37	0.9	398	421	420		12	5.9
69	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	84.3	97.7	98.3	65.1	38	119	86	55	3.8				100	26	3.7
73	Sri Lanka	91.2	98.6	97.7	74.0	89	98	99	17	3.4	120	12	14	82	24	1.7
90	China	95.1	99.6	99.7	65.3	70	128	89	27		570	613	580		18	**
90	Fiji	1,799.99		10,500/	64.3	18	105	88	16	3.5	1000		1.3551	100	28	4.2
90	Mongolia	98.3	98.9	98.0	84.8	86	109	92	62	9.1				100	28	5.5
93	Thailand	96.4	96.6	96.6	38.1	119	93	87	51		441	427	444	2	16	7.6
100	Tonga	99.4	99.5	99.4	87.9	35	110	91	6	9.6					21	**
104	Maldives	98.4	99.4	99.2	30.1	82	98	72	13	17.2				77	11	6.2
105	Samoa	98.9	99.6	99.4	w/	34	105	86		10.0					30	5.8
	MEDIUM HUMAN D	EVELOPME	NT													
110	Indonesia	92.8	98.8	98.8	44.5	48	109	83	32	11.0	396	375	382		19	3.6
115	Philippines	95.4	98.5	97.0	64.8	51	106	85	28	24.2					31	3.4
116	Viet Nam	93.5	96.8	97.4	65.0	82	105		25	5.5	508	511	528	100	19	6.3
123	Micronesia (Federated					29	98	83								
190	States of)				40.1	58	113	69							35	
130	India Bhutan	62.8 52.8	74.4 68.0	88.4	42.1 34.4	14	107	78	25 9	21.1	1.00	. 0		91	24	3.8 5.5
132					04.4	14	107	57	18					31		
133 134	Timor-Leste	58.3	78.6 95.1	80.5 94.7	11.1	61	123	60	5	16.4 28.5				100	31 22	9.4 5.0
137	Vanuatu Kiribati	83.4			7.2	71	116	86		20.3	17			85	25	
141	Lao People's Democratic	72.7	78.7	89.2	29.8	26	121	50	18	26.7				98	26	2.8
142	Republic Bangladesh	58.8	81.9	78.0	37.8	26	114	54	13	33.8		147		58	40	2.2
143	Cambodia	73.9	85.9	88.4	15.5	15	125	45	16	35.8				100	47	2.6
	LOW HUMAN DEVE	ODMENT														
145			775	80.0	97.4	07	100	67	14	20.0				04	04	4.7
145 147	Nepal Pakistan	57.4 54.7	77.5 63.1	89.2 78.0	27.4 33.2	87 82	133 92	38	14 10	39.6 37.8			- 14	94 85	24 43	4.7
		92.6	95.8		33.2			38 50	10	25.2				100		0.8
148 156	Myanmar Solomon Islands			96.2		9 43	114 114	48	13	25.2	1.11			63	28	9.9
	Papua New Guinea	62.9	75.8	 66.8	11.1	43	114	48	H.	20.1		44	**	03	21	3.3
158 171	Afghanistan	31.7	32.1	61.9	18.2	1	106	40 54	4	-	**				45	**
	OTHER COUNTRIES Democratic People's	100.0	100.0	100.0												
	Republic of Korea Marshall Islands	100.0	100.0	100.0	14.5	48	105	103	43	16.5	((0)			44) 	1.44
	Nauru	04		**	H (79	94	72	10	10.0	1.44	1.0	**		22	1 H
	Tuvalu				60. ¹	84	88	84					-	a	19	
	101010			72		01	00	04	++	*	48	44		*1	13	

TABLE 16 (continued):Education indicators and enrolment ratio

		Li	iteracy rate	e		6	iross enro	lment ratio	D				Educati	on quality		
HDI rank	Region, country or area	Adult	"Youth (% aged 15-24)"		Population with at least some secondary education	Pre- primary	Primary	Secondary	Tertiary	Primary school dropout rate		Performance o year-old stude		Primary school teachers trained to teach	Pupil- teacher ratio, primary school	Public expenditure on education
		(% ages 15 and older)	Female	Male	25 and older)	preschool-age children)	(% of primary school-age population)	school-age population)	school-age population)	(% of primary school cohort)	Reading	Mathematics	Science	(%)	(Number of pupils per teacher)	(% of GDP)
		2005- 2013	2005- 2013	2005- 2013	2005- 2013	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2012	2012	2012	2008- 2014	2008- 2014	2005- 2014
	Regions															
	Arab States	78.0	86.9	93.1	41.5	33	104	74	29	8.8	-	-	-	91	23	4.3
	East Asia and the Pacic	94.5	98.7	98.8	60.5	64	118	85	28	17.3	14		21		19	4.9
	Europe and Central Asia	98.0	99.3	99.7	75.5	42	100	93	51	3.7	-	-	-	94	17	3.4
	Latin America and the Caribbean	92.3	98.0	97.6	54.6	78	114	94	38	13.8	-	-	-	93	22	5.5
	South Asia	62.5	74.3	86.3	42.0	57	111	64	23	22.8	-	1	-	80	35	3.5
	Sub-Saharan Africa	58.4	62.7	74.7	26.5	22	101	43	8	37.9	-	-	-	75	42	5.1
	Developing countries	79.9	84.1	90.4	51.2	50	110	70	25	25.3		-	-	84	27	4.7
	Least developed countries	58.4	65.9	75.5	21.6	18	106	42	8	39.6	-	1.7	-	76	41	3.4
	Small island developing states	80.1	86.7	86.1	10	66	106	71	11	15.1	-	-	-	88	18	7.6
	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)				84.5	87	102	98	71	2.8	-	-	-	th.	16	5.1
	World	81.2	84.7	90.8	59.7	54	109	74	32	17.6	-	-	-	ýć.	25	5.0

TABLE 17: Health indicators

		Infants exclusively breastfed		lacking nization	Mortality rates		Child malnutrition	Adult mor	rtality rate	Death	is due to				
HDI rank	Region, country or area		(% of one	-year-olds)	(Per 1,000 live births)		(% under age five)	(Per 1,00)0 people)	(Per 100,	000 people)	HIV prevalence adult	Life ,expectancy at age 60	Physicians	Public health expenditure
		(% aged 0-5 months)	DTP	Measles	Infant	Under-ve	Stunting (moderate or severe)	Female	Male	Malaria	Tuberculosis	(% aged 15-49)	(Years)	(Per 10,000 people)	(% of GDP)
		2008- 2013	2013	2013	2013	2013	2008- 2013	2013	2013	2012	2012	2013	2010/2015	2001- 2013	2013
	VERY HIGH HUMAI	N DEVELOPM	MENT												
2	Australia		8	6	3.4	4.0		45	78	1.44.1	0.2	0.2	25	33	9.0
9	New Zealand	**	7	8	5.2	6.3		52	80	144.0	0.1		24	27	9.7
11	Singapore		2	5	2.2	2.8	4.4	38	69	-	1.7		24	19	4.6
12	Hong Kong, China (SAR)										2.6	1	25		
17	Republic of Korea		1	1	3.2	3.7	2.5	38	93	0.0	5.4		24	21	7.2
20	Japan		1	5	2.1	2.9		42	81		1.7		26	23	10.3
31	Brunei Darussalam		4	1	8.4	9.9		69	101	1.425	3.0		21	15	2.5
	b) and p ar a board in .					010				1.000	010			10.1	610.
	HIGH HUMAN DEV	ELOPMENT	6						1.494.00						
60	Palau		1	1	15.1	17.5		106	156		4.4			14	9.9
62	Malaysia	- 0	1	5	7.2	8.5	17.2	86	169	1.0	5.4	0.4	19	12	4.0
69	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	53.1	2	2	14.4	16.8	6.8	83	153	0.0	2.9	0.1	20	9	6.7
73	Sri Lanka	75.8	1	1	8.2	9.6	14.7	75	184	0.0	1.1	0.1	20	7	3.2
90	China	27.6	1	1	10.9	12.7	9.4	76	103	0.0	3.2		19	15	5.6
90	Fiji	39.8	1	6	20.0	23.6	7.5	143	239		1.7	0.1	17	4	4.1
90	Mongolia	65.7	2	3	26.4	31.8	15.9	148	309	1997	7.2	0.1	16	28	6.0
93	Thailand	12.3	1	1	11.3	13.1	16.3	90	177		14.0	1.1	21	4	4.6
100	Tonga	52.2	1	1	10.4	12.1	2.2	245	115	0.0	2.5		19	6	4.7
104	Maldives	47.8	1	1	8.4	9.9	20.3	55	86		2.0	0.1	21	14	10.8
105	Samoa	51.3	1	1	15.5	18.1	6.4	97	166	1.44.5	3.2	0.1	19	5	7.5
	MEDIUM HUMAN I	DEVELOPME	NT												
110	Indonesia	41.5	2	16	24.5	29.3	36.4	121	176	9.8	27.0	0.5	18	2	3.1
115	Philippines	34.0	2	10	23.5	29.9	30.3	136	255	0.1	24.0		17	12	4.4
116	Viet Nam	17.0	17	2	19.0	23.8	23.3	69	189	0.2	20.0	0.4	22	12	6.0
123	Micronesia (Federated States of)		2	9	29.8	36.4		154	181	142	24.0	â	17	2	12.6
130	India	46.4	12	26	41.4	52.7	47.9	158	239	4.1	22.0	0.3	17	7	4.0
132	Bhutan	48.7	3	6	29.7	36.2	33.6	212	219	0.0	14.0	0.1	19	3	3.6
133	Timor-Leste	51.5	14	30	46.2	54.6	57.7	164	208	16.2	74.0		17	1	1.3
134	Vanuatu	40.0	22	48	14.6	16.9	25.9	113	161	3.7	7.9		18	1	3.9
137	Kiribati	69.0	5	9	45.1	58.2	-	134	206	141	17.0		17	4	10.1
141	Lao People's Democratic Republic	40.4	11	18	53.8	71.4	43.8	158	197	9.5	11.0	0.1	17	2	2.0
142	Bangladesh	64.1	1	7	33.2	41.1	41.4	126	156	13.9	45.0	0.1	18	4	3.7
143	Cambodia	73.5	5	10	32.5	37.9	40.9	157	210	3.7	63.0	0.7	24	2	7.5
	LOW HUMAN DEVE	LOPMENT													
145	Nepal	69.6	6	12	32.2	39.7	40.5	159	192	0.2	20.0	0.2	17	2	6.0
147	Pakistan	37.7	21	39	69.0	85.5	45.0	155	189	1.8	34.0	0.1	17	8	2.8
148	Myanmar	23.6	10	14	39.8	50.5	35.1	183	240	11.3	48.0	0.6	17	6	1.8
156	Solomon Islands	73.7	12	24	25.1	30.1	32.8	162	203	5.5	15.0		17	2	5.1
158	Papua New Guinea	56.1	12	30	47.3	61.4	49.5	243	319	40.3	54.0	0.6	15	1	4.5
171	Afghanistan		14	25	70.2	97.3	59.3	232	252	0.2	37.0	0.1	16	2	8.1
	OTHER COUNTRIE	S OR TERRI	TORIES												
	Democratic People's Republic of Korea	68.9	6	1	21.7	27.4	27.9	111	183	0.0	9.0	54	17	33	(a.)
	Marshall Islands	31.3	27	30	30.6	37.5		104	153		111.0			4	16.5
	Nauru	67.2	2	4	29.9	36.6	24.0	44	88		9.5	2		7	10.0
	Tuvalu	34.7	1	4	24.4	29.2	10.0	182	236	1.5%	37.0			11	19.7
	1992-062-0		1			100000		1.000	05576		159950	11	1		11111

TABLE 17 (continued): Health indicators

		Infants exclusively breastfed		lacking nization	Mortality rates		Child malnutrition	Adult mor	tality rate	Death	s due to				
HDI rank	Region, country or area		(% of one	-year-olds)	(Per 1,000 live births)		(% under age five)	(Per 1,00	10 people)	(Per 100,	000 people)	HIV prevalence adult	Life ,expectancy at age 60	Physicians	Public health expenditure
		(% aged 0-5 months)	DTP	Measles	Infant	Under-ve	Stunting (moderate or severe)	Female	Male	Malaria	Tuberculosis	(% aged 15-49)	(Years)	(Per 10,000 people)	(% of GDP)
		2008- 2013	2013	2013	2013	2013	2008- 2013	2013	2013	2012	2012	2013	2010/2015	2001- 2013	2013
	Arab States East Asia and the Pacic	30.1 30.7	9 3	15 5	28.6 16.1	37.6 19.5	25.7 18.1	124 89	172 130	1.8	8.2 10.2	0.1 0.6	19 19	14 12	4.1 5.3
	Europe and Central Asia	32.1	3	5	20.9	23.8	14.3	102	216		5.2	0.4	19	26	5.9
	Latin America and the Caribbean	35.0	5	8	15.2	17.9	13.9	96	177	0.6	3.0	0.5	21	19	7.6
	South Asia	47.9	12	24	43.2	54.9	45.1	151	222	4.4	24.4	0.2	19	7	4.3
	Sub-Saharan Africa	35.4	18	26	60.8	91.2	37.2	288	337	72.9	26.4	4.7	17	2	5.6
	Developing countries	37.5	10	17	37	49.3	31.0	134	192	14.0	15.8	1.2	19	10	5.6
	Least developed countries	45.9	11	21	54.6	78.8	40.5	223	266	47.3	32.1	1.9	17	2	5.2
	Small island developing states	35.9	9	22	36.8	47.8	23.7	153	202	(447)	16.5	1.1	19	23	6.5
	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)		3	7	6.5	7.6		60	113		0.9		23	27	12.3
	World	37.4	9	16	33.6	45.6	29.7	120	181	2.447)	13.4	1.1	21	14	9.9

TABLE 18: Employment and unemployment indicators

											Unemploymen	t	Lab	our producti	wity
HDI rank	Region, country or area	Employment to population ratio	Labour force participation rate	Employment in agriculture		Employment in services		Labour force with tertiary education	Vulnerable employment		Long-term	Youth	Youth not in school or employment	Output per worker	Hours worked per week
		(% ages 15 and older)	(% ages 15 and older)	(% of total employment)				(%)	(% of total employment)	(% of labour force)		(% of youth labour force)	(% aged 15-24)	(2011 PPP \$)	(Per employed person)
		2013	2013	1990	2012	1990	2012	2007- 2012	2008- 2013	2008- 2013	2008- 2013	2008- 2014	2008- 2013	2005- 2012	2003- 2012
0	VERY HIGH HUMAI			5.0		00.0	75.5	07	0	5.0		10		60.007	0.0
2	Australia New Zealand	62 64	65 68	5.6	3.3 6.6	69.3 64.5	75.5 72.5	37 39	9 12	5.2 6.9	1.1	12 16	5	69,987 50,713	33 33
11	Singapore	66	68		1.1	63.4	77.1		9	2.8	0.6	7	12	96,573	33
12	Hong Kong, China (SAR)		59	0.9	0.2	62.4	87.7	25	7	3.4	0.0	9	7	88,809	44
17	Republic of Korea	59	61	17.9	6.6	46.7	76.4	31	25	3.2	0.0	9	1	57,271	40
20	Japan	57	59	7.2	3.7	58.2	69.7	38	11	4.3	1.6	7	4	64,383	34
31	Brunei Darussalam	62	64		0.1	00.2	03.7		11	4.5	1.0	1	4	100,057	
01	Di ullei Darussalalli	02	04							1.7			2.02	100,007	14.1
	HIGH HUMAN DEV	ELOPMENT													
60	Palau		40		12	2	14	2		4.2			742		12
62	Malaysia	58	59	26.0	12.6	46.5	59.0	19	22	3.0		10	**	35,036	43
69	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	39	45		21.2		46.5	-	42	10.4		29	34	35,432	(11)
73	Sri Lanka	53	55	47.8	39.4	30.0	41.5	15	43	4.4	1.9	20	1	13,234	44
90	China	68	71	60.1	34.8	18.5	35.7	45	14	2.9		12	140	W	(94)
90	Fiji	51	55	1411		4	247		39	6.9	2.6	19		11,894	38
90	Mongolia	60	63		32.6		49.6	27	51	7.9	3.4	17	2	10.921	
93	Thailand	72	72	64.0	39.6	22.0	39.4		56	0.8	0.1	3	**	14,443	43
100	Tonga		64	144.1	31.8	44.7	37.5	-	55	1.1		12	1.11		
104	Maldives	59	67	25.2	11.5	48.5	60.0		30	14.4		25	56	18,670	14-1
105	Samoa		42	(1 40)				42	38	5.7		19	99		140
	MEDIUM HUMAN														
110	Indonesia	64	68	55.9	35.9	30.2	43.5	7	33	6.2	**	31		9,536	
115	Philippines	61	65	45.2	32.2	39.7	52.5	25	40	7.1	0.1	16	25	9,571	+
116 123	Viet Nam Micronesia (Federated	76	78		47.4		31.5		63	2.0	0.3	6	9	5,250	
	States of)	- 41			(#)	*				: 1 .)		н			
130	India	52	54	20.5	47.2		28.1	0	81	3.6	1.4	11	300	8,821	(94.)
132	Bhutan	71	73		62.2		29.1	4	53	2.1		10		11,438	44
133	Timor-Leste	36	38	14.1	50.6		39.8	2	70	3.9	0.4	15	546	8,156	46
134	Vanuatu		71	1.00	60.5		31.1		70	4.6		11	100		12
137	Kiribati									30.6		54	0.00		34
141	Lao People's Democratic Republic	77	78		1.144	**	1947.2	47.5	88	1.4			040	5,114	. 17
142	Bangladesh	68	71		48.1	14.8	37.4		85	4.5		9		3,457	44
143	Cambodia	82	83		51.0	14.0	30.4		64	0.3		1	79	3,849	-4
ITU	Gamboura.	02	00	- 10	0.1.0		00.4	48.7	04	0.0	64		15	0,010	14
	LOW HUMAN DEVE	LOPMENT													
145	Nepal	81	83							2.7	1.0	3		2,448	38
147	Pakistan	52	54	51.1	44.7	28.9	35.2	25	63	5.0	1.1	8		7,367	33
148	Myanmar	76	79	69.7	12	21.0	5125	20		1123	12	3	7497		122
156	Solomon Islands	64	66					**							++ 1
158	Papua New Guinea	71	72			+		**				5	**	5,738	. 17
171	Afghanistan	44	48					4		8.2			**	5,417	1413
	OTHER COUNTRIE	S OR TERRI	TORIES												
	Democratic People's Republic of Korea	74	78												
	Marshall Islands			244.22						4.7			1940		144.11
	Nauru	**		144	1.44		246.7	10) 421		**	**	38	2.440		144.0
	Tuvalu			120	1.44	4	-	44		6.5	2		**		12-1

TABLE 18 (continued): Employment and unemployment indicators

										ı	Jnemploymen	t	Lab	our producti	vity
HDI rank	Region, country or area	Employment to population ratio	Labour force participation rate	Employment in agriculture		Employment in services		Labour force with tertiary education	Vulnerable employment	Total	Long-term	Youth	Youth not in school or employment	Output per worker	Hours worked per week
		(% ages 15 and older)	(% ages 15 and older)	(% of total employment)				(%)	(% of total employment)	(% of labour force)		(% of youth labour force)	(% aged 15-24)	(2011 PPP \$)	(Per employed person)
		2013	2013	1990	2012	1990	2012	2007- 2012	2008- 2013	2008- 2013	2008- 2013	2008- 2014	2008- 2013	2005- 2012	2003- 2012
	Arab States East Asia and the Pacic Europe and Central Asia	45 68 52	50 71 57	**	20.8 35.5 24.5	2	53.9 37.3 52.5		30 29	11.8 3.3 9.9		29 19 20		26,331 30,460	**
	Latin America and the Caribbean	62	66	**	16.3	54.2	62.1		31	6.2	ж.	14	340	23,243	1441
	South Asia Sub-Saharan Africa	53 66	56 71		45.9 59.0		30.6 30.0		77	4.2 11.9		11 13	**	8.117	*
	Developing countries	61	64		36.9		39.1		54	5.6		15			
	Least developed countries	70	74				.0	*		6.3		10			
	Small island developing states	58	63		1(4)	ű.			54	8.7		18	(14)	ñ	(44)
	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)	55	60	10.1	5.1	59.9	72.3	31	16	8.2	2.8	17	15	58,391	34.3
	World	60	63		30.3		46.0		48	6.1	12	15		24,280	122

TABLE 19:International trade, finance and labour flows

		Trade	Financial flows				Human mobility	y			Communicatio	n	
HDI rank	Country	Exports and imports	Foreign direct investment, net inflows	Private capital flows	Net official development assistance received	Remittances, inflows	Net migration rate	Stock of immigrants	International student mobility	International inbound tourists	Internet users	Mobile phone subscriptions	
		(0' of CDD)	(Ø) of CDD)	(^{0/} af CDD)	(% of 0NI)	(V of CDD)	(Per 1,000	(⁰) of acculation)	(% of total tertiary	(1000-)	(N of population)	(Der 100 secole)	(P shappe)
		(% of GDP)	(% of GDP)	(% of GDP)	(% of GNI)	(% of GDP)	10000	(% of population)	enrolment)	('000s)		(Per 100 people)	(% change)
		2013	2013	2013	2013	2013	2010/2015	2013	2013	2013	2014	2014	2009-2014
	VERY HIGH HUMAN		NT										
2	Australia	41	3.3	-6.8		0.16	6.5	27.7	17.1	6,382	85	131	30.3
9	New Zealand	57	-0.3	0.8		0.25	3.3	25.1	14.0	2,629	86	112	3.1
11	Singapore	358	21.4	3.4		1441	15.0	42.9	10.3	11,900	82	158	14.0
12	Hong Kong, China (SAR)	458	28.0	21.1		0.13	4.2	38.9	-1.7	25,700	75	239	33.1
17	Republic of Korea	103	0.9	1.9	**	0.49	1.2	2.5	-1.7	12,200	84	116	16.1
20	Japan	35	0.1	-2.7	- 44	0.05	0.6	1.9	3.0	10,400	91	120	31.7
31	Brunei Darussalam	109	5.6	-1.0			0.8	49.3	-38.3	225	69	110	5.1
	HIGH HUMAN DEVI	ELOPMENT											
60	Palau	137	2.3		14.8			26.7		105		91	44.6
62	Malaysia	154	3.7	0.7	0.0	0.45	3.1	8.3	-0.2	25,700	68	149	37.2
69	Iran (Islamic Republic of)	54	0.8		0.0	0.25	-0.8	3.4	-1.0	4,769	39	88	22.9
73	Sri Lanka	54	1.4	-4.4	0.6	9.56	-3.0	1.5	-5.1	1,275	26	103	30.3
90	China	50	3.8	-2.7	0.0	0.42	-0.2	0.1	-1.8	55,700	49	92	66.9
90	Fiji	136	4.1	-14.1	2.4	5.28	-6.6	2.6	20.1	658	42	99	31.6
90	Mongolia	112	18.7	-17.0	4.0	2.22	-1.1	0.6	-3.9	418	27	105	24.8
93	Thailand	144	3.3	0.4	0.0	1.47	0.3	5.6	-0.2	26,500	35	144	45.2
100	Tonga	80	2.5	0.1	16.8	23.80	-15.4	5.2	012	45	40	64	25.6
104	Maldives	224	15.7	-13.4	1.2	0.14	0.0	24.4	-1,678.1	1,125	49	189	32.3
105	Samoa	81	3.0	-2.8	15.3	19.71	-13.4	3.0		116	21	56	(*)
		EVELODMEN.											
110	MEDIUM HUMAN E			0.7	0.0	0.00	0.0	0.1	0.5	0.000	17	100	02.1
110	Indonesia	49	2.7 1.3	-2.7	0.0	0.88	-0.6	0.1	-0.5	8,802	17 40	126	83.1
115	Philippines Viet Nam	60 164	5.2	-0.3 -4.9	0.1 2.5	9.81	-1.4 -0.4	0.2	-0.2	4,681	40	111	35.2
116	Micronesia (Federated		0.6		41.7	6.35		2.5	-2.2	7,572		147	32.1
123	States of)			**		6.97	-15.7		**	42			**
130	India	53	1.5	-1.8	0.1	3.73	-0.4	0.4	-0.6	6,968	18	74	68.8
132	Bhutan	104	2.8	**	8.1	0.66	2.7	6.7	-29.9	116	34	82	70.6
133	Timor-Leste	137	1.6	178.6	6.0	9.44	-13.3	1.0		58	1	59	78.1
134	Vanuatu	99	4.0	-2.0	11.4	2.86	0.0	1.2		110	19	60	5.9
137	Kiribati	121	5.3	4.0	25.5	7.30	-2.0	2.6		6	12	17	69.2
141	Lao People's Democratic Republic	83	3.8	-3.9	4.0	0.53	-2.2	0.3	-3.4	2,510	14	67	29.8
142	Bangladesh	46	1.0	-0.9	1.6	9.24	-2.6	0.9	-1.1	148	10	76	121.0
143	Cambodia	140	8.8	-8.4	5.6	1.15	-2.3	0.5	-2.7	4,210	9	155	250.0
	LOW HUMAN DEVE	OPMENT											
145	Nepal	48	0.4		4.5	28.77	-2.9	3.5	-7.6	798	15	82	291.2
147	Pakistan	33	0.6	-0.5	0.9	6.30	-1.8	2.2	-5.3	966	14	73	32.2
148	Myanmar				0.0		-0.4	0.2	-1.0	2,044	2	49	02.2
156	Solomon Islands	119	4.1	-4.0	30.0	1.51	-4.3	1.4	110	24	9	66	577.2
158	Papua New Guinea		0.1	-4.0	4.5	0.09	0.0	0.3		174	9	45	112.5
171	Afghanistan	55	0.3	0.0	25.7	2.65	-2.6	0.3	-5.8	**	6	75	97.6
	OTHER COUNTRIES		BIES										
	Democratic People's		Inito				0.0	0.2		0	0	11	
	Republic of Korea	14					0.0			U			22
	Marshall Islands	- 44	11.9	**	41.4	11.93	**	3.2	-18.0	5	17	29	
	Nauru					**		20.6					(100)
	Tuvalu	144	0.9		48.3	10.59	144	1.5	1000	1		38	276.7

TABLE 19: International trade, finance and labour flows

		Trade	Financial flows				Human mobilit	у			Communication	1	
HDI rank	Country	Exports and imports	Foreign direct investment, net inflows	Private capital flows	Net official development assistance received	Remittances, inflows	Net migration rate	Stock of immigrants	International student mobility	International inbound tourists	Internet users	Mobile phone subscriptions	
		(% of GDP)	(% of GDP)	(% of GDP)	(% of GNI)	(% of GDP)	(Per 1,000 people)	(% of population)	(% of total tertiary enrolment)	('000s)	(% of population)	(Per 100 people)	(% change)
		2013	2013	2013	2013	2013	2010/2015	2013	2013	2013	2014	2014	2009-2014
	Arab States East Asia and the Pacic Europe and Central Asia Latin America and the	93 59 73	1.7 3.6 2.7	2.0 -2.4 -4.0	0.9 0.1 0.6	2.06 0.82 2.26	0.4 -0.3 -0.6	8.3 0.4 6.7	-0.8 -1.5 -1.3	75,632 139,481 87,474	35 42 47	109 100 113	59.6 91.3 45.4
	Caribbean South Asia	45 51	3.5 1.3	-4.3 -1.7	0.2	1.03	-1.0	1.3 0.9	-0.2	73,630 16,165	50 18	115 76	24.0 77.1
	Sub-Saharan Africa Developing	60 59	2.4 3.0	-3.4	3.0 0.4	2.18	-0.1 -0.5	1.8 1.6	-2.1 -1.2	33,865 428,877	19 32	71 91	111.5 65.5
	countries Least developed countries	67	2.7	-1,1	5.6	4.42	-1.1	1.2	-2.3	23,829	9	63	157.5
	Small island developing states	72	3.8	-6.7	1.9	6.11	-2.8	1.9	-7.8	17,532	28	65	44.0
	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)	57	1.7	-0.5	-	0.31	1.9	9.6	3.4	602.443	78	110	9.7
	World	60	2.3	-0.9	0.4	0.71	0.0	3.2	0.3	1,067,976	41	96	50.0

ABOUT ASIA-PACIFIC HUMAN DEVELOPMENT REPORTS

For 25 years, the concept of human development has influenced discourse on international development. Putting people at the centre, human development has inspired policies, advocacy and actions to improve well-being.

To better understand current development challenges and bring new ideas and solutions to the forefront, UNDP produces global, regional and national human development reports. The Asia-Pacific Human Development Report is a flagship publication of UNDP's Regional Bureau of Asia and the Pacific. It focuses on common concerns for countries in the region, addresses challenges requiring national and regional responses, and encourages learning and knowledge-sharing.

The report's theme is developed through a regional participatory process that includes consultations with key stakeholders within and outside UNDP. The concept and structure of the report is based on guidance from a technical advisory group consisting of various UN agencies. Multistakeholder consultations with governments, the private sector, academia, civil society, and media are undertaken at various stages of preparation.

The key authors consist of a core group of UNDP staff, who draw on internal analysis as well as technical background papers prepared by renowned experts. The draft report is shared with UNDP headquarters and country offices in Asia-Pacific, technical advisory group members, readers' groups from different fields of work, and the UNDP regional communications team for their views and feedback. The review process is critical for quality assurance and helps to strengthen the report's messages.

The report is disseminated widely, helping to promote dialogue and bring together the people of Asia and the Pacific to accelerate human development and advocate for its messages across the globe.



One Planet to Share Sustaining Human Progress in a Changing Climate



Power, Voice and Rights: A Turning Point for Gender Equality in Asia and the Pacific



Tackling Corruption, Transforming Lives: Accelerating Human Development in Asia and the Pacific



Trade on Human Terms: Transforming Trade for Human Development in Asia and the Pacific

ASIA-PACIFIC HUMAN DEVELOPMENT REPORT

SHAPING THE FUTURE: HOW CHANGING DEMOGRAPHICS CAN POWER HUMAN DEVELOPMENT

People are the real wealth of nations. The opportunities they have and the choices they make determine the course of human development—nowhere more so than in Asia-Pacific, home to half the world's population. Asia-Pacific's future, to a large extent, shapes the world's future.

Beyond the sheer size of its population, Asia-Pacific is in the midst of a historic demographic transition. All countries are at some stage along a continuum where the shares of younger, older and working-age people have begun to shift. The process builds on human development gains, but also stands to advance them. Making the most of it requires people to be healthy, educated and productive, enjoying well-being at any stage of life.

This Asia-Pacific Human Development Report considers demographic changes from a human development perspective. It explores the coming 'demographic opportunity' and a potentially substantial 'demographic dividend'. Since sweeping demographic changes are happening at a historically rapid pace—and will not last forever—it urges countries across the region to understand potential opportunities and challenges in reaching their development goals, including those of the new 2030 Agenda. The time is now to make smart policy choices and investments that will steer demographic patterns in inclusive ways benefitting all people, now and for generations to come. U N D P



UNDP Regional Bureau for Asia and the Pacific 1 UN Plaza, 23rd floor New York NY 10017, USA http://asia-pacific.undp.org/



THE

FUTURE